ISSN (ISSN-L) 0030-9982

PM&DC IP NO. IP/002





Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association (Centre)

Volume 72 No. 2 February -2022 Supplement-1 Pages S1-S133

7th AKU ANNUAL SURGICAL CONFERENCE

SURGICAL RESEARCH

Exploring our History - Navigating the Future

11-13 February 2022

#AKUSurgeryConf www.aku.edu/aasc

www.jpma.org.pk

Indexation: Index Medicus/EMBASE/Scopus/Excerpta Medica/BIOSIS/SCIE

THE AGA KHAN UNIVERSITY

PM&DC IP NO. IP/002



Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association (Centre)

Editorial Board

Chairman Sarwar Jamil Siddiqui

Editor-in-Chief Fatema Jawad

Associate Editor-in-Chief Huma Qureshi

Associate Editors

Qudsia Anjum Fasih Sina Aziz Syed Muhammad Mubeen

Editor, Students' Corner Mahnoor Amin

Statistical Reviewer

Mehwish Hussain Nazish Masud Mahjabeen Khan Syed Muhammad Zulfiqar Hyder Naqvi **Managing Secretary** Anwar Ali Khawaja **Administrative Secretary** Ahmed Abdul Majid

MEMBERS

Aamir Raoof Memon Aamna Hassan Abu Talib Aisha Mehnaz Ali Yawar Alam Anwar Siddiqui Asad Pathan Asif Khaliq Babar Jamali Bushra Shirazi Farooq Azam Rathore Fehmina Arif Gulnaz Khalid Iqbal Afridi Kaleem Thahim Khalid Zafar Hashmi Kiran Ejaz Manzoor Hussain Masood Shaikh Mehwish Kashif Mirza Nagi Zafar

Mohammad Wasay Muhammad Jamal Uddin Muhammad Shahzad Shamim Nilofer Safdar Nosheen Zehra Ramsha Zaheer Rehman Siddiqui Rubina Naqvi Rumina Hasan Sadiah Ahsan Salman Adil Shahid Shamim Shahla Siddiqui Sharaf Ali Shah Sohail Akhtar Syed Mamun Mahmud Úzma Fasih Yasmin Wajahat Zakiuddin G. Oonwala Zubaida Masood

ISSN (ISSN-L) 0030-9982

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORS

Ahmed Badar (KSA) Amin Muhammad Gadit Diaa Essam EL-Din Rizk (KSA) Farhad Handjani Farrokh Habibzadeh (Iran) Gerry Mugford (Canada) Itrat Mehdi (Oman) M.B. Heyman (USA) Mehmood I Shafi (UK)

Mohammad Bagher Rokni (Iran) Mubeen Fatima Rafay (Canada) Sanjay Kalra (India) Seerat Aziz (USA) Shabih Zaidi (UK) Sultan Ayoub Meo (KSA) Tanveer Azher (Canada) Zohra Zaidi (UK)

Articles published in JPMA do not represent the views of the Editor or Editorial Board. Authors are solely responsible for the opinions expressed and accuracy of the data. The contribution of each author towards the published research included in this supplement, is the responsibility of the authors and their institutions. It is expected to be in accordance with the ICMJE Guidelines.

The Journal of Pakistan Medical Association (JPMA) is published monthly from PMA House, Aga Khan III Road, Karachi-74400, Pakistan.

All articles published represent the opinion of the authors and do not reflect official policy of the journal. All rights reserved to the Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association. No part of the Journal may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any other means, electronic, mechanical photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior permission, in writing, of the Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association.

Price: Rs.1,700.00 (Single Issue)

Annual Subscription: Rs.20,000 in Pakistan and US\$450.00 for overseas countries (including air mail postage).

Publication Office: PMA House, Aga Khan III Road, Karachi-74400, Pakistan. Telephone: 92-21-32226443.

E-mail: editor@jpma.org.pk

CONTENTS	PAGES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	
7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference	
Publication Committee	S-1
EDITORIAL	
Surgical research: Exploring our history — navigating the future	
Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui, Muhammad Shahzad Shamim, Syed Ather Enam	S-2
ORIGINAL ARTICLE	
Bonded amalgam as a fissure sealant in low-income setting: A randomised controlled trial	
Farhan Raza Khan, Samreen Liaquat, Ghazala Rafique, Syed Iqbal Azam, Arshad Hasan	S-3
RESEARCH ARTICLES	
Manual loop in laparoscopic appendectomy: A retrospective cohort study and literature review	
Priyanka Ramesh, Aniqa Saeed, Muniza Nusrat, Sehrish Batool, Hina Khan, Ghulam Murtaza	S-10
Temporary epicardial pacing wires in isolated Coronary Artery Bypass Graft: Necessity or force of habit? Mian Mustafa Kamal, Abdul Ahad Sohail, Majid Osman, Shiraz Hashmi, Muhammad Mehdi, Asma Altaf Hussain Merchant,	
Muhammad Musaab Munir, Hasanat Sharif	S-16
Factors affecting specialty choice of postgraduate dental residents in Karachi, Pakistan	
Samira Adnan, Maham Muneeb Lone	S-20
Diagnostic accuracy of axillary nodal ultrasound after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in node-positive breast cancer patients: A validation study	
Syeda Sakina Abidi, Lubna Mushtaque Vohra, Asad Ali Kerawala, Imrana Masroor, Muhammad Umair Tahseen	S-25
Navigating through our history in research: An altmetric analysis for publications by the full-time operative dentistry faculty at the Aga Khan University Hospital in the past decade	
Nighat Naved, Fahad Umer	S-30
Radiographic evaluation of the margins of clinically acceptable metal-ceramic crowns	
Sheikh Bilal Badar, Kamil Zafar, Robia Ghafoor, Farhan Raza Khan	S-35
Rates of publication of FCPS dissertations in international and national peer-review	
Ainulakhar Munhal Sved Akhar Abhas Abdul Basit Shah Varnad. Muhammad Wasif, Soubia Akhtar, Avesha Abbasi	S-40
Otorhinolaryngology consultations in a multidisciplinary hospital — their effects on residents training on flog	or
Ambreen Abdullah Unar, Muhammad Hammad Deewani, Muhammad Sohail Awan, Syeda Amrah Hashmi,	
Abdul Basit Shah Vardag, Ainulakbar Mughal	S-44
SYSTEMATIC REVIEW	
Role of simulation in open varicose veins surgery: A systematic review	
Muhammad Ammar Pirzada, Fareed Ahmed Shaikh, Shoaib Badini, Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui	S-49
NARRATIVE REVIEW	
Innovations in surgery between the past and future: A narrative review of targeted literature	
Obada Hasan, Ahmed Ayaz, Laiba Masood, Abdul Mannan Baig, Naveed Baloch	S-55
Understanding deep learning — challenges and prospects	5-59

CONTENTS	PAGES
Surgeons and ethical challenges in operating room	
Syed Muhammad Nazim, Syed Shahabuddin	S-64
In a digitally connected world through Likes, Hashtags and Followers — Advancing surgical research through a social media: A narrative review	
Sabah Uddin Saqib, Qamar Riaz, Russell Seth Martins, Amna Riaz, Hasnain Zafar	S-71
REVIEW ARTICLES	
A bibliometric analysis of the studies on dental implant failure	
Farhan Raza Khan, Syed Murtaza Raza Kazmi, Yusra Fahim Siddiqui	S-76
Current perspectives of oncoplastic breast surgery in Pakistan	
Lubna Mushtaque Vohra, Dua Jabeen, Danish Ali, Syeda Sakina Abidi, Sana Zeeshan, Abida Khalil Sattar	S-81
Disparities in access to quality surgical care for women in resource-constrained settings: Bottlenecks and the way forward	
Usama Waqar, Shaheer Ahmed, Hareem Rauf, Ayesha Nasir Hameed, Hina Inam	S-86
LITERATORE REVIEW	
Tania Arshad Siddigui, Rashna Hoshang Sukhia, Dinaz Ghandhi	S-91
OPINION	
Barriers in surgical research: A perspective from the developing world	-
Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui, Muhammad Aanish Raees, Rehan Nasir Khan, Farhan Zafar	S-97
SHORT REPORTS	
Conceptual framework for a cardiac surgery simulation laboratory and competency-based curriculum in Pakistan — a short innovation report	
Ali Aahil Noorali, Asma Altaf Hussain Merchant, Sardar Shahmir Babar Chauhan, Mustafa Ali Khan, Anam Noor Ehsan,	6 4 9 9
Mohammad Bin Pervez, Muhammad Tariq, Saulat H. Fatimi	5-103
STUDENTS' CORNER	
Pilot Study: Radial artery coronary bypass grafting: Surgical outcomes of an unexplored innovation in a developing country	
Russell Seth Martins, Laiba Masood, Mabrooka Kazi, Mishal Gillani, Ayesha Sadiq, Hina Inam, Saulat Hasnain Fatimi	S-106
Narrative Review: The environment under the knife: A review of current Eco-surgical strategies and recommendations for Pakistan	
Russell Seth Martins, Edward Anthony Joseph, Javeria Tariq, Namrah Aziz, Saulat H. Fatimi	S-112
Special Communication: Perioperative registries in resource-limited settings: The way forward for Pakistan	
Usama Waqar, Shaheer Ahmed, Ayesha Nasir Hameed, Namrah Aziz, Hina Inam	S-118
Short Report: Path to publication: A peer mentorship model for student-lead surgical research	
Usama Waqar, Hareem Rauf, Muskaan Abdul Qadir, Hina Inam	S-124
Short Report: Surgical training in ophthalmology: Role of EyeSi in the era of simulation-based learning	
Sehrish Nizar Ali Momin, Abdul Sami Memon, Muhammad Bilal Malik, Pir Salim Mahar	S-127
Short Report: PakSurg: The first trainee-lead model for multicenter surgical research collaboration in Pakistan	
Usama Waqar, Shaheer Ahmed, Ronika Devi Ukrani, Maheen Mansoor, Sadaf Khan, Syed Ather Enam	S-130
SUBJECT INDEX	(la-lc)
AUTHOR INDEX	(lla-lld)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

t gives us immense pleasure to share this JPMA special supplement with our readers, published as an appurtenance to the *7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference* of the Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan. The theme of the conference is 'Surgical Research: Exploring our History — Navigating the Future,' and submissions were invited keeping this theme in mind.

We are grateful for the enormous response from both national and international contributors and a total of 98 manuscripts were received. We adopted JPMA's strict criteria for publication and each submission was first evaluated for plagiarism through specialized computer software. No manuscript was rejected at this level. This was followed by coding of each submission to ensure that the peer-review process remains blinded and transparent. Each submission was then assigned to two independent reviewers, who were subject specialists belonging to the same specialty, again based on standard JPMA policy. In case of discrepancy, a statistical review or a third editorial review was also done. Complete confidentiality of the reviewers was ensured. All reviews were carried out on standard JPMA review forms. Only articles that were judged by both reviewers to be publishable in their present form; or with minor changes were selected. Articles requiring major revisions were not considered for publication.

A total of 26 articles were thus accepted for publication. This final list of articles was forwarded to JPMA for final editorial review, along with the comments of the reviewers. At this point we must mention that some of the rejected articles were actually of reasonable quality, but could not be published, on the basis that they were not related to the theme or required major revisions in either format or language, which given the short time-line, was not possible for this particular supplement.

We would also like to take this opportunity to thank our Departmental Chair: Dr. Syed Ather Enam, Conference Chair: Dr. M. Shahzad Shamim, Publication Committee: Drs. Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui (Chair), Syed Muhammad Nazim (Co-Chair), Amber Sultan, Abdul Sami Memon, Shiraz Hashmi, Rizwan Haroon Rashid, Lubna Vohra and especially our administrative staff, Shariff Charania who worked tirelessly day and night and made this herculean task possible. We hope you will appreciate the quality of papers in this supplement.

We look forward to welcoming you all and we hope you will take an active participation in the 7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference to be held on February 11-13, 2022.

Publication Committee

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference Surgical Research: Exploring our History - Navigating the Future

EDITORIAL

Surgical research: Exploring our history — navigating the future

Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui, Muhammad Shahzad Shamim, Syed Ather Enam

In the fifteenth century, trained individuals called' barber surgeons' mastered the art of handling sharp instruments and performing basic surgical procedures. They even founded a 'United Company of Barber Surgeons' in 1540.¹ Besides shaving and haircutting, they were trained to perform dental extractions and a few surgical procedures. Later in 1745, qualified doctors and surgeons came together and founded 'Company of Surgeons' in the UK, which later became the Royal College of Surgeons in London.² This progression from anecdotal experiences of the guild of barbers to a formal society that helped the implementation of scientifically reasoned decisions by Royal College Surgeons was only possible because surgeons were able to appreciate the value of the evidence and incorporate it into their practices.

We are witnessing rapid advancements and refinements in surgical techniques, the evolution of surgical aids and instruments, and the introduction of safer and less invasive surgical alternatives.³ Even surgical training has shifted from the conventional Halstedian model of apprenticeship to more competency-based training with constantly evolving modalities to improve the learning process.⁴ Key to this evolution has been the surgeon's ability to generate new evidence and keep their practices in accordance with growing literature. Research in surgery has enabled the surgical community to improve healthcare quality, resulting in better outcomes of surgical diseases. Research in surgery has several inherent difficulties that make it unique when compared to other specialties, especially in conducting high-guality surgical research like randomized controlled trials.^{5,6}

Due to the enormous burden of surgical disease, some low-middle income countries (LMIC)s can meet only about 3.5% of surgical procedures of their total need.⁷ A few factors responsible for this disparity include poor access to surgical care, fewer centres, and fewer surgeons in these countries. Surgeons lose revenue by taking time out for research from their clinical work. Research becomes less of a priority with fewer surgeons available

Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi.

Correspondence: Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui. Email: nadeem.siddiqui@aku.edu **DOI:** https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-01 to deal with a high workload. Western countries excel in surgical research because of substantial financial support from government and private sectors, and this lack of financial support is another factor limiting research in LMICs.⁸ In LMICs, surgeons do not have the infrastructure to support research, do not have funds to create an infrastructure, and do not get paid to do research.

There has been an overwhelming interest in standardizing practices amongst surgeons across the world. Initiatives like Global Surgery strive to address the issue of the non-availability of essential surgical procedures in LMICs, and it has started to make an impact.⁹ There is a similar need for large-scale initiatives that focus on developing strong research cultures in institutions and individuals. Identifying barriers to surgical research systematically and then focusing on finding solutions to these issues is critical. We think a multi-faceted approach with clearly defined short and long-term goals will help.

References

- 1. Ackerknecht EH. From barber-surgeon to modern doctor. Bulletin of the History of Medicine. 1984; 58:545-53.
- History of the RCS Royal College of Surgeons at https://barbersurgeonsguild.com/ (Last accessed on 30th Dec 2021)
- Garas G, Ibrahim A, Ashrafian H, Ahmed K, Patel V, Okabayashi K, Skapinakis P, Darzi A, Athanasiou T. Evidence-based surgery: Barriers, solutions, and the role of evidence synthesis. World J. Surg. 2012; 36:1723-31.
- Sachdeva AK. The changing paradigm of residency education in surgery: A perspective from the American College of Surgeons. Am Surg. 2007; 73:120-9.
- Tulandi T. Logistical difficulties in surgical research. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2017; 124:269.
- McCulloch P, Taylor I, Sasako M, Lovett B, Griffin D. Randomised trials in surgery: problems and possible solutions. BMJ. 2002; 324:1448-51.
- Weiser TG, Regenbogen SE, Thompson KD, Haynes AB, Lipsitz SR, Berry WR, Gawande AA. An estimation of the global volume of surgery: a modelling strategy based on available data. The Lancet. 2008; 372:139-44.
- Grimes CE, Bowman KG, Dodgion CM, Lavy CB. Systematic review of barriers to surgical care in low-income and middle-income countries. World J. Surg. 2011; 35:941-50.
- Meara JG, Leather AJ, Hagander L, Alkire BC, Alonso N, Ameh EA, et.al. Global Surgery 2030: Evidence and solutions for achieving health, welfare, and economic development. The Lancet. 2015; 386:569-624.

Bonded amalgam as a fissure sealant in low-income setting: A randomised controlled trial

Farhan Raza Khan,¹ Samreen Liaquat,² Ghazala Rafique,³ Syed Iqbal Azam,⁴ Arshad Hasan⁵

Abstract

Objective: To compare one year retention rate of bonded amalgam sealants (BAS) with that of conventional resinbased sealant (RBS).

Methods: It was a parallel group, equivalence, randomised controlled trial done during March 2018 to December 2019 at the dental clinics of Dow University of Health Sciences, and the Jinnah Sind Medical University, Karachi, Pakistan on children aged 12-16 years, who were randomly assigned to one of the two treatment groups (BAS vs. RBS). Complete retention of the sealant at one year follow-up was labeled as success. Multi-level mixed effect logistic regression model was employed. Study was registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov # NCT NCT03130725.

Results: There were 137 teeth (23 subjects) in the BAS and 128 teeth (15 subjects) in the RBS group that were evaluated for sealant retention at 12 months follow-up. Among the BAS group, 100/137 (73%) sealants were completely retained whereas 110/128 (86%) were fully retained in the RBS group. Nearly, 22/137 (16%) BAS and 10/128 (7.8%) RBS were completely dislodged. In multivariable analysis, subject age >15 years and male gender were found to be significantly associated with the dislodgement of sealants.

Conclusions: At 12 months follow-up, the retention of bonded amalgam sealant (BAS) was significantly lower than that of the resin-based sealant (RBS).

Keywords: Bonded amalgam sealants, Resin-based sealants, Retention, Caries.

RCT Registration: www.clinicaltrials.gov with # NCT NCT03130725.

(JPMA 72: S-3 [Suppl. 1]; 2022) DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-02

Introduction

Dental caries is a microbial disease where cariogenic bacteria living on carbohydrates produce acid that leads to dissolution of inorganic component of teeth followed by enzymatic disintegration of organic part of teeth.¹ It is one of the common conditions which people encounter throughout their life. According to global survey of 2009, on an average 70% of children were reported with dental caries in USA.² Untreated dental caries in children adversely affects the quality of life resulting from dental pain, causing weight loss, anorexia, sleeping problems, and changes in behaviour.³ World Health Organization (WHO) has reported that caries rates are higher among children in developing countries compared to the children residing in developed countries. World Oral Health report 2003 revealed that high dental caries patterns were observed in Asia and America. However, countries including Australia, Russia and China had moderate caries rate.⁴

Fissure sealant is an established preventive modality

¹Department of Operative Dentistry, ²Department of Clinical Research, ^{3,4}Department of Community Health Sciences, Aga Khan University, Karachi, ⁵Department of Operative Dentistry, Dow Dental College, Dow University of Health Sciences, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Farhan Raza Khan. Email: farhan.raza@aku.edu

against occlusal surfaces caries in posterior teeth.⁵ The sealant material bonds either chemically or micromechanically to the tooth surface and forms a tight seal with the enamel surface thus prevent cariogenic bacteria from damaging the tooth structure by their acidic attack.⁶ Agencies including Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), USA and American Dental Association (ADA) has recommended dental sealants for caries control in school based oral health programmes.7 Sealant retention rate decreases over time. A systematic review and meta-analysis based on 110 reports⁸ showed that 5year retention rate of RBS is 64.7% (95% CI=57.1-73.1%).

Staninec and co-investigators studied bonded amalgam sealant and inferred that the effectiveness of BAS was like that of conventional RBS.⁹ Furthermore, clinical evaluation of BAS showed that it not only prevented dental caries but in addition of being readily detectable, demonstrated low marginal leakage, lowered postoperative sensitivity and had adequate retention. It has been suggested that amalgam can be used as a fissure sealant in permanent teeth. Staninec et al. have also shown that the amalgam sealants are not only durable, but their consistency and handling characteristics are also dentist-friendly.¹⁰

The objective of this trial was to compare the 12 months

retention rate of amalgam sealants with that of resin sealants in children aged 12-16 years.

Methodology

A parallel group randomized controlled trial was done to compare the retention rate of bonded amalgam sealants with the resin-based sealants during March 2017 to December 2019. An allocation ratio of 1:1 was taken into consideration. The trial sites were the dental clinics of the Dow University of Health Sciences and the Jinnah Sind Medical University, Karachi, Pakistan. The trial protocol was registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov with # NCT NCT03130725. The CONSORT guidelines were followed for the trial.

Children aged 12 to 16 years who visited dental clinics of the two university hospitals and were willing to participate in the study were assessed for the eligibility. Children who were permanent residents of Karachi and had DMFT score of at least 2 were included in the study. Teeth were clinically assessed for the presence of

Enrollment

Allocated to Bonded Amalgam Sealant

Teeth received BAS (n=177 teeth)

Lost to follow-up (n=7 participants;

Final Analysis done on n= 23

participants having 137 teeth

(n= 30 participants)

40 teeth)

Assessed n=157 participants

Randomised (n= 51)

Allocation

Follow-Up

Analysis

49 teeth)

receiving RBS

Declined (n= 51)

criteria (n=56)

Not meeting inclusion

Allocated to Resin based Sealant

Teeth received RBS (n=177 teeth)

Lost to follow-up (n=6 participants;

Final Analysis done on n= 15

participants having 128 teeth

(n=21 participants)

cavitated carious lesions before the sealant placement. Only caries-free and completely erupted teeth were included in the study.

Participants in both study groups were given baseline education regarding the maintenance of oral hygiene using pamphlets in the local language. Oral hygiene instructions and tooth brushing technique were explained to the study participants.

We randomly assigned 51 children having 354 sealant eligible permanent molars and premolars (as shown in Figure-1) satisfying the inclusion criterion into BAS (30 children; 177 teeth) and RBS (21 children; 177 teeth) groups. Standard clinical protocol of sealant application was followed. All the sealants were placed by dentists having more than 5 years of clinical experience. Interventional product contained three ingredients: 1) Etching Unietch (37% phosphoric acid) used in semi gel form. 2) Adhesive (Adper Single Bond, 3M-ESPE, USA and 3) Sealant material (either flowable resin material (ClinPro

3M-ESPE, USA or Amalgam (Tytin spherical high copper alloy, Kerr, USA).

For BAS, teeth were cleaned using three-in-one syringe and dried with cotton gauze and air spray. Etchant was applied on the cleaned tooth surface for 20 seconds, washed and dried with air water spray. Auto cured adhesive was applied and air thinned. Small capsule of amalgam alloy was mixed in the amalgamator and then applied directly onto the intended tooth surface. Amalgam was packed into the pits and fissure using small ball burnisher. After five minutes of initial setting time, the excess was removed using sterile cotton pellets.

The primary outcome was the retention of sealant material at 12 months followup (categorized into three categories: complete retention; partial retention and dislodgement). The outcome was ascertained by visual and clinical examination using mouth mirror and dental explorer. Blinding of the outcome assessor was not possible owing to the nature of intervention. Complete retention was labelled when the sealant material was found completely occupying the pits and fissures. Partial retention was



receiving BAS

The sample size was estimated by using NCSS PASS.¹¹ A total of 177 teeth in each arm were needed to achieve 5% significance level. This number provided the study an ability to detect a 30% clinical difference between groups with a power of 80 % and alpha 2.5% in each arm.

The group allocation was done using random number table. Even number last digit received BAS and odd numbers consequently received RBS. Both parties (study participants and the investigators) were aware of the treatment allocation. Owing to the physical nature of the intervention, it was not possible to conceal the treatment.

Clinical history, oral hygiene status and outcome were recorded on the study proforma by a trained dentist. Assent from the children and informed consent from the parents were obtained in Urdu language and retained for the record purpose. Patients and parents were assured that the individual level data will be kept confidential, and no personal identifiers of the participants will be disclosed. The investigators were responsible for the data monitoring, its audit and the quality.

Data analysis: Data were analyzed on SPSS 23.0. Frequency distribution of all the categorical variables (gender, maternal education, education of father, family's monthly income, frequency of tooth cleaning, method of tooth cleaning, cleaning of teeth at night, previous history of dental treatment) were determined. As data were taken at more than one level, therefore, multilevel logistic regression was used. Level of significance was kept at 0.05. Teeth characteristics were treated as primary level and patient characteristics were considered at secondary level. Tooth was taken as the unit of analysis. Missing data were excluded from the analysis. Interim analysis done at the 6 months follow-up.

Results

A total of 157 children were examined of which 106 were excluded for their unwillingness to participate or not satisfying the eligibility criteria. We selected 51 children (354 teeth) in the trial. Each participant contributed multiple teeth (on average 6-8 teeth) in the study. The study CONSORT flow diagram is shown as Figure-1.

The selected 51 participants were assigned treatment in a manner that there were 177 teeth in each treatment arm. At 12 months follow-up, seven subjects contributing to 40 teeth (22.6% data) were lost to follow up in the BAS group and six subjects contributing to 49 teeth (27.7 % data) were lost to follow up in the RBS group. Final analysis was

Table-1: Socio-Demographic characteristics of the study participants (baseline).

Variables (subject	Categories	BAS	RBS
level data)		(n=30)	(n = 21)
Age	12 years	5(16.6%)	5(23.8%)
	13 years	7(23.3%)	5(23.8%)
	14 years	2(6.6%)	4(19.0%)
	15 years	11(36.7%)	3(14.2%)
	16 years	5(16.6%)	4(19.0%)
Gender	Male	10(33.3%)	6(28.5%)
	Female	20(66.6%)	15(71.4%)
Education of Mother	No Schooling	9(30%)	7(33.3%)
	Primary school	2(6.6%)	4(19.0%)
	Secondary school	13(43.3%)	2(9.5%)
	Intermediate	1(3.3%)	3(14.2%)
	Graduate and above	5(16.6%)	5(23.8%)
Education of Father	No Schooling/Primary school	10(33.3%)	8(19.0%)
	Secondary school	13(43.3%)	6(28.5%)
	Intermediate	5(16.6%)	2(9.5%)
	Graduate and above	2(6.7%)	5(23.8%)
Monthly Income in rupee	s Less than 10,000	5 (16.6%)	3(14.2%)
	10,000-15,000	12 (40.0%)	7(33.3%)
	More than 15000	12 (40.0%)	4(19.0%)
	Not known	1 (3.3%)	7(33.3%)
Ethnicity	Sindhi	8 (26.6%)	5(23.8%)
	Punjabi	1 (3.3%)	10(47.6%)
	Saraiki	1 (3.3%)	2(9.5%)
	Other	14 (46.6%)	1(4.7%)
	Urdu speaking	6 (20.0%)	3(14.2%)

n refers to the number of participants.



Figure-2: Retention of sealant material in the two study groups at 12 months' follow-up.

Table-2: Baseline characteristics of the participants in the treatment arms.

Variables at participant level	Categories	BAS (n = 30)	RBS (n = 21)
Previous history of dental treatment	No treatment	24 (80%)	17 (80.9%)
	Other treatments (Extraction, Filling and Pulpectomy /Root Canal)	6 (20%)	4 (19.0%)
Plague Index	-	2.02 (0.44)	1.67 (0.54)
Method of cleaning	Once a baby brush (Manual/Electric)	27 (90%)	19 (90.4%)
5	Others (Fingers, Miswaak/ Dandaas, Soft cleaning cloth, Rinsing with water)	3 (10%)	2 (9.5%)
Betel nuts	No(reference)	7 (23.3%)	6(28.5%)
	One pack/day	6(20%)	3(14.2%)
	Two pack/day	8(26.6 %)	3(14.2%)
	Three pack/day	2(6.7%)	2(9.5%)
	More than three pack/day	2(6.7%)	5(23.8%)
	Rarely	5(16.7%)	2(9.5%)
Dietary consumption	No Bar/Day (reference)	3 (10%)	6 (28.5%)
Chocolate	Daily Intake	27(90%)	15 (71.4%)
Ice cream	No ice cream/Daily (reference)	5 (16.7%)	7 (33.3%)
	Daily Ice cream eater	25 (83.3%)	14(66.6%)
Sweets	No sweets/day (reference)	4 (13.3%)	5(23.8%)
	Daily sweets eater	26(86.6%)	16(76.2%)
	No drinks/daily (reference)	16(53.3%)	8(38.1%)
Drinks	Yes/daily	14(46.7%)	13(61.9%)
	No burger/daily (reference)	11(36.7%)	5(23.8%)
	Yes/daily	19 (63.3%)	16(76.2%)
Burger	No pizza/daily (reference)	21(70%)	11(52.3%)
Pizza	Yes pizza/daily	9 (30%)	10 (47.6%)
Medicine	No (reference)	27 (90%)	19 (90.5%)
	Yes	3 (10%)	2 (9.5%)
Fluoride toothpaste	Yes (reference)	19 (63.3%)	18 (85.7%)
-	No	11 (36.7%)	3 (14.3%)
Fluoridated water use	Yes (reference)	26 (86.7%)	15 (71.4%)
	No/Don't know	4 (13.3%)	6 (28.6%)

n refers to the number of participants.

 Table-3: Risk factors affecting retention using Crude Odds Ratio with 95% Confidence Intervals.

	Factor	Crude Odds Ratio (95% CI)	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Group	RRS (ref)	1	1	1	1
dioup	RAS	0.57 (0.34 0.95)	0 57 (0 34 0 95)	0 54 (~0 01 175 64)	0 56 (0 37 0 95)
Gender	Male (ref)	1	0.57 (0.54,0.75)	1	0.50 (0.57, 0.55)
Schuch	Female	0 027 (0 003 0 20)	0 02 (0 003 10 19)	0 024 (0 001 0 20)	0 012 (0 001 11 28)
Age	12 years (ref)	1	1	1	1
	13 years	0.89 (0.37, 2.39)	0.89 (0.33.2.39)	0.83 (0.32, 2.4)	0.82 (0.16.4.22)
	14 years	1.08 (0.34, 3.42)	1.08 (0.34,3.42)	1.09 (0.56,3.9)	1.14 (0.17, 7.30)
	15 years	0.28 (0.11, 0.69)	0.28 (0.115,0.69)	0.29 (0.111, 0.75)	0.11 (0.003, 3.45)
	16 years	3.08 (0.74, 2.82)	3.08 (0.74,12.82)	3.5 (0.85, 3.8)	5.31 (0.35, 79.17)
Frequency of teeth cleaning	Once/day (ref)	1	1	1	1
	Twice a Day	0.83 (0.50, 1.39)	0.83 (0.50, 1.39)	0.82 (0.28,2.41)	0.83 (0.048,14.3)
Plaque index		1.75 (1.10, 2.78)	1.75 (1.10,2.78)	2.25 (0.41,12.20)	2.25 (0.41, 12.2)
Chocolate	No (ref)	1	1	1	1
	Regular intake	1.69 (0.92, 3.06)	1.03 (0.57,1.86)	1.76 (0.058, 53.29)	1.75 (0.10,29.32)
lce cream	No (ref)	1	1	1	1
	Regular intake	1.03 (0.57, 1.86)	1.03 (0.57, 1.86)	1.04 (0.53, 2.02)	1.04 (0.45, 2.39)
Fluoride in water	No (ref)	1	1	1	1
	Yes	3.61 (1.49, 8.74)	3.61 (1.49,8.74)	3.85 (1.29, 8.8)	3.17 (0.008,16.06)
Hypo- mineralized tooth	No (ref)	1	1	1	1
	Yes	0.071 (0.009,0.532)	0.71 (0.009, 0.53)	0.064 (0.01, 2.1)	0.064 (0.002, 19.23)
Use of medicines in childhood	No (ref)	1	1	1	1
	Yes	0.59 (0.19, 1.80)	0.59 (0.19, 1.80)	0.57 (0.17, 2.2)	0.58 (0.001, 28.2)

done on 38 participants (Figure-1). Frequency distribution of the participants in the two groups are shown in Tables 1 and 2.

There were 137 teeth (23 subjects) in the BAS and 128 teeth (15 subjects) in the RBS group that were evaluated for sealant retention at 12 months from placement. Complete retention of sealants was observed in 100/137 (73%) in BAS and 110/128 (86%) in the RBS group. Partially retained sealants were observed in 15/137 (11%) and 8/128 (6.2%) teeth in BAS and RBS, respectively. Regarding failures, 22/137 (16%) in BAS and 10/128 (7.8%) in RBS were completely dislodged (Figure-2).

Following variables were significant at the bivariate analysis: type of sealant, age of child, gender, tooth brushing frequency, consumption of ice creams and chocolates etc. Presence of fluoride in water and presence of hypo-mineralized teeth were negatively associated with the sealant retention. Moreover, the use of childhood medicines was also statistically significant (OR=0.59; 95% CI: 0.19-1.80).

All independent variables were retained in the statistical model to determine association between the independent variables and the outcome. Initially three models were made. First model had tooth level variables, second model included patient level characteristics whereas the third model was constructed by including both the teeth and participant level variables (Table-3). At combined level, the main exposure (BAS vs. RBS) had no effect over the retention of the sealant. (OR= 0.56; 95% CI: 0.37- 0.95).

Discussion

The present study showed significantly inferior retention at 12 months follow up of BAS compared to RBS. There were 22/137 (16%) sealant failures in the BAS group compared to 10/128 (7.8%) in the RBS (Chi-square p-value 0.03). It's interesting to note that there was no significant difference in the retention of two sealants in the first six months. However, with time, a substantial proportion of BAS experienced dislodgment from the tooth surface. This could be due to deterioration of the bond between the adhesive resin and the silver alloy particles.

Staninec¹⁰ has shown that in terms of retention, BAS is comparable to RBS (mean difference of only 0.08). Staninec's five-year long clinical trial also demonstrated that both RBS and BAS are retentive.¹¹ However, in the present study, one year follow-up showed that BAS had only 100/137 teeth (73%) with retained sealant. This was not at par with the RBS 110/128 teeth (86%). This

difference could be attributed to poor isolation technique (cotton wool roll isolation) employed in the present study as no additional funding was available for rubber dam. Another explanation could be poor bonding of amalgam alloy with the adhesive.

For RBS, the present study showed 86% retention. This is similar to other studies. Mejare and Mjor¹² conducted a clinical trial to compare the retention of RBS and reported retention rate of over 90%. Poulsen et al.¹³ too have reported a retention rate of >82% for RBS.

Llodra et al. studied the factors that could influence the clinical effectiveness of sealants. They observed sealants retention was high in areas supplied with fluoridated drinking water.¹⁴ Our findings are also somewhat similar to their results as we too observed a positive effect of fluoridated water consumption as well as use of fluoridated tooth paste with the sealant retention (Table-2). In our study, females experienced more sealant dislodgment. Biologically, there is no clinical plausibility for such an observation. Such statistical significance might have resulted due to sampling errors as there were unequal numbers of participants in the two treatment groups. Folke et al. has also reported an insignificant association of gender with the sealant retention.¹⁵

Other possible reasons behind low sealant retention (particularly in the BAS) may be due to dietary factors. Most children in the study sample were not taking healthy diet. Consumption of betel nut and other abrasive food items were common in children of low socio-economic status in South Asian culture. All participants in the present study were mainly from the low socio-economic stratum (SES). It's known that people with low SES usually have high unemployment, increased family size and poor oral hygiene.¹⁶ Other possible reasons behind poor retention of sealants could be that each participant contributed to multiple teeth in the sample. Moreover, a universally agreed upon definition of sealant retention is not there in the dental profession, therefore, for the study, we used the sealants retention guidelines advised by Deery.17

The lost to follow up in the present study were 7 participants; 40 teeth (22.6% data) in the BAS and 6 participants; 49 teeth (27.7% data) in the RBS groups, respectively. The differential attrition in the two groups could lead to difference in the retention rates for the study groups. In the present study, BAS fails to demonstrate its efficacy against RBS. However, with 73% retention at twelve months follow-up, BAS still can be used in management of incipient caries among high-risk children.

Use of amalgam sealants in resource restraint populations can reduce the cost burden of treatment, as amalgam is cheaper compared to RBS. Moreover, it's readily detectable on the tooth surface; a characteristic that can be useful in community-based surveys.

The present study was the first study one on amalgam sealants in south Asia. Using amalgam sealants paves the way of low-cost solution of dental caries management. The untreated dental caries may later need expensive treatments such as fillings or endodontic therapy. A considerable proportion of population in developing countries is unable to financially afford this treatment. This creates room for the use of amalgam sealants. However, this needs to be looked again in the context of the Minamata Treaty¹⁸ which aims at reducing the release of mercury into the environment. The treaty advocates a phase-down in the use of amalgam. However, the domestic circumstances of each country and especially the economic position of the developing countries should be considered before following the legislation on such accords.

An established limitation of the present study is the lack of blinding of the data collector and data assessor. Due to nature of the intervention, all parties were ought to be aware of the treatment allocation. The clinical relevance of this study is that the resin-based sealants are commonly used for the prevention of pits and fissures caries and arresting incipient carious lesions. However, due to the cost of resin-based sealants, many children in the third world countries remain untreated. Amalgam sealants although are inferior to RBS with respect to retention, can still be employed as a viable option for these children. Amalgam based sealants are cost- effective and can be used as a dental public health intervention in the lowincome populations.

Conclusions

At six months evaluation, the retention of both sealants was comparable. However, at 12 months follow-up, the retention of bonded amalgam sealant (BAS) was significantly lower than that of the resin-based sealant (RBS).

Ethics Approval: All procedures performed in the present study were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The reference of Ethics review committee of the Aga Khan University was #4445-CHS-ERC-16. The reference of institutional review boards

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from all parents/guardians of participants included in the study. We obtained the informed consent from the study participants in native language (Urdu).

Disclosure and Consent to Publish: Some of the data in the present paper was presented at MSc of Dr Samreen Liaquat. However, the one-year data were never shared, presented or published elsewhere. All authors have expressed their consent to publish.

Disclaimer: The AKU-URC grant covered dental materials, consumables and equipment needed for placing amalgam sealants and resin-based sealants but did not cover the procedure fee that is charged at the dental clinics. Hence, it was decided to carry out the trial at the public sector dental institutions (Dow Dental College and JSMU) where there is no separate fee for procedures. Therefore, IRB approvals from DUHS and JSMU were also taken after AKU-ERC approval. Dr Arshad Hasan did the oversee of the trial outside AKUH.

Conflict of Interest: All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding this paper.

Funding Disclosure: This study was supported by a grant of 0.6 million Pak Rupees by the Aga Khan University Research Council, Grant ID# 171006SUR. Dr Farhan Raza Khan was the grant recipient.

References

- 1. Conrads G, About I. Pathophysiology of Dental Caries. Monogr Oral Sci 2018;27:1-10. doi: 10.1159/000487826.
- 2. Bagramian RA, Garcia-Godoy F, Volpe AR. The global increase in dental caries. A pending public health crisis. Am J Dent 2009;22:3-8.
- Ramos-Jorge J, Pordeus IA, Ramos-Jorge ML, Marques LS, Paiva SM. Impact of untreated dental caries on quality of life of preschool children: different stages and activity. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2014;42:311-22. doi: 10.1111/cdoe.12086.
- Petersen PE. The World Oral Health Report 2003: continuous improvement of oral health in the 21st century--the approach of the WHO Global Oral Health Programme. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2003;31(Suppl 1):3-23. doi: 10.1046/j..2003.com122.x.
- 5. Simonsen RJ. Pit and fissure sealant: review of the literature. Pediatr Dent 2002;24:393-414.
- Baldini V, Tagliaferro EP, Ambrosano GM, Meneghim Mde C, Pereira AC. Use of occlusal sealant in a community program and caries incidence in high- and low-risk children. J Appl Oral Sci 2011;19:396-402. doi: 10.1590/s1678-77572011005000016.
- Beauchamp J, Caufield PW, Crall JJ, Donly K, Feigal R, Gooch B, et al. Evidence-based clinical recommendations for the use of pitand-fissure sealants: a report of the American Dental Association Council on Scientific Affairs. J Am Dent Assoc 2008;139:257-68. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.2008.0155.

- Kühnisch J, Mansmann U, Heinrich-Weltzien R, Hickel R. Longevity of materials for pit and fissure sealing--results from a metaanalysis. Dent Mater 2012;28:298-303. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2011.11.002.
- Staninec M, Eakle WS, Silverstein S, Marshall GW, Artiga N. Bonded amalgam sealants: two-year clinical results. J Am Dent Assoc 1998;129:323-9. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.1998.0206.
- Staninec M, Artiga N, Gansky SA, Marshall GW, Eakle S. Bonded amalgam sealants and adhesive resin sealants: five-year clinical results. Quintessence Int 2004;35:351-7.
- 11. NCSS, LLC. NCSS 2020 Statistical Software. [Online] 2020 [Cited 2021 April 05]. Available from URL: ncss.com/software/ncss.
- 12. Mejàre I, Mjör IA. Glass ionomer and resin-based fissure sealants: a clinical study. Scand J Dent Res 1990;98:345-50. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0722.1990.tb00983.x.
- Poulsen S, Beiruti N, Sadat N. A comparison of retention and the effect on caries of fissure sealing with a glass-ionomer and a resinbased sealant. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2001;29:298-301.

doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0528.2001.290409.x.

- Llodra JC, Bravo M, Delgado-Rodriguez M, Baca P, Galvez R. Factors influencing the effectiveness of sealants--a meta-analysis. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 1993;21:261-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0528.1993.tb00771.x.
- Folke BD, Walton JL, Feigal RJ. Occlusal sealant success over ten years in a private practice: comparing longevity of sealants placed by dentists, hygienists, and assistants. Pediatr Dent 2004;26:426-32.
- Hussain I, Khan Z, Khan MI, Khalid S, Kiran A, Hussain T. Long Run and Short Run Relationship among Gross Domestic Saving, Net Bilateral Foreign Aid, External Debt and Economic Growth in Pakistan. Dynamic Econ 2017; 1:1-7. DOI: 10.20448/journal.524/ 2017.1.1/524.1.1.7
- 17. Deery C. Pits and fissure sealant guidelines. Summary guideline. Evid Based Dent 2008;9:68-70. doi: 10.1038/sj.ebd.6400591.
- British Dental Association (BDA). Guidance on the use of dental amalgam. [Online] [Cited 2021 April 05]. Available from URL: https://bda.org/amalgam.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Manual loop in laparoscopic appendectomy: A retrospective cohort study and literature review

Priyanka Ramesh,¹ Aniqa Saeed,² Muniza Nusrat,³ Sehrish Batool,⁴ Hina Khan,⁵ Ghulam Murtaza⁶

Abstract

Objective: To determine the incidence of complications [Surgical site infection (SSI), intra-abdominal abscess (IAA), stump leak] related to stump ligation with manual loop of sliding extracorporeal suture knot in laparoscopic appendectomy.

Methods: This cohort study was conducted on patients who underwent laparoscopic appendectomy from June 2014 to November 2020 performed by the same surgeon with almost similar technique. Stump was ligated with manual loops, applied by the surgeon or trainee or both (one by surgeon and other by trainee). SSI and IAA were classified according to Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) criteria.

Results: Total 120 patients were included with median (Interquartile range, IQR) age of 24 (19-35) years and male predominance i.e. 81 (67.5%). Median (IQR) for the duration of symptoms, time from presentation to surgery and duration of surgery was 2(1-4) days, 10 (4-15) hours and 60 (44-70) minutes, respectively. SSI was documented in 9(7.5%) patients, managed by wound hygiene and antibiotics. IAA was observed in one(0.8%) patient who required readmission for antibiotics and radiology guided drain placement. No stump leak was observed.

Conclusion: Manual endo-loop is a safe, reliable and cost effective technique for stump ligation in LA, and can safely be incorporated into teaching of surgical trainees.

Keywords: Surgical Site Infection, Intra Abdominal Abscess, Endoloop, Stump leak, Clips, Stapler.

(JPMA 72: S-10 [Suppl. 1]; 2022) DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-03

Introduction

Acute appendicitis is a common abdominal emergency dealt by general surgeons¹ with cumulative incidence of 7% in general population.² Appendectomy is the standard of care. First reported¹ by a German gynecologist Kurt Semm in 1983, laparoscopic appendectomy (LA) has been gaining widespread acceptance due to various reasons i.e. accurate diagnosis, less morbidity and early return to activity. However, the main limiting factors are the equipment (availability & cost), learning curve and surgeons' resistance to acquire a new technique.

Apart from the laparoscopic equipment; trocars (if disposable), energy devices and ligation of the base of appendix determine the cost of treatment. Reusable metallic trocars and bipolar devices can curtail much of the cost. The stump can be dealt with any one of the several ways like staplers, clips (titanium, Hem-o-lok), commercial endo-loop, manual loop, intracorporeal ligation, extracorporeal sliding knot, bipolar cautery and ligasure. The decision of choosing any one of these tools is based on several factors i.e. reliability, cost, technique,

^{1,3-6}Department of General Surgery, Patel Hospital, Karachi, ¹Department of Neurosurgery, Liaquat National Hospital, Karachi, ²Department of Urology, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, ⁵Department of Surgery, Dr. Ruth K. Pfau Civil Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Ghulam Murtaza. Email: gms786@gmail.com

duration of surgery and applicability to distended appendix.³ In a meta-analysis by Antoniou et al.,⁴ suture ligation was found superior to others.

Since presently, LA is the first step of a surgical trainee in the world of minimally invasive surgery; a mentor/ supervisor has to be vigilant about patient safety and cost. In general, one commercial endo-loop is applied at the base of appendix and supervisor feels comfortable in applying it with himself / herself to avoid a leakage. If one extra endo-loop is applied for the training purpose, it would increase the cost and poses an ethical dilemma. Hence, a manual loop can serve that purpose, where more than one manual loops can be prepared from a single polyglactin (vicryl) suture. Manual loop has been compared to commercial endo-loop with no significant difference in morbidity.⁵ This improves the knotting technique as well as hand eye coordination of the trainee while applying the loop and also encourages the mentor to train the future surgeon without additional cost and concerns.

The objective of this study was to determine the incidence of complications (SSI, IAA, stump leak) after appendiceal stump ligation with manual loop of sliding extracorporeal suture knot in laparoscopic appendectomy at a tertiary care hospital.

Patients and Methods

This cohort study was conducted at the Department of

General Surgery, Patel Hospital Karachi, Pakistan. Patel hospital is 200 bedded; not-for-profit tertiary care hospital and an academic institution with post graduate programme in general surgery and other disciplines. Patients (12 years and above) who underwent LA between June 2014 and November 2020 were included in the study. Exclusion criteria was: a) LA with stump closure other than manual extracorporeal suture knot i.e. intracorporeal knot, stapler or clip; b) conversion to open; c) other concomitant abdominal surgery; d) any other pathology encountered during surgery; e) lost to follow up.

After the approval by Ethical Review Committee of Patel



Figure-1: Showing the steps of manual endo-loop formation.

Step 1 a-c: Assistant holds the suture straight and taught (S) with two hands. The surgeon loops the free end of suture around S to create a complete knot between Non Functional (NF) and Functional (F) segments of suture with the help of a fine artery forceps.

Step 2 a and b: The surgeon throws two more knots of F around S.

Step 3 a-c: The surgeon throws two knots of F around NF and tightens to secure all the previous knots. The surgeon then checks the knot adequacy by sliding it over S.

Hospital Karachi in May 2016, the data collection commenced and had to be continued till December 2020 in order to collect a substantial number of cases. The data of the patients i.e. demographics, operative details, histopathology and clinic follow up were maintained in the HIMS (Hospital Information management System) and intermittently recorded on a proforma by surgical residents.

The cases were performed under general anaesthesia by the same general surgeon with almost a uniform technique. Patient was asked to void just before the procedure. Ceftriaxone (3rd general cephalosporin) was used in majority of patients. After skin preparation with

> povidine iodine, a 10-mm optical port was inserted above the umbilicus, followed by a 5-mm port in the suprapubic midline region. The second 10-mm port was inserted either in the midway between the first 2 ports and to the left of the rectus abdominis muscle in left iliac fossa or in right upper quadrant, depending on the body habitus. placed Patient was in Trendelenbura's position with leftward tilt and terminal ileum was swept medially. Appendix was located by either following the ligament of Traeves or taeniae coli. Depending on the variety of findings, the meso-appendix was dealt with combination of blunt dissection, diathermy and clipping. The manual loop with extracorporeal knot on '0' size polyglycolic acid (Vicryl) suture was prepared by surgeon or trainee as shown in Figure-1. A trainee had to practice the knot till the knot preparation time was within 20 seconds. Manual loops (upto three in number) were applied either by the surgeon or trainee or both (one by surgeon and other by trainee).

Suture knot was pushed via port through a fascial dilator (14F, 25cm, Boston Scientific) or Johan forceps. First loop was tightened around the base of appendix, approximately 2-5mm distal to cecum, with a slow and steady pressure till the appendicular tissues started blanching. In most of the cases, one more loop was applied few millimeters distal to the first one. After transacting the appendix above the sutures, specimen was withdrawn into the 10 mm port and retrieved out of the body. If the specimen was too thick to be retrieved via 10mm port, a glove bag was used to retrieve it after dilating the optical port. Wounds were closed with vicryl 3-0 subcuticular or prolene 3-0 interrupted vertical mattress sutures.

Post operatively, patients were kept nil per os upto 6-24 hours depending on the findings and the course. Antibiotics were discontinued after two post-operative doses in clean cases or continued for three post-operative days in contaminated or dirty cases with frank pus or perforation or gangrene. Daily surgical sites were assessed by the registrar of surgery and/or consultant surgeon till discharge from hospital. Patients were discharged once they were mobilized, passed flatus/stool and tolerated soft diet. After discharge, there was a weekly follow up at the outpatient clinic by the consultant surgeon till the wounds healed completely. If SSI was found in closed wounds, the sutures were removed, daily dressing was done either by the patient, family or a visiting home health care provider till the wound healed completely.

The primary outcome variable was intra-abdominal abscess (IAA) or stump leak. IAA labelled if the patient had persistent fever >100° F, abdominal tenderness, diarrhoea or ileus (vomiting, constipation, abdominal distension and absent bowel sounds); and ultrasound or CT scan reported a fluid collection. Leak was labelled if contrast study (CT scan or follow through) confirmed the stump leak or if stump leakage was confirmed on re-exploration.

The secondary outcome variables were SSI and duration of surgery. SSI was assessed according to criteria of the Centers for Disease Control and prevention (CDC)⁶, within a period of at least 30 days postoperatively. Duration of surgery was recorded as time from incision to dressing.

Data was checked for wild codes and internal consistency with frequency tables and cross tabulations. Continuous variables were analyzed as means \pm standard deviation for data with normal distribution and median with interquartile ranges for skewed data. Categorical variables were analyzed as proportions and percentages.

Results

Total of 120 patients were included in the study (Figure-2) with median (Interquartile range, IQR) age of 24 (19-35) years and male predominance i.e. 81 (67.5%). Median (IQR) for the duration of symptoms, time from presentation to surgery and duration of surgery was 2(1-4) days, 10 (4-15) hours and 60 (44-70) minutes,

Table-1: Summarizes the baseline and outcome variables of the study cohort (n=120).

Baseline variables	
Age (vears) ¹	24 (19-35)
Male gender	81 (67.5%)
Onset of symptoms (Days) ¹	2 (1-4)
Mode of diagnosis	· · · ·
Clinical	44 (36.7%)
Clinical+ultrasound	38 (31.7%)
Clinical+CT scan	38 (31.7%)
Presentation to start of surgery (hours) ¹	10 (4-15)
Free fluid	
No	67 (55.8%)
Clear/amber	22 (18.3%)
Purulent	29 (24.2%)
Haemorrhagic	2 (1.7%)
Perforation	15 (12.5%)
Gangrene	13 (10.8%)
Adhesions	
No	44 (36.7%)
Flimsy	41 (34.2%)
Dense	35 (29.2%)
Time for manual loop formation ²	20±1.9 seconds
Number of manual loops	
Single	20 (16.7%)
Double	96 (80%)
Triple	04 (3.3%)
Wound closure	
Interrupted, non absorbable suture	90 (75%)
Subcuticular, absorbable sutures	30 (25%)
Duration of Surgery (minutes) ¹	60 (44-70)
Final histopathology	
Normal Appendix	1 (0.8%)
Acute appendicitis	114 (95%)
Obliterated lumen, fibrosed appendix	2 (1.7%)
Follicular hyperplasia	3 (2.5%)
Outcome variables	
Superficial SSI	9 (7.5%)
Intra-Abdominal Abscess	1 (0.8%)

¹Median (inter quartile range). ²Mean±Standard deviation.

SSI=Surgical site infection.

respectively (Table-1) Median (IQR) hospital stay was 1 (1-2) days. Average time required to prepare a manual loop was 20±1.9 seconds.

Nine out of 120 patients developed complications. SSI was documented in 9(7.5%) patients in supra-umbilical port, managed by wound hygiene and antibiotics. One patient, who had perforated appendix with purulent fluid around it, developed SSI as well as IAA at 6th post-operative day. CT scan with oral and intravenous contrast confirmed the IAA without a stump leak, that was managed by radiology guided drain placement. He was readmitted due to a need for intravenous antibiotics (Piperacillin/tazobactam) to cover multi drug resistant

B

Study	Groups (sam	ole size)	Complications Operative time (minutes)		Leak/a	bscess		
	A	В	Α	В	A	В	Α	E
Arcovedo et al. ²⁰ (2007) Retrospective	Manual Loop (63)	Stapler (63)	13 (20.6%)	11(17.4%)	77	50	1	(
Yildiz et al. ⁵ (2009) Prospective	Manual Loop (57)	Endo-loop (41)	2 (3.5%)	3 (7.3%)	44	43	0	0
Sahm et al. ¹⁷ (2011) Prospective	Endoloop (1670)	Stapler(46)			47	76	27 (1.6%)	1(2.
Ates et al. ¹³ (2012) RCT	Intracorporeal knot tying (31)	Titaneum clip (30)	4 (13%)	6 (20%)	62	41	1	C
Hue et al. ⁸ (2013) Retrospective	Endoloop (66)	Haem-o-lock (39)	2 (3%)	1(2.5%)	NA	NA	0	C
Rakic et al ⁶ (2014)	Endoloop (229)	Stapler (104)	13 (5.6%)	11(10.5%)	48	55	5 (2.1%)	3 (2.
Luchi et al. ¹⁰ (2017) Retrospective	Endoloop (158)	Haem-o-lcok (121)	2 (1.2%)	3 (2.4%)	40	36	0	C
Our Study (2020)	Manual Loop (120)	-	9 (7.5%)	-	60	-	1 (0.8%)	-

Table-2: Summarizing studies on different methods of stump closure in laparoscopic appendectomy.



Figure-2: Flow diagram of the patients.

organism. Stump leak was not encountered in any of the patients.

Discussion

In this study, SSI was observed in 7.5% patients after LA with manual loop and IAA in only one patient; neither stump leak nor re-operation was reported in any of the patients; thus, reiterating the safety and cost effectiveness of manual loop

In LA, there are several ways of closing the base of appendix. Different variables are to be considered while choosing the best technique i.e. safety, applicability, duration, reliability and cost. Stapler is easy to use, has the least complications of all and applicable to inflamed appendiceal base; however, the cost limits its utility in most of the healthcare systems.^{6,7} Besides, it requires a 12mm port to apply the stapler, which is more costly and painful than a 5mm port. On the other hand, hem-o-lock clips are feasible and cost effective;8-10 however, in these studies the patients with wide base were ligated with

alternate techniques like stapler or endo-loop and excluded. Hue CS et al found that hem-o-loks are unsafe for severely inflamed appendiceal base >10mm,8 where it increases the risk of pressure necrosis and leak owing to forceful application to lock the clips.

Titanium clips (TC) are also investigated with results comparable to the suture ligation;^{11,12} however, possess the same drawback of hem-o-lock clips especially in a distended, thickened or friable appendix. In the light of a prospective study, the average size of the base of appendix in acute appendicitis was 12mm (ranging from 6 to 23 mm); the authors suggested use of Hem-o-lock or TC for small diameter and endo-loop or staplers for wider ones. Another factor is slippage of TC reported by Ates et al.¹³ in a patient with repeated abdominal pain following LA. They also reported one patient with IAA and reexploration with intact stump in TC group.

In a systematic review, suture ligation was considered superior to other techniques for stump closure.⁴ The suture ligation can be performed with any of these techniques i.e. intra-corporal knotting, needle invagination, commercial endo-loop and manual loop. For the safety and cost effectiveness, Kiudelis M¹⁴ stated that intra-corporeal invagination is cheaper than endoloop but it increases the duration of surgery. Also it requires expertise of intra-corporeal knot tying and the pressure of knot varies from person to person i.e. it may be too tight a knot to cut through the tissues or a loose knot that makes the stump prone to leak.

The manual loop requires a short period of training and its application is smooth and controlled. The knot does not loosen after application and can be applied to any type and size of appendix as shown in our study. It requires an average of 20±1.9 seconds to prepare a knot. One commercial endo-loop costs around 80 USD and applying two loops means 160 USD. On the other hand, one vicryl suture is around 4USD and as many as four loops can be prepared from a single suture. Therefore, manual loop is a safe, reliable and cost effective technique of stump closure^{5,15-17} with a negligible rise in operative time i.e. 40 seconds for two loops in our study. Moreover, these manual loops can also be used in other areas i.e. gallbladder, fallopian tube.

Manual loop can be slipped through several instruments i.e. through the fenestrated prongs of Johan forceps,¹⁸ a fascial dilator or laparoscopic metallic knot pusher. We used one fascial dilator in as many as 10 cases after resterilization with ETO (Ethylene Oxide) or CIDEX (Activated Glutaraldehyde). One possible reservation would be a theoretical risk of SSI following reuse of a disposable fascial dilator. We observed Superficial SSI in 7.5% patients, which is well within the range reported in a systematic review on appendectomy.¹⁹ However, if a new disposable 14 F fascial dilator is used every time, it would cost 3-5 USD per case; which is still much lower vis-à-vis commercial endoloops.

As the strengths of this study, all the procedures were performed and followed by a single surgeon with a uniform technique and postoperative follow up. The data from June 2014 to May 2016 was collected retrospectively after ERC approval, while the data collection continued till December 2020 to collect a substantial number of cases. The limitation of the study was not having calculated the sample size according to statistical methods. However, a multi-center and effectiveness randomized controlled trial, adequately powered by a priori sample size calculation, having direct comparison of manual loop with commercial endo-loop, and involvement of various surgeons and trainees at different levels is required to reach at an evidence based conclusion and recommendation.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the stated facts, figures and logical reasoning corroborate that almost all the methods of stump closure are safe and effective. However, manual loop is additionally cost effective, reproducible, trainee friendly and readily available tool. These qualities encourage a surgeon to adopt it in the day to day practice as well as teach and train without any additional cost of healthcare or risk to the patient.

Highlights

• Manual loop is safe, cost effective, trainee friendly and reproducible tool to secure appendicular stump in Laparoscopic appendectomy.

It encourages a surgeon to adopt it in the day to day practice as well as teach and train without any additional **Acknowledgements:** Dr. Hassaan Khan Niazi & Aniqa Saeed for file review, Ms. Bushra for data entry.

Disclaimer: None

Conflict of Interest: None

Source of Support: None

References

- Eubanks S, Phillip S. L Laparoscopic Appendectomy. In: Fischer JE, editor. Mastery of Surgery. 5 ed: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007. p. 1607-09.
- Vellani Y, Bhatti S, Shamsi G, Parpio Y, Ali TS. Evaluation of laparoscopic appendectomy vs. open appendectomy: a retrospective study at Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc. 2009;59:605-8.
- Mayir B, Ensari CO, Bilecik T, Aslaner A, Oruc MT. Methods for closure of appendix stump during laparoscopic appendectomy procedure. Ulus Cerrahi Derg. 2015;31:229-31.
- Antoniou SA, Mavridis D, Hajibandeh S, Antoniou GA, Gorter R, Tenhagen M, et al. Optimal stump management in laparoscopic appendectomy: A network meta-analysis by the Minimally Invasive Surgery Synthesis of Interventions and Outcomes Network. Surgery. 2017;162:994-1005.
- Yildiz F, Terzi A, Coban S, Zeybek N, Uzunkoy A. The handmade endoloop technique. A simple and cheap technique for laparoscopic appendectomy. Saudi Med J. 2009;30:224-7.
- Rakic M, Jukic M, Pogorelic Z, Mrklic I, Klicek R, Druzijanic N, et al. Analysis of endoloops and endostaples for closing the appendiceal stump during laparoscopic appendectomy. Surg Today. 2014;44:1716-22.
- Makaram N, Knight SR, Ibrahim A, Patil P, Wilson MSJ. Closure of the appendiceal stump in laparoscopic appendectomy: A systematic review of the literature. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2020;57:228-35.
- Hue CS, Kim JS, Kim KH, Nam SH, Kim KW. The usefulness and safety of Hem-o-lok clips for the closure of appendicular stump during laparoscopic appendectomy. J Korean Surg Soc. 2013;84:27-32.
- 9. Varghese G. Feasibility and Efficacy of Using Hem-o-lok Polymeric Clips in Appendicular Stump Closure in Laparoscopic Appendectomy. Cureus. 2018 ;10:e2871.
- Lucchi A, Berti P, Grassia M, Siani LM, Gabbianelli C, Garulli G. Laparoscopic appendectomy: Hem-o-lok versus Endoloop in stump closure. Updates Surg. 2017;69:61-5.
- Strzalka M, Matyja M, Rembiasz K. Comparison of the results of laparoscopic appendectomies with application of different techniques for closure of the appendicular stump. World J Emerg Surg. 2016;11:4.
- 12. Gonenc M, Gemici E, Kalayci MU, Karabulut M, Turhan AN, Alis H. Intracorporeal knotting versus metal endoclip application for the closure of the appendiceal stump during laparoscopic appendectomy in uncomplicated appendicitis. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2012;22:231-5.
- Ates M, Dirican A, Ince V, Ara C, Isik B, Yilmaz S. Comparison of intracorporeal knot-tying suture (polyglactin) and titanium endoclips in laparoscopic appendiceal stump closure: a prospective randomized study. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2012;22:226-31.
- 14. Kiudelis M, Ignatavicius P, Zviniene K, Grizas S. Analysis of intracorporeal knotting with invaginating suture versus

S-15

endoloops in appendiceal stump closure. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. 2013;8:69-73.

- Mayir B, Bilecik T, Ensari CO, Oruc MT. Laparoscopic appendectomy with hand-made loop. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. 2014;9:152-6.
- Elgendy A, Khirallah MG. Hem-o-lok clip versus hand-made loop in base closure during laparoscopic appendectomy in children. J Pediat Endoscopic Surg. 2019;1:127-32.
- 17. Sahm M, Kube R, Schmidt S, Ritter C, Pross M, Lippert H. Current analysis of endoloops in appendiceal stump closure. Surg Endosc. 2011;25:124-9.
- Siddique K, Siddiqi N, Sedman P. Use of Johan forceps as endoloop pushers for laparoscopic appendicectomy. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2012;94:533-4.
- Danwang C, Bigna JJ, Tochie JN, Mbonda A, Mbanga CM, Nzalie RNT, et al. Global incidence of surgical site infection after appendectomy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2020;10:e034266.
- 20. Arcovedo R, Barrera H, Reyes HS. Securing the appendiceal stump with the Gea extracorporeal sliding knot during laparoscopic appendectomy is safe and economical. Surg Endosc. 2007;21:1764-7.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Temporary epicardial pacing wires in isolated Coronary Artery Bypass Graft: Necessity or force of habit?

Mian Mustafa Kamal,¹ Abdul Ahad Sohail,² Majid Osman,³ Shiraz Hashmi,⁴ Muhammad Mehdi,⁵ Asma Altaf Hussain Merchant,⁶ Muhammad Musaab Munir,⁷ Hasanat Sharif⁸

Abstract

Objectives: To determine the frequency of Temporary epicardial pacing wires usage and its predictors in the immediate postoperative period in isolated coronary artery bypass graft surgery.

Method: The longitudinal study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, from September 2019 to August 2020, and comprised adult patients of either gender who underwent isolated coronary artery bypass graft in the Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery. Demographic, peri-operative and post-operative Temporary Epicardial Pacing Wires use data was extracted from patient's files and the institutional electronic database. Logistic regression models were built to explore predictors of Temporary epicardial pacing wires usage. Data was analysed using SPSS 22.

Results: Of the 322 cases evaluated, 27(8.4%) required the use of Temporary Epicardial Pacing Wires. Mean age of the patients requiring temporary epicardial pacing wires was 66.3 ± 8.9 years compared to 58.7 ± 8.9 years in those who did not require it (p<0.001), while the left ventricular ejection fraction percentage was 44.1 ± 12.8 and 48.9 ± 12.8 respectively (p=0.032). After adjusting for clinically plausible demographics and peri-operative variables, increasing age and low left ventricular ejection fraction were significantly associated with the use of temporary epicardial pacing wires in post-operative period of isolated coronary artery bypass graft patients (p<0.05).

Conclusions: The frequency of temporary epicardial pacing wires usage in the post-operative period of coronary artery bypass graft was found to be low.

Keywords: Arrhythmias, Adult cardiac surgery, Electrodes, Post-operative, Temporary Epicardial pacing. (JPMA 72: S-16 [Suppl. 1]; 2022) **DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-04**

Introduction

Temporary epicardial pacing wires (TEPWs) are placed routinely during coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery for treating arrhythmias post-operatively.^{1,2} They are used peri-operatively to optimise cardiac output by maintaining the rate and rhythm of the heart. Arrhythmias are common post-CABG due to transient damage to conduction tissue during the operation,^{3,4} reported to be 4-58% in isolated CABG patients.⁵ TEPWs are implanted on the right atrium (RA) and/or the right ventricle (RV) of the heart to provide a low resistant pathway between external temporary pacemaker and heart's surface for pacing (Figure). Most common indication for the use of TEPWs is bradyarrhythmia i.e., heart rate <50/minute, and other indications include atrioventricular (AV) blocks, asystole, junctional tachycardia, ventricular tachycardia, Type-A atrial flutter and atrial fibrillation. TEPWs are removed prior to discharge by gentle trans-cutaneous traction.⁶

While TEPWs have life-saving advantages, its use also incorporates several risks. Literature has shown the incidence ^{1-4,8}Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital Karachi, ^{5,6}Final Year Medical Student, Aga Khan Medical College, Karachi. **Correspondence:** Mian Mustafa Kamal. Email: mian.kamal@aku.edu of major complications related to its use to be 0.04-0.4%,^{7,8} and these occur during the implantation or removal of the wires or when they are intentionally or unintentionally left inside.⁹ During implantation, they tend to increase both cost and duration of the surgery, additionally having the possibility to cause laceration of the heart chambers, leading to severe haemorrhage.¹ During the removal of these wires there can be major complications, like atrial or ventricular laceration and injury to conduit grafts, leading to cardiac tamponade, which can result in life-threatening situations.⁸ TEPWs, when unable to be removed, are cut flush with the skin, and, hence, a small part of it is intentionally left in the mediastinum that can lead to complications, like mediastinitis, arrhythmias and migration into nearby structures.¹⁰

Post-operatively, frequency of TEPW usage to pace the heart is very low. Bethea et al.¹ reported it to be 8.6%, while Asghar et al. found it to be 2.9%.¹¹ Both these studies identified some characteristics of the patients needing pacing wires, like increased age, diabetes mellitus, requirement of intraoperative pacing, anti-arrhythmic drugs and history of preoperative arrhythmias.^{1,11} Multiple studies have emphasised on the selective placement of TEPWs in isolated CABG rather than prophylactic placement in all CABGs. Because of its low frequency of usage and its association with major



Figure: Temporary Epicardial Pacing Wire (TEPW) exit site post-operatively.

catastrophic complications, the placement of TEPWs in every isolated CABG is controversial. The current study was planned to determine the frequency and associated complications of TEPW usage in the post-operative period of isolated CABG patients, and to explore the predictors of TEPW usage.

Patients and Methods

The prospective observational study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH), Karachi, from September 2019 to August 2020. Since there was no direct interaction with the patients and all records were extracted from their files/electronic database, an exemption from ethical review committee was sought. The sample size was calculated using National Council for the Social Studies (NCSS) Power Analysis and Sample Size (PASS) version 17.0.3.^{12,13} To detect a change in R-Squared of 0.31 attributed to at least 10 independent variables using an F-Test, power was kept at 80% and significance level 0.05 to detect an odds ratio of 1.5.14 The sample was raised using non-probability consecutive sampling technique from among adult male and female patients undergoing either isolated elective or urgent CABG at the AKUH Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery. Those having pre-operative permanent pacemaker in place, undergoing off-pump, emergency or salvage CABG, and patients undergoing CABG in conjunction with some other procedures were excluded.

CABG was done via full median sternotomy and on cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB). Myocardial protection was achieved with anterograde blood cardioplegia and topical cooling of the heart. On CPB, 34 C systemic cooling was achieved, and mean arterial pressure (MAP) was kept between 70-80mmHg. All patients received RV pacing wire and additional RA pacing wire on surgeon's preference. Post-operatively, patients were kept on ionotropic support as required, which were then weaned off slowly as tolerated.

During the post-operative period, patients were

individually evaluated for the need of pacing if they had bradycardia, taken as heart rate (HR) <50/min or asystole causing haemodynamic instability. Duration of pacing was also monitored.

Data was collected prospectively on a predesigned proforma from the patient's file, intra-operative record and electronic database. All subjects were assigned a unique deidentification number. Demographic, clinical and peri-operative variables included age, gender, co-morbidities,

like hypertension (HTN), diabetes mellitus (DM), chronic kidney disease (CKD), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), congestive heart failure (CHF), presence of preoperative arrhythmias, use of anti-arrhythmic medications, ejection fraction (EF) on echocardiography, history of recent myocardial infarction (MI) and presence of left main coronary artery stenosis. During their hospital stay, frequency of therapeutic use of TEPWs was recorded for the type and duration of arrhythmias. Any complications during its placement or removal, length of hospital stay (LOS) of the patients and their post-operative outcomes were also recorded.

Data was analysed using SPSS 22. Mean ± standard deviation (SD) / median along with interguartile range (IQR) were calculated for quantitative variables, such as age, weight, height, body mass index (BMI), EF (%) and LOS (days). Frequencies and percentages were calculated for gender, presence of co-morbidities, history of recent MI, pre-operative arrhythmias, post-operative arrhythmias, inhospital mortality and pacing requirement. Independent sample t-test was used to assess difference between continuous variables of those who require TEPWs and those who did not. Chi-square test was used to assess significant difference between qualitative variables. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis was performed, and crude and adjusted odds ratios (AORs) were calculated to identify independent predictors of use of TEPWs in patients undergoing isolated CABG. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Of the 322 cases evaluated, 27(8.4%) required the use of TEPWs. Mean age of the patients requiring temporary epicardial pacing wires was 66.3 ± 8.9 years compared to 58.7 ± 8.9 years in those who did not require it (p<0.001), while the left ventricular EF (LVEF) percentage was 44.1 ± 12.8 and 48.9 ± 12.8 respectively (p=0.032) (Table-1).

Table-1: Baseline characteristics (n=322).

Variable	TPW	P value	
	Yes, n=27	No, n=295	
	((2), 0.0	507.00	0.004
Age in years \pm SD	66.3 ± 8.9	58.7 ± 8.9	<0.001
BMI (Kg/m2) ±SD	26.7 ± 4.1	28.2 ± 4.1	0.140
Gender			
Male n(%)	22 (81.5)	246 (83.4)	0.799
Female n(%)	5 (18.5)	49 (16.6)	
Diabetes n(%)	17 (63)	182 (61.7)	0.897
Hypertension n (%)	22 (81.5)	237 (80.3)	0.886
COPD n (%)	2 (7.4)	21 (7.1)	0.956
Chronic Renal Failure n (%)	1 (3.7)	12 (4.1)	0.927
NYHA class			
II-III n (%)	24 (88.9)	258 (87.5)	0.829
IV n (%)	3 (11.1)	37 (12.5)	
LVEF % ±SD	44.1 ± 12.8	48.9 ± 12.8	0.032
Anti-arrhythmic used n (%)	2 (7.4)	19 (6.4)	0.846

BMI: Body mass index, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, NYHA: New York Heart Association functional classification, LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction.

Table-2: Peri-operative variables (n=322).

Variable	TEPW	TEPW used		
	Yes, n=27	No, n=295		
Priority of Surgery				
- Elective n (%)	24 (88.9)	250 (84.7)	0.563	
- Urgent n (%)	3 (11.1)	45 (15.3)		
IABP used in OR n (%)	3 (11.1)	17 (5.8)	0.270	
Inotropes used in OR n (%)	25 (92.6)	270 (91.5)	0.848	
Pacing in OR required n (%)	5 (18.5)	59 (20)	0.854	
Type of Pacing wire used				
- Ventricular n (%)	1 (3.7)	51 (17.3)	0.005	
- Atrial n (%)	2 (7.4)	3 (1.0)		
- AV Sequential n (%)	2 (7.4)	5 (1.7)		
Cardioplegia Type				
- Blood Cardioplegia n (%)	22 (81.5)	263 (89.2)	0.232	
- Dilnido n (%)	5 (18.5)	32 (10.8)		
PPM required n (%)	3 (11.1)	0 (0.0)	< 0.001	
CCT (min) \pm SD	72 ± 18.6	66.7 ± 18.6	0.224	
Bypass time (min) \pm SD	109.3 ± 26.9	104.6 ± 26.9	0.453	
LOS (days) ±SD	8.0 ± 2.6	7.3 ± 2.6	0.229	
In Hospital Mortality n (%)	0 (0)	9 (3.1)	0.357	

IABP: Intra-aortic balloon pump, PPM: Permanent pacemaker, CCT: Aortic cross-clamp time, LOS: Length of hospital stay.

TEPW: Temporary Epicardial Pacing Wires, OR: Odds ratio, SD: Standard deviation.

Among those who required TEPW post-operatively, 5(18.5%) required pacing in the operating room while coming off cardiopulmonary bypass. The type of pacing mode used in these patients was atrial and AV sequential in 2(40%) each, and ventricular pacing in 1(20%). Besides, 3(11.11%) patients needed a permanent pacemaker due to persistent complete AV block (Table-2).

After adjusting for clinically plausible demographics and peri-

S-18

Table-3: Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis (n=322).

Variables	Crude OR	P value	Adjusted OR*	P value
	(95% CI)		(95% CI)	
	/		/	
Age in years	0.91 (0.87,0.96)	<0.001	0.91 (0.86,0.96)	< 0.001
Male gender	1.14 (0.41,3.16)	0.800	1.04 (0.34,3.13)	0.950
BMI Kg/m ²	1.07 (0.98,1.17)	0.139	1.00 (0.91,1.09)	0.976
Diabetes	1.06 (0.47,2.39)	0.897	1.09 (0.44,2.70)	0.850
Hypertension	1.08 (0.39,2.96)	0.886	1.15 (0.38,3.53)	0.806
COPD	1.04 (0.23,4.71)	0.956	1.03 (0.20,5.35)	0.976
NYHA class IV vs. II-III	1.15 (0.33,4.00)	0.829	2.08 (0.50,8.60)	0.313
Chronic Renal Failure	1.10 (0.14,8.82)	0.927	1.03 (0.11,9.42)	0.977
LVEF% (< 30%)	1.04 (1.0,1.07)	0.035	1.05 (1.01,1.09)	0.020
No Anti arrhythmic drugs	1.16 (0.26,5.28)	0.846	1.03 (0.18,6.12)	0.970
Urgent vs. Elective surgery	1.44 (0.42,4.98)	0.565	1.52 (0.39,5.9)	0.545
Bypass time (min)	1.00 (0.98,1.01)	0.452	1.01 (0.98,1.04)	0.488
Aortic Cross clamp time (min)	0.99 (0.97,1.01)	0.225	0.97 (0.94,1.01)	0.165

*Adjusting for all covariates in the model. COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, NYHA: New York Heart Association functional classification, LVEF: Left ventricular ejection fraction. CI: Confidence Interval, OR: Odds ratio, BMI: Body mass index.

operative variables, increasing age and low EF were estimated as independent predictors of post-operative TEPW (Table-3).

Discussion

The practice of placing TEPWs in isolated CABG is controversial and no consensus yet exists amongst cardiac surgeons for their routine or selective placement. To our knowledge, the current study is one of the few in developing countries, such as Pakistan, to assess the frequency of TEPW usage in the post-operative period of CABG and its predictors. The current results support the selective approach in placing TEPWs in isolated CABG, with the selective groups including patients with advanced age and low pre-operative EF.

The guidelines issued by the American College of Cardiology (ACC), the American Heart Association (AHA) and the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) in 2018 recommended that the routine placement of TEPWs was reasonable as it has been the standard surgical practice.¹⁵ However, over the recent years there has been a growing number of studies that have examined TEPW use and questioned their routine insertion.^{2,11,16} One such study found that routine placement of TEPWs had a negligible role and was associated with increased cost and potential complications.¹¹ Another study found that TEPW implantation is utilised a lot more frequently than needed in cardiac surgery and that it is important to identify independent predictors so that the placement of TEPW can be limited to selected patient populations.¹⁶ The current study also showed that TEPWs should only be placed in high-risk populations.

The patients in the current study had significant medical

S-19

co-morbidities, making this a diverse sample. The AKUH also has a good cardiac surgery turnover rate, as our oneyear prospective study recruited 322 isolated CABG patients of which 85.1% were elective cases and 14.9% were urgent ones. The overall mean age of the patients was 59.3 ± 9.1 years which coincided with data from international studies.¹

In the current study low rate of TEPW usage (8.4%) was found comparable to a study showing a usage rate of 8.6%. Other studies conducted showed as low as 2.9% while one study reported that only 1% of patients required TEPW if predictors for its use were controlled beforehand.¹¹

Interestingly, the current study found increasing age and low pre-operative EF as key independent risk factors for TEPW usage post-operatively after adjusting for multiple covariates. TEPW implantation was likely to increase by 9% with increase in every additional age year and by 5% with decrease in every EF percentage. Both these predictors are reasonable and intuitive, as increasing age is associated with increased risk of multiple co-morbidities that may increase the severity of coronary artery disease, while a low LVEF indicates heart failure and possible cardiomegaly which are all attributable risk of post-operative arrhythmias. The current study did not find any significant association between gender, DM, COPD, CKD, and previous antiarrhythmic drug which was in line with literature.^{1,2,16,17}

Since the current study was conducted prospectively, there was greater accuracy of data without any missing information. Additionally, the sample size was adequate to run a multivariate regression model to make robust conclusions. However, the findings from this single-centre research might not be generalisable over other populations. The study was also limited in terms of using non-probability consecutive sampling technique.

Conclusion

There was a low frequency of TEPWs usage postoperatively, and increased age and low EF were found to be significant predictors for its use in isolated CABG patients.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

1. Bethea BT, Salazar JD, Grega MA, Doty JR, Fitton TP, Alejo DE, et al. Determining the utility of temporary pacing wires after coronary artery bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;79:104-7. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2004.06.087.

- Puskas JD, Sharoni E, Williams WH, Petersen R, Duke P, Guyton RA. Is routine use of temporary epicardial pacing wires necessary after either OPCAB or conventional CABG/CPB? Heart Surg Forum 2003;6:e103-6.
- Elmistekawy E. Safety of temporary pacemaker wires. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2019; 27:341-6. doi: 10.1177/0218492319833276.
- Del Nido P, Goldman BS. Temporary epicardial pacing after open heart surgery: complications and prevention. J Card Surg 1989;4:99-103. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8191.1989.tb00262.x.
- Pires LA, Wagshal AB, Lancey R, Huang SK. Arrhythmias and conduction disturbances after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: epidemiology, management, and prognosis. Am Heart J 1995;129:799-808. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(95)90332-1.
- Reade MC. Temporary epicardial pacing after cardiac surgery: a practical review: part 1: general considerations in the management of epicardial pacing. Anaesthesia 2007;62:264-71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.2007.04950.x.
- Archbold RA, Schilling RJ. Atrial pacing for the prevention of atrial fibrillation after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a review of the literature. Heart 2004;90:129-33. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2003.015412.
- Mishra PK, Lengyel E, Lakshmanan S, Luckraz H. Temporary epicardial pacing wire removal: is it an innocuous procedure? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2010;11:854-5. doi: 10.1510/icvts.2010.240978.
- 9. Meier DJ, Tamirisa KP, Eitzman DT. Ventricular tachycardia associated with transmyocardial migration of an epicardial pacing wire. Ann Thorac Surg 2004;77:1077-9. doi: 10.1016/S0003-4975(03)01141-X.
- Horng GS, Ashley E, Balsam L, Reitz B, Zamanian RT. Progressive Dyspnea After CABG: Complication of Retained Epicardial Pacing Wires. Ann Thorac Surg 2008; 86:1352-4. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2008.03.013.
- 11. Asghar MI, Khan AA, Iqbal A, Arshad A, Afridi I. Placing epicardial pacing wires in isolated coronary artery bypass graft surgery--a procedure routinely done but rarely beneficial. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad 2009;21:86-90.
- Hsieh FY, Bloch DA, Larsen MD. A simple method of sample size calculation for linear and logistic regression. Stat Med 1998; 17:1623-34. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0258(19980730)17: 14<1623::aid-sim871>3.0.co;2-s.
- Cohen J. Statistical Power: Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 2nd ed. New York, USA: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1988; pp 273-406.
- Peduzzi P, Concato J, Kemper E, Holford TR, Feinstein AR. A simulation study of the number of events per variable in logistic regression analysis. J Clin Epidemiol 1996;49:1373-9. doi: 10.1016/s0895-4356(96)00236-3.
- 15. Kusumoto FM, Schoenfeld MH, Barrett C, Edgerton JR, Ellenbogen KA, Gold MR, et al. 2018 ACC/AHA/HRS Guideline on the Evaluation and Management of Patients With Bradycardia and Cardiac Conduction Delay: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019;74:e51-e156. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.10.044.
- 16. Imren Y, Benson AA, Oktar GL, Cheema FH, Comas G, Naseem T. Is use of temporary pacing wires following coronary bypass surgery really necessary? J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino) 2008;49:261-7.
- 17. Cote CL, Baghaffar A, Tremblay P, Herman CR. Prediction of temporary epicardial pacing wire use in cardiac surgery. J Card Surg 2020;35:1933-40. doi: 10.1111/jocs.14870.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Factors affecting specialty choice of postgraduate dental residents in Karachi, Pakistan

Samira Adnan, Maham Muneeb Lone

Abstract

Objective: To identify factors that influence the choice of specialty of dentistry postgraduate residents in an urban setting. **Method:** The cross-sectional analytical study was conducted from April to May 2020 at health centres approved for the Fellowship of the College of Physicians and Surgeons training in Karachi, and comprised dental postgraduate residents. Data was collected using a questionnaire distributed using Google Forms. Residents were asked to rate factors that influenced their decision to join their clinical specialty on a 3-point Likert scale. Items were based on the basis of anticipated clinical experiences, specialty-specific factors, personal preferences, and possible constraints. Data was analysed using SPSS 23.

Results: Of the 51 subjects, 39(76.5%) were females and 12(23.5%) were males. The overall mean age was 27.7±2.17 years. Besides, 27(52.9%) subjects were from public-sector centres and 24(47.1%) from private-sector centres. Of all the residents, 44(86.3%) chose their specialty because of inclination to treat complex cases, while 43(84.3%) were interested because of the broad range of cases, and 39(76.5%) made their choice because of the reputation of the respective supervisors and institutions. Also, 43(84.3%) residents did not consider the expiry of their fellowship part one exam deadline, or unavailability of a training slot as a specific reason to select a specialty. Compared to males, significantly more females opted for a specialty if it eventually provided career opportunity as faculty (p<0.05). **Conclusion:** Factors that greatly influenced the residents' choice for postgraduate training specialty were related to anticipated clinical experiences.

Keywords: Career choice, Dental specialties and sub-specialties, Postgraduate training, Influencing factors, Motivational. (JPMA 72: S-20 [Suppl. 1]; 2022)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-05

Introduction

Postgraduate (PG) training in various specialties of dentistry is well established globally as well as in Pakistan. A large number of dental students graduating from different institutions are interested in and actively pursuing PG degrees in basic and clinical dental sciences. Studies have shown that as a global phenomenon, dental graduates prefer to continue their education towards a PG degree.¹⁻³ Among the PG degrees available to dental graduates in Pakistan, the Fellowship of the College of Physicians and Surgeons (FCPS) offered by the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan (CPSP) is a well-established and prestigious programme whose credentialing holds significant repute and standing in the country as well as globally. Training programmes in major clinical specialties of dentistry currently being offered by the CPSP in different training institutions across Pakistan include Operative Dentistry, Orthodontics, Oral Surgery, Prosthodontics and Periodontology.⁴

A number of factors may influence the choice of residents to join a particular PG residency programme in a specific specialty.

Department of Operative Dentistry, Sindh Institute of Oral Health Sciences, Jinnah Sindh Medical University, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Maham Muneeb Lone. Email: maham.lone@jsmu.edu.pk

It is essential that such factors be explored in order to evaluate the rationale behind such a decision. Such analysis is important as the career choice of students influences their future work productivity and motivation.⁵ A few studies have evaluated the influencing factors determining the choice of specialty in the field of medicine for PG residents, highlighting multiple reasons based on a wide spectrum of motivational determinants, like personal preferences, lifestyle, practice considerations and specialty of their mentors.⁶⁻⁹ A study⁸ done on internal medicine residents reported the difference observed between genders related to these factors. Similarly, another study⁷ observing the reasons behind the residents for choosing a specialty reported a difference between males and females in terms of motives for selecting a training specialty. In the local context, some research has been conducted to observe the preference of PG specialty that final year dental students would consider in the future.^{10,11} However, there is scant data regarding factors influencing specialty choice of PG dental residents already enrolled in specialisation programmes. The current study was planned to identify the factors that influence the choice of specialty training of PG residents pursuing FCPS in different training institutions in an urban setting.

Subjects and Methods

The cross-sectional analytical study was conducted from April

to May 2020 at health centres approved for the FCPS training in Karachi. After approval from the institutional ethics review board of Jinnah Sindh Medical University (Ref no. JSMU/IRB/2019/-198), data was collected using a structured questionnaire which was developed in the light of published studies⁶⁻⁹ with similar methodologies, recording the factors influencing the choice of specialty of PG residents. The relevant studies were downloaded and all items of each questionnaire were reviewed. The common themes were consolidated to develop the questionnaire with items based on external and internal influencing factors, where responses could be recorded on a 3-point Likert scale. The questionnaire comprised two sections. The first section was designed to acquire consent and collect information regarding the demographics of the respondents, including age, gender, their association with public or private institution along with their level of residency and specialty. Identifiers, such as the names of the respondents and their institutions and their email addresses were optional. The second section of the questionnaire gathered data regarding factors and determinants that influenced the respondents to join their current clinical specialty for PG training. The items were based on themes, such as anticipated clinical experiences, specialtyspecific factors, training centre/institution and programmerelated factors, influences, post-training incentives and benefits, personal preferences and possible constraints.

All dental PG residents from first to final year of residency involved in FCPS training at institutions approved by the CPSP as FCPS training centers were approached. The institutions included the Altamash Institute of Dental Medicine, Aga Khan University Hospital, Dr Ishrat-ul-Ebad Khan Institute of Oral Health Sciences, Fatima Jinnah Dental College, Hamdard College of Medicine and Dentistry, PNS Shifa, Sindh Institute of Oral Health Science, Karachi Medical and Dental College, Alvi Dental Hospital, Liaquat College of Medicine and Dentistry, Ziauddin Dental College and the Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre. The PG residents who did not give consent and those who had switched their specialty during their training period for any reason were excluded.

The total number of post graduate students enrolled in residency programmes in the city are approximately 204. This estimate was obtained by official correspondence e-mail to CPSP. The sample size was calculated using OpenEpi 3.01 for epidemiological statistics.¹² As we had no specific outcome target, the sample size was calculated on the assumption that the anticipated maximum frequency of outcome factor was 50%.¹³ The required sample size at 90% confidence limit came out to be 66 post graduate students.

The questionnaire was piloted by administering it by hand to approximately 10% of the total study population fulfilling the

inclusion criteria. These dental residents were not included in the final sample. In the light of the feedback and observations during the pilot study, the questionnaire was modified. The finalised questionnaire was uploaded on Google Forms, and the link for the questionnaire was shared with all residents fulfilling the inclusion criteria by non-probability purposive sampling. Any form with missing data was excluded. Informed consent was taken by all the study participants as an initial part of the questionnaire.

Data was analysed using SPSS 23. Mean and standard deviations were calculated for continuous variables, while for categorical variables, frequencies and percentages were calculated. Cross-tabulation was done of factors influencing specialty choice to several covariates, like gender, specialty choice, and type of institute. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Out of the 66 forms, 51 were returned filled completely, giving a response rate of 77.3%. Out of 51, 39(76.5%) were females and 12(23.5%) were males. The overall mean age was 27.7±2.17 years. Besides, 27(52.9%) subjects were from public-sector centres and 24(47.1%) were from private-sector centres. The largest group of PG residents was associated with Operative Dentistry 33(65%) (Figure-1), and 17(33%) were in the first year of their training (Figure-2).

Of all the residents, 44(86.3%) chose their specialty because of inclination to treat complex cases, while 43(84.3%) were



Figure-1: Distribution of Fellowship of the College of Physicians and Surgeons (FCPS) residents' specialties of training.

Table-1: Factors that motivated residents when choosing a clinical dental specialty.

Factor	Agree n (%)	Neutral n (%)	Disagree n (%)
My chosen specialty has great research opportunities	42 (82.4)	7 (13.7)	2 (3.9)
I was always interested in this specialty	39 (76.5)	8 (15.7)	4 (7.8)
I was influenced by positive experiences during BDS	37 (72.5)	4 (7.8)	10 (19.6)
l was influenced by my mentor/teacher	37 (72.5)	5 (9.8)	9 (17.6)
I wanted to work in a team	36 (70.6)	8 (15.7)	7 (13.7)
There is a lot of prestige in my chosen specialty	35 (68.8)	13 (25.5)	3 (5.9)
I wanted to have fixed working hours	35 (68.6)	9 (17.6)	7 (13.7)
I did not want work-related commitments after hours	33 (64.7)	8 (15.7)	10 (19.6)
It is easier to set up my practice independently	32 (62.7)	11 (21.6)	8 (15.7)
Training was conducted at a centre convenient for me	29 (56.9)	6 (11.8)	16 (31.4)
It will allow me more time to spend with my family	26 (51.0)	11 (21.6)	14 (27.5)
There is high income in my chosen specialty	26 (51.0)	16 (31.4)	9 (17.6)
It offers good career opportunities for a faculty position	26 (51.0)	13 (25.5)	12 (23.5)
I was impressed by structure of specialty programme	25 (49.0)	12 (23.5)	14 (27.%)
I was influenced by my family/ peers	21 (41.2)	9 (17.6)	21 (41.2)
It offers good career opportunities abroad	20 (39.2)	21 (41.2)	10 (19.6)
I didn't want too much blood in my practice	18 (35.3)	11 (21.6)	22 (43.1)
I felt there are less specialists in my chosen specialty	15 (29.4)	10 (19.6)	26 (51.0)
It offers quicker promotion chances as faculty	10 (19.6)	28 (54.9)	13 (25.5)

Table-2: Factors for making the choice according to the specialty of the residents.

Clinical Specialty	Agree n (%)	Not sure n (%)	Disagree n (%)	p-value
I did not want to work emergency shift	s			
Operative Dentistry	13 (39.4)	11 (33.3)	9 (27.3)	0.02*
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery	0 (0)	0 (0)	6 (100)	
Orthodontics	3 (27.3)	5 (45.4)	3 (27.3)	
Prosthodontics	1 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
I was always interested in this specialt	у			
Operative Dentistry	25 (75.7)	6 (18.2)	2 (6.1)	0.03*
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery	6 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Orthodontics	8 (72.7)	2 (18.2)	1 (9.1)	
Prosthodontics	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100)	
I wanted the opportunity to treat com	plex condition	ns/cases		
Operative Dentistry	28 (84.8)	3 (9.1)	2 (6.1)	0.007*
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery	6 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Orthodontics	10 (90.9)	1 (9.1)	0 (0)	
Prosthodontics	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100%)	
I wanted to encounter a broad range o	f conditions t	o treat		
Operative Dentistry	27 (81.2)	3 (9.1)	3 (9.1)	0.03*
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery	6 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Orthodontics	10 (90.9)	1 (9.1)	0 (0)	
Prosthodontics	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100)	

* p <0.05 was taken as statistically significant. n: number of postgraduate residents.

interested because of the broad range of cases, and 39(76.5%) made their choice because of the reputation of the respective supervisors and institutions. Also, 43(84.3%) residents did not consider the expiry of their fellowship part one exam deadline, or unavailability of a training slot as a specific reason to select a specialty (Table-1).

There was significant difference in a few of the motivational



Figure-2: Level of residency of the participants.

factors among the residents of different clinical specialties (Table-2). Compared to males 2(16.7%), significantly more females 24(61.5%) opted for a specialty if it eventually provided career opportunity as faculty (p<0.05).

Discussion

The current study is the first in the local context that assessed the factors that PG residents considered when choosing a clinical dental specialty. Studies have been conducted on dental graduates in other parts of the world identifying factors behind specialty choice.^{10,11,14-16} Research has also been conducted locally in dental colleges and among graduates of Karachi to assess the motivational factors of undergraduate students to opt for dentistry as a career.^{17,18} In Pakistan, there are around 29,000 registered dental practitioners. The country has an estimated total population of 220 million, thus there is a dentist-to-population ratio of 1:7500. Specialist clinical dental practitioners are far less; an estimated number is only 10% of the total registered dentists i.e. 2900. This is because there

are minimal PG options with limited seats available nationwide.¹⁹ Thus, it is imperative that the motivational factors behind the choice of a specialty are considered before the residents are inducted so that they do not suffer from professional discontent during or at the completion of their residency training or may have to switch specialty midway if opportunity arises. Such practices would lead to inefficient training programmes and practices, with erosion of the required number of dental specialists for serving the community.

There was significantly higher number of female participants in the current study. This finding is similar to studies done in Turkish and Thai dental schools.^{14,21} A plausible explanation could be the overall greater number of female students pursuing dentistry in Karachi.¹⁷ All specialties had more respondents that were female. A statistically significant difference was only recorded where a larger percentage of females (61.5%) compared to males (16.7%) agreed that they chose the PG specialty if there were chances that it may provide a better career opportunity as faculty in subsequent years. Other than that, all participants had similar motivational factors to pursue specialty of their choice irrespective of gender in the current study.

A positive trend was seen to the effect that PG residents were looking forward to clinical experiences specific to the specialty chosen by them, indicating that the learning offered by a particular specialty seems to be the primary reason for the choice. This would ensure continued, motivated engagement and deeper learning of the trainees as they progress in their training. Satisfaction in providing care in specialty of choice was one of the most agreed upon reason in a study done among residents in the United States.²¹

The study participants expressed a deep interest in research opportunities that their chosen specialty provided. Research was quoted as being an essential factor motivating the trainees to join their preferred specialty. This is a positive inclination, indicating that the trainees are aware of the importance of research and are motivated in joining a specialty where research avenues can be pursued. Even though FCPS is primarily a clinical degree, there should be an emphasis on the component of research since such measures promote evidence-based clinical practices.^{22,23}

Related to the training institution and the structure of training programme, the motivating factor was the reputation of the training institution itself and of the training supervisor because supervisors who takes special interest in guiding and enhancing the learning and skills of the residents are the most sought after.²³ Prestige of the specialty was also a significant factor for specialty choice for a large number of residents. This is similar to earlier findings.^{10,14,15}

The positive influences of mentors were an important motivating factors in the current study which was in line with literature 16. Such positive practices need to be promoted at the undergraduate level as well.^{17,18,20,25} The influence of family members and spouses was not seen to have a significant impact towards specialty choice in the current study, which was in contrast to earlier reports.²⁶ This

highlights the importance of conducting similar studies in different demographical settings as influencing factors for specialty choice may vary greatly.^{26,27}

Responses related to career and financial opportunities perceived after the completion of PG training depicted the prospect of setting independent private practice as the most significant factor in specialty choice. This was followed by the chance of becoming a supervisor to train other residents in the same specialty. The financial returns and possible faculty position were the other considerations. The interest of the current trainees in becoming supervisors later in their career depicts the desire to transfer their knowledge and skill to future trainees. This is a positive tendency as this would help to perpetuate the specialty practices in dentistry.^{14,28}

The personal interest of the trainees in the specialty they joined also ranked significantly high among the responses. Similar findings were observed in other studies.^{11,13} Other noteworthy factors were related to the interest in working as part of a team and those mentioning the time duration of training-related activities.¹⁵ Trainees also considered the after-work commitments and work-life balance as essential factors for specialty choice. An important consideration leading to this trend could be that the majority of the participants were female, and had multiple commitments related to family. However, despite this gender determinant, a study assessing the factors influencing medical students' choice of specialisation globally reported lifestyle and work-life balance as the top most governing elements, followed by interest in discipline.^{2,29}

Contrary to the popular belief in Pakistan that since slots for FCPS training in dentistry are limited, potential trainees often opt for a specialty programme which is not their primary interest, the current study had a large number of participants who reported otherwise. Similarly, the impeding expiration date of of FCPS part one exam¹⁷ was also not reported as an influencing factor for specialty choice for most residents. This is an encouraging outcome, since these factors should not determine a trainee's selection of a field for specialty training. If this were the case, the lack of motivation and interest could result in poor performance during training and would subsequently affect clinical practice and patient care.³⁰

In terms of limitations, the current study comprised residents undergoing FCPS training in Karachi only, and, therefore, the results cannot be generalised. In addition, only trainees of FCPS programme were included, while the residents of other PG programmes were left out. The sample size was also small, and the majority of responses came from residents training in Operative Dentistry.

Conclusion

Factors that greatly influenced the residents' choice for postgraduate training specialty were related to anticipated clinical experiences. Factors which the residents reported to have minimal influence on their decision-making included the potential lack of training slots in the specialty of primary interest as well as the impending expiry of the validity of their FCPS part one examination.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Sofola OO, Uti OG, Akpene OI. Does exposure to dental education change the perceptions of Nigerian students to dentistry as a profession? Eur J Dent Educ 2008;12:159-62. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0579.2008.00517.x.
- Stewart FM, Drummond JR, Carson L, Hoad Reddick G. A survey of dental school applicants' career intentions and the balance with family life. Br Dent J 2005;198:713-20. doi: 10.1038/sj.bdj.4812391.
- Weaver RG, Haden NK, Valachovic RW. Annual ADEA survey of dental school seniors: 2002 graduating class. J Dent Educ 2002;66:1388-404.
- 4. Khan FR. Dilemma of dental graduates seeking specialty training in Pakistan: MDS vs. FCPS. J Pak Dent Assoc 2017;26:44-45.
- Kazi AS, Akhlaq A. Factors affecting students' career choice. J Res Reflect Educ 2017;11:187-96.
- Gautam AP, Paudel BH, Dhakal SR. What influences residents in selecting their subject in post-graduation? Health Renaissance 2013;11:68-73.
- van der Horst K, Siegrist M, Orlow P, Giger M. Residents' reasons for specialty choice: influence of gender, time, patient and career. Med Educ 2010;44:595-602. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2010.03631.x.
- West CP, Drefahl MM, Popkave C, Kolars JC. Internal medicine resident self-report of factors associated with career decisions. J Gen Intern Med 2009;24:946-9. doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1039-0.
- Garibaldi RA, Popkave C, Bylsma W. Career plans for trainees in internal medicine residency programs. Acad Med 2005;80:507-12. doi: 10.1097/00001888-200505000-00021.
- Nwhator SO, Olatosi O, Ashiwaju MO, Isiekwe GI. Emerging trends in dental specialty choice in Nigeria. Int Dent J 2013;63:91-6. doi: 10.1111/idj.12019.
- 11. Kanmodi KK, Badru AI, Akinloye AG, Wegscheider WA. Specialty choice among dental students in Ibadan, Nigeria. Afr J Health Professions Educ 2017;9:21-3. DOI: 10.7196/AJHPE.2017.v9i1.670
- Dean AG, Sullivan KM, Soe MM. OpenEpi: Open Source Epidemiologic Statistics for Public Health, Version 3.01. [Online] 2013 [Cited 2022 January 10]. Available from URL: https://www.openepi.com/SampleSize/SSCohort.htm
- Al-Hallak KR, Nassani MZ, Heskul MM, Doumani MD, Darwish M. Reasons for choosing dentistry as a career among dental students in Saudi Arabia. Eur J Dent 2018;12:275-80. doi: 10.4103/ejd.ejd_335_17.

- Hatipoglu O. Factors that affect the career and specialty preferences of dentistry students in Turkey. J Clin Diagn Res 2019;13:06-11. DOI: 10.7860/JCDR/2019/41282.12934.
- Sharma V, Gupta N, Arora V, Gupta P, Mehta N. Factors affecting future speciality choice among dental students in Haryana. J Sci Dent 2017;7:12-7.
- Shin JH, Kinnunen TH, Zarchy M, Da Silva JD, Chang BM, Wright RF. Factors influencing dental students' specialty choice: a survey of ten graduating classes at one institution. J Dent Educ 2015;79:369-77.
- Lone MA, Lone MM, Lone MA, Shaikh MS, Khan F, Soomro AH. Motivational factors for pursuing dentistry as a profession in colleges of Karachi, Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc 2020;70:1393-7. doi: 10.5455/JPMA.33126.
- Yousuf W, Kazmi SMR, Quraeshi S, Khan M. Motivation and future intentions of dental students in Karachi, Pakistan. Pak J Med Res 2019;58:26-30.
- Shahid A, Khan M, Saeed S, Shah B, Qureshi NR, Najam A. Obscure state of dental graduates in Karachi, Pakistan. J Oral Hyg Health 2020;8:e255. Doi: 10.4172/2332-0702.1000255.
- Mitrakul K, Asvanund P, Kitisubkanchana J. Dental graduates and dental student's choice of specialties and factors influencing specialty training selection. M Dent J 2014;34:338-46.
- 21. Dhima M, Petropoulos VC, Han RK, Kinnunen T, Wright RF. Dental students' perceptions of dental specialties and factors influencing specialty and career choices. J Dent Educ 2012;76:562-73.
- 22. Black AT, Balneaves LG, Garossino C, Puyat JH, Qian H. Promoting evidence-based practice through a research training program for point-of-care clinicians. J Nurs Adm 2015;45:14-20. doi: 10.1097/NNA.00000000000151.
- Kishore M, Panat SR, Aggarwal A, Agarwal N, Upadhyay N, Alok A. Evidence based dental care: integrating clinical expertise with systematic research. J Clin Diagn Res 2014;8:259-62. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2014/6595.4076.
- 24. In: Cooper N, Forrest K, eds. Essential guide to educational supervision in postgraduate medical education 1st ed. London, UK: Wiley-Blackwell Publishing Ltd / BMJ Publishing Group Ltd; 2009.
- Blissett R, Lee MC, Jimenez M, Sukotjo C. Differential factors that influence applicant selection of a prosthodontic residency program. J Prosthodont 2009;18:283-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-849X.2008.00407.x.
- Halawany HS, Binassfour AS, AlHassan WK, Alhejaily RA, Al Maflehi N, Jacob V, et al. Dental specialty, career preferences and their influencing factors among final year dental students in Saudi Arabia. Saudi Dent J 2017;29:15-23. doi: 10.1016/j.sdentj.2016.12.001.
- 27. Karibe H, Suzuki A, Sekimoto T, Srithavaj ML, lamaroon A, Warita S, et al. Cross-cultural comparison of the attitudes of dental students in three countries. J Dent Educ 2007;71:1457-66.
- Hashemipour MA, Navabi N. Investigation of factors affecting study in various fields of specialization in dental students of South-East Iran. Iran J Med Educ 2012;11:979-82.
- Levaillant M, Levaillant L, Lerolle N, Vallet B, Hamel-Broza JF. Factors influencing medical students' choice of specialization: A gender based systematic review. EClinicalMedicine 2020;28:e100589. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100589.
- Bhatti NM, Naveed T. Correlation between course interest, selfdirection and assessment scores for determining motivation of medical and dental students in Pakistan. Pak Oral Dental J 2017;37:273-7.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Diagnostic accuracy of axillary nodal ultrasound after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in node-positive breast cancer patients: A validation study

Syeda Sakina Abidi,¹ Lubna Mushtaque Vohra,² Asad Ali Kerawala,³ Imrana Masroor,⁴ Muhammad Umair Tahseen⁵

Abstract

Objective: To determine the accuracy and false negative rate of axillary ultrasound compared to sentinel node biopsy.

Method: The retrospective study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, from February 1 to March 31, 2021, and comprised data of breast cancer patients who had undergone neo-adjuvant chemotherapy followed by axillary lymph node dissection or axillary disease diagnosed using lymph node biopsy or sentinel lymph node biopsy between January 1, 2016, and December 30, 2020. After receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy, axillary ultrasound findings were compared with histopathology of lymph nodes. Data was analysed using SPSS 22.

Results: Of the 155 patients evaluated, 104(67.1%) were diagnosed with negative axillary lymph nodes and 51(32.9%) were diagnosed with positive axillary lymph nodes post-chemotherapy. The overall mean age was 51.13±1.3 years. When histopathology results were compared with those of axillary ultrasound, 36(23.2%) cases turned out to be true positive, while 23(14,8%) were false negative, yielding a positive predictive value of 75% and negative predictive value of 65%. Axillary ultrasound had 75% accuracy, false negative rate 30%, sensitivity 61% and specificity 84.4%.

Conclusion: Axillary ultrasound was found to be fairly useful, but not completely reliable, in identifying positive lymph nodes, .

Keywords: Neoadjuvant chemotherapy, Ultrasound axilla, Sensitivity, False negative rate.

(JPMA 72: S-25 [Suppl. 1]; 2022) DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-06

Introduction

For the past few decades, axillary nodal status has been the cornerstone in breast cancer staging, making axillary surgery part and parcel of breast cancer surgery.¹ Axillary lymph node dissection (ALND), however, comes with significant morbidity of swelling in the arms, numbness and restricted arm movements in up to 40% patients.² With increasing knowledge of tumour biology as a more important diagnostic factor and milestones achieved in the de-escalation of breast surgery to reduce morbidity, the need for ALND was questioned. This led to the concept of sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) which now represents routine care in node-negative, early breast cancer patients.³ Although neo-adjuvant chemotherapy (NACT) allowed breast conservation surgeries to be offered to patients who presented with advance disease, standard ALND remained in practice in post-neo-adjuvant settings. This was mostly because of concern that altered lymphatic drainage pertaining to post-systemic treatment fibrosis may lead to inaccurate SLNB results.⁴ Nevertheless, enthusiasm to tailor breast and axillary surgery grew with the knowledge that a number of

^{1,2,4}Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, ³Cancer Foundation Hospital, Karachi, ⁵Dr. Ruth K.M Pfau, Civil Hospital Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Syeda Sakina Abidi. Email: sakina.abidi@aku.edu

individuals who receive NACT achieve a pathologically complete response (pCR), defined as no residual infiltrating disease in the breast and the axillary lymph nodes. The rate of achieving pCR strongly correlated with subtypes of breast cancer.⁵

Two large multi-centre prospective clinical trials subsequently validated the feasibility of SLNB in individuals who had positive axillary nodal disease at presentation and achieved a clinically node-negative status after receiving NACT. Both the studies reported a false negative rate (FNR) of 12.6% to 14.2% for SLNB which was above the accepted threshold of 10%.⁶⁻⁸ The FNR was optimised to <10% using dual tracer, removing three sentinel nodes and clipping biopsied nodes.⁹

Currently available imaging modalities for pre-operative evaluation of axilla in breast cancer patients include mammogram (MMG), axillary ultrasound (aUS), computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). MMG has diagnostic accuracy of 79.5%, but is unreliable as part of axilla may not be visualised on routine MMG. CT scan and MRI are not usually used for general evaluation of axilla as they are expensive, but are helpful when the extent of disease needs to be evaluated.¹⁰ Thus, aUS is the imaging of choice for initial axillary assessment of patients, but there is significant difference of reported sensitivity (27-94%) and specificity (53-100%).¹¹ Despite being operator-dependent, it has outperformed other imaging techniques with the advantage of being less expensive and non-invasive, thereby becoming routine practice.¹² In an attempt to decrease FNR, studies have explored the use of US to identify nodes for SLNB and reported an FNR decrease to 9.8% when used with dual tracer techniques.¹³ Sensitivity 71% and specificity 88% was reported using aUS with 83% negative predictive value (NPV) and 29% FNR.¹⁴

Formal re-staging of axilla post-NACT was adopted at the study site in 2015. The current study was planned to determine the accuracy and FNR of aUS compared to SLNB since the change.

Materials and Methods

The retrospective study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH), Karachi, from February 1 to March 31, 2021, and comprised data of breast cancer patients who had undergone NACT followed by ALND or SLNB between January 1, 2016, and December 30, 2020. After exemption from the institutional ethics review committee, hospital database was used to identify patients and data was collected on a self-designed questionnaire. Ultrasound axilla reports of patients who primary NACT were matched received with histopathology reports of axillary nodes after definitive surgery which is the gold standard, categorised as positive for lymph nodes with residual tumour, and negative on the absence of such findings. Data was also obtained on age, grade and biology of tumour, stage of breast cancer, and the chemotherapy regimen used. The sensitivity and specificity of aUS was identified through receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Data was analysed using SPSS 22. Descriptive data was reported for quantitative and qualitative variables as mean and standard deviation, median and interguartile range (IQR), and frequencies and percentages, as appropriate. Chisquare test was used to test positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) of aUS in relation to post-ALND and immunohistochemistry. ROC curve was used to test the specificity and sensitivity of aUS. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Of the 155 patients evaluated, 104(67.1%) were diagnosed with negative axillary lymph nodes and 51(32.9%) were diagnosed with positive axillary lymph nodes post-chemotherapy. The overall mean age was 51.13 ± 1.3 years. The median time for follow-up from the start of NACT to surgery was 6 months (IQR: 3-9 months). Demographic and baseline clinical data was noted (Table-1).

Table-1: Baseline characteristics of tumour and patient demographics.

Characterstics	No. (%)
Age (mean) years	51 13+1 13
Menopausal status	51.15_1.15
Premenopausal	63 (40.6%)
Perimenopausal	71 (45.8%)
Postmenopausal	21 (13.5%)
Receptor Status	
ER-/PR-/Her2-	64 (41.5%)
ER/PR+/HEr2+	30 (19.5%)
ER/PR+/Her2-	45 (29.2%)
EK/PK-/HEK2+	15 (9.7%)
Size of Invasive focus	AD ()7 70/)
Complete Response	43 (27.7%)
<1 (III 1.2 cm	41 (20.4%)
>2 cm	35 (22.0%)
Grade of cancer	JU (ZJ.Z70)
Grade I	1 (0.6%)
Grade II	90 (58%)
Grade III	64 (41.2%)
Clinical Stage	0(
T1NO	7 (4.5%)
T1N1	14 (9%)
T2NO	21 (13.5%)
T2N1	83 (53.5%)
T3NO	4 (2.5%)
T3N1	18 (11.6%)
T4N0	2 (1.3%)
T4N1	6 (3.8%)
Histopathology Findings	
IDC	5 (3.2%)
Utners	150 (96.8%)
Lympn nodes status post NACI	101 (67 104)
Decitive axillary lymph nodes post NACT	54 (22 004)
Total No Of Sentinel Nodes Post NACI	J4 (J2.970)
No Sentinel lymph node retrieved	33 (42.2%)
1	5 (0 1%)
2	16 (0.6%)
3	33 (25.5%)
>3	22 (24.4%)
Axillary lymph nodes positive on histopathology after SLN Biops	sy .
None	44 (75.9%)
1	11 (19%)
2	2 (3.4%)
3 or >3	1 (1.7%)
Axillary lymph node dissection given	112 (72.2%)
Nodes recovered in ALND	2 (2 20()
None	3 (2.2%)
<3	I (0.7%)
<10	/ (J.1%)
<20	03 (43./%) 34 (34 40/)
<00 10</td <td>5 (2 60%)</td>	5 (2 60%)
No. of positive lymph podes after ALND	(סיסיכן כ
None	55 (48 2%)
<3	30 (26 3%)
<5	8 (7.1%)
<10	15 (13.1%)
<20	6 (5.3%)

SD: Standard deviation, ER: Oestrogen receptor, PR: Progesterone receptor, HER2: Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, SLN: Sentinel lymph node, IDC: Invasive ductal carcinoma, NACT: Neo-adjuvant chemotherapy, ALND: Axillary lymph node dissection.

	Axillary US post NACT Residual Disease	Axillary US post NACT No Residual Disease	
Residual Disease on Histopathology	True Positive n=31	False Negative n=36	Sensitivity=61%
No Residual Disease on Histopathology	False Positive n=20	True Negative n=68	Specificity=84.4%
Accuracy= 75%	Positive Predictive Value = 75%	Negative Predictive Value = 65%	False Negative Rate =30%

NACT: Neo-adjuvant chemotherapy.

Table-3: Diagnostic PPV and NPV according to tumour phenotype.

Tumour histopathological subtype	Positive Predictive Value (PPV)	Negative Predictive Value (NPV)
ER+ HER2-	100%	50%
ER+ HER2+	64%	57%
ER- HER2+	82%	71%
ER- HER2-	60%	75%

ER: Oestrogen receptor, HER2: Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2.



Figure-1: ROC: Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve illustrating the sensitivity and specificity of axillary ultrasound (aUS). Area under curve (AUC) = 0.73.

When histopathology results were compared with those of aUS, 36 cases turned out to be true positive (TP), while 23(%) were false negative (FN), yielding a PPV of 75% and NPV of 65%. The aUS had 75% accuracy, FNR 30%, sensitivity 61% and specificity 84.4% (Table-2).

ROC curve showed 61% aUS sensitivity and 84% aUS specificity (Figure-1). The area under curve (AUC) was 0.73



aUS: Axillary ultrasound, SLNB: Sentinel lymph node biopsy, ALND: Axillary lymph node dissection. SLNB is showing false negative rate (FNR) of 12.5% while aUS is showing FNR of 30%.

Figure-2: Boughey's algorithm.

(Standard error=0.04; p=0.001).

Diagnostic PPV and NPV according to tumour phenotype were noted separately (Table-3). SLNB had a FNR 12.5% compared to aUS FNR 30% (Figure-2).

Discussion

The aUS is a vital adjunct to breast imaging in the staging of breast cancers. The lymph nodal status not only guides the treatment, but also provides valuable prognostic information. The major lymphatic drainage from the breast is to the ipsilateral axillary nodes which are best assessed by US. They may be categorised as suspicious (thickened cortex, loss of fatty hilum) or normal (having an intact hilum, cortex <3mm). Concordance in US findings and histopathology may help avoid axillary surgery and its associated morbidity in certain patients.

In the current study, aUS FNR in post-NACT patients was 30%. FNR as low as 2% with targeted axillary dissection has been reported in studies.¹⁵ Targeted axillary dissection, however, involves additional cost and procedures, like clip placement at the time of biopsy. Historically, FNR <10% has been considered significant to use the proposed method of nodal identification. FNR 9.8% can be achieved with a combination of aUS and

SLNB post-chemotherapy.¹²

The current study showed 61% sensitivity of aUS in diagnosing axillary metastasis post-NACT. Other studies have shown sensitivities ranging from 50% to 66% in different settings.^{13,16,17} The specificity in the current study was 84%, which was comparable with other studies ranging from 37% to 92%.¹⁸

Studies^{20,21} suggested that different subtypes of breast cancer affect the diagnostic aUS accuracy, and this should be kept in mind before making decisions. The studies reported an overall sensitivity of 60%,^{19,20} which is in concordance with the current study. The specificity was 65%, which is lower than the current finding. The overall PPV and NPV were 82% and 38.5% compared to 75% and 65% in the current study. Higher PPV means that if there are suspicious US findings, there is high probability of the node being involved with cancer and the patient can proceed with an axillary dissection and prevent an unnecessary SLNB.

The studies^{19,20} pointed towards non-luminal subtypes having a higher sensitivity compared to luminal subtypes, while the specificity was the same for both. The sensitivity was highest in triple-negative cancers. Similarly, the PPV was highest for luminal A subtype and the NPV was the highest for triple-negative cancer.^{19,20} The current subset analysis of tumour phenotype showed similar results (Table-3). A study also presented the same results with almost 100% PPV for luminal A subtype.²¹

A newer approach to avoid unnecessary axillary dissection is called the Systemic Sonographic Axillary Staging. Any suspicious nodes after completion of NACT undergoes repeat needle biopsy, and axillary surgery is planned according to the status of biopsy results.²²

The current study has limitations of having single-centre, retrospective data. Besides, the role of repeat biopsy of suspicious axillary nodes and effects of tumour phenotype on re-staging of axillary disease need further exploration.

Conclusion

The aUS was found to be a fairly useful, but not completely reliable, tool for identifying positive lymph nodes. Further intervention is necessary for diagnosis. Thus, histopathology remains the gold standard to identify axillary metastasis.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Fisher CS, Margenthaler JA, Hunt KK, Schwartz T. The Landmark Series: Axillary Management in Breast Cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2020;27:724-9. doi: 10.1245/s10434-019-08154-5.
- Dang S, Saini SK, Pattanayak M. Surgical management of axilla: controversy and care. Int Surg J 2019;6:718-23. DOI: 10.18203/2349-2902.isj20190514
- Yuan Q, Hou J, He Y, Liao Y, Zheng L, Wu G. Minimize the extent and morbidity of axillary dissection for node-positive breast cancer patients: implementation of axillary lymph node dissection based on breast lymphatics level. BMC Cancer 2021;21:293. doi: 10.1186/s12885-021-08024-y.
- Wong SM, Weiss A, Mittendorf EA, King TA, Golshan M. Surgical Management of the Axilla in Clinically Node-Positive Patients Receiving Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy: A National Cancer Database Analysis. Ann Surg Oncol 2019;26:3517-25. doi: 10.1245/s10434-019-07583-6.
- Díaz-Casas SE, Castilla-Tarra JA, Pena-Torres E, Orozco-Ospino M, Mendoza-Diaz S, Nuñez-Lemus M, et al. Pathological Response to Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy and the Molecular Classification of Locally Advanced Breast Cancer in a Latin American Cohort. Oncologist 2019;24:e1360-70. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2019-0300.
- Srour MK, Tseng J, Luu M, Alban RF, Giuliano AE, Chung A. Patterns in the Use of Axillary Operations for Patients with Node-Positive Breast Cancer After Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy: A National Cancer Database (NCDB) Analysis. Ann Surg Oncol 2019;26:3305-11. doi: 10.1245/s10434-019-07540-3.
- Laws A, Dillon K, Kelly BN, Kantor O, Hughes KS, Gadd MA, et al. Node-Positive Patients Treated with Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy Can Be Spared Axillary Lymph Node Dissection with Wireless Non-Radioactive Localizers. Ann Surg Oncol 2020;27:4819-27. doi: 10.1245/s10434-020-08902-y.
- Tinterri C, Canavese G, Bruzzi P, Dozin B. NEONOD 2: Rationale and design of a multicenter non-inferiority trial to assess the effect of axillary surgery omission on the outcome of breast cancer patients presenting only micrometastasis in the sentinel lymph node after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Contemp Clin Trials Commun 2019;17:e100496. doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2019.100496.
- Damin AP, Zancan M, Melo MP, Biazus JV. Sentinel lymph node biopsy after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients with nodepositive breast cancer: guiding a more selective axillary approach. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021;186:527-34. doi: 10.1007/s10549-020-06011-8.
- Choi HY, Park M, Seo M, Song E, Shin SY, Sohn YM. Preoperative Axillary Lymph Node Evaluation in Breast Cancer: Current Issues and Literature Review. Ultrasound Q 2017;33:6-14. doi: 10.1097/RUQ.00000000000277.
- Lowes S, Leaver A, Cox K, Satchithananda K, Cosgrove D, Lim A. Evolving imaging techniques for staging axillary lymph nodes in breast cancer. Clin Radiol 2018;73:396-409. doi: 10.1016/j.crad.2018.01.003.
- You S, Kang DK, Jung YS, An YS, Jeon GS, Kim TH. Evaluation of lymph node status after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer patients: comparison of diagnostic performance of ultrasound, MRI and ¹?F-FDG PET/CT. Br J Radiol 2015;88:20150143. doi: 10.1259/bjr.20150143.
- Boughey JC, Ballman KV, Hunt KK, McCall LM, Mittendorf EA, Ahrendt GM, et al. Axillary Ultrasound After Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy and Its Impact on Sentinel Lymph Node Surgery: Results From the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Z1071 Trial (Alliance). J Clin Oncol 2015;33:3386-93. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.57.8401.

S-29

- Peppe A, Wilson R, Pope R, Downey K, Rusby J. The use of ultrasound in the clinical re-staging of the axilla after neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NACT). Breast 2017; 35:104-8. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2017.05.015.
- Caudle AS, Yang WT, Krishnamurthy S, Mittendorf EA, Black DM, Gilcrease MZ, et al. Improved Axillary Evaluation Following Neoadjuvant Therapy for Patients With Node-Positive Breast Cancer Using Selective Evaluation of Clipped Nodes: Implementation of Targeted Axillary Dissection. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:1072-8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.64.0094.
- 16. Ha SM, Cha JH, Kim HH, Shin HJ, Chae EY, Choi WJ. Diagnostic performance of breast ultrasonography and MRI in the prediction of lymph node status after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Acta Radiol 2017;58:1198-1205. doi: 10.1177/0284185117690421.
- Schmitz AMT, Teixeira SC, Pengel KE, Loo CE, Vogel WV, Wesseling J, et al. Monitoring tumor response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy using MRI and 18F-FDG PET/CT in breast cancer subtypes. PLoS One 2017;12:e0176782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176782.
- Skarping I, Förnvik D, Zackrisson S, Borgquist S, Rydén L. Predicting pathological axillary lymph node status with ultrasound following neoadjuvant therapy for breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2021;189:131-44. doi: 10.1007/s10549-

021-06283-8.

- 19. Banys-Paluchowski M, Gruber IV, Hartkopf A, Paluchowski P, Krawczyk N, Marx M, et al. Axillary ultrasound for prediction of response to neoadjuvant therapy in the context of surgical strategies to axillary dissection in primary breast cancer: a systematic review of the current literature. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2020;301:341-53. doi: 10.1007/s00404-019-05428-x.
- Fei J, Wang GQ, Meng YY, Zhong X, Ma JZ, Sun NN, et al. Breast cancer subtypes affect the ultrasound performance for axillary lymph node status evaluation after neoadjuvant chemotherapy: a retrospective analysis. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2021;51:1509-14. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyab117.
- 21. Di Micco R, Zuber V, Fiacco E, Carriero F, Gattuso MI, Nazzaro L, et al. Sentinel node biopsy after primary systemic therapy in node positive breast cancer patients: Time trend, imaging staging power and nodal downstaging according to molecular subtype. Eur J Surg Oncol 2019;45:969-75. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2019.01.219.
- Ozmen T, Lazaro M, Vinyard A, Avisar E. Abstract P3-01-17: Evaluation of "Systematic sonographic axillary staging" on clinically node positive breast cancer patients becoming clinically node negative after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Cancer Res 2018;78(Suppl 4):P3-01-17. DOI: 10.1158/1538-7445.SABCS17-P3-01-17.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Navigating through our history in research: An altmetric analysis for publications by the full-time operative dentistry faculty at the Aga Khan University Hospital in the past decade

Nighat Naved, Fahad Umer

Abstract

Objective: To analyse the social dissemination of publications by fulltime faculty at a tertiary care facility. **Methods:** The retrospective study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, and comprised publication records of the fulltime Operative Dentistry faculty members between July 2011 till July 2021. The search was done on Google Scholar, Altmetric Explorer and PubMed electronic databases. After final screening, all the publications in PubMed-indexed journals, including in vitro studies, randomised controlled trials, original research articles, case reports and letters to the editor, for which the Altmetric Attention Score was available were included. **Results:** Of the 225 publications identified, 34 (15%) formed the final sample. The cumulative citation count for the publications was 617 and Altmetric Attention Score was 158. There were 16 Facebook mentions and 163 tweets. **Conclusion:** The social impact of publications by the Operative Dentistry faculty over a decade was not convincing in terms of Altmetric Attention Score.

Keywords: Traditional bibliometrics, Altmetrics, Altmetric Attention Score, AAS, Online attention, Social dissemination. (JPMA 72: S-30 [Suppl. 1]; 2022)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-07

Introduction

The Operative Dentistry residency programme in Pakistan dates back to 1995. However, at Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH), the clinical training in this specialty of dentistry started in 2002, which with time has evolved into one of the finest training programmes in Pakistan. This is because in the past decade some fundamental changes were incorporated and a research curriculum was introduced to instill research skills in the residents at an early stage in their academic careers.¹ Since the trends in research are evolving, much greater emphasis is now being placed on practising evidence-based dentistry.

Nevertheless, with the emerging trends, research profile of the faculty is also improving as the number of local and international publications is increasing. This surge in the number of publications in the past decade, however, is accompanied by a dramatic improvement in the citation metrics as well.^{1,2}

Citation count (CC) and its derivatives, such as impact factor (IF), H-index, and i10 index, are the traditional methods to evaluate the scientific performance of a publication.³ However, it has certain shortcomings. Firstly, it provides insight only on the scientific value of a publication, and, thus, fails to describe the impact of

Department of Dentistry, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan. **Correspondence:** Fahad Umer . Email: fahad.umer@aku.edu research beyond the limits of an academic environment. Secondly, it may take years for a publication to be cited, thus the impact of recently published papers is generally underestimated.⁴ Moreover, the "Matthew effect" can exist in the case of a citation. This effect is thought to be influenced by prestige of the author and his/her institutional affiliation.⁵ Likewise, the disparity in citations may extend to include gender bias, location of publication, and the personal preference of citing an article published in a journal with a comparatively high IF.⁵

The rising influence of social media over the past decade has led to a paradigm shift as various platforms have been made available for researchers to share their scholarly ideas.³ In this regard, the term alternative metrics, or altmetrics, was introduced in 2010 by Jason Priem.³ These metrics in the real sense measure how much and what kind of online attention an item is receiving at any point in time, thus complementing traditional citation-based metrics.³

To capture the online activity around a published item, multiple aggregators are available, the most popular among which are Altmetric Explorer and Plum Analytics.⁶ Likewise, different publishers use different resources for reporting these metrics.⁶ Likewise, different publishers use different resources for reporting these metrics, for example, John Wiley & Sons and Springer Nature use Altmetric Explorer whereas Elsevier Publishing uses Plum Analytics. Among local journals, the Journal of Pakistan Medical Association subscribes to both of these tools.

Altmetric Explorer is a fee-based subscription tool that aggregates information from different social media sources, like Twitter, Facebook, etc., traditional media, like the New York Times, The Guardian, etc., and online reference managers, like Mendeley, etc. It calculates an Altmetric Attention Score (AAS) using a specific algorithm, thereby generating a colour-coded badge, with each colour representing a different source.⁶ The higher the online attention an article gets, the greater is the score. Likewise, Plum Analytics, also a fee-based tool,

captures the online activities providing five categories of metrics namely: Usage, Captures, Mentions, Social media, and Citations.⁴

Almetrics hold a promising future considering the many potential advantages that it offers. The attention scores are updated daily, making it possible for recently published items to gain early recognition. In addition, they cover a broader spectrum of academic as well as non-academic audiences.³ Moreover, a significant understanding is provided about how a publication is being used in terms of а recommendation, discussion, as well as citation, etc.³

Nevertheless, with the emerging influence of altmetrics in today's world, the research work in this area of interest is still lacking in Pakistani setting. To address the paucity, current study was planned to explore the social dissemination of publications by fulltime faculty members.

Materials and Methods

The retrospective chart review was conducted at the AKUH, Karachi, and comprised publication records of the fulltime Operative Dentistry faculty members between July 2011 till July 2021. The search was done on Google Scholar, Altmetric Explorer and PubMed electronic databases.

With the consent of three fulltime faculty members, identified as MFRK, ROBG and FUMR, their publication data across the study years was collected from the databases. All search work was done by a single investigator in August 2021. Initially, the faculty's Google Scholar profile was searched, and the records were corroborated by the individual faculty to check for any incongruity. Later, to screen the records, Altmetric Explorer was searched using article titles and Digital Object Identifiers (DOIs) to have the Altmetric Attention Score (AAS). The records for which the Altmetric database did not yield any result were excluded. After final screening, the publications in PubMed-indexed journals, including all in vitro studies, randomised controlled trials (RCTs), original research articles, case reports and letters to the editor were included.



Figure-2: Faculty-wise breakdown of citation counts, Altmetric Attention Score (AAS), tweets and Facebook mentions.

Results

Of the 225 publications identified, 34(15%) formed the final sample (Figure-1). The cumulative citation count for the publications was 617 and AAS was 158. There were 16 Facebook mentions and 163 tweets. Among the three faculty members, MFRK had the greatest share in terms of the number of studies, citations and AAS (Figure-2).



Figure-3: Geographic distribution of tweets.

Red colour denotes the highest value and green, the lowest value. The remaining values are assigned different gradients of the colour at the two extremes.



Figure-4: Demographic distribution of tweets. Bubble sizes correspond to the number of Twitter mentions.

In terms of geographic distribution, 104 (63.8%) of the tweets were of unknown origin, followed by 15 (9.2%) and 9 (5.52%) and 8 (4.9%) belonging to the United Kingdom, the United States and Pakistan, respectively (Figure-3).

As for demographic distribution, the tweets were most popular among the members of the general public 116(71.16%) followed by healthcare professionals 24 (14.72%) (Figure-4).

Discussion

The current study was planned to provide useful insight on the social impact of publications over the past decade.

Altmetrics came into existence in 2010 as an advanced metric to measure the social dissemination of a certain publication. In this context, the publications for which AAS was available on Altmetric Explorer for the study years were included. However, it was noted that most of the records were from 2016 onwards whereas only a single publication from 2013 was included in the study. This could be due to two reasons, either the Altmetric database was not able to retrieve the online attention data for the publications before 2016 or there was no social engagement of the publications before this time.

The results revealed that the major proportion of publications was captured by a single faculty member, MFRK, with 16 studies followed by the other two faculty members, ROBG and FUMR, with 9 studies each. Likewise, the CC, AAS, tweets and Facebook mentions were also significantly higher for MFRK. Moreover, it was found that among the other two faculty members with same number of publications, FUMR had greater CC, AAS and the number of tweets. In contrast, Facebook mentions for ROBG were higher whereas FUMR had virtually no online attention in terms of Facebook mentions. This disparity in social impact could be due to the individual faculty's preference for a
certain social media platform over another.⁶

The results were in line with a study which reported no significant correlation between CC and AAS.⁶ For instance, of all the included studies, the top-cited publication had CC of 279, but the AAS for the same study was just 1.⁸ Likewise, the study with the highest online attention had an AAS of 54 whereas CC for the same study was 91.⁹

The cumulative AAS for the publications in the current study was 158, wherein the greatest contribution was made by MFRK with an AAS of 106. Surprisingly, the major chunk to this score was contributed by a single study with AAS of 54.⁹ This enhanced social engagement could be attributed to the presence of non-dental faculty members as co-authors, mentions, and re-tweets by different medical and dental organisations and journals as well as self-tweets.⁷

The pivotal finding of the current review is that coronavirus diseases-2019 (COVID-19) was among the hot topics, receiving the most online attention as well as citations. Another finding of significance is that among the 7 studies that were related to the pandemic, 6 were published by a single author, FUMR.¹⁰⁻¹⁵

According to the current study, Twitter was the most popular social media platform, followed by Facebook, which is in concordance with previous literature.^{6,7} It is, however, perturbing to note that majority of the tweets were of unknown origin, making it difficult to infer the actual geographical spread of the included publications. Nevertheless, tweets had a diverse audience in almost all continents excluding Antarctica. The popularity was more in Europe (15.95%), followed by Asia (9.81%) and North America (7.36%). Although previous studies did report the actual geographical spread of tweets, they failed to communicate any demographic spread of the included publications.^{6,7} In contrast, the current study revealed that tweets were found to be more trending among the members of the general public (71.64%), followed by an almost even distribution among dental and medical practitioners, scientists and science communicators.

Although altmetrics measure the real-time social impact of the publications, it has certain infirmities. It is a dynamic process that is expected to fluctuate over time. This contrasts with the traditional citation-based metrics and could be attributed either to the inactivation of an individual's social media account or the possibility of tweets or Facebook posts being deleted by the account holder. Likewise, there are concerns regarding self-tweets as is the case with self-citations. Moreover, in case of tweets, although the demographic data is available on the Explorer, the information could still be misleading because it imports the data directly from the individual's profile and we do not know whether the members of the general public actually represent the said population. The same is the case with geographical data, as observed in the study, most of the tweets were from unknown geographical locations.

In terms of limitations, the current study had access to only a single database, the Altmetric Explorer. The results may have been different if we had access to other databases, like Plum Analytics. This is because certain journals subscribe to Altmetric Explorer whereas others register with Plum Analytics. Moreover, from all the publications by the faculty in the past decade, only a small proportion (15%) was included in the present analysis, thus making it difficult to infer the actual social impact of the publications. Furthermore, although the current study was able to conclude that Twitter was the most popular platform, it failed to differentiate among positive, negative and neutral tweets which otherwise would have eliminated the probability of self-tweets.

Despite the limitations, however, the current study is the first of its kind done in our part of the world. We plan to extend the current institution-based study to a multicentre project having access to Plum Analytics database as well for a more accurate representation of the subject matter.

With the evolving trends in technology, a plethora of social media platforms addressing a diverse audience have been made available for researchers to communicate with a global network. Thus, a shift in focus is recommended for the researchers to pay similar attention to these alternative measures of impact as the traditional citation-based metrics. Furthermore, despite all the limitations, altmetrics should be given due attention when devising promotion and hiring strategies as is the case with CCs.

Conclusion

The publications by the Operative Dentistry fulltime faculty during the past decade had a modest social impact in the community in terms of AAS. Nevertheless, the publications had a diverse geographical as well as demographical spread, demonstrating wider outreach to the non-scientific community. This allows the dissemination of important research findings, thereby promoting the institution and the practitioner amongst those seeking dental care.

Acknowledgments: We are grateful to the Altmetric

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

team for permitting complete no-cost access to their Explorer. We are also grateful to Dr Farhan Raza Khan and Dr Robia Ghafoor, the AKUH Operative Dentistry faculty for sharing their publication data, and to Dr Faizan Javed, Resident, AKUH Operative Dentistry for helping with the final review.

Disclaimer: None. Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- Khan FR, Ghafoor R, Umer F, Rahman M. Inculcating research curriculum in Operative Dentistry - Endodontics residency programme: Experience and outcomes. J Pak Med Assoc 2021;71(Suppl 1):s127-9.
- 2. Khan FR. Dental Research in Pakistan: Update 2020. J Pak Dent Assoc 2020;29:52-3. DOI: 10.25301/JPDA.292.49
- Brigham TJ. An introduction to altmetrics. Med Ref Serv Q 2014;33:438-47. doi: 10.1080/02763869.2014.957093.
- Garcovich D, Zhou Wu A, Sanchez Sucar AM, Adobes Martin M. The online attention to orthodontic research: an Altmetric analysis of the orthodontic journals indexed in the journal citation reports from 2014 to 2018. Prog Orthod 2020;21:31. doi: 10.1186/s40510-020-00332-6.
- Wu Q, Wolfram D. The influence of effects and phenomena on citations: A comparative analysis of four citation perspectives. Scientometrics 2011;89:245-58. doi: 10.1007/s11192-011-

0456-0.

- Kolahi J, Khazaei S, Iranmanesh P, Khademi A, Nekoofar MH, Dummer PMH. Altmetric analysis of the contemporary scientific literature in Endodontology. Int Endod J 2020;53:308-316. doi: 10.1111/iej.13226.
- Kolahi J, Khazaei S. Altmetric analysis of contemporary dental literature. Br Dent J 2018;225:68-72. doi: 10.1038/sj.bdj.2018.521.
- Tabassum S, Khan FR. Failure of endodontic treatment: The usual suspects. Eur J Dent 2016;10:144-7. doi: 10.4103/1305-7456.175682.
- Yakoob MY, Salam RA, Khan FR, Bhutta ZA. Vitamin D supplementation for preventing infections in children under five years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;11:CD008824. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008824.pub2.
- Umer F, Haji Z, Zafar K. Role of respirators in controlling the spread of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) amongst dental healthcare providers: a review. Int Endod J 2020; 53:1062-7. doi: 10.1111/iej.13313.
- 11. Umer F, Motiwala M. Dental services during the COVID-19 pandemic: A tertiary care hospital experience. Spec Care Dentist 2020;40:431-6. doi: 10.1111/scd.12510.
- 12. Umer F. Ancillary considerations for endodontic emergency treatment of Covid-19 positive patients. Spec Care Dentist 2020;40:395-6. doi: 10.1111/scd.12484.
- 13. Umer F, Arif A. Preprocedural Pool Testing Strategy for Dentistry during the COVID-19 Pandemic. JDR Clin Trans Res 2021;6:139-44. doi: 10.1177/2380084421989693.
- 14. Umer F, Devi K, Jamal S. PPE: a coin with two sides. Br Dent J 2020;229:210. doi: 10.1038/s41415-020-2078-5.
- 15. Umer F. Successfully protecting staff. Br Dent J 2020;228:811. doi: 10.1038/s41415-020-1727-z.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Radiographic evaluation of the margins of clinically acceptable metal-ceramic crowns

Sheikh Bilal Badar, Kamil Zafar, Robia Ghafoor, Farhan Raza Khan

Abstract

Objective: To radiographically evaluate the proximal marginal fit of the clinically acceptable metal-ceramic crowns. **Method:** The prospective study was conducted at the dental clinics of Aga Khan University, Karachi, from July to December 2018, and comprised metal-ceramic crowns that were evaluated prior to the cementation. Clinical examinations were conducted by seating the crown on the tooth preparation and visual assessment was done using sharp explorer along the margins. Clinically acceptable crowns were then evaluated on the bite-wing radiograph. Any horizontal or vertical inaccuracy of >0.5mm at the proximal margins was recorded as 'discrepancy'. Data was analysed using SPSS 22.

Results: Of the 230 interproximal margins of 115 crowns evaluated, 113(49.1%) sites had marginal discrepancies; 44(19.1%) horizontal discrepancies, 58(25.2%) vertical discrepancies, and 11(4.8%) having both horizontal and vertical discrepancies. Horizontal crown margin discrepancies were most associated with the mesial site of the maxillary crowns, while vertical discrepancies were commonly associated with the distal aspect of all crowns (p<0.050).

Conclusions: Almost half of the crowns that were considered clinically acceptable had some vertical or horizontal marginal discrepancy on radiographic evaluation.

Keywords: Crown, Margins, Dental radiography, Metal ceramic crowns. (JPMA 72: S-35 [Suppl. 1]; 2022) **DOI:https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-08**

Introduction

Prosthetic crowns are indirect restorations that are placed to repair teeth, maintain occlusion and improve the aesthetics.^{1,2} Endodontically treated teeth are commonly subjected to crown placement to prevent any future fracture. The margins of a crown mark the transition between the crown material and the finishing line at the recipient tooth surface. The integrity of the margins is critical for the long-term health and survival of the crowned teeth.^{3,4} Crown margins should be blended and confluent with the tooth structure without having any positive or negative ledges or gaps.⁵ In clinical practice, it is not uncommon to encounter crowns with faulty and imprecise margins.

Marginal discrepancies in the crown are mostly observed in scenarios where tooth preparation margins are irregular or missing. Defects in impression-taking, and pouring or laboratory errors, such as distortion in the pattern or casting shrinkage, are responsible for incorrect positioning of the crown margins.⁶ Regardless of the cause, the marginal discrepancy, if left unnoticed at the trial and cementation stages, may lead to poor survival of the fixed prosthesis. The gap between the prosthesis margin and tooth-preparation margins exposes the luting

Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan. **Correspondence:** Farhan Raza Khan. Email: farhan.raza@aku.edu cement to the oral environment, leading to an increased rate of cement dissolution. This could ultimately lead to percolation of bacteria, resulting in compromised longevity of the tooth due to caries.⁷ Studies have also shown the association between margin discrepancies and the presence of caries in adjacent teeth.⁸⁻¹⁰ Before cementing any crown, the try-in step offers an opportunity to the clinician to ensure that the margins of the fixed prosthesis, especially at the proximal sites, are satisfactory.³

Marginal fit of the crowns can be evaluated either qualitatively or quantitatively.¹¹ Qualitative evaluation is done by employing clinical or radiological methods whereas quantitative evaluation involves use of microscope at high magnification.¹² However, the use of such microscope is neither logistically possible nor clinically practical in routine dental practice.¹³ Therefore, clinical methods involving visual inspection and use of sharp explorer are commonly employed in clinical practice. The assessment of margins is a relatively straightforward exercise on the buccal and lingual aspects. However, evaluation of interproximal and subgingival margins poses a clinical challege.^{14,15} The detection of the marginal discrepancy of crowns largely depends on the skills and experience of the dentist.⁴ The use of appropriate radiographs can overcome this limitation. Fattahi et al.¹² showed that upon radiographic examination, 75.5%

crowns had vertical discrepancy at the margins and recommended the use of parallel radiography as an adjunct to the clinical examination for evaluation of proximal marginal adaptation. Libby et al.¹⁶ evaluated the longevity of fixed partial dentures and suggested that periapical or bite-wings radiographs provided additional information regarding the marginal fit of restoration. Moreover, bite-wing radiographs were more valuable in the detection of proximal lesion compared to the periapical radiography.¹⁷ It is not uncommon to observe that the margins of otherwise clinically acceptable crowns turned out to be inadequate when assessed radiographically. This led the current hypothesis that there is a difference in the radiographic and clinical acceptability of the crown margins. The current study was planned to radiographically evaluate the proximal margins of the metal-ceramic crowns that were otherwise clinically acceptable.

Materials and Methods

The prospective study was conducted at the dental clinics of Aga Khan University (AKU), Karachi, from July to December 2018. After approval from the institutional ethics review committee, the sample size was calculated using the World Health Organisation (WHO) calculator¹⁸ with absolute precision 0.08, level of significance 0.05 and confidence level 0.95.

The sample was raised using non-probability convenience sampling technique from among metalceramic crowns of patients who had presented for singleunit crown placement in maxillary or mandibular arch. The patients were included after taking informed consent. Those who had lost their provisional crowns or had gingival inflammation or overgrowth around the prepared teeth were excluded.

All crown preparations were performed by restorative dentistry residents, with clinical experience of more than three years, under the supervision of consultants. A precutting putty matrix composed of silicon rubber (Aquasil, Dentsply) was used to ensure appropriate tooth reduction in each case. Crown preparations were done for the metalceramic crowns with shoulder on buccal aspect, while rest of the margins were chamfer. The uniformity of margins and depth of preparation were ensured by using previously taken putty matrix for each preparation. Impressions of the prepared teeth were made with addition type silicone impression material in putty and light-body consistencies (Aquasil, Dentsply) using the single-step technique. These impressions were poured within 30 minutes with type IV high-strength dental stone using vacuum mixer (Bego stone plus, BEGO). Metal-ceramic crowns were fabricated with lost-wax technique using nickel-chromium alloy

S-36

(Starloy N, Dentsply) as metal core followed by layering with ceramic (Ceramco 3, Dentsply). All crowns were fabricated by a single technician with experience of >15 years. Each crown was visually evaluated for marginal adaptation using its respective die by the restorative dentistry residents. The laboratory acceptable crown was taken to the clinic and was seated on the tooth preparation and was clinically evaluated using a sharp explorer along the margins of the preparation. The crowns that exhibited satisfactory marginal fits were deemed as clinically acceptable crowns. Once the clinical test was satisfied and no discrepancy was detected on clinical examination, radiographic assessment was done using the bite-wings. Digital image was obtained using complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) size 2 plate (XIOS XG, Sirona) with a help of a bite-wing film holder (XIOS holder system) and cone positioning guide to get the uniform bite-wing radiograph. This plate was then exposed at 70KVp, 7mAs, focus to distance 23cm for 0.10 seconds, using an X-ray unit (CS 2200, Carestream). The image acquired was transferred to imaging software Sidexis XG (Version 2.61, Sirona). Any discrepancy observed in the radiographic marginal adaptation was measured using a digital caliper on the imaging software Sidexis XG. A marginal discrepancy >0.05mm on the proximal sites was labelled as a "deficiency" on radiographic examination. The radiographic outcome of the crown margins was divided into four categories; no discrepancy, horizontal discrepancy (which may be a positive or a negative ledge), vertical discrepancy and a combination of horizontal and vertical discrepancy (Figure).

All radiographic evaluations were independently carried out by two calibrated examiners. Both examiners were trained for one week before the initiation of the project for the identification of marginal discrepancies on the bite-wing radiographs and the use of digital caliper on Sidexis XG (Version 2.61, Sirona) for the quantification of the discrepancy, if present.



Figure: Vertical and horizontal marginal discrepancy between metal-ceramic crown and the tooth preparation.

S-37

Data was analysed using SPSS 22. Frequencies and percentages were calculated for tooth maxillary and mandibular teeth, mesial and distal tooth surfaces, clinical and radiographic assessment. Chi-square test was used to determine the association of marginal discrepancy of the crown with tooth type and tooth surface. Odds ratio (OR)was used to measure the association between the horizontal and vertical discrepancy categories of marginal discrepancy, and between the type of and site of tooth. Inter-examiner reliability was determined using intra-class correlation (ICC) coefficient. P<0.05 was taken as statistically significant.

Results

Of the 115 metal-ceramic crowns, 38(33%) belonged to mandibular teeth and 77(67%) were in the maxillary arch. Out of 230 mesial and distal sites assessed on the radiograph, 113(49.1%) had some form of crown marginal discrepancies (Table-1). The mean horizontal discrepancy was 0.08+0.35mm, while mean vertical discrepancy was 0.19+0.34mm. The vertical marginal discrepancies were mainly observed on the distal aspects of the crowns (OR: 8.2) whereas horizontal discrepancies were mainly seen on the mesial side of the maxillary crowns (OR: 3.0). These associations were statistically significant (Tables-2, 3). The

Table-1: Crowns and discrepancies (n=115 crowns).

Type of defect	Frequency (surfaces)	%
No discrepancy	117	50.9
Horizontal discrepancy	44	19.1
Vertical discrepancy	58	25.2
Both horizontal and vertical discrepancy	11	4.8
Total sites	230	100

inter-examiner reliability was excellent with ICC coefficient 0.93.

Discussion

The null hypothesis was refuted in the present study. The radiographic examination exhibited horizontal and vertical marginal discrepancies in a large proportion of clinically acceptable crowns. This indicates significant difference in the two assessment methods. Ideally, there should be no difference in the clinical and radiographic assessments of the crown margins.¹⁹ The presence of marginal discrepancy became a potential source for cement dissolution, microleakage and plaque accumulation which attract potential pathogens responsible for the development of carious lesions.^{5,14,20-22} It is not only associated with the dental caries beneath the crown margins, but also with the caries in the adjacent teeth, leading to the failure of the fixed prosthesis.^{8,23} For this reason, bite-wing radiographic technique was used to evaluate crown margins on the proximal surfaces in the present study.

Direct viewing technique is commonly employed at the chair-side that involves the use of dental explorer to evaluate the marginal fit of the crowns.¹¹ It provides valuable information regarding the presence of defects on the buccal and lingual surfaces, but it was not a suitable modality to detect any marginal defect on the proximal aspects of crown-tooth interface.^{8,12}

The present study showed that clinical examination alone is not sufficient to label a crown as adequate. The radiographic assessment is superior in terms of deterring the marginal discrepancies, especially on the proximal sites. Relying solely on the clinical examination for the detection of marginal

Table-2: Association between tooth location and marginal discrepancy of metal-ceramic crowns observed on the bite-wing radiograph.

Tooth location	Radiographic Assessment				p-value
	No discrepancy	Horizontal discrepancy	Vertical Discrepancy	Both horizontal and vertical discrepancy	_
Maxillary sites (n=154)	88	33	29	4	
Mandibular sites (n=76)	29	11	29	7	0.001
Total sites (n=230)	117	44	58	11	

*Chi square test was applied.

**Odds ratio between horizontal/vertical discrepancy and maxillary/mandibular teeth location turned out to be 3.0.

Table-3: Association between tooth surface and marginal discrepancy of metal-ceramic crowns observed on bite-wing radiograph.

Tooth surface	Radiographical Assessment				p-value
	No discrepancy	Horizontal discrepancy	Vertical Discrepancy	Both horizontal and vertical discrepancy	
Mesial	62	34	17	2	
Distal	55	10	41	9	< 0.001
Total sites n=230	117	44	58	11	

*Chi square test was applied.

**Odds ratio between horizontal/vertical discrepancy and mesial/distal site of teeth turned out to be 8.2.

discrepancy resulted in the loss of marginal fit information in the proximal area of 50% sites.¹² Studies suggest that disparity exists among clinicians for the detection of marginal gap and the disagreement is there even within the subject assessed at two different times.^{19,24,25}

Multiple studies proposed the use of radiographic aid in addition to the clinical examination for the detection of proximal marginal fit of fixed dental restorations.12,16,26 Fattahi et al. recommended the use of periapical radiographs in addition to the clinical examination and proposed that the evaluation of marginal adaptation just with the use of explorer or even with the use of impression material was not sufficient.¹² Libby et al. advocated the use of radiography as a mandatory step in the crown and bridge cementation.¹⁶ Durre and Ahmad had proposed the use of radiographs both before and after cementation for the detection of marginal discrepancies and presence of residual cement.⁸ Such marginal discrepancies, when present, could lead to exposure of margins to oral environment, cement dissolution and plaque accumulation, which had adverse effects on both tooth and periodontal tissues.^{8,27,28} Bite-wing radiographs were taken in the present study for the evaluation of the proximal marginal fit because it provided a near-parallel image of the abutment tooth.²⁹ This helped in obtaining practical information regarding adaptation of crown margins, its location and its relation to the crestal bone, thus, resulted in better treatment prognosis.12 Although pre-cementation radiographs are not universally practised, data in the present study strongly suggests a case in its favour. For the present study, no unnecessary radiations were exposed to the patients as pre-cementation radiographic examination of fixed prosthesis is a standard operating procedure. Several studies have reported marginal gaps among crowns (detected radiographically or microscopically) that were earlier considered acceptable on visual examination.23,30

What constitutes a marginal discrepancy is debatable in literature.¹¹ According to Mclean et al.³¹ marginal discrepancy <0.08mm was difficult to be detected under clinical examination. Another study showed that marginal opening of 0.1mm was detectable with dental explorer and was considered the borderline of acceptability.²⁴ Schaefer et al. described 0.05-0.15mm gap as acceptable marginal discrepancies.³² Fattahi et al.¹² had considered the marginal gap >0.05mm to be an open margin. In the present study, a marginal gap of >0.05mm on bite-wing radiograph was treated as marginal discrepancy. However, there remains a lack of consensus on what constitutes a clinically acceptable marginal gap.

Does any configuration of the tooth preparation margin lead to inadequate margins in the definitive crown? The answer is not definitive. Although the present study has not evaluated the effect of marginal configuration on the marginal fit of dental restoration, as it was beyond the study's scope, literature suggests that large chamfer and tilted chamfer configuration are associated with higher marginal discrepancies compared to the shoulder preparation.³³ However, Tsitrous et al. were unable to detect any association between different marginal designs and marginal fit of dental restorations.³⁴

The overall marginal discrepancies detected among clinically acceptable crown in the present study turned out to be 49.1% of the cases. This was better than reported by Fattahi et al. which showed marginal discrepancies in 85% of the cases when examined radiographically.¹² These discrepancies could be due to inaccuracy in the impression-taking by the clinician or improper handling of the dental casts by the dental technician. Durre and Ahmad evaluated patients with cemented crowns and bridges on periapical radiograph and found marginal discrepancies in 13-18% cases.⁸ They attributed these discrepancies to improper tooth preparation technique, impression errors or casting defects.^{6,8}

In the present study, out of around 50% sites of the defected margins, the horizontal discrepancy comprised nearly 20% of the sites, while 25% of the discrepancies were in the vertical plane. Only 11(5%) crowns had discrepancy in both dimensions. In contrast, Fattahi et al. detected horizontal discrepancies in 60% of the crowns, while vertical discrepancies were in 75.5% of the examined crowns.¹² The presence of vertical and horizontal discrepancies could be attributed to incomplete seating of crowns due to tight proximal contact or the presence of premature contact surface at tooth surface or fitting surface of the crown. It could also be due to inaccurate impression of prepared tooth because of the presence of blood and poor access of impression material to the prepared surface. The presence of subgingival margins could also be ascribed to the presence of crown marginal discrepancies.¹² Evidence suggests that marginal discrepancy is more common on the distal sites of the crown. This probably is due to difficulty in gaining access to the distal surfaces during tooth preparation.8

In terms of limitations, the present study was done at a single centre study and only metal-ceramic crowns on posterior teeth were evaluated, limiting the generalisability of the findings. Furthermore, bite-wing radiographs were not taken after the final cementation of the crowns, and, therefore, the effect of cementation could not be determined. The use of bite-wing dental radiographs should be used as an adjunct to the clinical assessment prior to the permanent cementation of the metal ceramic crowns on posterior teeth.

S-39

Conclusions

Almost 50% of the clinically acceptable crowns had some form of marginal discrepancy when evaluated on the radiograph. Vertical discrepancies were mainly noticed on the distal surfaces of the crowns irrespective of the arch, and horizontal discrepancies were mainly observed on the mesial margins of the maxillary crowns.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Donovan TE. Factors essential for successful all-ceramic restorations. J Am Dent Assoc 2008;139(Suppl 4):s14-8. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.2008.0360.
- McCracken MS, Louis DR, Litaker MS, Minyé HM, Mungia R, Gordan VV, et al. Treatment recommendations for single-unit crowns: Findings from The National Dental Practice-Based Research Network. J Am Dent Assoc 2016;147:882-90. doi: 10.1016/j.adaj.2016.06.012.
- Wassell RW, Barker D, Steele JG. Crowns and other extra-coronal restorations: try-in and cementation of crowns. Br Dent J 2002;193:17-20, 23-8. doi: 10.1038/sj.bdj.4801473.
- Bronson MR, Lindquist TJ, Dawson DV. Clinical acceptability of crown margins versus marginal gaps as determined by predoctoral students and prosthodontists. J Prosthodont 2005;14:226-32. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-849X.2005.00048.x.
- Goodacre CJ, Bernal G, Rungcharassaeng K, Kan JY. Clinical complications in fixed prosthodontics. J Prosthet Dent 2003;90:31-41. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3913(03)00214-2.
- Bishop K, Briggs P, Kelleher M. Margin design for porcelain fused to metal restorations which extend onto the root. Br Dent J 1996;180:177-84. doi: 10.1038/sj.bdj.4809011.
- Beschnidt SM, Strub JR. Evaluation of the marginal accuracy of different all-ceramic crown systems after simulation in the artificial mouth. J Oral Rehabil 1999;26:582-93. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2842.1999.00449.x.
- Durr-E-Sadaf, Ahmad Z. Porcelain fused to metal (PFM) crowns and caries in adjacent teeth. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2011;21:134-7.
- Zoellner A, Heuermann M, Weber HP, Gaengler P. Secondary caries in crowned teeth: correlation of clinical and radiographic findings. J Prosthet Dent 2002;88:314-9. doi: 10.1067/mpr.2002.128122.
- Smukler H, Chaibi M. Periodontal and dental considerations in clinical crown extension: a rational basis for treatment. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 1997;17:464-77.
- 11. Nawafleh NA, Mack F, Evans J, Mackay J, Hatamleh MM. Accuracy and reliability of methods to measure marginal adaptation of crowns and FDPs: a literature review. J Prosthodont 2013;22:419-28. doi: 10.1111/jopr.12006.
- 12. Fattahi F, Giti R, Torabi K. Marginal Assessment of Crowns by the Aid of Parallel Radiography. J Dent Mater Tech 2015;4:29-36.
- 13. Rastogi A, Kamble V. Comparative analysis of the clinical techniques used in evaluation of marginal accuracy of cast restoration using stereomicroscopy as gold standard. J Adv Prosthodont 2011;3:69-75. doi: 10.4047/jap.2011.3.2.69.
- 14. Mjör IA. Clinical diagnosis of recurrent caries. J Am Dent Assoc

2005;136:1426-33. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.2005.0057.

- 15. Larson TD. The clinical significance of marginal fit. Northwest Dent 2012;91:22-9.
- Libby G, Arcuri MR, LaVelle WE, Hebl L. Longevity of fixed partial dentures. J Prosthet Dent 1997;78:127-31. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3913(97)70115-x.
- Akarslan ZZ, Akdevelio?lu M, Güngör K, Erten H. A comparison of the diagnostic accuracy of bitewing, periapical, unfiltered and filtered digital panoramic images for approximal caries detection in posterior teeth. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2008;37:458-63. doi: 10.1259/dmfr/84698143.
- Lwanga SK, Lemeshow S. Sample Size Determination in Health Studies: A Practical Manual. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press; 1991.
- Holmes JR, Bayne SC, Holland GA, Sulik WD. Considerations in measurement of marginal fit. J Prosthet Dent 1989;62:405-8. doi: 10.1016/0022-3913(89)90170-4.
- Reitemeier B, Hänsel K, Walter MH, Kastner C, Toutenburg H. Effect of posterior crown margin placement on gingival health. J Prosthet Dent 2002;87:167-72. doi: 10.1067/mpr.2002.121585.
- Bader JD, Rozier RG, McFall WT Jr, Ramsey DL. Effect of crown margins on periodontal conditions in regularly attending patients. J Prosthet Dent 1991;65:75-9. doi: 10.1016/0022-3913(91)90053-y.
- 22. Goldman M, Laosonthorn P, White RR. Microleakage--full crowns and the dental pulp. J Endod 1992;18:473-5. doi: 10.1016/S0099-2399(06)81345-2.
- 23. Addy LD, Bartley A, Hayes SJ. Crown and bridge disassembly-when, why and how. Dent Update 2007;34:140-50. doi: 10.12968/denu.2007.34.3.140.
- 24. Christensen GJ. Marginal fit of gold inlay castings. J Prosthet Dent 1966;16:297-305. doi: 10.1016/0022-3913(66)90082-5.
- 25. Dedmon HW. Disparity in expert opinions on size of acceptable margin openings. Oper Dent 1982;7:97-101.
- Sharaf AA, Farsi NM. A clinical and radiographic evaluation of stainless steel crowns for primary molars. J Dent 2004;32:27-33. doi: 10.1016/s0300-5712(03)00136-2.
- 27. Löe H. Reactions to marginal periodontal tissues to restorative procedures. Int Dent J 1968;18:759-78.
- Silness J. Periodontal conditions in patients treated with dental bridges. J Periodontal Res 1970;5:60-8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0765.1970.tb01839.x.
- 29. Briggs P, Ray-Chaudhuri A, Shah K. Avoiding and managing the failure of conventional crowns and bridges. Dent Update 2012;39:78-80, 82-4. doi: 10.12968/denu.2012.39.2.78.
- Lofstrom LH, Barakat MM. Scanning electron microscopic evaluation of clinically cemented cast gold restorations. J Prosthet Dent 1989;61:664-9. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3913(89)80038-1.
- McLean JW, von Fraunhofer JA. The estimation of cement film thickness by an in vivo technique. Br Dent J 1971;131:107-11. doi: 10.1038/sj.bdj.4802708.
- 32. Schaefer O, Watts DC, Sigusch BW, Kuepper H, Guentsch A. Marginal and internal fit of pressed lithium disilicate partial crowns in vitro: a three-dimensional analysis of accuracy and reproducibility. Dent Mater 2012;28:320-6. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2011.12.008.
- Souza RO, Özcan M, Pavanelli CA, Buso L, Lombardo GH, Michida SM, et al. Marginal and internal discrepancies related to margin design of ceramic crowns fabricated by a CAD/CAM system. J Prosthodont 2012;21:94-100. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-849X.2011.00793.x.
- 34. Tsitrou EA, Northeast SE, van Noort R. Evaluation of the marginal fit of three margin designs of resin composite crowns using CAD/CAM. J Dent 2007;35:68-73. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2006.04.008.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Rates of publication of FCPS dissertations in international and national peer-review journals among residents at AKUH; A cross sectional review of 15 years

Ainulakbar Mughal,¹ Syed Akbar Abbas,² Abdul Basit Shah Vargad,³ Muhammad Wasif,⁴ Soubia Akhtar,⁵ Ayesha Abbasi⁶

Abstract

Objective: To see the rate of publication of postgraduate residents' dissertation.

Method: The single-centre retrospective cross-sectional study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, and comprised research publications from the residents of the departments of Surgery and Medicine who graduated between 2005 and 2020. The surgical subspecialties included Otolaryngology, Ophthalmology, Dentistry, General Surgery, Orthopaedics, Paediatric Surgery, Urology, Plastic Surgery and Cardiovascular Surgery. Data comprised demographics, current institution, current designation, information on dissertation/paper publication, topic of study, year of completion of dissertation, input from the research department, delay in exam due to incomplete dissertation and whether the paper got published in national or international journal. Data was analysed using SPSS 21.

Results: Of the 103 subjects, 70(68%) were males and 33(32%) were females, while 73(70.8%) belonged to surgical specialties and 30(29.2%) were from non-surgical specialties. Of the 22(22.9%) who were able to convert, 12(54.5%) publications were carried by national peer-reviewed journals, while 10(45.4%) were carried by international journals; 9(40.9%) unpaid peer review journals and 13(59.1%) paid journals. Delay in exam due to incomplete dissertation was faced by only 16(16.6%) candidates.

Conclusion: The rate of publication for resident dissertation was found to be low.

Keywords: Dissertation, Paper publication, FCPS dissertation, Residency, Synopsis. (JPMA 72: S-40 [Suppl. 1]; 2022) DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-09

Introduction

According to Cambridge Dictionary, dissertation is defined as a long piece of writing on a particular subject, especially one that is done to receive a degree at a college or a university. According to the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) guidelines, it is necessary for a residency programme to design a curriculum that helps the resident to excel in the knowledge of basic research principles, and ensures participation in the research process.¹ Reporting of resident scholarly activities, national and international presentations and publications are required under the ACGME guidelines.¹ Majority of postgraduates (PGs) in the field of medicine work as pure clinicians and are either less oriented or too preoccupied with clinical duties to perform research.^{2,3} Moreover, there is a significant difference in research activities of residents in terms of their place of practice. Community-based governmentrun programme residents are less likely to publish than those working in private hospitals.³ In Pakistan, the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Pakistan (CPSP)

^{1-3,5}Section of Otolaryngology, Head & Neck Surgery, Department of Surgery, ⁶Department of Emergency Medicine, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, ⁴Department of Head and Neck Surgery Ziauddin Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan. **Correspondence:** Ainul Akbar Mughal . Email: ainul.akbar@aku.edu calls for mandatory research activity that the residents should undertake before they take up their exit exam. A synopsis of the proposed project is conceived by the candidate with the help of the supervising faculty at the teaching hospital. Once approved, the synopsis can form the basis of the future project in the form of a dissertation. This dissertation is then peer-reviewed by the Research, Training and Monitoring Cell (RTMC) at the CPSP. Only after this dissertation is made acceptable to the set standards, the candidate can appear in the exam. Another route to establishing a scholarly aptitude in graduating residents is to have at least two published papers in PubMed-indexed journals related to their specialty. To date, dissertation remains not only one of the most integral part of postgraduate medical education in Pakistan, but also qualifies as the most commonly adopted route to scholarships by medical trainees.⁴

The whole idea of inoculation of dissertation in postgraduate education is to teach the residents to formulate a research question, collect prospective data on the patients, present their research data as a work in progress, and come up with a conclusion as a dissertation on a given template.⁵ It helps to promote evidence-based skills and enhances critical analytical thinking, which, in turn, have a positive impact on clinical practice.²

Medical research writing is not yet fully developed in

Pakistan.⁴ Most medical schools in Pakistan have inadequate teaching about the basic concept of medical research.⁴ After the initiation of fellowship diploma by the CPSP, the residents have to gain knowledge base, adjust into the hospital environment, learn patient care, and develop surgical skills.⁴ During this transition phase, a resident has to search literature to select a topic and come up with a synopsis proposal. At that point, the whole idea of synopsis writing comes as a formality that has to be done.⁴ It is not mandatory to publish the dissertation, but it is one of the aspects that defines the quality of study done⁵ in a comprehensive manner to address the pertinent issue, and its possible solution for a positive change in the existing practices.

Educational environment and designated research time has a great impact of productivity in residency.¹ There is a noteworthy positive interdependence seen in research productivity of departments with dedicated research hours, research funding and travel support.⁶ In the evaluation of 1690 orthopaedic residents by Williams et al., remarkable parallelism was seen in the number of publications and dedicated research time.^{6,7} Unexpectedly, having research publication as a requirement (for example, dissertation or two paper publication as per the system in Pakistan) has almost no correlation with academic productivity or increased interest in research.⁶ According to

a paper published in Turkey, publication rate of dissertation topic/thesis ranges from 1.2% to 53%.⁵ In Pakistan, there is severe paucity of data on the subject.

The current study was planned to evaluate the rate of publication of residents' dissertation.

Materials and Methods

The single-centre retrospective cross-sectional study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH), Karachi, a tertiary care teaching hospital with more than 700 beds. The study comprised research publications from the residents of the departments of Surgery and Medicine who graduated between 2005 and 2020. After exemption from the institutional ethics review committee (ERC), a list of residents having graduated during the target period was obtained from the Department of Postgraduate Medical Education (PGME). All the residents were approached Using Google survey facility along with the consent form. Those who did not want to participate were excluded.

The data gathered included demographics, current designation, institution, current designation, information on dissertation, paper publication, topic of their study, year of completion of dissertation, help from the research department sought or not, and delays in exam due to incomplete dissertation. In case the paper was published, it was asked if the publication was a national or international peer-reviewed journal. If it was not published, possible reasons of failure were determined. The title of their research was obtained and checked online on PubMed and Goggle Scholar for publication. Data was de-identified and was entered on an Excel sheet for statistical analysis. Data was analysed using SPSS 21. P<0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Of the 290 residents, 103(35.5%) returned the survey form; 70(68%) males and 33(32%) females. A wide variety of subspecialties were represented in the sample (Figure). Of the 103 participants, 58(56.3%) were currently employed at AKUH, while 45(43.7%) were working elsewhere. There were chief residents 28(27.2%), registrars 18(17.5%),



CTS: Cardiothoracic Surgery, ENT: Ear-Nose-Throat.

Figure: Specialty distribution.

Table: Specialty-based categorisation and publication rates.

Dissertation Status	Surgical Candidates (n=73 70.8%)	Non-Surgical Candidates (n=30 29.2%)	
Published	21(28.7%)	8(26.6%)	
Not Published	52(71.2%)	22(73.3%)	

fellows 15(14.6%), consultants 14(13.6%), instructors 13(12.6%), assistant professors 14(13.6%) and associate professor 1(1%) in the sample. Overall, 73(70.8%) subjects belonged to surgical specialties and 30(29.2%) were from non-surgical specialties.

Of the 96(93.2%) subjects who opted for dissertation writing, 74(77%) were not able to convert their dissertation into publication; 52(70.2%) from surgical specialties and 22(29.7%) from non-surgical specialties (Table).

Of the 22(22.9%) who were able to convert, 12(54.5%) publications were carried by national peer-reviewed journals, while 10(45.4%) were carried by international journals; 9(40.9%) unpaid peer review journals and 13(59.1%) paid journals. Delay in exam due to incomplete dissertation was faced by only 16(16.6%) candidates.

Of the total, 7(6.8%) participants had chosen publications rather than dissertation. Among them, 4(57.1%) faced a delay in their exams, and 4(57.1%) opted for an international, paid, peer-reviewed journals.

Discussion

The intention behind postgraduate academic activities is to inculcate the research culture amongst the new crop of clinicians and surgeons. The ultimate goal of writing dissertations is to get them published in peer-reviewed journals.⁸ Traditionally, dissertation has been a part and parcel of the residency structure, but a transition has been observed.⁹ In 2009, the CPSP gave the PGs the option to either do a dissertation or to publish two scientific papers in a PubMed-indexed journal after topic approval.^{4,9}

The current study found an inclination among the PGs toward dissertation. It was chosen by 96 residents, and 80 of them completed the assignment in time, but only 22 were able to convert it into a publication; the publication failure rate being 77%. A study in India reported a publication rate of 32.5%.⁸ In the current study, 70.2% surgical residents failed to get their dissertation published. A possible explanation is a compromise on surgical training which is behind the reluctance towards the research culture.¹⁰

A typical resident comes across numerous impediments during struggle for publication which may or may not stem

from choices.¹¹ The current study found that lack of interest in research and publication, difficulty managing timelines, lack of funding, and shortage of time to collect data were the most prevalent hurdles for conversion of dissertation to publication. In contrast, literature has suggested that delay in publication rates were likely due to choosing journals not befitting the category of academic work, poor understanding of the submission guidelines and not fully appreciating the research intricacies.¹² In another study, the major impediments included political reasons, language-related problems, shifting priorities and the lack of academic writing guidance.¹¹ The current study highlighted that dedicated research slots, workshops and research courses were the factors affecting positively, but in an Iranian study, the most significant motives included the students' desire to publish their works for their graduation, padding their resume, to meet the academic institutions' requirements, and, lastly, to further promote their work and extend knowledge beyond the confines of their region.¹¹ Only 7 residents in the current study chose the option for getting two publications, and all of them were able to get their papers published, but the process of publication was completed in time by only 3(42.9%), and 4(57.1%) had to face exam delay.

To increase the scholarly yield of the residents, some of the programmes offer a dedicated year of research during the residency training. In this way, the residents get guaranteed time to experience basic or clinical research in the initial part of their careers.¹³ The research-track residents were more likely to publish than the traditionaltrack trainees. Moreover, those who published in peerreviewed journals during their residency programmes were more likely to publish in the later years of their professional life.¹⁴ Similarly, interventions to increase the scholarly potential of the residents in training have been associated with better outcome.¹⁵

The limitations of the current study included the inability to take a homogenous sample size from the various specialties and their uniform temporal distribution. Moreover, potential confounders, like institutional bias, could not be addressed as it was a single-centre study.

Conclusion

There was a low rate of conversion from dissertation to publication. It is a significant shortcoming and a potential area of improvement of the said residency programme. Further research at national level is needed to determine the factors affecting publication rates among residents.

Acknowledgement: We are grateful to all the participants.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- Stevenson MD, Smigielski EM, Naifeh MM, Abramson EL, Todd C, Li ST. Increasing Scholarly Activity Productivity During Residency: A Systematic Review. Acad Med 2017;92:250-66. doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001169.
- Rothberg MB. Overcoming the obstacles to research during residency: what does it take? JAMA 2012;308:2191-2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.14587.
- Ishiguro A, Nomura O, Michihata N, Kobayashi T, Mori R, Nishiya K, et al. Research during Pediatric Residency Training: A Nationwide Study in Japan. JMA J 2019;2:28-34. doi: 10.31662/jmaj.2018-0007.
- 4. Haider J. Problems encountered by postgraduate trainee during dissertation writing. Pak J Med Sci 2009;25:520-21.
- Sipahi H, Durusoy R, Ergin I, Hassoy H, Davas A, Karababa A. Publication rates of public health theses in international and national peer-review journals in Turkey. Iran J Public Health 2012;41:31-5.
- Khan NR, Saad H, Oravec CS, Norrdahl SP, Fraser B, Wallace D, et al. An Analysis of Publication Productivity During Residency for 1506 Neurosurgical Residents and 117 Residency Departments in North America. Neurosurgery 2019;84:857-67. doi: 10.1093/neuros/nyy217.
- 7. Williams BR, Agel JA, Van Heest AE. Protected Time for Research

During Orthopaedic Residency Correlates with an Increased Number of Resident Publications. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2017;99:e73. doi: 10.2106/JBJS.16.00983.

- Shukla D, Tripathi M, Devi BI. Conversion of thesis to peerreviewed publication. Indian j. neurosurg 2019;8:093-9. DOI: 10.1055/s-0039-1694959.
- College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan. Notification. [Online] 2009 [Cited 2021 December 25]. Available from URL: https://www.cpsp.edu.pk/files/rtmc/sec-cpsp-09-270.pdf
- Grova MM, Yang AD, Humphries MD, Galante JM, Salcedo ES. Dedicated Research Time During Surgery Residency Leads to a Significant Decline In Self-Assessed Clinical Aptitude and Surgical Skills. J Surg Educ 2017;74:980-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2017.05.009.
- 11. Rezaei S, Seyri H. Iranian doctoral students' perceptions of publication in English: Motives, hurdles, and strategies. J Appl Res High Educ 2019;11:941-54. DOI: 10.1108/JARHE-02-2019-0040
- 12. Islam MT. Hurdles for Journal Publications. English Lang Teach Educ J 2021;4:01-7.
- Bernstein J, Ahn J, Iannotti JP, Brighton CT. The required research rotation in residency: the University of Pennsylvania experience, 1978-1993. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2006;449:95-9. doi: 10.1097/01.blo.0000224040.77215.ff.
- 14. Macknin JB, Brown A, Marcus RE. Does research participation make a difference in residency training? Clin Orthop Relat Res 2014;472:370-6. doi: 10.1007/s11999-013-3233-y.
- 15. Merwin SL, Fornari A, Lane LB. A preliminary report on the initiation of a clinical research program in an orthopaedic surgery department: roadmaps and tool kits. J Surg Educ 2014;71:43-51. doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2013.06.002.

ANALYTICAL STUDY

Otorhinolaryngology consultations in a multidisciplinary hospital — their effects on residents training on floor

Ambreen Abdullah Unar, Muhammad Hammad Deewani, Muhammad Sohail Awan, Syeda Amrah Hashmi, Abdul Basit Shah Vardag, Ainulakbar Mughal

Abstract

Objective: To determine all types and severity of Otolaryngology consultation requests at our tertiary care center and spectral records of problems related to otorhinolaryngology come across initially by residents which will help in re-shaping residency programmes and enhance patient related care. **Methodology:** All otorhinolaryngology consultation received over a three-month period were recorded prospectively. Information collected for each encounter included the time, date, reason for consult at primary service and admission with final ENT diagnosis, any surgical or non-surgical intervention, and

basic patient demographics.

Results: A total of 127 consults for inpatients were reviewed from April 2020 to June 2020. Out of total, 84 (66.1%) patients were male and 43 (33.8%) were females. Adult patient consultations amounted to 87(68.5%) while 18(14.1%) were in the age range of 6-18 years. Only 4(3.1%) consultations were raised for neonatal patients. Routine consultation were had for 64(50.3%) while 45(35.4%) patients were reviewed as an emergency. Operative interventions were required by 43(33.8%) among which tracheostomy was the most common operative procedure performed in 26(20.7%) patients. If we broadly classified ENT consultations, 40 (31.4%) were of problems related to head and neck region while 38 (29.9%) were related to the laryngology sub-specialty. Most common consultation was for airway assessment in 26(20.7%) patients followed by otorrhoea, in 15 (11.8%) patients.

Conclusion: In inpatients, upper airway assessment, aural discharge and epistaxis were the most frequent complaints for seeking ENT review. This study should prove to be beneficial in forming a curriculum of educational programme for junior residents.

Keywords: Residents training, Consultations, Otorhinolaryngology, Multidisciplinary hospital, Workload. (JPMA 72: S-44 [Suppl. 1]; 2022) **DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-20**

Introduction

In a large multispecialty hospital, subspecialty consultations play a pivotal role in comprehensive medical care. Appropriate consultation requests placed in both the inpatient and emergency department settings, provide patients with an opportunity to access necessary care and relevant management of their problem by a specialist doctor.¹ Consultation patterns of various surgical specialties such as orthopaedics, urology, vascular surgery and orthopaedic surgery have been literature^{2,3} reported in but data regarding otolaryngology/ENT consultation is limited especially in our part of world.

ENT consultations are ordered from ED, ICUs and wards. They have been divided into categories of emergency, urgent and routine requests. Emergencies require immediate attention and intervention which include airway compromise, epistaxis or foreign body impaction, and urgent requests require timely consultation, including cases of inflammation and infection. Routine

Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan. **Correspondence:** Ambreen Abdullah Unar. Email: ambreen.unar@aku.edu requests are for consultation of any acute or chronic condition including earache, vertigo or dizziness, among others.^{4,5} Usually, ED consultations are given priority and are raised and seen on urgent basis.⁶

Overall, a rise in on-call ENT consultations has been noted. This poses a challenge to proper patient access, physician workloads, and resource allocation.⁴ However, a significant problem arises with mismanaged consults as they increase the workload for on-call teams of that specialty as well as lead to poorer patient outcomes due to subsequent improper treatment.⁷ This occurs more in overcrowded hospital wards specially in Emergency Departments where a significant number of patients with ENT complaints do not require ENT consultation but rather direct departmental management.⁵ Due to lack of data on patterns of in-hospital consultation for common complaints, and low knowledge on management skills of emergency cases, there is a dire need to identify the causes for rectification.⁸

This study will quantify and analyze inpatient consultations, their complexity and ultimate need of any intervention required in a tertiary care Centre. Eventually a

S-45

pattern for training the in-hospital staff and manage the consultation process to ensure efficient interdepartmental functioning will be evolved.

Methods

A cross-sectional study was done in otorhinolaryngology section of Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi after taking an exemption from Ethical Review Committee (ERC). All ENT consultations, including inpatient, raised over a period of 3 months from January 2021 to March 2021 was recorded prospectively. Non-probability consecutive sampling was used for collection of data.

Apart from basic demographic details of patients, the details of each request included the nature of consult, the requesting department, the post consultation diagnosis, and any intervention given. Duplicate consultation consults for dental problems, incorrect surgical service, consultations, records with insufficient information and consultations raised from emergency department were excluded.

All data was accessible only to the primary investigator and identity of all patients was protected by assigning a study code to specific medical record number.

At our center, all Otorhinolaryngology consultation requests assigned to the department, are received on a consult pager. All this data is recorded daily before morning rounds. The same manner was applied to collect this data and there was no interaction with any patient on this account. The on-call ENT team comprises of a senior resident (PGY-III or above) and a junior resident. All consultations are usually first seen by junior residents followed by assessment from a senior resident thus making junior residents as the first responders of any consultation. All Consultations are reviewed by attending to them either on the same day or next day, depending upon the nature of the problem. All consults are evaluated by faculty either on the same day, or within a 24-hour period, depending on the urgency level of the consult. All consultation requests are given a management plan after discussion or once reviewed by attending consultant assigned as per consultant on-call Rota.

Data was categorized based upon nature and reason of consultation, age groups and type of Otorhinolaryngology intervention. Data Analysis was performed using software SPSS version 23. Characteristics of consultation were described in various categories such as age groups, gender, nature of consult and all the categorical variables were calculated as frequency and percentages.

Results

A total of one-twenty-seven consultation requests were raised during the period of 3-months. Out of the total, 84(66.1%) patients were male and 43(33.8%) were for female patients. For ease of data analysis, we divided patients in range of following age groups, neonatal group, infant group, 1 year to 6 years, 6 years to 18 years and adult group of patients. Adult consultations were for 87(68.5%) while 18 (14.1%) patients were in 6-18 years of range. Only 4 (3.1%) consultations were raised for neonatal patients. Routine consults were 64(50.3%)

 Table-1: Reason of consultation.

Reason for Consultation	Consults (n= 127)
Airway Assessment/Stridor	26 (20.4%)
Otorrhoea	15 (11.8%)
Neck Swelling	12 (9.4%)
Hearing Loss/Tinnitus/Vertigo	12 (9.4%)
Sinus Infection	11 (8.6%)
Epistaxis	10 (7.8%)
Decannulation of Tracheostomy	09 (7.08%)
Ear Blockage/Ear Wax	07 (5.5%)
Oral Bleed	06 (4.7%)
Sore Throat	05 (3.9%)
Otalgia	05 (3.9%)
Foreign Body ENT	03 (2.3%)
Accidental Dislodgement of tracheostomy Tube	02 (1.5%)
Others	04 (3.1%)

Table-2: Type of intervention.

Type of intervention	Total Consults (n=127)
Operative	43 (33.8%)
Non-operative	84 (66.1%)



Figure-1: Age group of patients needed ENT consultations.



Figure-2: Operative intervention procedure.

which were seen within 24 hours while 45 (35.4%) patients were reviewed as an Emergency. Operative interventions were required by 43(33.8) patients with tracheostomy being the most common operative procedure done in 26(20.7%) patients. If broadly classified ENT consultations, 40 (31.4%) were of problems related to head and neck region while 38 (29.9%) were related to laryngology sub-specialty. Most common consultation was for airway assessment in 26(20.7%) patients, while second most common was of otorrhoea in 15(11.8%) patients.

Discussion

An in-house otorhinolaryngologist cover at all times is essential for a tertiary care hospital. For a well-rounded service, subspecialty consultation is of utmost importance. This elevates the care of patients to a multimodality level thus enabling the primary care physicians to approach and treat patients with multiple issues. The importance of otolaryngology in primary care has been already established.^{9,10} Common complaints usually include various acute and chronic ear symptoms as otitis, spinning sensations, airway, nose, neck and throat related issues, hoarseness, and nasal bleeding. Common complaints generally include various acute and chronic ear diseases, such as otitis media, spinning sensations and problems related to the airway like stridor. Symptoms related to the voice as hoarseness, to the nose like epistaxis and to the neck. These are widely prevalent in our population leading to an increased burden on health care.^{5,9,11} Otorhinolaryngology complaints are responsible for 20 percent of all presentations to primary care centres in adults and up to 50% in paediatric patients.^{4,9,10} With increasing mismanagement in inpatient clinics, patients come for common complaints to the emergency, where ENT consults are placed. This increases workload as well as affects resource allocation which is negatively impacting health care.⁴

The trends seen in consults are different worldwide. Especially since the COVID pandemic, their concerns have increased to be the most in intensive care units. Shomoroney et.al reported it to be 54% of all consults received. Among the categories of consultations, the recent trend has also shifted to most cases being referred for airway management in particular for tracheostomy, and rhinology especially fungal sinusitis.¹² This is consistent with management of COVID and post covid sequelae.

A lack of knowledge has been identified in primary care practitioners in being able to deal these issues directly.¹³ Currently, in the residency programmes, management of common issues have been included, besides those specific to the specialty. But the aspects of basic otorhinolaryngology training in the overall curriculum has been overshadowed by inconsistency and a lack of structure in residency programmes. The focus has been placed on evidence-based practice.14 Due to this deficiency of expertise in management, the consults get postponed, instead of receiving direct management. Furthermore to develop a high quality care and patient centric services for otorhinolaryngology, improved education and training is of pivotal importance. It will also enable residents to deal with basic otolaryngological issues, instead of writing referrals.14,15 Hence increased teaching should be made during medical school and residency.8

There is not much of literature regarding otolaryngologic consultations in a tertiary care setting. For the ENT trainees, a consult is an "unplanned" clinical activity. Nevertheless, they are indispensable for patients with airway emergencies. While available for other specialties, sparse literature is present highlighting the importance of this "hidden" workload of an otorhinolaryngology resident, which can have an effect on their performance.4,16,17 In a cross-sectional retrospective study, Kristine Smith et al demonstrated significant increase in the volume of consultations to on-call resident at a tertiary care center and she concluded that this load has the potential to adversely affect patient care.⁴ Otorhinolaryngologist must be accessible since they cover different sites, and urgent versus emergent services are required on a nearly daily basis. If this accessibility is limited, then hospital discharge could be delayed unnecessarily, leading to additional negative consequences.18,19

Our study reviewed characteristics of ENT consultation raised for in-patients in a tertiary care setting and includes nature of consult and whether it needed any intervention or not. The four most common reasons for ENT consultations were upper airway evaluation, otorrhoea, neck swelling, vertigo, and sinusitis. Furthermore the most common operative intervention done in our patients was tracheostomy. New residents are often uncomfortable performing flexible laryngoscopy, anterior nasal packing, decannulation and change of tracheostomy tube. Most consultation requests, once placed, are initially seen, and managed by the junior residents, who invariably require assistance from the senior residents for simple bedside procedures. It is not only increasing the workload at all residents' levels but also increasing cost of health care provision on patients in a low middle-income country. In a similar study conducted at department of otorhinolaryngology SUNY upstate medical university, New York, Erica et al²⁰ retrospectively reviewed patients who received ENT consultations from 2014 to 2018. In this series 8806 consults were noted. They concluded that increasing burden on emergency department consultations on ENT service at academic medical centers highlights a potential cause for increasing and improving provider availability. However, frequent and unnecessary inpatient consultation can significantly increase workload of on-call residents and overall services.

Patients with non-emergency issues like ear discharge, allergies, or hoarseness are identified as common reasons of consultations. These problems can be better assessed and sorted in the clinical setting, suggesting further towards the presence of unnecessary consultations. We recognize that while the true necessity of a consultation is subjective, the need for ENT intervention is a more quantifiable surrogate to determining the overall relevance of the placed consult. In our series, 84 (66.4%) consults did not require any operative or bedside intervention. We did an operative intervention on 43(33.8%) consultations and most performed procedures were elective tracheostomy done on 26 (20.7%) patients while 5(3.9%) underwent endoscopic sinus surgery. This is consistent with the research done in other regions, showing a need for change in managing the consultation process.

Thus, it is suggested that for most common encounters, including basics of tracheotomy care, flexible laryngoscopy, expertise in interpretations of scans of head and neck region and the method required to perform it, anterior and posterior nasal packing, among others, management teaching should be started immediately. Having residents better equipped to deal such encounters themselves will refine the consultation process and improve the balance of workload.

Conclusion

Although our study is based on a single tertiary care setting but it can definitely impart a significant contribution to the scanty literature present on this topic and it can be used to design educational curriculum not only for residents in ENT training to have command on commonly encountered consultations but also for other services in order to have enough knowledge of basic otorhinolaryngology problems so unnecessary consultations and referral and ultimately patient's hospital stay can be lowered down.

Conflict of Interests: None to declare

Disclosure: None to declare

Funding Source: None to declare

References

- Choi KJ, Kahmke RR, Crowson MG, Puscas L, Scher RL, Cohen SM. Trends in Otolaryngology Consultation Patterns at an Academic Quaternary Care Center. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2017;143:472-7. doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2016.4056.
- Koh CE, Walker SR. Vascular surgery consults: a significant workload. ANZ J Surg 2007;77:352-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-2197.2007.04058.x.
- O'Malley NT, O'Daly B, Harty JA, Quinlan W. Inpatient consultations to an orthopaedic service: the hidden workload. Ir J Med Sci 2011;180:855-8. doi: 10.1007/s11845-011-0729-x.
- Smith KA, Hinther AV, Brookes J, Matthews TW, Dort JC. An Evaluation of On-Call Otolaryngology Consultations: Assessing an Increasing Workload. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2018;127:450-5. doi: 10.1177/0003489418776670.
- Garneau JC, Wasserman I, Konuthula N, Malkin BD. Referral patterns from emergency department to otolaryngology clinic. Laryngoscope 2018;128:1062-7. doi: 10.1002/lary.26868.
- Yang KK, Lam SS, Low JM, Ong ME. Managing emergency department crowding through improved triaging and resource allocation. Oper Res Health Care 2016;10:13-22. Doi: 10.1016/j.orhc.2016.05.001
- Mengin AC, Kayser C, Tuzin N, Perruisseau-Carrier J, Charpiot A, Berna F, et al. Mindfulness Improves Otolaryngology Residents' Performance in a Simulated Bad-News Consultation: A Pilot Study. J Surg Educ 2021;78:1357-65. doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2020.11.009.
- Hu A, Sardesai MG, Meyer TK. A need for otolaryngology education among primary care providers. Med Educ Online 2012;17:e17350. doi: 10.3402/meo.v17i0.17350.
- 9. Griffiths E. Incidence of ENT problems in general practice. J R Soc Med 1979;72:740-2.
- Hannaford PC, Simpson JA, Bisset AF, Davis A, McKerrow W, Mills R. The prevalence of ear, nose and throat problems in the community: results from a national cross-sectional postal survey in Scotland. Fam Pract 2005;22:227-33. doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmi004.
- 11. Ansari RA. Evaluation of clinical profile of patients visited in ENT department. J Adv Med Dent Scie Res 2019;7:68-71. Doi: 10.21276/jamdsr
- Shomorony A, Chern A, Long SM, Feit NZ, Ballakur SS, Gadjiko M, et al. Essential inpatient otolaryngology: what COVID-19 has revealed. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2021:1-10. doi: 10.1007/s00405-021-06963-7. [ahead of print]

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

- Dinsdale E, Hannigan A, O'Connor R, O'Doherty J, Glynn L, Casey M, et al. Communication between primary and secondary care: deficits and danger. Fam Pract 2020;37:63-8. doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmz037.
- 14. Dimitrov L, Unadkat S, Khanna A, Rennie C, Saleh H. ENT training amongst general practitioners: results from a questionnaire. J Laryngol Otol 2020:1-7. doi: 10.1017/S0022215120000201. [ahead of print]
- Šurda P, Barac A, Deghani PM, Jacques T, Langdon C, Pimentel J, et al. Training in ENT; a comprehensive review of existing evidence. Rhinol Online 2018;1:77-84. Doi: 10.4193/RHINOL/18.027
- Kazmi Z, Khan K, Ather MH. The Hidden Work of Urology Residents

 A Cross-Sectional Study. Cureus 2020;12:e10668. doi: 10.7759/cureus.10668.
- Sullivan JF, Forde JC, Creagh TA, Donovan MG, Eng MP, Hickey DP, et al. A review of inpatient urology consultations in an Irish tertiary referral centre. Surgeon 2013;11:300-3. doi: 10.1016/j.surge.2013.06.003.
- Toh HJ, Lim ZY, Yap P, Tang T. Factors associated with prolonged length of stay in older patients. Singapore Med J 2017;58:134-8. doi: 10.11622/smedj.2016158.
- Hall R, Belson D, Murali P, Dessouky M. Modeling patient flows through the healthcare system. In: Hall RW, eds. Patient flow: Reducing delay in healthcare delivery. New York, USA: Springer Science + Business Media, LLC, 2006; pp 1-44.
- 20. Sher E, Nicholas B. Trends in otolaryngology consult volume at an academic institution from 2014 to 2018. Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngol 2020;5:813-8. doi: 10.1002/lio2.422.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEW

Role of simulation in open varicose veins surgery: A systematic review

Muhammad Ammar Pirzada, Fareed Ahmed Shaikh, Shoaib Badini, Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui

Abstract

Objective: To assess the types and effectiveness of simulators present for open varicose vein surgery.

Method: The systematic review was conducted at The Aga Khan University Hospital Karachi and comprised studies published from 1st January 2000 to 30th June 2020 related to open varicose vein surgical procedures done on simulators. Databases searched were PubMed, Medline, Google Scholar, Cochrane and Scopus using appropriate key words. The primary outcome of the review was to assess the effectiveness of different types of simulators used for varicose vein surgery.

Results: Of the 286 articles found, 6(2%) were included. A variety of simulators ranging from animal models, homemade simulators and commercially designed models with high fidelity options had been used. Technical competence was the major domain assessed in most of the studies 5(83.3%), while 1(16.6%) study focussed on self-assessment. Blinding was done in 4(66.6%) studies for assessment purpose, and videorecording of the trainees' performance was done in 5(83.3%) studies. Most studies 4(66.6%) found the use of simulation to be an effective tool in achieving technical competence.

Conclusion: The use of simulation in the training of surgical residents for open varicose vein surgery was found to be beneficial, but most studies were heterogeneous in terms of design, simulator types and study participants. This makes it difficult to establish the superiority of any one type of simulator over the rest. Further research is needed to develop and validate simulators in open varicose vein surgery procedures.

Keywords: Simulation training, Surgical education, Surgical training, Varicose vein surgery, Assessment, Saphenofemoral junction disconnection.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-10

Introduction

Acquiring operative skill proficiency is the most important aspect of surgical training. Recently the concept of

Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan. **Correspondence:** Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui. Emil: nadeem.siddiqui@aku.edu residents; training on real patients has been seriously questioned.¹ The 80-hour-a-week regulation has decreased the operating exposure of the surgical trainees, making it imperative to maximise learning in limited time.² This has been further compounded by shortened duration of surgical residencies.³ Fear of potential lawsuits has also not helped the cause.⁴ Lastly, the widely popular approach of minimally invasive surgeries has resulted in endovascular training getting more attention than its open counterpart.⁵ This has opened an avenue to discuss the emerging role of simulation, particularly for open vascular surgical procedures.

A simulator is a model or a set of equipment designed specifically for training by replicating situations encountered in real life.⁶ Globally, there is a major shift in favour of simulation for safe training and fine-tuning of skills.⁷ Simulators, being cost-effective, readily available, easily commutable and with repeatability of usage, have an edge over other forms of training.⁸ It also avoids the ethical dilemma that the trainers might face in terms of putting a patient's safety at stake for training the trainees.⁹ Another challenge for the trainers is the assessment of a trainee's skill level. Direct observation in operating rooms (ORs) lacks objectivity and is associated with potential limitation of different interpretation between observers for a similar set of skills.¹⁰

Varicose veins (VVs) represent a common pathology¹¹ with reported worldwide prevalence ranging 10-30%.^{12,13} Khan et al. reported a prevalence of 34.8% for chronic venous insufficiency (CVI) in Pakistan.¹⁴ Traditional treatment has been surgery, which involves saphenofemoral junction disconnection (SFJD) in the groin.¹⁵ But now endovascular techniques are gaining popularity for the treatment of VVs.¹⁶ The trainees now are more used to the endovenous procedures, resulting in limited exposure to open SFJD. Even with all the advancements and frequent use of endovascular approach, there may be situations where open SFJD needs to be performed. Reluctance of health insurances to cover CVI forces patients to opt for open SFJD which is cheaper than endovenous procedures.¹⁷ VVs surgical procedures are associated with potential complications, like intraoperative bleeding, haematoma, groin infections and recurrence. If the operating surgeon has not been trained adequately and had limited exposure to SFJD during training, the likelihood of having intraoperative and postoperative complication is increased. All of this makes it imperative that the skill of performing VVs surgery be mastered by the trainees.

Use of simulation for open vascular surgery procedures is widely reported. Although different types of simulators with varying fidelity are available but utility of any particular simulator over others is an unexplored area.¹⁸ This poses a problem for surgical educators in deciding the best approach and simulation technique that is cost-effective and ensures performance enhancement for VVs surgery.

The current systematic review was planned to assess literature on the type of simulators available and their effectiveness for technical performance of the trainees in VVs surgery.

Materials and Methods

The systematic review was conducted at The Aga Khan University Hospital Karachi from 30th June 2021 till 30th July 2021 and comprised studies published from January 2000 to June 2020 related to open VVs surgical procedures done on simulators. Using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement,¹⁹ studies were searched on



Figure: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flow-chart.

PubMed, Medline, Google Scholar, Cochrane databases and Scopus search engine. Studies, including case reports as well as observational and interventional studies, discussing the scope of simulation in VVs surgery were included. Studies related to simulation in vascular anastomosis or other non-VVs vascular procedures were excluded. Review articles, ongoing studies, unpublished articles and studies that were not published in the English language were also excluded.

The search strategy comprised the population, intervention and outcomes model.²⁰ Population was identified as physicians being trained in the discipline of vascular surgery. Both independent vascular surgeons and trainees were included. The terminologies used for this purpose were "vascular surgery trainees" OR "fellows of vascular surgery" OR "consultant vascular surgery" OR "attending vascular surgeons" AND "open vascular surgical procedures" OR "open vascular surgery". Various simulation models being used for open VVs surgery were considered as the aimed intervention. The terms included were "simulation models" OR "simulation tools" OR "simulation training" OR "simulation in open varicose vein surgery". The outcome was the effectiveness of different types of simulators used for open VVs surgery training. For such outcome, search terms included "effectiveness" OR

> "efficacy" OR "usefulness" OR "Impact" OR "benefits" OR "role" AND "simulator types" OR "simulation in open varicose vein surgery".

> All studies mentioning the role of simulation in VVs surgery irrespective of the type of simulation used were included. Descriptive studies and review articles related to the role of simulation in VVs surgery were excluded. The identified studies using the above-mentioned criteria were reviewed by two independent investigators who thoroughly reviewed search items. the In case of disagreement between the reviewers, an independent third reviewer was invited to address the issue. For initial scanning, the titles of relevant studies were looked at and duplications were excluded. This was followed by rigorous evaluation of abstracts and manuscripts of the finalised studies to complete the process of inclusion. To avoid missing any relevant study, references of all the included studies were also reviewed.

S-51

The primary outcome was to assess the effectiveness of various simulation models used in VVs surgery training. Data noted on a predesigned template included publication year, details of the publishing journal and authors' names from the selected articles. Variables related to simulation, like the nature of simulator, details of the participants, including their number, training levels, assessment strategies and effectiveness of the simulation models, were also recorded.

The quality of studies was assessed using the validated National Institute of Health (NIH) tool.²¹

Results

Of the 286 articles found, 151(52.8%) were identified through the databases, while 135(47.2%) were found through other sources, like references of articles identified through database search. After the screening process, 6 (2%) studies were included for detailed review (See PRISMA diagram). Because of the difference in the reported outcomes and heterogeneity in the methodology in different studies, it was not possible to perform meta-analysis.

The mean NIH score of all the included studies was 7.3 ± 0.372 . The mean number of participants was 26.5 ± 9.725 . The level of training, technical capability and surgical experience varied widely^{18,22-26} (see Table). A variety of simulators ranging from animal models, homemade simulators and commercially designed models with high-fidelity options had been used. Technical competence

was the major domain assessed in most of the studies 5 (83.3%), while 1 (16.6%) study focussed on selfassessment. Blinding was done in 4 (66.6%) studies for assessment purpose, and videorecording of the trainees' performance was done in 5 (83.3%) studies. Most studies 4 (66.6%) found the use of simulation to be an effective tool in achieving technical competence. Overall, 3 (50%) studies grouped participants into junior residents, senior residents and consultants.^{18,24,25}

Moorthy et al.²⁴ created an artificial scenario leading to a crisis situation while dissecting the SFJ and the trainee's response in terms of handling the bleeding from the femoral vein was assessed. Performance was individually assessed and feedback was generated. Assessment was two pronged, analysing human factor skills and bleeding control skills. Time management was also considered. Blood loss was investigated as surrogate outcome measure. Two surgeons and a human factors expert assessed the trainees in a blinded manner. Trainees were grouped in two blocks, senior and junior trainees, depending upon the number of SFJDs performed previously.

Beard etal.²⁶ did not specify simulator details while evaluating 33 trainees from the General Surgery department. Five skills, including vessel ligation, were evaluated in a simulation setting. The operative skill of each participant was then investigated during SFJD on two or three occasions by a single surgeon observer. However, the exact nature and construct of the model

Paper	Year of	Number of	Type of	Domain	Assessment	Assessment	Outcome	NIH
	Publication	Participants	Simulation Model	Assessed	Done	Tool		Score
Hseino ²²	2012	12 Junior trainees	Bench model	Technical skills	Yes (blinded)	Not reported	Beneficial	7
Pandey ²³	2008	42 Senior trainces	Bespoke synthetic model	Technical skills	yes	Modified GRS	Not reported	7
Datta ²⁵	2004	(at the end of training) Total 22 Consultants-4 Specialist- 14 Senior H0 - 4	Inanimate synthetic model	Technical ability	Yes (blinded)	OSATS	Beneficial	8
Moorthy ²⁴	2006	Total-20 Senior trainee-10 Junior trainee-10	Silicone based synthetic model	Technical skills / crises management	Yes	GRS, NOTECHS rating scale	Beneficial	7
Pandey ¹⁸	2012	Total-30 Candidates-22 Examiner-8	Bespoke synthetic model model	Technical ability	yes	OSATS, ICEPS	Not reported	7
Beard ²⁶	2005	33 General Surgery Trainees	Not known	Technical skills	Yes, blinded	Task specific checklist	Beneficial	7

Table: Summary of articles included in the systematic review.

GRS: Global rating scale, OSATS: Objective structured assessment of technical skills, NOTECHS: Non-technical skills, ICEPS: Imperial College Evaluation of Procedure-Specific Skill.

used for simulation was not explained. Pandey et al.^{18,23} in 2 (33.3%)studies used Bespoke synthetic groin models for SFJD.

Different types of validated and partially validated assessment tools were used, like the objective structured assessment of technical skills (OSATS), and the modified global rating scale (GRS).^{23,24} Beard et al.²⁶ used task-specific checklist for assessment purpose. Of the total, 3 (50%) studies^{22,25,26} reported assessors being blinded during assessment of the video recordings. Pandey et al.²³ identified significant variability in assessment between the independent observers and trainees assessing themselves as self-assessment. Therefore, the study recommended regular technical feedback during training to ensure improvement in technical performance of the trainees.²³

Pandey et al.^{18,23} did not highlight the usefulness of simulation, as the objective of both the studies was different and the focus was on participants' self-assessment and establishing comparison of relationship between technical and oral performances.

Discussion

The current review identified some interesting facts regarding the role of simulation in VVs surgery. The development, advancement and use of simulators in endovascular interventions has surpassed the simulation in open vascular surgical procedures.⁴ The findings point toward the fact that despite VVs surgery being one of the most performed procedures, the work on simulation for residents' training is limited and is further complicated by the fact that almost all the present studies are heterogeneous in nature with different types of simulators used in a limited number of participants.

The objective of a simulator is to create an environment with certain element of fidelity for the behavioural, emotional and cognitive engagement to ensure effective participation, resulting in desirable outcomes.²⁷ The types of simulators ranged from a simple plastic-based synthetic model²⁵ to a more complex Bespoke model²³ and finally to a very complex simulated operating theatre (SOT).²⁴ The effectiveness of training on simulators of varying fidelity is still a matter of debate.²⁸ Moorthy et al. used SOT with the involvement of an anaesthetist, and focus on blood-loss, realisation of calling for help along with the procedural technicalities showed indirect benefit of simulation. Majority of participants in the study thought of simulation as useful for skill acquisition.24 However, other studies^{25,26} also reported simulation as a positive catalyst for the improvement in surgical skills

while using comparatively low-fidelity models. Different types of simulation models were used across all studies. This limitation along with quite a low number of studies on this subject limit the ability to conclude any one model being superior to the others. It can be assumed that the experience of simulation in VVs surgery can be enhanced by using cadaveric models with intact perfusion. These models have been used in certain institutions to enhance the simulation experience for open vascular surgery procedures.²⁹

All the studies included had a wide variation of participants. Even though the numbers ranged from 12 to 42, the experience and designation of these participants were quite variable, ranging from surgical trainees at different years of training from the first year to candidates for European Board Fellowship to consultants already practising independently. With each year of training, the learning needs of the trainees differ and the complexity of the procedures also do not remain the same.¹⁷ Lowfidelity simulators, such as bench top plastic models, may appear to be highly useful for junior trainees in the first or second year of their training, but for the senior group of trainees, incorporation of more complex aspects of surgical skills is needed. As of now, there is not enough evidence to ascertain the advantage of high-fidelity over low-fidelity simulators for senior trainees.

Prior exposure to VVs surgery before becoming a part of simulation is another factor to consider in terms of effectiveness of training. Again, there is heterogeneity where Hseino et al.²² inducted 12 participants in the first and second year of training with no prior exposure to VVs surgery, while Moorthy et al. included only those participants who had done at least 20 cases of SFJD before.²⁴ The trainee's previous exposure can substantially enhance the effectiveness of a simulation, as shown by Moorthy et al.²⁴ who included more experienced trainees. Similar-level surgical trainees may have different learning experience and variable skill improvement based on the level of familiarity and previous knowledge about VVs surgical procedures.

Almost all the studies considered technical skills improvement as the primary objective and major domain taught and assessed on the simulator. Other than the technical aspect of training, there are other soft skills that are required to ensure optimal performance of surgeons in training, like communication skills, ethical considerations, team dynamics, leadership, task delegation, professionalism, mutual respect, constructive feedback, crises management, realisation of limitations and ability to call for help. Moorthy et al. focussed on these variables.²⁴ Ideally, a simulator should be designed in a way that beside addressing the surgical skill component, it should also be able to cater to the requirement of human-factor skills. Realistically though achieving this task has significant technical, financial and logistical challenges. A simulated OR, as used by Moorthy et al.,²⁴ with multiple simulators of varying fidelity specialised in addressing different skills can be a possible answer to this.

Assessment tools also varied among the studies. Majority of the studies used tools for assessment, most frequently OSATS and the Imperial College Evaluation of Procedural Skill (ICEPS), for the evaluation of the participants. GRS was used by most of the studies, which lacks the specificity of evaluating individual procedures.³⁰ Even though a few procedure-specific checklists and OSATS have been developed for VVs surgery, they are not yet validated. Combining GRS and procedure-specific checklists are usually considered to be more valid and reliable assessment tools to improve surgical skills.³¹

All the studies reported the use of simulation models to be an effective learning tool, but the generalisability of this effectiveness is still debatable. Reported skill improvement should be approached with caution because of non-validated tools being mostly used. The low number of participants with varied experience, different types of simulator models and assessment tools also limits the generalisability of simulator effectiveness.

One of the other limitations of the current review was the fact that most of the studies identified were not very recent, which points towards the need of having more focussed research on the topic. Despite relatively low number of old studies, the quality of the studies was found to be good as suggested by a good NIH score.

Conclusions

The utility of simulation in acquiring and enhancing surgical skills for VVs surgery were noted, but the absence of standardised simulation models, variability in participants' surgical experience and level of training along with the varied assessment strategies make the generalisability of the finding questionable. With the currently available literature, it is difficult to consider any particular type of simulator as a standard against which other simulators can be compared. All current simulators have their advantages and disadvantage, and, thus, development, advancement and validation of more simulators along with the predesigned curriculum are required for training surgeons for open VVs surgery. Similarly, validation of assessment strategies by the development of procedure specific checklists is also the need of the hour.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- Davis SS Jr, Husain FA, Lin E, Nandipati KC, Perez S, Sweeney JF. Resident participation in index laparoscopic general surgical cases: impact of the learning environment on surgical outcomes. J Am Coll Surg 2013;216:96-104. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.08.014.
- Hutter MM, Kellogg KC, Ferguson CM, Abbott WM, Warshaw AL. The impact of the 80-hour resident workweek on surgical residents and attending surgeons. Ann Surg 2006;243:864-71; discussion 871-5. doi: 10.1097/01.sla.0000220042.48310.66.
- Duschek N, Assadian A, Lamont PM, Klemm K, Schmidli J, Mendel H, et al. Simulator training on pulsatile vascular models significantly improves surgical skills and the quality of carotid patch plasty. J Vasc Surg 2013;57:1148-54. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2012.08.109.
- Lawaetz J, Skovbo Kristensen JS, Nayahangan LJ, Van Herzeele I, Konge L, Eiberg JP. Simulation Based Training and Assessment in Open Vascular Surgery: A Systematic Review. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2021;61:502-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejvs.2020.11.003.
- Dua A, Koprowski S, Upchurch G, Lee CJ, Desai SS. Progressive shortfall in open aneurysm experience for vascular surgery trainees with the impact of fenestrated and branched endovascular technology. J Vasc Surg 2017;65:257-61. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2016.08.075.
- Valentine R, Padhye V, Wormald PJ. Simulation Training for Vascular Emergencies in Endoscopic Sinus and Skull Base Surgery. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2016;49:877-87. doi: 10.1016/j.otc.2016.02.013.
- Stefanidis D, Sevdalis N, Paige J, Zevin B, Aggarwal R, Grantcharov T, et al. Association for Surgical Education Simulation Committee. Simulation in surgery: what's needed next? Ann Surg 2015;261:846-53. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000000826.
- Martin JA, Regehr G, Reznick R, MacRae H, Murnaghan J, Hutchison C, et al. Objective structured assessment of technical skill (OSATS) for surgical residents. Br J Surg 1997;84:273-8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2168.1997.02502.x.
- Issenberg SB, McGaghie WC, Hart IR, Mayer JW, Felner JM, Petrusa ER, et al. Simulation technology for health care professional skills training and assessment. JAMA 1999;282:861-6. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.9.861.
- Ahmed K, Miskovic D, Darzi A, Athanasiou T, Hanna GB. Observational tools for assessment of procedural skills: a systematic review. Am J Surg 2011;202:469-80.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2010.10.020.
- 11. Campbell B. Varicose veins and their management. BMJ 2006;333:287-92. doi: 10.1136/bmj.333.7562.287.
- 12. Proebstle T, van den Bos R. Endovenous ablation of refluxing saphenous and perforating veins. Vasa 2017;46:159-66. doi: 10.1024/0301-1526/a000610.
- 13. Callam MJ. Epidemiology of varicose veins. Br J Surg 1994;81:167-73. doi: 10.1002/bjs.1800810204.
- Khan AF, Chaudhri R, Ashraf MA, Mazaffar MS, Zawar-ul-Imam S, Tanveer M. Prevalence and presentation of chronic venous disease in Pakistan: a multicentre study. Phlebology 2013; 28:74-9. doi: 10.1258/phleb.2012.011122.
- Recek C. Significance of Reflux Abolition at the Saphenofemoral Junction in Connection with Stripping and Ablative Methods. Int J Angiol 2015; 24:249-61. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1546439.

- Rasmussen JL, Kristensen J, Nayahangan LJ, Sillesen H, van Herzeele I, Konge L, et al. A Systematic Review on Simulationbased Education in Open Vascular Surgery Providing-An Overview of The Literature Including Recommendations for Effective Future Training-Programs. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2019; 58:e712-3.
- Schul MW, King T, Kabnick LS. Inequalities of health insurance guidelines for the treatment of symptomatic varicose veins. Phlebology 2014;29:236-46. doi: 10.1177/0268355513479589.
- Pandey VA, Wolfe JH. Expanding the use of simulation in open vascular surgical training. J Vasc Surg 2012; 56:847-52. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2012.04.015.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009;6:e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.
- 20. Methley AM, Campbell S, Chew-Graham C, McNally R, Cheraghi-Sohi S. PICO, PICOS and SPIDER: a comparison study of specificity and sensitivity in three search tools for qualitative systematic reviews. BMC Health Serv Res 2014;14:579. doi: 10.1186/s12913-014-0579-0.
- 21. Migliavaca CB, Stein C, Colpani V, Munn Z, Falavigna M. Quality assessment of prevalence studies: a systematic review. J Clin Epidemiol 2020;127:59-68. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2020.06.039.
- Hseino H, Nugent E, Lee MJ, Hill AD, Neary P, Tierney S, et al. Skills transfer after proficiency-based simulation training in superficial femoral artery angioplasty. Simul Healthc 2012;7:274-81. doi: 10.1097/SIH.0b013e31825b6308.
- Pandey VA, Wolfe JH, Black SA, Cairols M, Liapis CD, Bergqvist D. Self-assessment of technical skill in surgery: the need for expert feedback. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2008; 90:286-90. doi: 10.1308/003588408X286008.

- Moorthy K, Munz Y, Forrest D, Pandey V, Undre S, Vincent C, et al. Surgical crisis management skills training and assessment: a
- Surgical crisis management skills training and assessment: a simulation[corrected]-based approach to enhancing operating room performance. Ann Surg 2006;244:139-47. doi: 10.1097/01.sla.0000217618.30744.61.

24.

- Datta V, Bann S, Beard J, Mandalia M, Darzi A. Comparison of bench test evaluations of surgical skill with live operating performance assessments. J Am Coll Surg 2004;199:603-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2004.05.269.
- Beard JD, Jolly BC, Newble DI, Thomas WE, Donnelly J, Southgate LJ. Assessing the technical skills of surgical trainees. Br J Surg 2005;92:778-82. doi: 10.1002/bjs.4951.
- van Joolingen WR, de Jong T. Characteristics of simulations for instructional settings. Comput Educ 1991;6:241-62. Doi: 10.1016/0167-9287(91)80004-H
- Doozandeh P, Ritter FE. Does simulation fidelity affect training? A lesson from a brief review of literature. In: SBP-BRiMS: International Conference on Social Computing, Behavioral-Cultural Modeling and Prediction and Behavior Representation in Modeling and Simulation. Pennsylvania, USA: Pennsylvania State University, 2019; pp 1-9.
- Carey JN, Minneti M, Leland HA, Demetriades D, Talving P. Perfused fresh cadavers: method for application to surgical simulation. Am J Surg 2015;210:179-87. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2014.10.027.
- In: Stefanidis D, Korndorffer Jr JR, Sweet R, eds. Comprehensive healthcare simulation: surgery and surgical subspecialties. Geneva, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2019.
- Vassiliou MC, Feldman LS, Andrew CG, Bergman S, Leffondré K, Stanbridge D, et al. A global assessment tool for evaluation of intraoperative laparoscopic skills. Am J Surg 2005;190:107-13. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2005.04.004.

NARRATIVE REVIEW

Innovations in surgery between the past and future: A narrative review of targeted literature

Obada Hasan,¹ Ahmed Ayaz,² Laiba Masood,³ Abdul Mannan Baig,⁴ Naveed Baloch⁵

Abstract

Innovation is the introduction of a new method or technology designed to change the way things are done. History is full of remarkable innovations in surgery over the years as surgeons have always been innovating and pioneering latest techniques and equipment that can benefit the mankind. Though persistent, progress has been far from uniform. Despite all the bells and whistles that these innovations bring to the table, the little acknowledged fact is that they are only accessible to a very small proportion of the global population. Five billion people on this planet do not even have access to an operating room when needed. It has been reported that conditions requiring surgery are responsible for one-third of all the deaths in the world. The current narrative review was planned to focus on the importance of innovations in surgery, to highlight the problems that were faced by resource-restricted countries in the past, and the necessity of innovative solutions to improve global surgical care in the future.

Keywords: Innovation, Surgery, Affordable, Cost, History.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-11

Introduction

Three-dimensional (3D) organs made by special printers, surgical simulators and stem cell delivery devices are some examples of research revolutions. A simple internet search will demonstrate the remarkable potential technology has to transform surgical care. Innovation is and has always been at the heart of surgery's core. Just as scientists and inventors have introduced telephones, air travel, space shuttles and robots, surgical innovations have proven to be equally revolutionary. Surgical care has come a long way and one must only take a glance at the past to be aware of the ground-breaking changes and developments that have taken place.

Throughout history, surgeons have always been

¹Department of Orthopaedic and Rehabilitation, University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, Iowa, USA, ^{2,3}Medical College, ⁴Department of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, ⁵Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Obada Hasan. Email: obada.husseinali@gmail.com

innovating and pioneering latest techniques and equipment that can benefit the mankind. However, progress has been far from uniform. Despite all the bells and whistles that these innovations bring to the table, the little acknowledged fact is that they are only accessible to a very small proportion of the global population. Five billion people on the planet do not even have access to an operating room when needed. It has been reported that conditions requiring surgery are responsible for one-third of all the deaths in the world.¹⁻³ This is more than the numbers caused by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), tuberculosis (TB) and malaria combined.

The current narrative review of targeted literature was planned to focus on the importance of innovation in surgery, to highlight the problems that were faced by resource-restricted countries in the past, and the necessity of innovative solutions to improve global surgical care in future, especially in low- and middleincome countries (LMICs). Specialists in the field of Surgery, Epidemiology and Basic Sciences were involved to have a multidisciplinary view of the progress.

Results and Discussion

The demand for cost-effective inventions in surgery

The field of surgery has come a long way in the past few years, but, unfortunately, progress has not been uniform. Numerous advanced and sophisticated inventions are not available to most parts of the world owing to paucity of resources. Only 6% of all the surgical operations in the world are performed in the developing countries. As a result, the mortality rates for surgical conditions are extremely high in these countries.^{3,4}

Lack of access to surgical care: Based on the Lancet Commission on Global Surgery report of 180 countries from all over the globe highlighting 98% of the inhabitants, it was found that there is a dire need of surgeons in Africa and rural areas which, on an average, had one surgeon serving over 2 million people.⁵ One-third of the world's population cannot get optimum care owing to the lack of operation theatres. On the other hand, people of high-income countries (HICs) are rarely seen lacking access to surgical care.

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

Accessibility and availability to surgery are vital issues in LICs, and can be further described by the three delays in pursuing, attaining and obtaining care.

Poor surgical outcomes: Even where surgical care is available, it is of poor quality. A lack of skilled surgeons in these countries results in severe concerns. The difference in mortality around surgery in the developing and the developed countries is 10% and 0.4%, respectively. In regions where there is no access to clean water and blood banks are scarce, the morbidity extent is more prominent.⁶⁻⁹ Such high rate of postoperative complications leads to more frequent and longer hospital stays, making hospital beds unavailable to other patients. Early discharge is not a solution either as patients in LICs are not able to afford nursing care or physiotherapy at home even if such services are available in society.

Financial barriers to basic surgical care: Unlike the developed countries, which are covered by tax-funded health systems or health insurance schemes, all healthcare related expenses in developing countries are out of one's own pocket.

Additionally, there may be just one young breadwinner for the family and they cannot afford being hospitalised for a long time. Moreover, paid leave is a luxury which they do not often have. The women are the care-givers in such families, dragging their focus from their children and education.

Examples of low-cost surgical innovations: Lowincome countries (LICs) need innovations that would work best in their environment. That can only be guaranteed when such technology is built specifically for that purpose. The goal is to provide a cost-effective idea which can work with limited resources without compromising on the quality of healthcare and for it to be of reasonable cost. Some of the best examples of low-cost innovations and their benefits have been widely acknowledged (Table).

Bogota bag: Developed in 1984 by Dr Oswaldo in Columbia, the Bogotá bag is one of the many low-cost innovations that emerged from a resource-restricted setting. It is a strong and flexible bag that is attached to the patient's abdominal wound temporarily before the abdomen could formally be closed. This bag costs \$5 whereas other techniques with similar purpose cost around \$153-\$1,600. Studies have reported that it results in a lower incidence of complications compared to similar techniques.¹⁰⁻¹²

Mesh for hernia repair from propylene mosquito net: Dr Reddy and Dr Tongaonkar introduced the use of lowcost polypropylene mosquito net in herniorrhaphy.¹³ An important clinical trial in Burkina Faso reported similar outcomes when compared to the more expensive meshes used in the West.¹⁴ There has been no increase in septic complications, and it reduces the cost by two-thirds.^{15,16} On occasions, it has even been considered better in terms of strength and anisotropy. Its cost is an estimated onethousandth of the price of a commercial mesh.

Life box (LB) oximeter: Another groundbreaking innovation designed specifically for LICs is the Life box (LB) oximeter. Perioperative monitoring of patients using an oximeter is a basic requirement for care of surgical

Table: Examples of successful low-cost innovations in surgery.

Innovation	Description	Benefit
Bogotá Bag	A strong and flexible bag that attaches to the patient's abdominal wound temporarily before the abdomen could formally be closed.	This bag costs \$5 whereas other techniques with similar purpose cost around \$153-\$1600. Studies have reported that it results in a lower incidence of complications when compared to much more expensive techniques.
Mosquito Net Mesh for Hernia Repair	Low- cost polypropylene mosquito nets for hernia surgeries	1000 times cheaper than traditional meshes but with similar outcomes when compared to its much more expensive counterparts.
Life-box Oximeter	A low-cost pulse oximeter that can be used in even the most resource restricted regions of the world without compromise on accuracy.	They cost around \$250, compared with at least \$1000 for a standard device used in HICs. Various studies have validated the positive effects and accuracy of LB oximeters.
The Chhabra Shunt	Low-cost alternative to shunt placement in patients suffering from hydrocephalus.	It is manufactured in India and can easily be purchased for \$35 compared to the standard Codman-Hakim Micro Precision Valve shunt system which costs over \$650. Many studies have been conducted comparing the two devices and it has been concluded that there is no significant difference in outcomes.
Arbutus surgical drill	A sterilized cover combined with a low-cost cordless drill with a similar torque and speed of a regular surgical drill	The cover can be changed on a regular basis and the complete unit costs 10 times less than a typical surgical drill.
Jaipur Foot	A prosthetic device that allows amputees to easily perform everyday tasks. The design also allows amputees to squat, sit cross-legged and even trek on rugged terrain.	Readily available using locally sourced materials for as low as 3 USD.

LB: Life-box, HICs: High-income countries, USD: United States dollar.



Transcribrial route device:

Using simple concepts to resolve big problems have invented many devices and instruments that could prove be of translational to significance. One such example is the transcribrial device, which was developed at the Aga Khan University, Karachi, to overcome the blood-brain barrier to deliver drugs to the brain in meningoencephalitis, and stem cells to the brain in neurodegenerative diseases.²⁵ This device (Figure) is suited to deliver the drugs in Naegleria fowleri-induced encephalitis with nasal components and device details to deliver the

patients in the developed world.¹⁷ It comes as no surprise that in sub-Saharan Africa, 70% of operating theatres do not have oximeters.¹⁸ Using pulse-oximeters, along with the WHO Surgical Safety Checklist, has the potential to make surgical operations 50% safer.¹⁹

Various studies have validated the positive effects and accuracy of LB oximeters.²⁰ These devices have proven to be an inexpensive and excellent alternative that the developing countries can adopt without compromising much on quality. It is being reported that even cheaper versions are on their way to the markets soon.

Chhabra shunt: The Chhabra shunt is a low-cost alternative to shunt placement in patients suffering from hydrocephalus. It is India-made and can be available in \$35 compared to the standard Codman-Hakim Micro Precision Valve shunt system priced over \$650.

Many studies have been conducted comparing the two devices, and it has been concluded that there is no significant difference in outcomes.^{21,22} Furthermore, Kabachelor et al. also compared the Chhabra shunt to the Bactiseal universal shunt and found no difference in rates of shunt complications, and death.²³

Arbutus surgical drill: A typical surgical drill costs around \$30,000. In addition, it needs to be sterilised regularly to prevent postoperative complications. However, Arbutus has recently introduced a cover which can be sterilised repeatedly and, when combined with a low-cost cordless drill of similar speed and torque, costs one-tenth of the price of a regular surgical drill.²⁴

drugs.²⁶ Also, the modified device has been proposed to be used to accelerate stem cell delivery to the brain in Alzheimer's disease.²⁷

Jaipur foot: The Jaipur foot has been regarded as one of the best innovations of the 20th century. Developed by orthopaedic surgeon Professor P.K. Sethi, it allows amputees to easily perform movements in almost all directions, including dorsi-flexion, plantar-flexion, inversion and eversion.²⁸⁻³⁰ The design also allows amputees to squat, sit cross-legged and even trek on rugged terrain. Due to its immense popularity in LMICs in Africa and Asia, it is made using local materials and is readily available for as low as \$3.

The strength of the current narrative review is the involvement of specialists in the field of Surgery, Epidemiology and Basic Sciences who went over a large data set to have a multidisciplinary view of the innovations. However, the current study was not a systematic review of all relevant papers, which is a limitation. There should be future studies reporting the cost-effectiveness of various low-cost innovations.

Conclusion

Technology in the medical field has advanced over the last century. Cost-effective alternatives are mandatory for safe surgical practices in the developing world and are critical for a better change or advancement in the developed world as well.

Disclaimer: None

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Weiser TG, Haynes AB, Molina G, Lipsitz SR, Esquivel MM, Uribe-Leitz T, et al. Estimate of the global volume of surgery in 2012: an assessment supporting improved health outcomes. Lancet 2015;385(Suppl 2):s11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60806-6.
- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 2012;380:2095-128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0.
- Shrime MG, Bickler SW, Alkire BC, Mock C. Global burden of surgical disease: an estimation from the provider perspective. Lancet Glob Health 2015;3(Suppl 2):s8-9. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70384-5.
- Hasan O, Ayaz A, Jessar M, Docherty C, Hashmi P. The need for simulation in surgical education in developing countries. The wind of change. Review article. J Pak Med Assoc 2019;69(Suppl 1):s62-8.
- Meara JG, Leather AJ, Hagander L, Alkire BC, Alonso N, Ameh EA, et al. Global Surgery 2030: evidence and solutions for achieving health, welfare, and economic development. Lancet 2015;386:569-624. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60160-X.
- World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines for Safe Surgery 2009: Safe Surgery Saves Lives. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press; 2009.
- Chao TE, Mandigo M, Opoku-Anane J, Maine R. Systematic review of laparoscopic surgery in low- and middle-income countries: benefits, challenges, and strategies. Surg Endosc 2016;30:1-10. doi: 10.1007/s00464-015-4201-2.
- O'Hara NN. Is safe surgery possible when resources are scarce? BMJ Qual Saf 2015;24:432-4. doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004377.
- Chao TE, Sharma K, Mandigo M, Hagander L, Resch SC, Weiser TG, et al. Cost-effectiveness of surgery and its policy implications for global health: a systematic review and analysis. Lancet Glob Health 2014;2:e334-45. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70213-X.
- Kreis BE, de Mol van Otterloo AJ, Kreis RW. Open abdomen management: a review of its history and a proposed management algorithm. Med Sci Monit 2013;19:524-33. doi: 10.12659/MSM.883966.
- 11. Boele van Hensbroek P, Wind J, Dijkgraaf MG, Busch OR, Goslings JC. Temporary closure of the open abdomen: a systematic review on delayed primary fascial closure in patients with an open abdomen. World J Surg 2009;33:199-207. doi: 10.1007/s00268-008-9867-3.
- 12. Mowery NT, Miller PR, Chang MC, Meredith JW. Abdominal Compartment Syndrome and Management of the Open Abdomen. In: Cameron JL, Cameron AM, eds. Current Surgical Therapy, 11th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier, 2014; pp 1088-93.
- Clarke MG, Oppong C, Simmermacher R, Park K, Kurzer M, Vanotoo L, et al. The use of sterilised polyester mosquito net mesh for inguinal hernia repair in Ghana. Hernia 2009;13:155-9. doi: 10.1007/s10029-008-0460-3.
- Freudenberg S, Sano D, Ouangré E, Weiss C, Wilhelm TJ. Commercial mesh versus Nylon mosquito net for hernia repair. A randomized double-blind study in Burkina Faso. World J Surg 2006;30:1784-90. doi: 10.1007/s00268-006-0108-3.

- S-58
- 15. Wilhelm TJ, Freudenberg S, Jonas E, Grobholz R, Post S, Kyamanywa P. Sterilized mosquito net versus commercial mesh for hernia repair. an experimental study in goats in Mbarara/Uganda. Eur Surg Res 2007;39:312-7. doi: 10.1159/000104402.
- Tongaonkar RR, Reddy BV, Mehta VK, Singh NS, Shivade S. Preliminary multicentric trial of cheap indigenous mosquito-net cloth for tension-free hernia repair. Indian J Surg 2003;65:89-95.
- Merry AF, Cooper JB, Soyannwo O, Wilson IH, Eichhorn JH. International Standards for a Safe Practice of Anesthesia 2010. Can J Anaesth 2010;57:1027-34. doi: 10.1007/s12630-010-9381-6.
- Funk LM, Weiser TG, Berry WR, Lipsitz SR, Merry AF, Enright AC, et al. Global operating theatre distribution and pulse oximetry supply: an estimation from reported data. Lancet 2010;376:1055-61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60392-3.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Surgical Safety Checklist (first edition). [Online] [Cited 2020 April 10]. Available from URL: http://www.who.int/patientsafety/safesurgery/tools_resources/S SSL_Checklist_finalJun08.pdf?ua=1.
- 20. World Health Organization (WHO). Global Pulse Oximetry Project. [Online] 2008 [Cited 2020 April 10]. Available from URL: http://www.who.int/patientsafety/events/08/1st_pulse_oximetry _meeting_background_doc.pdf.
- Ravindra VM, Kraus KL, Riva-Cambrin JK, Kestle JR. The Need for Cost-Effective Neurosurgical Innovation--A Global Surgery Initiative. World Neurosurg 2015;84:1458-61. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2015.06.046.
- 22. Warf BC. Comparison of 1-year outcomes for the Chhabra and Codman-Hakim Micro Precision shunt systems in Uganda: a prospective study in 195 children. J Neurosurg 2005;102(Suppl 4):358-62. doi: 10.3171/ped.2005.102.4.0358.
- 23. Mbabazi-Kabachelor E, Shah M, Vaughan KA, Mugamba J, Ssenyonga P, Onen J, et al. Infection risk for Bactiseal Universal Shunts versus Chhabra shunts in Ugandan infants: a randomized controlled trial. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2019;23:397-406. doi: 10.3171/2018.10.PEDS18354.
- Prime M, Attaelmanan I, Imbuldeniya A, Harris M, Darzi A, Bhatti Y. From Malawi to Middlesex: the case of the Arbutus drill cover system as an example of the cost-saving potential of frugal innovations for the UK NHS. BMJ Innov 2018;4:e000233. Doi: 10.1136/bmjinnov-2017-000233
- 25. Baig AM. Emerging Insights for Better Delivery of Chemicals and Stem Cells to the Brain. ACS Chem Neurosci 2017;8:1119-21. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.7b00106.
- 26. Baig AM, Khan NA. Novel chemotherapeutic strategies in the management of primary amoebic meningoencephalitis due to Naegleria fowleri. CNS Neurosci Ther 2014;20:289-90. doi: 10.1111/cns.12225.
- Hunsberger JG, Rao M, Kurtzberg J, Bulte JWM, Atala A, LaFerla FM, et al. Accelerating stem cell trials for Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol 2016;15:219-30. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00332-4.
- 28. Sharp M. The Jaipur limb and foot. Med War 1994;10:207-11. doi: 10.1080/07488009408409166.
- 29. Arya AP. Evolution of the Jaipur Foot. Liverpool, England: University of Liverpool; 1991. [MCh Orth Examination].
- Jensen JS, Raab W. Clinical field testing of vulcanized Jaipur rubber feet for trans-tibial amputees in low-income countries. Prosthet Orthot Int 2007;31:105-15. doi: 10.1080/03093640701321411.

NARRATIVE REVIEW

Understanding deep learning — challenges and prospects

Niha Adnan, Fahad Umer

Abstract

The developments in Artificial Intelligence have been on the rise since its advent. The advancements in this field have been the innovative research area across a wide range of industries, making its incorporation in dentistry inevitable. Artificial Intelligence techniques are making serious progress in the diagnostic and treatment planning aspects of dental clinical practice. This will ultimately help in the elimination of subjectivity and human error that are often part of radiographic interpretations, and will improve the overall efficiency of the process. The various types of Artificial Intelligence algorithms that exist today make the understanding of their application guite complex. The current narrative review was planned to make comprehension of Artificial Intelligence algorithms relatively straightforward. The focus was planned to be kept on the current developments and prospects of Artificial Intelligence in dentistry, especially Deep Learning and Convolutional Neural Networks in diagnostic imaging. The narrative review may facilitate the interpretation of seemingly perplexing research published widely in dental journals.

Keywords: Artificial Intelligence, Deep learning, Machine learning, Dentistry, Imaging, Neural networks, Convolutional neural network, Intraoral radiography, Object detection, Semantic segmentation, Instance segmentation, Big data.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-12

Introduction

Artificial Intelligence (AI) deals with the science of simulating human behaviour in machines.¹ The exponential development in technology over the past few decades has led to the evolution of AI, making it an innovative research area across a wide array of industries.² The two subsets of AI are Machine Learning (ML) and Deep Learning (DL) (Figure-1).³ ML is a subdomain of AI, and DL is a further subdivision of ML. These techniques can be used to develop AI architectures and subsequently trained on an abundant set of existing data.⁴ The consequence is an architecture capable of making

Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan. **Correspondence:** Fahad Umer. Email: fahad.umer@aku.edu



Figure-1: Subsets of Artificial Intelligence (AI).

accurate predictions on new, unseen data.⁴ Both techniques are widely used today, revolutionising the Al industry.

Al originated as a single-layered neural network called 'Perceptron', laying the groundwork for the progression of DL techniques.⁵ However, it could not experience the growth that was anticipated due to challenging technological barriers that existed at the time of its incipience.⁶ These included a lack of computing power and the unavailability of extensive annotated datasets for training these architectures.⁶

The work in this field continued to some extent under different aliases until 2006 when AI experienced a paradigm shift, giving precedence to 'big data' in developing AI architectures.⁷ This was after the ImageNet database worked for the advancement of computer vision techniques.^{7,8} ImageNet is a collection of over a million annotated images accumulated from the internet and has been leveraged into training various algorithms since its commencement.^{7,8} This instigated a rampant growth that both ML and DL experienced for the first time since their inception.³

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

The very premise of AI is to learn from the data that it collects; the more data that is collected and analysed, the more accurate the algorithm becomes at making predictions.⁹ Big data has been the driver for AI advancements, but no amount of data will ever replace human intuition.

A detailed discussion on ML can be found in literature.³ The current narrative review planned to keep its focus on DL techniques.

Deep Learning techniques

DL comprises multi-layered artificial neural networks (ANNs), modelled after the rudimentary picture of a human brain. The basic structure of an ANN consists of an input layer, one or more hidden layer(s) and an output layer, with each layer composed of nodes, also known as





Definitions

Table: Terminologies and definitions.

Terminologies

Computer Vision	A field in computer science enabling the simulation of the human visual cortex in machines. ⁹
Feature	Variables that are relevant to the training of an algorithm. ⁹
Dataset	It is a set of data, for example images, that contain important features for training an algorithm. ⁹
Annotation	Labelling the relevant features in a machine-learnable format. ⁹
Epoch	Each complete cycle of running the dataset through an algorithm. ⁹
Iteration	The number of batches required to complete one 'epoch'.9
Feature Extraction	A pre-processing step that reduces data into more manageable variables for the algorithm to learn. ⁹
Ground Truth	The ideal expected output determined by the subject specialist/ annotator.9

artificial neurons (Figure-2).⁵ The 'deeper' the DL algorithm, the more hidden layers it contains, allowing for more 'features' to be extracted from a given dataset. Every layer is highly interconnected with the others; and the passing of data from one layer to the next is a process converting the output of one layer into input for the next.⁵ The algorithm learns the 'maps' between the given inputs and outputs and with sufficient training, it is able to apply those learned patterns on unseen input data to derive accurate output predictions.¹

DL algorithms can process large amounts of data and its performance improves as it analyses more data.⁹ The 'feature extraction' (Table) step is already incorporated into DL algorithms, eliminating the need for manually determining relevant features for it to extract and learn, which is a prerequisite for ML techniques.⁹ After an appropriate level of training, the DL algorithm can extract hidden features autonomously with little to no explicit programming.⁹

Training a DL algorithm

The process of developing an AI algorithm involves three basic steps: training, validating and testing (Figure-3). Training and validation employ the same annotated dataset, whereas testing is conducted on a different, unseen, annotated dataset.⁹ By running the training data through an algorithm, it is trained to produce a particular prediction with each epoch. Usually, the data is fed through it in iterations. These iterations are run through the algorithm in distinct patterns, allowing it to learn every possible aspect of the 'features' embodied in the training dataset.9 This leads to better 'generalisation' of the important features contained within the dataset, enabling its applicability on a wide range of unseen data in the future.9 With each epoch, the parameters and hyperparameters of the algorithm are adjusted to ensure greater accuracy of the predictions. A parameter is a variable that is internal to the algorithm and the value is determined by the algorithm itself.9 Whereas a hyperparameter is a value external to the algorithm set

manually by the data scientist operating it, and can be tuned manually to further increase accuracy.⁹ After the efficacy of the algorithm has been validated on the same dataset, testing data is run through it.⁹ The results make the adequacy of training evident via the accuracy of predictions made by the algorithm.⁹ This process can be repeated and the performance can be improved



Figure-3: The three basic steps of developing an Artificial Intelligence (AI) algorithm.

further by running more annotated training data until the desired accuracy level is achieved.

Convolutional Neural Network (CNN)

The most established algorithm among DL architectures is the Convolutional Neural Network (CNN).² It has been in use predominantly for computer vision tasks. CNNs explicitly process data with complex patterns, such as images, with the goal to mimic functions of the human visual cortex.^{2,10} 'Image processing' is the specific feature extraction task performed by these neural networks. This is executed by the special convolutional layer that is incorporated into an otherwise traditional DL algorithm (Figure-4).^{2,10} The role of CNNs is to reduce the image according to pixels, making the image easier to process



Figure-4: Layers of a Deep Learning (DL) algorithm.

without losing important features.² Hence, these neural networks can make accurate predictions whilst simultaneously allowing for a reduction in the computational power required to effectuate these tasks.⁹ These are being trained widely to be applied on radiographic images in the fields of medicine and dentistry.¹

Evaluating performance of DL algorithms

Different metrics are utilised in DL to discern the performance of algorithms assessed against the ground truth determined by subject specialists/ annotators in the 'testing' dataset.¹ The application of various metrics is imperative to ensure the

optimal quality of the algorithm.¹

These performance metrics are run on the testing dataset, giving true positives and negatives, as well as false positives (FP) and false negatives (FN) of the predictions generated by the architecture.¹ The values are consequently used to determine the precision, accuracy, recall/sensitivity, and F1-score of the trained algorithms measuring their true capabilities.¹¹ Other metrics include the receiver operating curve (ROC), area under the curve (AUC) and dice index to evaluate the performance of architectures.^{1,11} The pertinent selection of relevant metrics for evaluation of the various Al architectures is a crucial task. It is dependent upon the specific task being carried out by the algorithm as well the aspect of its training that requires evaluation. For example, F1 score is

used to determine the robustness of an algorithm.¹ This aspect of algorithm training requires the proficiency of data scientists¹¹ and a thorough discussion on this aspect of algorithm training is far beyond the scope of the current paper.

CNNs in dentistry

The evolution of AI in medicine and dentistry have been evident in the studies published in the past few years.¹ AI has mostly been involved in the diagnostic aspects of these fields, approaching the level of expertise of the clinicians.¹⁰

In dentistry, CNNs can detect and segment anatomical structures and

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

pathological conditions on radiographic images.¹ This makes it relatively easy for clinicians to distinguish the positions and characteristics of teeth and any associated pathology as part of their preliminary clinical examination.² In general, CNNs have performed well in recognising and classifying teeth on both two-dimensional (2D) and 3D radiographs.¹ They are being studied as adjuncts in the identification of dental pathology, including caries, periapical lesions, periodontal bone loss, vertical root fractures, osteoporosis, cancers of the head and neck region, as well as for working length determination in endodontics, etc.^{6,12-18}

Theoretically, adequately-trained CNN architectures can perform as well as clinicians, with the potential to surpass the level of their performance and diagnostic abilities. The aim is to simplify the provision of dental care, make it cost-effective, and concurrently eliminate human error in diagnoses and treatment plans devised by clinicians.²

Tasks performed by CNNs

The various computer vision tasks performed by CNNs include Object Classification and Localisation which entailes assigning labels to a single object in an image and localising their positions via a bounding box (Figure-5A); Object Detection which includes assigning labels to every object in an image belonging to a particular group via bounding boxes (Figure-5B); Semantic Segmentation in which individual pixels are labelled into groups via fluid margins (Figure-5C); and Instance Segmentation which employs Object Detection as well as Semantic



Figure-5: Various computer vision tasks performed by Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) include (a) Object Classification and Localisation, (b) Object Detection, (c) Semantic Segmentation, and (d) Instance Segmentation.

Segmentation, labelling each pixel in every group via fluid margins (Figure-5D).⁹

Challenges and Prospects

The applications of AI in dentistry is lagging behind by a few years compared to that of medicine.¹² This is largely due to the cost of acquisition and annotation of big data required for sufficient training of AI algorithms, which is needed to ensure robustness of the architecture.¹²

The ability of the algorithm to make predictions is where the 'generalisability' of an algorithm is important to consider.¹ The key to improving the generalisability of an algorithm is determined by the extensiveness of the dataset used to train the model.³ 'Overfitting' of data is one of the main challenges in the applicability of Al, as an overfitted algorithm is not generalisable on unseen data.¹⁹ A method to reduce overfitting is via data augmentation, which includes flipping, translation, cropping, rotating and applying filters on the existing images in a dataset.⁸ This ensures the training of the algorithm on every possible presentation of the training data.⁸

An abundance of labelled data is desirable but rarely available in medical and dental imaging, and, hence, another method called 'transfer learning' can be applied.²⁰ Transfer learning is a technique where a neural network that is pre-trained to predict a 'general feature', like a car, in an image is then utilised on a different dataset with seemingly incompatible features, like a tooth, for the architecture to recognise after minimal preliminary

training on the relevant features.²⁰ The exact mechanism of this 'smart behaviour' remains unknown, giving rise to the 'black-box effect' where the exact workings that allow DL architectures to map input to output remain unclear.¹⁹ Employing this technique, however, significantly reduces training time and computational resources while producing quality architectures.²⁰

The lack of open-access, standardised and annotated datasets to train Al algorithms is the main impediment in the exponential growth of Al in dentistry.¹² The annotation of medical images adds to the cost of time as well as the cost of subject specialists needed for accurate annotation of datasets. The provision of standard quality datasets for training algorithms will allow for their consistent clinical implementation. The limitations of computing power has largely been overcome, but can be improved further by incorporating quantum computation which is exponentially faster and makes it a valuable platform that should be explored to cause further advancement in Al.¹²

There is a need for better understanding of the processes involved in the AI as well as overcoming its vulnerabilities to allow for its applicability in crucial, patient-related diagnostic problems.¹² The ultimate goal is to train a machine to think like humans and perform tasks with more accuracy and greater speed, lowering resource utilisation in the long run.

Conclusion

Al has several potential applications in the fields of medicine and dentistry and there is a need for clinicians to be cognizant of all the past and current advancements. Being aware of the key concepts, workings, strengths as well as limitations of Al in clinical practice is crucial for clinicians to work towards further improving diagnoses and patient care.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Pethani F. Promises and perils of artificial intelligence in dentistry. Aust Dent J 2021;66:124-35. doi: 10.1111/adj.12812.
- Pauwels R. A brief introduction to concepts and applications of artificial intelligence in dental imaging. Oral Radiol 2021;37:153-60. doi: 10.1007/s11282-020-00468-5.
- Silva G, Oliveira L, Pithon M. Automatic segmenting teeth in X-ray images: Trends, a novel data set, benchmarking and future perspectives. Expert Syst Appl 2018;107:15-31.
- Schwendicke F, Samek W, Krois J. Artificial Intelligence in Dentistry: Chances and Challenges. J Dent Res 2020;99:769-74. doi: 10.1177/0022034520915714.
- Ramchoun H, Idrissi MAJ, Ghanou Y, Ettaouil M. Multilayer Perceptron: Architecture Optimization and Training. Int J Interact Multimed Artif Intell 2016;4:26-30. DOI: 10.9781/ijimai.2016.415
- Shan T, Tay FR, Gu L. Application of Artificial Intelligence in Dentistry. J Dent Res 2021;100:232-44. doi: 10.1177/0022034520969115.
- Deng J, Dong W, Socher R, Li L, Li K, Fei-Fei L. ImageNet: A largescale hierarchical image database. In: 2009 IEEE Conference on

Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. Miami, USA: IEEE, 2009; pp 248-55. doi: 10.1109/CVPR.2009.5206848.

- Shin HC, Roth HR, Gao M, Lu L, Xu Z, Nogues I, et al. Deep Convolutional Neural Networks for Computer-Aided Detection: CNN Architectures, Dataset Characteristics and Transfer Learning. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 2016;35:1285-98. doi: 10.1109/TMI.2016.2528162.
- 9. Yamashita R, Nishio M, Do RKG, Togashi K. Convolutional neural networks: an overview and application in radiology. Insights Imaging 2018;9:611-29. doi: 10.1007/s13244-018-0639-9.
- 10. Hwang JJ, Jung YH, Cho BH, Heo MS. An overview of deep learning in the field of dentistry. Imaging Sci Dent 2019;49:1-7. doi: 10.5624/isd.2019.49.1.1.
- 11. Lee JH, Han SS, Kim YH, Lee C, Kim I. Application of a fully deep convolutional neural network to the automation of tooth segmentation on panoramic radiographs. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2020;129:635-42. doi: 10.1016/j.oooo.2019.11.007.
- 12. Schwendicke F, Golla T, Dreher M, Krois J. Convolutional neural networks for dental image diagnostics: A scoping review. J Dent 2019;91:e103226. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2019.103226.
- 13. Kim J, Lee HS, Song IS, Jung KH. DeNTNet: Deep Neural Transfer Network for the detection of periodontal bone loss using panoramic dental radiographs. Sci Rep 2019;9:17615. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-53758-2.
- Mahmood H, Shaban M, Indave BI, Santos-Silva AR, Rajpoot N, Khurram SA. Use of artificial intelligence in diagnosis of head and neck precancerous and cancerous lesions: A systematic review. Oral Oncol 2020;110:e104885. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2020.104885.
- 15. Lee JS, Adhikari S, Liu L, Jeong HG, Kim H, Yoon SJ. Osteoporosis detection in panoramic radiographs using a deep convolutional neural network-based computer-assisted diagnosis system: a preliminary study. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2019;48:e20170344. doi: 10.1259/dmfr.20170344.
- Aminoshariae A, Kulild J, Nagendrababu V. Artificial Intelligence in Endodontics: Current Applications and Future Directions. J Endod 2021;47:1352-7. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2021.06.003.
- 17. Johari M, Esmaeili F, Andalib A, Garjani S, Saberkari H. Detection of vertical root fractures in intact and endodontically treated premolar teeth by designing a probabilistic neural network: an ex vivo study. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2017;46:e20160107. doi: 10.1259/dmfr.20160107.
- Umer F, Habib S. Critical Analysis of Artificial Intelligence in Endodontics: A Scoping Review. J Endod 2021:S0099-2399(21)00802-5. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2021.11.007. [ahead of print]
- Umer F, Khan M. A call to action: concerns related to artificial intelligence. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2021;132:e255. doi: 10.1016/j.oooo.2021.04.056.
- Tan C, Sun F, Kong T, Zhang W, Yang C, Liu C. A Survey on Deep Transfer Learning. In: K?rková V, Manolopoulos Y, Hammer B, Iliadis L, Maglogiannis I, eds. Artificial Neural Networks and Machine Learning - ICANN 2018. Cham, Switzerland: Springer, 2018; pp 270-9. Doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-01424-7_27.

NARRATIVE REVIEW

Surgeons and ethical challenges in operating room

Syed Muhammad Nazim, Syed Shahabuddin

Abstract

Ethics lie in the heart of professionalism. In surgery, it represents an essential element, with surgeons facing ethical challenges in their routine practice. The rapid expansion of surgical technology and innovation along with the use of resources and consideration of conflict of interest have brought up the need for the development of current surgical code of ethics. Operating room represents a stressful environment where patients' lives depend upon careful preparation, planning and execution. The progression of surgery within the operating room must be done in harmony and in line with the ethical principles of autonomy, beneficence, non-maleficence and justice. Discussion of ethical problems arising in the operating room is not a common subject in surgical literature. The current narrative review was planned to cover ethical concerns related to patients' safety and privacy in the operating room and some of the evolving topics, like ethics of overlapping surgery, live surgical broadcast and 'do not resuscitate' policy in the operating room.

Keywords: Surgical ethics, Operating room, Overlapping surgery, Live surgery broadcast, Safety, Privacy.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-13

Introduction

Surgeon-patient relationship forms the core of surgical ethics. Operating room (OR) represents a stressful environment where patients' lives depend upon careful preparation, planning and execution.¹ The progression of surgery within OR must be done in harmony with others involved in the care of patients. Since medical ethics, in general, and OR ethics, in particular, are not taught to the trainees and surgeons, this deficiency is reflected in their clinical practice throughout their professional career. The current narrative review was planned to highlight the ethical problems arising in the OR, and their solutions in the light of literature and guidelines. The review was done by the Urology and Cardiothoracic Surgery section at the Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH), Karachi, and comprised literature published between January 2007 and June 2021 that was searched on electronic databases

Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Syed Muhammad Nazim. Email: muhammad.nazim@aku.edu

PubMed, Science Direct, Google Scholar and Embase. Only English-language full-text articles were selected for the review.

Patient's privacy in OR

Patients undergoing surgery are quite apprehensive about their dignity and fear of compromised privacy. Privacy is considered to be a complex concept having multiple elements that are difficult to break down.² It is generally defined as having a control of oneself with full autonomy. An anaesthetised patient is extremely vulnerable. It is, therefore, particularly important for the OR personnel, including surgeons, nurses, anaesthetists etc., to safeguard a patient's autonomy and display patient's rights on OR premises to ensure that the patient's dignity and privacy is being maintained, protected and promoted.³ This also requires attention to the environment and professional attitude, as everyone should feel responsible to challenge the abusive and disrespectful attitude towards the patient, and activities and actions of a colleague that may compromise a patient's privacy.⁴

Further insight into the patients' rights to autonomy will lead to questioning the presence of observers or spectators whether they are part of medical team for education and training or industrial representatives providing technical assistance. This can potentially lead to a breach of patient's confidential information, but this may be resolved by way of informed consent beforehand.⁵ Video recording of a surgical procedure, although another source of teaching, training and review, has the potential to compromise a patient's privacy.6 Similarly, the exploded usage of closed social media group (CSMG) in real time by sharing posts in the form of comments and videos to improve surgical education and achieve desirable outcome is another potential source of compromising confidentiality. However, beneficial usage of CSMG done with constructive intent to share deidentified data is supported by certain medical societies with emphasis on following regulations to comply with the Health Insurance Probability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and seeking informed consent wherever deemed necessary by the surgeon.²

Patient's safety in OR

Safety of the patients is another major aspect of surgical

practice. Operating room is a place where healthcare providers from different disciplines may face confrontation, and it is important to display professionalism and show respect towards colleagues to facilitate achieving best quality care with the highest level of safety.³ The surgical team has tremendous pressure to carry out the procedure as planned and the anaesthesiologist remains busy providing acute care which in itself is a crucial task. Their performance depends on effective team-work and an uninterrupted environment, as interruptions have the potential of being risk factors for errors.7 Patient-OR interaction is a unique phase of healthcare where the patient is defenceless and exposed to potential harms by improper equipment, instruments, medicines, lights, temperature and staff along with poor decision-making. Similarly, desirable surgical outcomes require a safe and conducive environment free of disruption, interruption and distraction (DID) to enhance concentration towards the completion of a procedure with safety. It is evident that adverse events due to unavoidable human errors result from flaws in the system and inadequacies in organisational frameworks.8

In a systemic review, McMullan et al.⁷ examined the relationship of DIDs with operative duration, team performance, individual performance and patient safety outcomes in terms of surgical-site infections (SSIs), and found that DIDs were associated with negative outcomes. Similarly, Cohen et al.⁸ indicated that the infiltration of personal electronic devices disengage the attention from the primary task, compromising the safety and increasing the margin of error.

It is imperative to have processes in place like intraoperative checklist by the World Health Organisation (WHO) and surgical timeout to ensure closed loop communication and to promote safety with reduction of adverse surgical outcomes.^{9,10} Strong professional commitment, team-work and effective implementation of these checklists will help achieve improved safety.

Concurrent and overlapping surgeries:

The terms overlapping surgery (OS) and concurrent surgery (CS) are used to describe the involvement of a single surgeon for two or more surgical procedures simultaneously. Also used interchangeably, these terminologies refer to different practices. In contrast to a sequential start case, where overlap of exposure in one case occurs with the closure of another case, in OS, the primary surgeon responsible for operating two or more patients is present for all critical and key portions, while in CS, he is not available for those portions of surgical procedures.¹¹ In multidisciplinary procedures, OS is common with one specialty surgeon present only for a specified portion requiring a particular surgical expertise, such as a urologist providing flank/retroperitoneal exposure to a spine surgeon operating on the lumbar spine later.

Across the globe, healthcare has become a complicated industry driven by corporate culture with multiple stakeholders, such as healthcare institutions, doctors, insurance companies and others. In this culture, efficiency is measured by numbers; the number of patients served and operated, with less focus on good clinical outcomes and quality. The practice of OS and CS was established to improve this efficiency.¹²

Literature evidence for overlapping surgery: In the past few years, there has been a surge in literature regarding CS and OS, with the areas of focus being the difference in various outcomes like safety of the procedure, healthcare cost, impact on residents' training and perioperative data.¹³

Data regarding comparison of serial cases versus OS has shown that OS is a safe practice and does not lead to significant differences in patient outcomes.^{13,14} Theriault et al.¹³ analysed 18 published studies incorporating more than 1.2 million surgical cases out of which ~5% were OS cases. Parameters such as procedure time, reoperation rates, length of hospital stay and re-admission rates were not significantly different between serial and OS cases. Kent at al.¹⁴ surveyed the perceptions of 1454 patients regarding OS and found that only 4% patients were aware of the practice, and 69% expressed opposition to it.

The hype regarding overlapping/simultaneous surgery was created after the publication of an article in October 2015 in the Boston Globe¹⁵ describing a case where a patient became quadriplegic at the Massachusetts General Hospital (MGH) following a spine surgery performed by a surgeon who was involved in another complex surgical procedure at the same time. The case was investigated and the jury found that the surgeon had failed to inform the patient about his plans to operate on more than one patient at a time. This case generated a strong emotional debate, and patient right advocates questioned hospitals' practices and raised concerns about CS.

Issues and ethical concerns with overlapping surgery: There are ethical concerns both in favour of and against OS practices. OS/CS permits efficiency by maximising the OR space utilisation, decreasing waiting times and lowering the hospital vacancy with increased patients' access to specialised surgical care. It also provides autonomy to residents and fellows by facilitating them to perform noncritical surgical operations.^{13,16} It can be less efficient for the anaesthesia team and could expose patients to prolonged time of anaesthesia.¹¹ Running simultaneous ORs have potential risks, such as exposure of patients to potential complications and poor outcomes due to unsupervised surgery indicating failure on the surgeons' part to adequately train the residents.¹⁷ The motivation behind OS and CS might be due to a desire to maximise revenue and potential billing fraud by a surgeon.

OS can have substantial professional, ethical and legal concerns. The ethical aspects include what is the critical portion of a particular case and who defines it, who is a qualified practitioner, and what are the special situations where a surgeon should obtain informed consent for OS.^{12,17}

As modern surgery is team-work, the American College of Surgeons (ACS) and other organisations have laid down evidence-based and consensus review processes and have formulated guidelines. These guidelines have emphasised that OS is appropriate and is unlikely to have negative effect on patients' safety, but CS/simultaneous surgeries

should not be conducted.¹² The fundamental difference between OS and CS is the key/critical portion of the surgery which the ACS has defined as "stage(s) or part of the procedure associated with complexity or risk, where essential technical expertise and surgical judgments are necessary to achieve the optimal patient outcome".¹²

The ACS has mentioned that although the primary attending surgeon is responsible for the case, the professional may delegate part of an operation to qualified practitioners, such as follows, residents, surgeon assistants, anaesthesiologists, nurses or another attending under his/her direction.

Corrective actions: Healthcare organisations should review and update their policies about OS and CS with due assurance of compliance with these policies. System-specific guidelines for OS and CS should be formed by multidisciplinary committees with the involvement of administrators, patient safety experts and OR personnel, and these policies should be made with specific areas of focus, like defining the 'critical/key portion' of every indexed

surgical procedure, and who should be allowed to perform non-critical components without supervision.¹⁷ This also includes documenting the surgeon's OR entry and exit times. In the United States, the Centre for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) billing policy states that a teaching surgeon can bill for OS only if the professional was present during the 'critical portion' of procedure and was 'immediately available' during the entire procedure or arranged for another qualified surgeon.¹⁸

Theriault et al.¹³ devised the term Mandatory Attending Portion (MAP), defined as the minimum portion of a surgery that the attending surgeon needs to be physically present for. This is the most technically challenging and demanding portion of a surgical procedure. The governing principal is that it should not go simultaneously with MAP of another procedure. Another area that needs pre-defined MAP in OS is multidisciplinary surgery with the involvement of two or more surgeons from different specialties in one case, such as inferior vena cava (IVC) tumour thrombectomy by a vascular surgeon in a complex radical nephrectomy case performed by a



Figure: Conceptual layout of surgical case-flow in the operating room: A) Timeline of an operative case. B) Simultaneous/Concurrent Surgery. C) Overlapping surgery.

S-67

urologist where each specialty's MAP should be predefined¹³ (Figure).

Ethical principles governing overlapping surgery and concurrent surgery: These involve elements like autonomy and informed consent, beneficence, non-maleficence and Justice.

Autonomy and informed consent: The trusting relationship between the surgeon and patient and/or his family gives them the assumption that the primary surgeon will perform the entire operation. Patients should be given the understanding of OS possibility, so they would not only have fewer concerns with OS, but also have the option of deciding to seek care from another surgeon or at a later time.^{12,17}

Beneficence: This principle requires the surgeons to assure that their actions are consistent with patients' values, needs and agreed-upon treatment. The primary surgeon should be capable of maintaining focus on each patient's surgery in case of OS.

Non-maleficence: It stipulates that the surgeon's actions/or failure to act do not harm the patient. The surgeons should be available for critical/MAP portions and should have a sound knowledge of their team members' skills and maturity to do an unsupervised surgery.

Justice: This principal requires that the surgeons treat all patients irrespective of their religions, cast, gender, cultural background and ability to pay.

Live surgery broadcast (LSB)

Surgeons who are also part of the academia have the responsibility to transfer their skills, knowledge and experience to others. With the technological advancement, live surgery is no longer limited to the people in the same OR.¹⁹ Since the first live surgical broadcast (LSB) in 1996 demonstrating laparoscopic cholecystectomy during a surgical conference, it has now become a growing trend in international surgical meetings.¹⁹ In LSBs, an experienced surgeon demonstrates his/her techniques to the audience comprising students, colleagues and peers. This activity helps to improve intervention, and generate discussion with the aim of knowledge dissemination and ultimately improving the patient's outcome. With the fast-paced advancement of telecommunication system and audiovisual (AV) technologies along with the implementation of intrinsic video-optic elements of endoscopic, laparoscopic and robotic systems, high-quality images are relayed in real time to remote sites.¹⁹⁻²¹ Thus LSBs,

Merits of live surgery: LSB helps to improve the collective knowledge of many observers during a conference and, hence, constitutes a form of research in a way that a new technique/skill is being disseminated and could contribute to generalisable knowledge.²⁰ Its benefits include training of less experienced surgeons; real-time interaction of audience with the panel of experts to learn various surgical options and improvement in decision-making; and observation of expert skills during challenging and complex cases performed using modern devices and equipment.²²

The performing surgeons stand to benefit in terms of gaining knowledge and professional experience, and the ability to develop creative solutions to problems during a procedure. It can also improve surgical education, especially for niches like endovascular surgery and paediatric urology, where small case load is a training limitation.²³

Brunckhorst et al.²² in a systematic review studied LSBs and their safety and impact on training. They found that LSBs fulfilled the educational value criteria, such as feasibility, acceptability, construct and concurrent validity. Another recent systematic review by Carbonara et al.¹⁹ identified 46 studies from 6 specialties, including urology, interventional cardiology, gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy, GI surgery, ear-nose-throat (ENT) and ophthalmology. They assessed the patient outcome reporting, current use of LSBs, development of LSB, and educational value. They found that almost all the studies did not show a higher risk of complication or worse outcome.

Ethical concerns and disadvantages of live surgery: Despite it's educational benefits and popularity, many concerns have been raised regarding LSBs.^{21,24} There is an increased risk to patients during LSBs due to frequent interruptions and the risk of infection from both broadcast crew and unnecessary equipment. There is violation of medical secrecy as patients' dignity and privacy are compromised and their identification and confidential record may be revealed to the audience.^{20,24} Many a time, the patients do not even know about who is going to perform the surgery and whether the procedure will be filmed or broadcast. They can be put on standby/prolonged anaesthesia mode before smoother broadcasting starts. They are at the risk of possible cancellations and scheduling of procedure to fit within the time limits of the meeting.²⁰

Many factors can affect a surgeon's performance during a live surgery. Surgeons travelling to perform a live surgery in a conference can experience travel-related fatigue, jetlag, unfamiliar working environment or sub-optimal operating conditions that may adversely affect their technical and judgment abilities.²⁵ Working in an environment with communication/language barrier might increase the anxiety and can affect patient outcome.24 Unfamiliar equipment and devices provided by sponsoring and marketing companies for promotion during LSBs could also lead to potential hazards for patients. Undue noise and distraction could compromise a surgeon's concentration, vision and could impair professional dexterity.²⁴ Surgeons have undue psychological stress due to scrutiny by the panel and the audience, and by the obligation to answer questions during the procedure. The visiting surgeon is often not aware of subsequent patient outcome or any complications that may arise in due course.23

Regulations and recommendations for LSBs: Following the death of a patient undergoing aortic aneurysm repair during an LSB in Japan, a number of institutions and associations have revised their policies and have evaluated their practices.²⁶ The Royal College of Surgeons in the United Kingdom made specific recommendations about LSBs during its meetings, with special emphasis on patient safety.²⁷ Many societies have proposed good practice guidelines for LSBs. The European Association of Urology (EAU) LSB guidelines recommend that live surgery should be performed under a strict code of conduct, with transparency regarding all the steps of the event and its outcomes. The central theme should be "the right surgeon, the right patient, the right environment and the right intentions".²⁸

Brunckhorst et al.²² and Carbonara et al.¹⁹ in their

systematic reviews identified 13 guidelines and policy statements by major surgical societies^{28,29} and the Royal College of Surgeons²⁷ (Table).

Solutions to potential problems of LSBs: The core ethical principles of the Belmont report, i.e. respect for persons, beneficence, justice and, especially, principles of patient's autonomy and safety, must be applied.

LSB should not be regarded as clinical practice, but rather a form of clinical research and, hence, must be subjected to institutional review board (IRB) approval, including conduct under a written protocol with clear objectives and procedures designed to reach those objectives.^{27,28}

A senior surgeon should be assigned as "patient's advocate" who needs to be present in the OR, could speak for patient's right and should have no conflict of interest. The 'advocate' should be able to stop unnecessary delays and terminate the link in case of any complications or even the entire surgery if it is felt that the patient's best interest is compromised.²⁰

The performing surgeon should take active part in caseselection and decision and discussion with the patient, the family and the host team, and must familiarise with equipment, environment and personnel beforehand.¹⁷

Ethical principles governing LSBs: These include four critical elements. The first of which is respect of patient's autonomy. An open and honest communication should be done with the patient and the family. Specific informed consent for broadcast should be obtained with complete explanation of potential risks. The extent of transmission should be to a limited and registered audience only.²⁴

The second element is beneficence. The surgeons should consider patients' wellbeing rather than their own conflict of interest, such as financial gains, access to sponsorships

Table: Common elements reported in live surgery guidelines.

Domain	Remarks
General	• Live procedure demonstrations should not be used for marketing or commercial opportunities for the physician, host institution or equipment used in the procedure
	 The educational value must exceed a pre-recorded operation
Patient	 Patient safety comes first and the surgeon must be willing to terminate the live broadcast if this becomes compromised
	 The patient's privacy must be preserved at all times
	 Patient should sign a separate consent for live surgery broadcast
Surgeon and Surgical team	• Live broadcasts should be performed at a surgeon's home institution where possible
	• A moderator between the audience and surgeon should be used to prevent questions distracting the surgeon at key steps
	 Surgeon must be willing to terminate the live surgery broadcast as needed
	 Surgeons should consider performing only procedures with sufficient experience and expertise
	• Surgeons should strongly consider bringing their own team and equipment while performing live surgery in another (host) hospital
	Non-essential people must not be present in the OR at the time of surgery
	• Surgeons should not participate in the broadcast where non flexible schedules limit the duration of procedure
and advancement of their own careers and reputations.

The third element is non-maleficence. The patient might face additional delays in receiving the treatment due to a particular date of LSB and, thus, there can be delays in treatment. During the event there can be intraoperative delays and standby anaesthesia which can be potentially hazardous for the patient.

The final element comprises justice, fairness and equality which decides who will receive the indicated treatment by an expert and who will not.

Alternatives to LSBs: An alternative educational tool to LSB is a semi-LSB which is a pre-recorded video of a surgical procedure with minimal editing. It can be advantageous as videos can be paused or played back, and the audience can ask questions to the panel of surgeons while eliminating the ethical problems pertaining to the patients, such as safety and privacy, and those pertaining to the surgeons, such as anxiety and distractions, and other issues mentioned above.²¹

In a systematic review by Carbonara et al.¹⁹ the perceptions of surgeons performing the LSB or semi-LSB were evaluated. Both modalities were perceived to be equally valuable, but 38% felt that the complication rate was higher with LSB.

'Do Not Resuscitate' (DNR) code in OR

These are the orders finalised for certain patients based on strong indication to do so, like patients with terminal illnesses and diseases with poor prognosis. Ethical principles in accordance with the law not only respect patient's rights, but also authorise them to exercise their autonomy to consciously opt for DNR.30 This statement, though legally valid and taken after discussion between patients, family and physicians, creates a paradox when these patients land up with surgical problems of acute nature or for symptom palliation, like surgical intervention for intestinal obstruction, fixing a bony fracture, performing tracheostomy or gastrostomy, and similar other procedures. The issue of DNR becomes conflicting as most of the management deployed by the anaesthetist is, in fact, resuscitative in nature and, hence, it is essential to have 'suspension of DNR orders' only to be restored when the acute care is over.³¹ It has both ethical and clinical implications as patients may develop cardiac arrest as a result of anaesthetic or surgical intervention(s) and the condition is reversible with cardiopulmonary resuscitation. An individualised decision without compromising the institutional policy is mandatory to adopt a holistic approach in the management of such patients whenever they require

surgical intervention in the OR.32

Conclusion

Surgeons face potential ethical problems in OR which could be daily issues or complex situations requiring decision from limited available options. The surgeons should not only be skilled in the science and art of surgery, but should be cognisant of the ethical and moral problems and their solutions in the OR. Adherence to the ethical principles in OR creates a sense of responsibility among surgeons and a sense of trust, privacy and autonomy among the patients, which together can get translated into improved clinical outcomes.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Sade RM, Kavarana MN. Surgical ethics: today and tomorrow. Future Cardiol 2017;13:567-78. doi: 10.2217/fca-2017-0057.
- Moore IN, Snyder SL, Miller C, An AQ, Blackford JU, Zhou C, et al. Confidentiality and privacy in health care from the patient's perspective: does HIPAA help? Health Matrix Clevel 2007;17:215-72.
- Blomberg AC, Bisholt B, Lindwall L. Responsibility for patient care in perioperative practice. Nurs Open 2018;5:414-21. doi: 10.1002/nop2.153.
- Baillie L, llott L. Promoting the dignity of patients in perioperative practice. J Perioper Pract 2010;20:278-82. doi: 10.1177/175045891002000802.
- Aghamohammadi F, Imani B, Moghadari Koosha M. Operating room nurses' lived experiences of ethical codes: A phenomenological study in Iran. Int J Nurs Sci 2021;8:332-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnss.2021.05.012.
- 6. Prigoff JG, Sherwin M, Divino CM. Ethical Recommendations for Video Recording in the Operating Room. Ann Surg 2016;264:34-5. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001652.
- Mcmullan RD, Urwin R, Gates P, Sunderland N, Westbrook JI. Are operating room distractions, interruptions and disruptions associated with performance and patient safety? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Qual Health Care 2021;33:mzab068. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzab068.
- Cohen TN, Gewertz BL, Shouhed D. A Human Factors Approach to Surgical Patient Safety. Surg Clin North Am 2021;101:1-13. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2020.09.006.
- Haugen AS, Sevdalis N, Søfteland E. Impact of the World Health Organization Surgical Safety Checklist on Patient Safety. Anesthesiology 2019;131:420-5. doi:10.1097/ALN.00000 0000002674.
- Berlinger N, Dietz E. Time-out: The Professional and Organizational Ethics of Speaking Up in the OR. AMA J Ethics 2016;18:925-32. doi: 10.1001/journalofethics.2016.18.9.stas1-1609.
- 11. Levin PE, Moon D, Payne DE. Overlapping and Concurrent Surgery: A Professional and Ethical Analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2017;99:2045-50. doi: 10.2106/JBJS.17.00109.
- 12. Mello MM, Livingston EH. The Evolving Story of Overlapping Surgery. JAMA 2017;318:233-4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.8061.

- Theriault B, Pazniokas J, Mittal A, Schmidt M, Cole C, Gandhi C, et al. What Does it Mean for a Surgeon to "Run Two Rooms"? A Comprehensive Literature Review of Overlapping and Concurrent Surgery Policies. Am Surg 2019;85:420-30.
- Kent M, Whyte R, Fleishman A, Tomich D, Forrow L, Rodrigue J. Public Perceptions of Overlapping Surgery. J Am Coll Surg 2017;224:771-8.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2017.01.059.
- Abelson J, Saltzman J, Kowalczyk L. In: Allen S, eds. Clash in the Name of Care. The Boston Globe. [Online] 2015 [Cited 2021 August 26]. Available from URL: https://apps.bostonglobe.com/spotlight/clashin-the-name-of-care/
- Davies JM, Lawton MT. Improved outcomes for patients with cerebrovascular malformations at high-volume centers: the impact of surgeon and hospital volume in the United States, 2000-2009. J Neurosurg 2017;127:69-80. doi: 10.3171/2016.7.JNS15925.
- Waldman R, Grant-Kels JM. The art of being in 2 rooms at 1 time: Ethical issues with overlapping surgery. J Am Acad Dermatol 2018;79:172-4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2017.10.024.
- Legal Information Institute (LII). 42 CFR § 415.172 Physician fee schedule payment for services of teaching physicians. [Online] [Cited 2021 August 20]. Available from URL: https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/42/415.172.
- Carbonara U, Crocerossa F, Novara G, Ditonno P, Pansadoro V, Breda A, et al. Risks and Benefits of Live Surgical Broadcast: A Systematic Review. Eur Urol Focus 2021:S2405-4569(21)00165-6. doi: 10.1016/j.euf.2021.06.003.[ahead of print.]
- Rocco B, Grasso AAC, De Lorenzis E, Davis JW, Abbou C, Breda A, et al. Live surgery: highly educational or harmful? World J Urol 2018;36:171-5. doi: 10.1007/s00345-017-2118-1.
- 21. Min SK. Ethics of Live Surgery Demonstration or Broadcast: Is It Beneficial to the Patients? Vasc Specialist Int 2020;36:4-6. doi: 10.5758/vsi.2020.36.1.4.
- 22. Brunckhorst O, Challacombe B, Abboudi H, Khan MS, Dasgupta P, Ahmed K. Systematic review of live surgical demonstrations and

their effectiveness on training. Br J Surg 2014;101:1637-43. doi: 10.1002/bjs.9635.

- Andolfi C, Gundeti MS. Live-case demonstrations in pediatric urology: Ethics, patient safety, and clinical outcomes from an 8year institutional experience. Investig Clin Urol 2020;61(Suppl 1):s51-6. doi: 10.4111/icu.2020.61.S1.S51.
- Kallmes DF, Cloft HJ, Molyneux A, Burger I, Brinjikji W, Murphy KP. Live case demonstrations: patient safety, ethics, consent, and conflicts. Lancet 2011;377:1539-41. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60357-7.
- Sugden C, Athanasiou T, Darzi A. What are the effects of sleep deprivation and fatigue in surgical practice? Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;24:166-75. doi: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2012.06.005.
- Kyodo News. Patient in 'live' surgery showing died soon after. News release. The Japan Times. [Online] 2007 [Cited 2021 August 13]. Available from URL: http://www.japantimes.co.jp/text/ nn20070607a5.html
- 27. Liverneaux P. Should we ban Live Surgery? J Visc Surg 2019;156:279-80. doi: 10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2019.06.005.
- Artibani W, Ficarra V, Challacombe BJ, Abbou CC, Bedke J, Boscolo-Berto R, et al. EAU policy on live surgery events. Eur Urol 2014;66:87-97. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2014.01.028.
- 29. Japanese Society of Cardiovascular Surgery. Guidelines for live presentations of cardiovascular surgery, (Revised). [Online] 2021 [Cited 2021 August 14]. Available from URL: https://plaza. umin.ac.jp/_jscvs/guidelines-for-live-presentations/
- Shapiro ME, Singer EA. Perioperative Advance Directives: Do Not Resuscitate in the Operating Room. Surg Clin North Am 2019;99:859-65. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2019.06.006.
- Jackson S. Perioperative do-not-resuscitate orders. AMA J Ethics 2015;17:229-35. doi: 10.1001/journalofethics.2015.17.3.nlit1-1503.
- 32. Mendenhall J, Natsch-Jensen J, Ly D. Do Not Resuscitate in the Operating Room: Suspend or Not to Suspend. Clin Nurse Spec 2020;34:246-9. doi: 10.1097/NUR.00000000000551.

NARRATIVE REVIEW

In a digitally connected world through Likes, Hashtags and Followers — Advancing surgical research through a social media: A narrative review

Sabah Uddin Saqib,¹ Qamar Riaz,² Russell Seth Martins,³ Amna Riaz,⁴ Hasnain Zafar⁵

Abstract

In this era of modern information technology, the world is now digitally connected through various platforms on social media, which has changed the way medical professionals work, communicate and learn. The use of social media in surgery is expanding, and it is now becoming an essential tool for surgical training, research and networking. Articles, journal clubs and surgical conferences are within reach of everyone regardless of geographical location worldwide. Electronic publications have now resoundingly replaced printed editions of journals. Collaborative research through social media platforms helps collect diverse data, enhancing the research's global generalisability. The current narrative review was planned to discuss the importance of social media in advancing surgical research and the use of different social media applications in the context of promoting and disseminating surgical research alongside its evolving ethical challenges.

Keywords: Surgical research, Social media, Collaborative research, Ethics, Virtual presentations.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-14

Introduction

With the rapid advancement in information technology (IT), social media (SM) has become widespread and an essential tool for networking, communication and content-sharing in all disciplines of life. The reach of SM in modern society is extensive, with an estimated 2.46 billion users across all platforms reported in 2017.¹ It is estimated that the average person spends nearly 2 hours per day using SM in any form. The use of SM in healthcare also continues to expand. It is used as an essential resource for disseminating knowledge related to different ailments and their most updated available treatment options.

The field of surgery and surgical research is no different. In surgery, SM rapidly presents new avenues and has

¹Department of Surgery, University Hospital Coventry, UK, ²Department for Educational Development and PGME, ^{4,5}Department of Surgery, ³Medical Student, Medical College, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan. **Correspondence:** Sabah Uddin Saqib. Email: sabah.saqib@uhcw.nhs.uk revolutionised every aspect of a surgeon's personal and professional life. The reported benefits include facilitating patient education, sharing information on new guidelines or published research, and increasing collaboration among the stakeholders, including patients, clinicians, trainees and educational institutions. However, some surgeons consider SM a gimmick designed to attract media attention even if alongside increasing the dissemination of research and knowledge.² Through generating online content, surgeons can increase the perception of their expertise in an online community, while patients use SM to find surgeons and to communicate about procedures and outcomes. During the ongoing coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, SM provided a means for rapid, international collaborative dissemination of data, management protocols and epidemiological findings.³

SM is an effective avenue for health professions and social sciences.⁴ In this digital era, the surgical field has grown into a vast society where new ideas are shared and assimilated rapidly through a tap on a screen across multiple SM applications. SM offers an abundance to the present and future of surgical research due to its easy accessibility, low cost and global outreach. SM has been leveraged to share manuscripts and engage in collaborative academic discussions, allowing greater visibility and reach of surgical research findings⁵. Various SM platforms focus on establishing networks and promoting communications that will enable rapid dissemination of knowledge and actual results of the latest surgical research across the globe. Enrolling volunteers, engaging students and surgical trainees, and connecting with experienced surgeon researchers are now relatively straightforward. Moreover, SM applications have helped conduct live scientific sessions and conferences that allow remote but digitally connected surgeons easy access to the latest surgical researches. A consensus paper in 2020 recommended the use of SM by surgical trainees to promote their skills and interests in surgical research.3

The mass dissemination and discussion of research on SM are also supported by many reputable journals, some of which also calculate an alternative metric, or altmetric, that takes into account SM engagement of



Figure: Ways in which social media facilitates the surgeon in conducting surgical research.

publications.^{2,6} Some journals even offer to provide postpublication SM dissemination of research via their SM platforms.⁷ In short, SM is now facilitating every possible aspect of a surgeon's research aspirations (Figure).

Commonly used SM apps in surgical research

Various SM applications have enabled surgeons to disseminate their scientific work through different collaborative platforms for surgical research, connecting surgeons through their shared interests in surgical research (Table). Each of these SM applications has a role in advancing surgical research.

Twitter: With more than 192 million daily users worldwide, and its brief content, Twitter is now serving as a beautiful microblog platform for conducting and

Table: Social media platforms used in surgical research and their mode of engagement.

Name	Logo	Engagement Method
Twitter	1	Hashtags, Retweets, Follows, Comments, Stories
Facebook	F	Likes, Comments, Follows, Joining Pages
Instagram	0	Reactions, Comments, Stories
Linked in	in	Connections
ResearchGate	R ^G	Followers, Project Creation
Sermo	sermo	Provide Insights, Engage in Discussions

Twitter to disseminate valuable information on surgical diseases and raise new surgical research questions. Academic and research institutions responsible for surgical training and research run their own Twitter accounts to give the latest updates related to surgical research. Medical journals share recent articles on Twitter, promoting research in a fast and effective way. The popularity of Twitter for disseminating surgical research has overgrown over the past few years. The development is evidenced by conference-specific hashtags facilitating international discussion, journalspecific journal clubs enabling post-publication peer review, and sharing results of novel surgical techniques via live surgical coverage. Twitter hashtags at medical conferences have revolutionised how healthcare professionals interact, advance their education, and spread their novel research ideas. Studies have shown that Twitter improved medical conferences' online participation from year to year by documenting increasing numbers of tweets, users and impressions.^{8,9} After promoting a hashtag at the conference, one study found that the organisational profile showed a 20% increase in followers over the following week.¹⁰ Various research academies and institutions that offer a wide variety of surgical research courses have official Twitter accounts that include participants nationally and

promoting surgical research. Surgeons have turned to

globally. Novel strategies to increase attention to postings of journal content have also been employed, such as using a visual abstract, which is a concise graphic summary of the main findings of an article. Data suggests that this does drive traffic to a journal's website by up to threefold.^{11,12}

Facebook: Facebook is the oldest SM platform of the modern digital era and enables a diverse range of people to interact. Closed SM groups over Facebook offer unique opportunities to surgical researchers for conducting and promoting their work. It provides them with a method for rapid communication to advertise themselves and their novel research, and plays a substantial role in their professional development and advocacy. Surgeons and scientists use Facebook to disseminate and exchange information, education, research recruitment and community consultation for clinical trials. Facebook is widely used to increase the distribution of an article's message, and to potentially increase the dissemination of the article itself. Conferences on surgical innovations and research hold live sessions on Facebook, enhancing their accessibility to the target audience.⁶ Closed groups on Facebook develop collaboration among the researchers by asking questions, recruiting data and enrolling other researchers with common interests.

LinkedIn: LinkedIn is a platform that is mainly used for professional networking. LinkedIn allows members to create profiles and connect in an online social network which may represent real-world professional relationships. Surgical associations have LinkedIn accounts that help them to promote surgical innovation and research. Conference proceedings and visual abstracts are notified to followers and give easy access to the latest research in surgery.⁶ Members can get connected with well-accomplished surgical researchers and scientists.

ResearchGate: It is an European commercial social networking site for scientists and researchers to share papers, ask and answer questions, and find collaborators. ResearchGate members can upload research output, including articles, data, chapters, standalone results, research proposals, methods, presentations, etc. Accountholders can follow other researchers and also invite their co-authors to this SM platform. ResearchGate also calculates a Research Interest (RI) score for users and provides citation metrics. This platform is getting very popular among surgical researchers to aid networking with experts.⁶

Sermo: With over 800,000 users, Sermo is the world's most oversized virtual lounge for doctors. It has revolutionised real-world medicine by connecting doctors online to share wisdom and insights with their peers locally and globally.⁶ On Sermo, users can share their points of view, unite and be heard. This virtual platform is now helping many surgeons design research questions, seek expert opinions, and conduct quality research.

Collaborative surgical research through social media

SM has made it easier than ever before to conduct multicentre surgical research, as it offers the opportunity to collectively accumulate surgical data from multiple centres with relative ease.⁵ SM has been used as a platform for patient recruitment for surgical trials¹ and several major global cohort studies. The GlobalSurg, the Student Audit and Registry in Surgery (STARSurgUK), the COVIDSurg and the COVIDSurg Cancer collaboratives are examples of multi-centre, collaborative, surgical initiatives.^{7,13} Moreover, SM also allows instantaneous widespread virtual access to sample populations geographically or otherwise inaccessible. In Pakistan, a survey of women surgeons disseminated via SM provided a large, representative sample otherwise unachievable due to the lack of any formal central connecting platform for surgeons in the country.14 Lastly, SM also promotes innovative research collaborations in surgery, which are

fostered due to the increased cross-disciplinary online interactions between surgeons and technology personnel, such as engineers, biomedical researchers and data scientists.⁷

Other applications of SM in surgical research include realtime conference posts and updates, multidisciplinary journal clubs, and surgical research skill-building opportunities.¹³ SM also serves as a platform for reputable surgical organisations, like the Association for Academic Surgery, to connect and communicate with surgeons globally regarding announcements, career opportunities, research and other awards, and scientific advancements.⁷ Moreover, SM platforms also provide surgeons unique access to professional and research mentorship,¹⁵ crucial for women surgeons who otherwise lack the exposure and opportunities to interact and collaborate with samegender role models.¹⁶

Ethical challenges in conducting surgical research through SM

While SM plays a significant role in facilitating, attracting and glamourising research and researchers, professionalism and integrity may be compromised, often unintentionally.¹⁷ There are several potential risks as well as regulatory and ethical concerns associated with the use of SM that surgeons, trainees, and health institutions need to be aware of, as information may be permanently shared with millions.¹⁸ The researchers must be mindful of the complex ethical dilemmas associated with SM research, like subject recruitment, consent and autonomy, confidentiality, and risk to the researcher.

Subject recruitment: SM platforms offer unique and cost-effective opportunities for recruitment and intervention in the context of surgical research, particularly for studying health topics that are highly stigmatised, while connecting with populations that are hard to reach.¹⁹ However, when compared to the standard recruitment methods, some studies have identified issues, like low recruitment accrual due to a possible mismatch between the target group and the SM platform used, or an overall presentation of the call-out/advertisement for the recruitment; and unrepresentative samples, especially when incentives are offered or when non-specific SM platforms are used.

Consent and autonomy: In the case of SM or internet research, the question of when and how specific, informed consent should be obtained becomes challenging because the large volume of SM data makes it difficult to obtain informed consent from all users, as data cannot be easily tied to an identifiable individual; when some

organisation has provided a list of potential participants, the members may not have been informed or taken consent from; though information may be posted on individuals' public profile, it does not mean that they have consented to this data to be used for research;²⁰ and consent/exemptions for public datasets cannot be substituted as blanket permission for all SM research.

Data handling: Anonymity, confidentiality, and privacy: Owing to the public nature and varied use of SM for research, the emerging ethical issues revolving around privacy are complex, and the principles of anonymity and confidentiality are much more challenging to uphold. This is particularly true when individuals can be identified/traced directly through their Internet Protocol (IP) address or the internet links related to the website included in the research or through data retrieved/collected from the SM platforms, such as Twitter.^{21,22}

In addition, ethical issues surrounding data and image storage or destruction remain. Visual data, such as photographs posted on Facebook or Instagram, may pose a substantial risk to research participants' privacy and may even be subjected to potential manipulation. Even publicly available data may be considered private and sensitive by the user and requires protection to avoid hacking, identity theft, and data ownership.

Most platforms allow users to have 'pseudonymous' identities. They can engage in practices intended to facilitate non-identifiable content, but this in itself presents a unique ethical challenge to the principle of anonymisation.²³

There is yet another perspective to participant and data confidentiality. Rarely, though, the subjects of clinical trials may breach the confidentiality for want of recognition for participating and/or contributing to the research.²⁴

Risk to the researcher: SM is also being used to create one's professional presence by maintaining work relationships. But in the absence of appropriate disclaimers, a surgeons' posts might be viewed as medical advice, leading to potentially litigious consequences. Surgeons may also begin online communication with patients, inadvertently beginning doctor-patient relationships outside the usual clinical encounter, which may have legal implications.

Moreover, unintentionally posting unprofessional content on SM where the personal and professional identities are not separated may violate professional conduct. This allows the public to make judgments about health professionals and renders them more susceptible

Possible counter measures for avoiding ethical challenges

In 2010, the American Medical Association (AMA) released official guidelines for physicians' ethical use of SM.²⁶ These guidelines emphasise the need to maintain patient confidentiality, to be aware of privacy settings, to maintain appropriate patient-physician boundaries, to provide accurate and truthful information, and to act with collegiality.

Often it becomes difficult to differentiate between public and private cyberspace and the data available online on these spaces. If anyone can access the data without website registration or membership, it can be considered the internet's public domain. In contrast, passwordprotected data or websites requiring registration should be considered a private domain.

It is evident from literature that ethical SM research means differently to different disciplines and researchers, depending on their positionality and research method. The existing ethics review committees (ERCs) may be struggling to deal with the emerging technologies, and their implications and should not be solely relied upon as the moral compass. The researchers should report on the ethical dilemmas in their practice to guide the others, including the ERCs. There is a need for an ongoing process in which the researcher, the participants, and the ERCs work together to identify potential problems to the ever-evolving SM technology and use and find contextually relevant solutions.²⁷

Conclusion

In recent years, SM has become as a precious platform in advancing surgical research. It has opened new avenues for surgical researchers to expand their research and get digitally connected with their peers and experts across the globe. Collaboration among researchers is now increasing through SM. However, some ethical challenges unique to the SM must be considered for its safe and effective use.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

1. Bisset CN, Carter B, Law J, Hewitt J, Parmar K, Moug SJ. The influence of social media on recruitment to surgical trials. BMC

S-75

Med Res Methodol 2020;20:201. doi: 10.1186/s12874-020-01072-1.

- Buckarma EH, Thiels CA, Gas BL, Cabrera D, Bingener-Casey J, Farley DR. Influence of Social Media on the Dissemination of a Traditional Surgical Research Article. J Surg Educ 2017;74:79-83. doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2016.06.019.
- Ioannidis A, Blanco-Colino R, Chand M, Pellino G, Nepogodiev D, Wexner SD, et al. How to make an impact in surgical research: a consensus summary from the #SoMe4Surgery community. Updates Surg 2020;72:1229-35. doi: 10.1007/s13304-020-00780-z.
- McKee R. Ethical issues in using social media for health and health care research. Health Policy 2013;110:298-301. doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2013.02.006.
- Laurentino Lima D, Nogueira Cordeiro Laurentino Lima R, Benevenuto D, Soares Raymundo T, Shadduck PP, Melo Bianchi J, et al. Survey of Social Media Use for Surgical Education During Covid-19. JSLS 2020;24:e2020.00072. doi: 10.4293/JSLS.2020.00072.
- Mayol J, Dziakova J. Value of social media in advancing surgical research. Br J Surg 2017;104:1753-5. doi: 10.1002/bjs.10767.
- Logghe HJ, Selby LV, Boeck MA, Stamp NL, Chuen J, Jones C. The academic tweet: Twitter as a tool to advance academic surgery. J Surg Res 2018;226:viii-xii. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2018.03.049.
- Schwenk ES, Jaremko KM, Park BH, Stiegler MA, Gamble JG, Chu LF, et al. I Tweet, Therefore I Learn: An Analysis of Twitter Use Across Anesthesiology Conferences. Anesth Analg 2020;130:333-40. doi: 10.1213/ANE.000000000004036.
- Wilkinson SE, Basto MY, Perovic G, Lawrentschuk N, Murphy DG. The social media revolution is changing the conference experience: analytics and trends from eight international meetings. BJU Int 2015;115:839-46. doi: 10.1111/bju.12910.
- Søreide K, Mackenzie G, Polom K, Lorenzon L, Mohan H, Mayol J. Tweeting the meeting: Quantitative and qualitative twitter activity during the 38th ESSO conference. Eur J Surg Oncol 2019;45:284-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2018.11.020.
- Baan CC, Dor FJ. The Transplantation Journal on Social Media: The @TransplantJrnl Journey From Impact Factor to Klout Score. Transplantation 2017;101:8-10. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000001581.
- Ibrahim AM, Lillemoe KD, Klingensmith ME, Dimick JB. Visual Abstracts to Disseminate Research on Social Media: A Prospective, Case-control Crossover Study. Ann Surg 2017;266:e46-8. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002277.
- 13. Vervoort D, Luc JG. Hashtag Global Surgery: The Role of Social Media in Advancing the Field of Global Surgery. Cureus 2020;12:e8468. doi: 10.7759/cureus.8468.
- Malik M, Inam H, Janjua MBN, Martins RS, Zahid N, Khan S, et al. Factors Affecting Women Surgeons' Careers in Low-Middle-Income Countries: An International Survey. World J Surg

2021;45:362-8. doi: 10.1007/s00268-020-05811-9.

- Luc JGY, Stamp NL, Antonoff MB. Social media in the mentorship and networking of physicians: Important role for women in surgical specialties. Am J Surg 2018;215:752-60. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2018.02.011.
- Luc JGY, Stamp NL, Antonoff MB. Social Media as a Means of Networking and Mentorship: Role for Women in Cardiothoracic Surgery. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2018;30:487-95. doi: 10.1053/j.semtcvs.2018.07.015.
- 17. Golder S, Ahmed S, Norman G, Booth A. Attitudes Toward the Ethics of Research Using Social Media: A Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2017;19:e195. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7082.
- Scruth EA, Pugh DM, Adams CL, Foss-Durant AM. Electronic and social media: the legal and ethical issues for healthcare. Clin Nurse Spec 2015;29:8-11. doi: 10.1097/NUR.00000000000089.
- 19. Arigo D, Pagoto S, Carter-Harris L, Lillie SE, Nebeker C. Using social media for health research: Methodological and ethical considerations for recruitment and intervention delivery. Digit Health 2018;4:e2055207618771757. doi: 10.1177/2055207618771757.
- Stevens G, O'Donnell VL, Williams L. Public domain or private data? Developing an ethical approach to social media research in an inter-disciplinary project. Educ Res Eval 2015;21:154-67. Doi: 10.1080/13803611.2015.1024010.
- 21. Novak A. Anonymity, Confidentiality, Privacy, and Identity: The Ties That Bind and Break in Communication Research. Rev Commun 2014;14:36-48. Doi: 10.1080/15358593.2014.942351
- 22. Mantziari S;Piazza G;Mayol J, Demartines N. Preserving Surgical Professionalism in Social Media; Long Live the Media, But Let Live the Surgeon. Ann Surg 2021;2:e058. doi: 10.1097/AS9.000000000000058
- 23. Gerrard Y. What's in a (pseudo) name? Ethical conundrums for the principles of anonymisation in social media research. Qual Res 2020;2:686-702. DOI: 10.1177/1468794120922070.
- Azoury SC, Bliss LA, Ward WH, Liepert AE, Leichtle SW. Surgeons and social media: Threat to professionalism or an essential part of contemporary surgical practice? Bull Am Coll Surg 2015;100:45-51.
- 25. Langenfeld SJ, Cook G, Sudbeck C, Luers T, Schenarts PJ. An assessment of unprofessional behavior among surgical residents on Facebook: a warning of the dangers of social media. J Surg Educ 2014;71:e28-32. doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2014.05.013.
- 26. American Medical Association (AMA). Opinion 9.124 Professionalism in the use of social media. AMA Code of Medical Ethics. [Online] 2021 [Cited 2021 December 31]. Available from URL: http://www.amaassn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/medical-ethics/codemedical-ethics/opinion9124.page?
- Samuel G, Buchanan E. Guest Editorial: Ethical Issues in Social Media Research. J Empir Res Hum Res Ethics 2020;15:3-11. doi: 10.1177/1556264619901215.

REVIEW ARTICLE

A bibliometric analysis of the studies on dental implant failure

Farhan Raza Khan,¹ Syed Murtaza Raza Kazmi,² Yusra Fahim Siddiqui³

Abstract

Objective: To identify top 30 studies related to dental implant failures based on bibliometric analysis.

Methods: The bibliometric study was conducted at Aga Khan University, Karachi from April 2021 to June 2021 and comprised database search on Google Scholar used key words "dental implant failures" for studies published between 1990 and 2020. The selected studies were reviewed based on citation count for which the cut-off date was June 1, 2021.

Results: The top 30 papers on dental implant failures had median citation count of 153 (range: 41-1583. Most of the studies were retrospective 11(36.7%), followed by literature reviews 6(20%). The top three contributing journals were the 'International Journal of Oral Maxillofacial Implants' 6(20%), the 'Clinical Oral Implants Research' 5(16.7%) and 'Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research' 3(10%). Goteborg University, Sweden, contributed the maximum number of most cited papers 8(26.7%).

Conclusions: Most of the papers in the top-cited on dental implant failures were retrospective studies, and there was only one clinical trial.

Keywords: Dental implants, Dental implant failure, Bibliometrics.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-15

Introduction

Healthcare professionals update themselves with the current scientific literature using electronic media, conferences, textbooks and peer-reviewed journals.¹ The published scientific literature is growing exponentially and it is estimated that the volume of literature in health sciences doubles every 7 years.² This places the clinicians and researchers in a challenging situation of keeping abreast with the recent knowledge and practices.^{3,4} Bibliometric analysis helps the reader to recognise the most acknowledged articles on the topics of interest.⁵ It

^{1,2}Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi, ³Clinical Research Coordinator, Tabba Heart Institute, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Farhan Raza Khan. Email: farhan.raza@aku.edu

gives a snapshot of the must-read articles on the given topic. Different parameters are evaluated in the bibliometric analysis, including the citation analysis, which is a simple measure of counting the number of times a particular paper has been cited by other publications.⁶ It is a commonly evaluated parameter in bibliometrics. Papers which are recognised to have significant bearing on a discipline get acknowledged more than the other papers with less impact.⁷ Bibliometric analysis identifies variables such as country, institutions, authors and journals contributing to the discipline of interest.^{8,9} All of this helps the researchers in designing further studies and thus contributing to the scientific enquiry.^{10,11}

With abundant literature already present in various specialties of Medicine, Dentistry, Nursing and Allied Health Sciences, an inquisitive mind might ask the question as to what makes an article a 'classic article'. The definition varies, but a citation count (CC) >400 is usually considered the cut-off.¹² In certain specialties, due to limited volume of literature, CC >100 may be considered classic.¹³ However, Giatsidis et al. suggested that rather than the CC, the citation density (CD) should be considered the valid parameter in evaluating the impact of an article.¹⁴

The current study was planned to identify top 30 studies related to dental implant failures based on bibliometric analysis which could be helpful in formulating the syllabus for short-listing the papers that can be recommended as a must-read or suggested-read in the residency programmes, seminars and journal clubs related to residency/fellowship training programmes in Prosthodontics, Oral Surgery or Implant Dentistry Implantology.

Materials and Methods

The bibliometric study was conducted at Aga Khan University, Karachi from April 2021 to June 2021 and comprised database search on Google Scholar used key words "dental implant failures" for studies published between 1990 and 2020. The citation analysis was carried out on June 1, 2021. Only English-language papers were considered, and there were no exclusions made based on study design. There were 18,900 hits on that search. The title, year of publication, authors, CC, CD, key words, the name of institution and the country of the corresponding author were recorded. After the screening process, the articles were arranged in the descending order based on CC.

 Table-1: Citation analysis of top 30 studies on dental implant failures.

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

Results

The top 30 papers on dental implant failures had median citation count of 153 (range: 41-1583. Of the total, 4(13.3%) would be labelled as classic with CC >400 (Table-1).

#	Title	Cita n	tions CD	Article Type	Country	Key Words
1	Esposito M, Hirsch JM, Lekholm U, Thomsen P. Biological factors contributing to failures of osseointegrated oral implants,(I). Success	1583	69	Systematic Review & Meta-analysis	Uppsala University, Sweden	Dental implants; osseointegration; medical device failure; meta-analysis
2	criteria and epidemiology. Eur J Oral Sci. 1998;106:527-51. Lindquist LW, Carlsson GE, Jemt T. A prospective 15-year follow-up study of mandibular fixed prostheses supported by Osseointegrated implants. Clinical results and marginal hone loss. Clin Oral Implants Res 1996;7:329-36	891	37	Prospective study	Goteborg University, Sweden	Bone resorption, dental implantation, dental prosthesis, longitudinal study, oral hygiene, ossepinterration, smoking
3	Zarb GA, Schmitt A. The longitudinal clinical effectiveness of osseointegrated dental implants: the Toronto study. Part III: Problems and complications encountered. J. Prosth Dent 1990: 64:185-94	838	28	Audit	University of Toronto, Canada	No key words
4	Fransson C, Lekholm U, Jemt T, Berglundh T. Prevalence of subjects with progressive bone loss at implants. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2005: 16:440-6.	450	29	Retro-spective charts review	Goteborg University, Sweden	Bone level, complications, dental implants, human radiographs
5	Roos J, Sennerby L, Lekholm UL, Jemt T, Gröndahl K, Albrektsson T. A qualitative and quantitative method for evaluating implant success: a 5-year retrospective analysis of the Brånemark implant. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 1997:12:504-14.	379	16	Retro-spective study	Goteborg University, Sweden	Brånemark system, criteria for evaluation, retrospective study, titanium implants
6	Bain CA. Smoking and implant failurebenefits of a smoking cessation protocol. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants.1996;11:756-9.	366	15	Prospective study	Dubai School of Dental Medicine	Implant failure, risk factor, smoking, smoking cessation benefits
7	Hardt CR, Gröndahl K, Lekholm U, Wennström JL. Outcome of implant therapy in relation to experienced loss of periodontal bone support: a retrospective 5-year study. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2002:13:488-94.	328	18	Retro-spective Study	Goteborg University, Sweden	Bone loss, osseointegration, partial edentulism, periodontitis, posterior maxilla. titanium implants
8	Chrcanovic BR, Albrektsson T, Wennerberg A. Reasons for failures of oral implants. J Oral Rehabil. 2014:41:443-76.	300	46	Review Paper	Goteborg University, Sweden	Dental implants, failure, associated conditions, systematic review
9	Porter JA, Von Fraunhofer JA. Success or failure of dental implants? A literature review with treatment considerations. Gen Dent. 2005; 53:423-32.	280	19	Review Paper	University of Maryland, USA.	No key words
10	Snauwaert K, Duyck J, van Steenberghe D, Quirynen M, Naert I. Time dependent failure rate and marginal bone loss of implant supported prostheses: a 15-year follow-up study. Clin Oral Invest. 2000;4:13-20.	223	11	Cohort Study	Catholic University of Leuven, Belgium	Oral implants · Dental implants Osseointegration failures Marginal bone loss · Brånemark system
11	Esposito M, Thomsen P, Ericson LE, Lekholm U. Histopathologic observations on early oral implant failures. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 1999;14: 798-810.	201	10	Histo-pathologic evaluation	Goteborg University, Sweden	Dental implant, early failures, morphology, titanium, ultrastructure
12	Sakka S, Baroudi K, Nassani MZ. Factors associated with early and late failure of dental implants. J Invest Clin Dent. 2012;3:258-61.	200	25	Review Paper	Al-Farabi Dental College, Saudi Arabia	Dental implants, early failure, late failure, osseointegration.
13	Listrom RD, Symington JM. Osseointegrated dental implants in conjunction with bone grafts. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 1988;17:116-8.	187	6	Case Series	Toronto General Hospital, Canada	Implant dental, titanium, osseointegration, graft bone
14	Sun HL, Wu YR, Huang C, Shi B. Failure rates of short (≤ 10 mm) dental implants and factors influencing their failure: a systematic review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2011:26: 816-25.	182	20	Systemic Review	Wuhan University, China	Bone quality, dental implants, implant length, implant position, implant surface
15	Chung DM, Oh TJ, Lee J, Misch CE, Wang HL. Factors affecting late implant bone loss: a retrospective analysis Int I Oral Maxillofac Implants 2007:22:117-26	158	11	Retro-spective Study	University of Michigan USA	Implant maintenance, implant surfaces, late implant hone loss, peri-implantitis
16	Manor Y, Oubaid S, Mardinger O, Chaushu G, Nissan J. Characteristics of early versus late implant failure: a retrospective study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;67:2649-52.	149	14	Retro-spective Study	Tel Aviv University, Israel	No key words
17	Albrektsson T. On long-term maintenance of the osseointegrated response. Aus Prosthodont J. 1993;7:15.	144	5	Review	Goteborg University, Sweden	No key words
18	Kronström M, Svenson B, Hellman M, Persson GR. Early implant failures in patients treated with Brånemark System titanium dental implants: a retrospective study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2001;16.	135	7	Retro-spective study	Central Hospital, Sweden	Early implant failure, endosseous dental implantation, osseointegration, titanium

Contd. on next page >>>

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

Con	td. from previous page >>>					
19	Tabanella G, Nowzari H, Slots J. Clinical and microbiological determinants of ailing dental implants. Clin Implant Dent Rel Res.	130	11	Cross sectional study	University of Southern California, USA	Oral implants, peri-implant bone loss, peri-implantitis, peri-implant tissue,
	2009;11:24-36.					predictors of ailing dental implants
20	Schwartz-Arad D, Laviv A, Levin L. Failure causes, timing, and cluster	128	10	Audit	Schwartz-Arad Surgical	Dental implants; implant failure;
	behavior: an 8-year study of dental implants. Implant Dent.				Center, Israel	success; survival; cluster pattern;
	2008;17:200-7.					prosthetic phase; surgical phase
21	Sakka S, Coulthard P. Implant failure: etiology and complications. Med	124	13	Review	University of	Implant failure, peri-implantitis,
	Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2011;16(1):e42-4.			Paper	Albath, Syria	marginal bone loss, implant mobility
22	Chen S, Darby I. Dental implants: Maintenance, care and treatment of	124	7	Review	University of	Osseointegration, peri-implant
	peri-implant infection. Aus Dent J. 2003;48(4):212-20.			Paper	Melbourne Australia	mucositis, periimplantitis.
23	Tonetti MS. Determination of the success and failure of root-form	102	5	Prospective	University of Bern	Dental implants, infection, biomechanical
	osseointegrated dental implants. Adv Dent Res. 1999;13:173-80.			study	Switzerland	overload, risk, survival, susceptibility, review.
24	Esposito M, Thomsen P, Mölne J, Gretzer C, Ericson LE, Lekholm U.	94	4	Immuno-histochemistry	Goteborg University,	Dental implants, titanium implant
	Immunohistochemistry of soft tissues surrounding late failures of			study	Sweden	failure, macrophages, immune cells,
	Brånemark implants. Clin Oral Implants Res. 1997;8:352-66.					
25	Tolstunov L. Dental implant success-failure analysis: a concept of	75	5	Review	University of Pacific School	Osseointegration; implant vulnerability; bone
	implant vulnerability. Implant Dent. 2006;15:341-6.			Paper	of Dentistry, USA	connection; natural teeth; ankylosed teeth
26	Gabbert O, Koob A, Schmitter M, Rammelsberg P. Implants placed in	74	6	Clinical	University Hospital	Dental implants; graft; internal sinus
	combination with an internal sinus lift without graft material: an			Trial	Heidelberg, Germany	lift; osteotome; sinus floor elevation
	analysis of short-term failure. J Clin Periodontol. 2009;36:177-83.					
27	Wu X, Al-Abedalla K, Rastikerdar E, Abi Nader S, Daniel NG, Nicolau B, Tamimi F.	72	12	Cohort	McGill University,	Medical devices, risk factors, dental
	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and the risk of osseointegrated implant			Study	Canada	implants, bone remodeling,
	failure: a cohort study. J Dent Res. 2014; 93:1054-61.					osseointergration, epidemiology
28	Vervaeke S, Collaert B, Cosyn J, Deschepper E, De Bruyn H. A	70	12	Retro-spective	Faculty of Medicine &	Dental implant, implant survival,
	multifactorial analysis to identify predictors of implant failure and			cohort study	Health Sciences, Ghent	multifactorial, peri-implant bone
	peri-implant bone loss. Clin Implant Dent Rel Res. 2015;17:e298-307.				University, Belgium	loss, predictor
29	Zhou Y, Gao J, Luo L, Wang Y. Does bruxism contribute to dental implant failure?	64	14	Systematic review	Wuhan University,	Bruxism, complication, dental
	A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Implant Dent Rel Res. 2016;18:410-20.			and meta-analysis	China	implant, implant failure
30	Schimmel M, Srinivasan M, McKenna G, Müller F. Effect of advanced	41	19	Systematic review	University of Bern,	Aging, Alzheimer's disease, bisphosphonates,
	age and/or systemic medical conditions on dental implant survival: A			and meta-analysis	Switzerland	cancer, cardiovascular disease, chronic
	systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Oral Implants Res.					obstructive pulmonary disease, cirrhosis
	2018;29:311-30.					of the liver, dementia, dental implants,
						stroke, systematic review.

n: Citation count, CD: Citation density.

Table-2: List of top authors, journals, institutions and countries contributing to the most cited papers on dental implants failure.

Top authors		Article serial # (as shown in table 1)	Count*	
1	Lekholm U	1,4,5,7,11,24	6	
2	Albrektsson T	5,8,17	3	
3	Esposito M	1,11,24	3	
4	Jemt T	2,4,5	3	
5	Thomsen P	1,11,24	3	
Top journals				
1	International Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Implants	5,6,11,14,15,18	6	
2	Clinical Oral Implants Research	2,4,7,24,30	5	
3	Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research	19, 28,29	3	
Top institutions				
1	Goteborg University, Sweden	2,4,5,7,8,11,17,24,	8	
2	University of Bern, Switzerland	14,29	2	
3	Wuhan University, China	23,30	2	
Top countries	·			
1	Sweden	1,2,4,5,7,8,11,17,18,24	10	
2	United States of America	9,15,19,25	4	
3	Canada	3,13,27	3	

*Only top 3-5 articles are reported, and, therefore, the numbers do not necessarily sum up to 30.

Table-3: Study designs of the selected papers.

No.	Study design	Article serial # (as shown in table 1)	Count
1	Systematic review / Meta analysis	1 14 20 20	4
1	Systematic review / meta-analysis	1, 14, 29, 30	4
2	Clinical trial	26	1
3	Prospective study/ Cohort	2, 6, 10, 27	4
4	Retrospective study/ Case-control	3, 4, 5, 7, 15, 16, 18, 20, 23, 25, 28	11
5	Cross sectional study	19	1
6	Literature review	8, 9, 12, 17, 21, 22	6
7	Case report/ Case series	13	1
8	Histopathology/ Immunohistochemical investigation	11, 24	2

The top three contributing journals were the 'International Journal of Oral Maxillofacial Implants' 6(20%), the 'Clinical Oral Implants Research' 5(16.7%) and 'Clinical Implant Dentistry and Related Research' 3(10%), while the Goteborg University, Sweden, contributed the maximum number of the most cited papers 8(26.7%) (Table-2).

Most of the studies were retrospective 11(36.7%), followed by literature reviews 6(20%) (Table-3).

Discussion

Dental implants have been popularised by Dr Branemark, a Swedish orthopaedic surgeon and scientist.¹⁵ He revolutionised the field of Dental Implantology with the introduction of titanium-based endosseous dental implants and the discovery of the phenomenon of osseointegration. Dental implant has become a popular method of replacing teeth worldwide. To date, millions of people have benefitted from dental implants. However, despite high predictability in the outcome of implants, a small but important subset of patients do experience failure.^{16,17} Subjects with osteoporosis, low bone volume, poor quality of bone, presence of metabolic bone disease, use of bisphosphonates and history of progressive periodontal disease etc. are at a greater risk of implant failure. Both the quality and quantity of bone that supports and surrounds the implant influence the osseointegration of implant.¹⁸⁻²⁰

Implant failures are categorised as early and late failures.²¹ Early implant failures are caused by poor bone quality, medically compromised patients, like those with uncontrolled diabetes, inadequate surgical technique, chronic drug or alcohol consumption, and smoking status, whereas late causes of failures are occlusal overload/excessive stress, peri-implantitis and poor oral hygiene, and defective implant components.^{17,22,23} The most common reasons for late or delayed implant failure include implant overloading or fracture, and/or peri-implantitis.²²

Bibliometric analysis can serve as a useful tool for clinicians

and researchers to appraise published literature on a given topic.⁷ The current study was carried out to identify the papers on dental implant failures that have the maximum impact on the knowledge and understanding of this topic. Ten out of the 30 top-cited papers on dental implant failures were from Sweden. This shows that Swedish researchers are at the forefront of research on dental implant and its failures.

Most of the papers in the top-cited list were retrospective studies and audits. It is logistically easier to carry out and publish retrospective studies as mostly there are no issues of funding associated with them. Moreover, the sample size or number of observations are usually higher, resulting in comparatively easier publication. In the present report, 11 of the 30 studies had retrospective study design. The importance of systematic reviews and meta-analysis cannot be underestimated, as they synthesise data from primary studies to yield the highest level of evidence that forms the basis of the evidence-based practice (EBP).^{24,25} In the present report, there were 4 systematic reviews/meta-analyses. Two of them were conducted at Wuhan University, China.

Literature reviews and narrative reviews do not provide a high level of evidence, and they have inherent biases. Despite increasing emphasis on evidence-based dentistry (EBD), it is worrying to observe that in the present list, 6 articles were literature reviews. The lack of randomised controlled trial (RCTs) in the list is a matter of concern. Ideally, owing to the level of evidence generated, the clinical trials should be cited more than the retrospective studies.

The limitation of the current study is that it has listed the paper based on CC which actually reflects the popularity of a paper rather than its true clinical significance and the impact on practice. Moreover, starting the literature search from 1990 was an arbitrary starting point, mainly to cater to electronically published papers as prior to 1990, several journals had print-only editions. Some important papers published before the cut-off point could have made it to the top cited list but were left unattended. Lastly, non-English literature was ignored, making citations from non-English literature, especially from Chinese, South Korean or Brazilian publications, excluded.

Conclusions

The CC of the top 30 papers on dental implant failure ranged from 41 to 1583. Most of the papers in the top

cited list were retrospective studies, followed by literature review and systematic reviews. There was only one clinical trial in the list.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Scheckler WE. A realistic journal reading plan. The cornerstone of continuing medical education. JAMA 1982;248:1987-8.
- 2. Tague J, Beheshti J, Rees-Potter L. The law of exponential growth: evidence, implications and forecasts. Libr Trends 1981;30:125-49.
- Venable GT, Shepherd BA, Roberts ML, Taylor DR, Khan NR, Klimo P Jr. An application of Bradford's law: identification of the core journals of pediatric neurosurgery and a regional comparison of citation density. Childs Nerv Syst 2014;30:1717-27. doi: 10.1007/s00381-014-2481-9.
- Venable GT, Shepherd BA, Loftis CM, McClatchy SG, Roberts ML, Fillinger ME, et al. Bradford's law: identification of the core journals for neurosurgery and its subspecialties. J Neurosurg 2016;124:569-79. doi: 10.3171/2015.3.JNS15149.
- 5 Wu Y, Jin X, Xue Y. Evaluation of research topic evolution in psychiatry using co-word analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017;96:e7349. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000007349.
- 6 Zhang Q, Yue Y, Shi B, Yuan Z. A Bibliometric Analysis of Cleft Lip and Palate-Related Publication Trends From 2000 to 2017. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2019;56:658-69. doi: 10.1177/1055665618807822.
- 7 Liu B, Liu S, Alastra AJ, Mahato D, Tayag EC, Cortez VA, et al. The 100 Most Cited vs. Most Relevant Articles in the Journal of Neurosurgery: A Bibliometric Analysis. Cureus 2019;11:e4498. doi: 10.7759/cureus.4498.
- 8 Liu W, Zhang Y, Wu L, Yang X, Shi L. Characteristics and trends of oral leukoplakia research: A bibliometric study of the 100 most cited articles. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019;98:e16293. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000016293.
- 9 Hui J, Han Z, Geng G, Yan W, Shao P. The 100 top-cited articles in orthodontics from 1975 to 2011. Angle Orthod 2013;83:491-9. doi: 10.2319/040512-284.1.
- 10 Ahmad P, Vincent Abbott P, Khursheed Alam M, Ahmed Asif J. A bibliometric analysis of the top 50 most cited articles published in the Dental Traumatology. Dent Traumatol 2020;36:89-99. doi: 10.1111/edt.12534.
- 11 Ordinola-Zapata R, Peters OA, Nagendrababu V, Azevedo B, Dummer PMH, Neelakantan P. What is of interest in Endodontology? A bibliometric review of research published in the International Endodontic Journal and the Journal of

- 12 Fardi A, Kodonas K, Gogos C, Economides N. Top-cited articles in endodontic journals. J Endod 2011;37:1183-90. doi: 10.1016/j.joen.2011.05.037.
- 13 Jafarzadeh H, Sarraf Shirazi A, Andersson L. The most-cited articles in dental, oral, and maxillofacial traumatology during 64 years. Dent Traumatol 2015;31:350-60. doi: 10.1111/edt.12195.
- 14 Giatsidis C, Nikolentzos G, Zhang C, Tang J, Vazirgiannis M. Rooted citation graphs density metrics for research papers influence evaluation. J Informetr 2019;13:757-68. Doi: 10.1016/j.joi.2019.03.006.
- 15 Tjellström A. The father of Osseointegration and the godfather of the BAHA: Professor Per-Ingvar Brånemark, Göteborg Sweden has passed away in his 86th year. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2015;272:779-80. doi: 10.1007/s00405-015-3581-1.
- 16. Schwartz-Arad D, Laviv A, Levin L. Failure causes, timing, and cluster behavior: an 8-year study of dental implants. Implant Dent 2008;17:200-7. doi: 10.1097/ID.0b013e3181777906.
- Sakka S, Coulthard P. Implant failure: etiology and complications. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2011;16:e42-4. doi: 10.4317/medoral.16.e42.
- Listrom RD, Symington JM. Osseointegrated dental implants in conjunction with bone grafts. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1988;17:116-8. doi: 10.1016/s0901-5027(88)80163-2.
- Lindquist LW, Carlsson GE, Jemt T. A prospective 15-year followup study of mandibular fixed prostheses supported by osseointegrated implants. Clinical results and marginal bone loss. Clin Oral Implants Res 1996;7:329-36. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0501.1996.070405.x.
- Esposito M, Hirsch JM, Lekholm U, Thomsen P. Biological factors contributing to failures of osseointegrated oral implants. (I). Success criteria and epidemiology. Eur J Oral Sci 1998;106:527-51. doi: 10.1046/j.0909-8836..t01-2-.x.
- 21. Sakka S, Baroudi K, Nassani MZ. Factors associated with early and late failure of dental implants. J Investig Clin Dent 2012;3:258-61. doi: 10.1111/j.2041-1626.2012.00162.x.
- Manor Y, Oubaid S, Mardinger O, Chaushu G, Nissan J. Characteristics of early versus late implant failure: a retrospective study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67:2649-52. doi: 10.1016/j.joms.2009.07.050.
- 23. Kronström M, Svenson B, Hellman M, Persson GR. Early implant failures in patients treated with Brånemark System titanium dental implants: a retrospective study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2001;16:201-7.
- 24. Mulrow CD, Cook DJ, Davidoff F. Systematic reviews: critical links in the great chain of evidence. Ann Intern Med 1997;126:389-91. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-126-5-199703010-00008.
- Swingler GH, Volmink J, Ioannidis JP. Number of published systematic reviews and global burden of disease: database analysis. BMJ 2003;327:1083-4. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7423.1083.

REVIEW ARTICLE

Current perspectives of oncoplastic breast surgery in Pakistan

Lubna Mushtaque Vohra,¹ Dua Jabeen,² Danish Ali,³ Syeda Sakina Abidi,⁴ Sana Zeeshan,⁵ Abida Khalil Sattar⁶

Abstract

Oncoplastic breast surgery is based on the concept of tumour-specific immediate reconstruction. It combines both local and distant techniques to maintain breast texture, symmetry and cosmesis without compromising oncological outcome. The current narrative review was planned to highlight the current state and future of oncoplastic breast surgery in low- and middle-income countries where its utilisation in surgical practice remains insubstantial because majority of the surgeons who are treating breast cancer are either general surgeons or breast surgeons who do not have expertise in oncoplastic breast surgery or reconstructive surgery. Moreover, scarcity of financial resources, ignorance about oncoplastic breast surgery techniques, disfigurement distress and cultural taboos coerce women to hide in the shadows with their breast disease. Oncoplastic breast surgery needs more exposure in a developing country like Pakistan. There is a need to establish dedicated oncoplastic breast surgery training centres, fellowship programmes, workshops, and webinars to incorporate such techniques in the practice of breast surgeons.

Keywords: Oncoplastic surgery, Reconstruction, Low and middle-income countries, Breast cancer, Breast conserving surgery.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-16

Introduction

The first registered description of an attempt to reduce a female breast was by the Will Duston in 1670.¹ Two centuries later, in 1882, T. Gaillard Thomas from New York was the first one to integrate an incision at the mammary sulcus and reduce a breast with the intention to excise a benign tumour.² Oncoplastic surgery (OPS) of the breast began its journey around the mid-1970s as reductive techniques started to be performed expeditiously for breast cancer patients. It was also at this time when the first data from the Milan trial comparing breast-conserving surgery (BCS) together with radiotherapy (RT) and traditional Halsted mastectomy showed no

^{1,3-6}Aga Khan University, Karachi, ²Jinnah Postgraduate Medical Centre, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Lubna Mushtaque Vohra. Email: lubna.vohra@aku.edu

difference in terms of local recurrence and overall survival.^{3,4} In 1993, the term 'oncoplastic' was first mentioned at the Santa Fe Symposium of Breast Surgery and Body Contouring. Few years later, its founding principles were explained in a published article.⁵ Since then, OPS has seen rapid and consistent development as a competitive medical practice for breast surgeons, making great progress and getting acceptance among patients and medical society.

Originally developed to aid in the management of complex tumour sites within the breast, the word 'oncoplastic' explains itself by performing tumouradapted oncological safe procedures along with cosmetically outstanding breast reconstructions. OPS covers the technique and art of tumour-specific immediate breast reconstruction applicable to BCSs as well as in conservative mastectomy. In this sense, OPS has the potential to deal with very complex breast cancer patients by providing the surgeon a wide spectrum of medical tools, surgical techniques and back-up plans. Handful of original and review articles have been present in literature, focussing on the rapidly gaining popularity of OPS techniques in developing countries.⁶ The current narrative review was planned to highlight the prevailing state and future of breast OPS in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

Methods and Results

The narrative review was conducted at the Department of Breast Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH), Karachi, and comprised extensive literature search on PubMed and Google Scholar databases from the inception of the databases till June 2021 to explore all published original and review articles on OPS practices worldwide, especially in LMICs. Various combinations of the following terms were utilised during literature search: "Oncoplastic breast surgery", "Oncoplastic breast conserving surgery in Low-Middle income countries", "Oncoplastic techniques", and "Cosmetic outcomes of oncoplastic breast surgery".

Research articles published in languages other than English, duplicate publications and studies with incomplete data were excluded. Of the 300 articles identified, after consensus between two independent reviewers, 21(7%) were selected for detailed review.

Discussion

The current review in the first from Pakistan addressing OPS breast conservation in a country that has a much higher incidence of breast cancer with many presenting with bigger tumour sizes.

OPS and new surgical possibilities: OPS was conceived to provide surgical techniques to treat very complex breast lesions. Large tumours with unfavourable anatomic localisations have always been a challenge in the treatment of breast cancer patients and there has been concerns regarding the oncological safety of surgical procedures without sacrificing cosmetic outcome. It is known that up to 30% of the women undergoing BCS will have a residual deformity amenable for cosmetic correction.⁷

Other complex clinical scenarios, such as breast cancer in patients with prosthetic breast augmentation, breast cancer recurrence with previously irradiated tissues secondary to breast conserving surgery, and patients with substantial deformities, are part of daily practice and are perfectly addressed by surgeons who have the knowledge and skills to perform OPS (Table-1).⁸ There should be awareness that OPS is not a one-size-fits-all system and efforts should focus on individual oncological treatment protocols. Considerations regarding the relative size and tumour location, the anatomy of the breast and body, as well as patients' preference have all to be balanced to fulfil patient needs.

Local and distant control of the disease, improvement in overall survival, and quality of life, are primary endpoints in the care of breast cancer patients. The oncological intervention from the surgical point of view should always be in line with international standards regarding tumour management, resection margins, lymph node staging, pathology interpretation and processing of the tumour specimen. Special attention should be taken to cut down re-excision rates as much as possible, as this issue has great psychological impact on patients besides the additional costs.^{9,10}

Table-1: Complex breast cancer patients managed by oncoplastic surgeons.

Breast cancer recurrence
Breast cancer in augmented patients
Previously radiated breast and skin tissue
History of lymphoma, mantle radiation to the thorax and secondary breast cancer
Breast cancer during pregnancy
BRCA Mutation
Aggressive tumour biology (i.e., triple negative, high grade tumors, etc)
Patients with heart pacemakers
High degree of distortion and asymmetry from previous surgery and radiotherapy
BRCA: Breast cancer gene A.



Figure: Principles to obtain a naturally shaped reconstructed breast.

Once the oncological procedure has been accomplished, the reconstructive phase begins, and it is at this point that the OPS becomes the best intervention to provide patients a functional and good quality of life. In the process of breast reconstruction, a complete understanding of the breast shape in a three-dimensional (3D) conception is needed.

There are multiple reconstructive options available to restore symmetry in BCS. They can be divided into three broad categories: volume displacement techniques using available gland parenchyma, fat, and skin to remodel and redistribute tissue; volume replacement techniques to fill up spaces with both local or distant flaps; and volume reduction techniques in cases when ptosis and volume improve as well. Either with the use of local or distant flaps, and autologous or prosthetic tissue, the success of the reconstruction is based on surgical principles of a meticulous tissue handling. Basic aspects of adequate blood supply to tissues, integration of scars from previous surgery, precise flap positioning and rotation, and tension-free closure, should be on the checklist to ensure a successful result. The final touch in "sculpturing and tailoring" tissues can be a true artistic challenge. Getting all the pieces together for the precise volume and projection, the accurate lateral flow and infra-mammary fold, will result in a naturally shaped and anatomic reconstructed breast⁵ (Figure).

The essence of a competitive OPS clinical practice relies on surgical precision planning which means having a detailed and meticulous surgical workup for each patient.

OPS worldwide: OPS is being practised worldwide and the facility is available at most recognised breast cancer centres around the world. It is known that the quality of treatment and medical attention can be substantially improved through specialisation, certification and external monitoring of breast cancer centres.¹¹

Breast units are also associated with increased economic efficiency secondary to tight organisational structures, simplified patient routing, common purchasing and, to some extent, to the avoidance of multiple examinations.¹² The logistics and requirements to perform OPS can be pragmatically integrated processes practised at breast centres and hospitals. It is important to say that specialised breast cancer units are expected to oversee a large volume of cases. It has been calculated that an increase from 50 to 100 new breast cancer cases per year results in almost 50% reduction of average costs in the management of these patients.¹³ This can be of particular interest to health systems with a limited budget struggling to find a way to optimise healthcare for breast cancer patients.

Certified OPS breast centres should be able to provide a clear and efficient network of care. Strong interdisciplinary work is a key for success in the treatment of these patients, and feedback is needed from all the involved medical fields, including surgery, medical oncology, radiotherapy, psychology and specialised nursing.

Prevailing state of OPS in LMICs: OPS has successfully made its way into LMICs over the past two decades and has become an effective surgical intervention of choice for women presenting with an early stage of breast cancer, complex anatomic locations, or non-responding disease to neo-adjuvant treatment. Data-driven evidence has also validated the expeditiously increasing popularity of OPS in LMICs.^{6,14,15}

In Pakistan, a developing country, OPS is still in its nascent state associated with less popularity possibly because of factors related to patients and surgeons.¹⁶ Patient-related factors may include underlying issues of low socioeconomic status, psycho-social taboos, false assumptions that mastectomy is associated with better survival, reliance on alternative therapies and lack of awareness of oncoplastic techniques. The surgeonrelated factors may include paucity of training and education programmes in breast OPS that affect the decision-making process of surgeons, while many also believe that training in OPS might hinder their performance as an oncological surgeon.¹⁷ Majority of the surgeons who are treating patients happen to be either general surgeons or breast surgeons with no expertise in OPS or reconstructive surgery. Many patients do not opt for OPS when they are advised to follow two surgeons separately for oncological and aesthetic part of the surgical procedure, and lack of OPS multidisciplinary team meetings also results in compromised cosmetic outcome as incisions or dissections performed by oncological surgeons are often either hamper the cosmetic outcome or require more complex procedure to maintain cosmesis. In private setups, patients usually choose the cost-effective procedure, which is a simple BCT or mastectomy, and none of the government hospitals in Pakistan has any trained Oncoplastic Surgeon. One of the biggest cancer institutions in Lahore has adequately trained OPS surgeons, but they do not offer level III OPS techniques or reconstruction to reduce operative cost. Compromised access to education and healthcare facilities, weak financial status because the majority of females are not earning members of their families, and religious reasons also contribute to surgical planning and decision. Breast cancer patients do not have much awareness about breast conservation, as females are hesitant to discuss available surgical portfolio for their disease with male surgeons where OPS/female surgeons are not available. Therefore, they drop the idea of any form of partial or total breast reconstruction.

Data published by a trained oncoplastic surgeon from Pakistan showed that patient acceptability and outcome improved when procedures were offered to suitable candidates, with promising cosmetic outcome and lesser complications which not only resulted in sharp decline in mastectomy rates among the young and the middle-aged, but also in the rate of re-excision with improved quality of life.^{16,18}

The situation is much better in neighbouring India where there is a dedicated OPS centre and trained eminent OPS surgeons ensuring that the field is evolving fast despite the shortcomings. A structured training course has also been initiated, incorporating all the breast oncoplastic surgeons from India and the United Kingdom to provide detailed training of OPS principles and techniques. Surgical simulations, live mark-up sessions, workshops and doing operative interventions under the supervision of well-trained oncoplastic surgeons from across the globe helps in providing hands-on training to aspiring breast surgeons.¹⁵

The status and trends of breast OPS in other LMICs cannot be discerned as there is a paucity of published data.⁶ The need of the time is to have One Oncoplastic Breast Surgeon-Dual Role Model. Essentially this is a more acceptable model as dual cost can be saved, the patient does not need to pay to two surgeons, one surgeon can handle both oncological and aesthetic aspects of the case, and provide better care and cosmetic outcome.¹⁹

The future of OPS: The future of OPS depends on further

Table-2: International Oncoplastic breast surgery (OPS) fellowship programmes.

Country / City	Hospital Breast Center	Program Director
Dusseldorf Germany	Marien Hospital Breast Center	Prof Werner Audretsch
Milan, Italy	Istituto Europeo di Oncologia	Prof. Mario Rietiens
London, Great Britain	Royal Marsden Hospital	Miss. Fiona McNeill
Barretos, Brazil	Oncoplastic Training Center	Dr. Gustavo Matthes
Paris, France	The Paris Breast	Dr. Krishna Clough
	Centre-L'Institut du Sein	-
Pune, India	Orchids Breast Health Clinic	Dr. C. Koppiker

medical innovations in breast cancer treatment and the dissemination of its founding basis and principles to the new generations of breast surgeons. This can only be accomplished through the development of competitive and formal training fellowship programmes for the specialisation of human resource in the OPS field.

Several fellowship programmes have been established worldwide and are committed with high standards of academic and practical training. Some international OPS fellowship programmes are more recognised than the rest (Table-2).

Although OPS training has had great impact on the specialisation of young breast surgeons, some challenges need to be faced and overcome. Important areas to be developed in OPS include a license approval on a global level, and the creation of an international committee to regulate adapted practice standards across different countries.

Most surgeons start practising oncoplastic techniques after attending few courses, which does compromise the aesthetic outcome with complications. Taking a single workshop on OPS training does not make one an expert in the technique. It is a journey, not a single course, which slowly and steadily needs to be integrated in one's practice. After all, mastery needs practice.²⁰

In terms of limitations, published papers on the indexed search engines from LMICs are rather old, and, therefore, the references included in the current review are not recent.

Conclusion

Patients should be aware that aesthetic surgery is no contraindication to local control and cosmesis. Surgical precision planning is an OPS fundamental. Tumouradapted surgery along with the integration of radiochemotherapy can reduce the number of re-excisions, result in a better local control of the disease, and facilitate outstanding cosmetic outcomes. OPS has shifted the paradigm of making BCS an alternative not only for early breast cancer, but in all cases in which radiotherapy is

worlds, and to train surgeons in this regard from developing countries. Disclaimer: None. Conflict of Interest: None. Source of Funding: None. References 1.

Durston W. Concerning a very sudden and excessive swelling of a woman's breasts. Phil Trans 1970;4:1047-9.

highest standard of care for breast cancer patients, making its future always very promising. Oncoplastic surgery can bring favourable change to surgical aspect of breast cancer management in LMICs by increasing the rate of breast conservations, reducing cost and workload, with lesser rate of re-excisions in already overburdened healthcare systems. There is a need to overcome the gap in practices between the developed and the developing

- 2. Goldwyn RM. Theodore Gaillard Thomas and the inframammary incision. Plast Reconstr Surg 1985;76:475. doi: 10.1097/00006534-198509000-00030.
- Veronesi U, Banfi A, Saccozzi R, Salvadori B, Zucali R, Uslenghi 3. C, et al. Conservative treatment of breast cancer: a trial in progress at the Cancer Institute of Milan. Cancer 1977; 39: 2822-6. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(197706)39:6<2822::aidcncr2820390670>3.0.co;2-#.
- 4. Veronesi U, Saccozzi R, Del Vecchio M, Banfi A, Clemente C, De Lena M, et al. Comparing radical mastectomy with quadrantectomy, axillary dissection, and radiotherapy in patients with small cancers of the breast. N Engl J Med 1981;305:6-11. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198107023050102.
- 5. Audretsch WP, Rezai M, Kolotas C, Zamboglou N, Schnabel T, Bojar H. Tumor-specific immediate reconstruction in breast cancer patients. Perspect Plast Surg 1998;11:71-100. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1080243.
- Freitas-Junior R, Ferreira-Filho DL, Soares LR, Paulinelli RR. 6. Oncoplastic Breast-Conserving Surgery in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Training Surgeons and Bridging the Gap. Curr Breast Cancer Rep 2019;11:136-42. Doi: 10.1007/s12609-019-00317-3.
- 7. Clough KB, Cuminet J, Fitoussi A, Nos C, Mosseri V. Cosmetic sequelae after conservative treatment for breast cancer: classification and results of surgical correction. Ann Plast Surg 1998;41:471-81. doi: 10.1097/00000637-199811000-00004.
- 8 de Lorenzi F. Oncoplastic surgery: the evolution of breast cancer treatment. Breast J 2010;16(Suppl 1):s20-1. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4741.2010.00997.x.
- 9 Benjamin MA, Sinnott C, Bawa S, Kaufman DI, Guarino K, Addona T. Re-excision Rate after Partial Mastectomy in Oncoplastic Breast-Conserving Surgery: A Single-Institutional Experience and Review of the Literature. Ann Plast Surg 2019;82(Suppl 3):s170-2. doi: 10.1097/SAP.000000000001874.
- 10. Clough KB, Benyahi D, Nos C, Charles C, Sarfati I. Oncoplastic surgery: pushing the limits of breast-conserving surgery. Breast J 2015;21:140-6. doi: 10.1111/tbj.12372.
- Skinner KA, Helsper JT, Deapen D, Ye W, Sposto R. Breast cancer: 11. do specialists make a difference? Ann Surg Oncol 2003;10:606-15. doi: 10.1245/aso.2003.06.017.
- 12. Beckmann MW, Bani MR, Loehberg CR, Hildebrandt T, Schrauder

S-84

MG, Wagner S, et al. Are certified breast centers cost-effective? Breast Care (Basel) 2009;4:245-50. doi: 10.1159/000229190.

- Pagano E, Ponti A, Gelormino E, Merletti F, Mano MP. An economic evaluation of the optimal workload in treating surgical patients in a breast unit. Eur J Cancer 2003;39:748-54. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(02)00808-0.
- Youssef MM, Namour A, Youssef OZ, Morsi A. Oncologic and cosmetic outcomes of oncoplastic breast surgery in locally advanced breast cancer after neoadjuvant chemotherapy, experience from a developing country. Indian J Surg Oncol 2018;9:300-6. doi: 10.1007/s13193-017-0689-3.
- Malycha PL, Gough IR, Margaritoni M, Deo SV, Sandelin K, Buccimazza I, et al. Oncoplastic breast surgery: a global perspective on practice, availability, and training. World J Surg 2008;32:2570-7. doi: 10.1007/s00268-008-9635-4.
- 16. Vohra L, Siddiqui T, Farooqi N. Oncoplastic breast conserving surgery in developing country: Challenges, promises and

outcome. Eur J Surg Oncol 2019;45:e93. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2018.10.328.

- Soomro R. Breast Surgery Fellowship: Need of Contemporary Times. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2019;29:1023-4. doi: 10.29271/jcpsp.2019.11.1023.
- Sakina Abidi S, Mushtaque Vohra L, Rizwan Javed M, Khan N. Oncoplastic surgery: A suitable alternative to conventional breast conserving surgery in low - Middle income countries; a retrospective cohort study. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2021;68:e102618. doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102618.
- Challoner T, Skillman J, Wallis K, Vourvachis M, Whisker L, Hardwicke J. Oncoplastic techniques: Attitudes and changing practice amongst breast and plastic surgeons in Great Britain. Breast 2017;34:58-64. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2017.04.010.
- 20. Kaufman CS. Increasing Role of Oncoplastic Surgery for Breast Cancer. Curr Oncol Rep 2019;21:111. doi: 10.1007/s11912-019-0860-9.

REVIEW ARTICLE

Disparities in access to quality surgical care for women in resource-constrained settings: Bottlenecks and the way forward

Usama Waqar,¹ Shaheer Ahmed,² Hareem Rauf,³ Ayesha Nasir Hameed,⁴ Hina Inam⁵

Abstract

Women seeking surgical care are burdened with gender disparities, particularly in resource-limited settings. Such disparities can lead to women often presenting late with advanced disease and poor prognoses. The current narrative review was planned to find evidence for gender disparities, their implications, challenges faced by women seeking surgical care, and strategies to address them. Potentiating from interplay between various societal, sociocultural, and economic barriers, the main challenges included inadequate autonomy, financial constraints, transport and referral issues, lack of experienced women surgeons, privacy concerns, surgeon distrust, and higher thresholds for seeking care. While research revealed these underlying causes, much work remains for governmental healthcare bodies, the international community, surgical leadership, policymakers, surgeons, and family members of patients to act on the highlighted issues. Unrestricted access to quality surgical care for everyone is of vital importance, and can translate into a significant decrease in preventable disabilities and deaths among women in resource-constrained settings.

Keywords: Women, Surgery, Healthcare disparities, Sexism.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-17

Introduction

Nearly 5 billion patients lack access to quality surgical care worldwide, with a majority of them residing in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).^{1,2} Owing to societal, sociocultural and economic barriers, women in LMICs are disproportionately impacted.³⁻⁵ Rectifying these gender disparities in unmet need for surgical care is imperative to improve women health and prognoses. The current narrative review was planned to find evidence for gender disparities in access to surgical care, to highlight the various challenges faced by women seeking surgical care, and to suggest strategies that can be employed to

^{1,3,4}Medical College, Aga Khan University, Karachi, ²Medical College, Islamabad Medical & Dental College, Islamabad, ⁵Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Usama Waqar. Email: usama.waqar@scholar.aku.edu

improve the situation.

Evidence for gender disparity

Nearly 30% of the global burden of disease is attributed to surgical conditions. Despite this, an estimated 5 billion people lack access to safe and affordable surgical care when needed, particularly in LMICs.^{2,6-8} While impediments in access to surgical care come from interplay of various social, economic and cultural factors, gender remains among the most pertinent barriers. Significant proportions of women are uneducated in LMICs, making them more vulnerable and dependent on their caregivers. Consequently, women often have limited autonomy in health-seeking decisions.³⁻⁵ Research has shown that most women require permission from their husbands to seek surgical care.⁹ This further contributes to gender disparities in access to quality surgical care.

A study conducted in Malawi on general surgery patients concluded that only 31.2% patients seeking surgical care were females. Moreover, women were provided more non-operative interventions when compared to men.¹⁰ These disparities were also highlighted in an Indian study on congenital cardiac surgeries among children with only 37.6% patients being females.¹¹ Similarly, only 39.9% of all patients seeking surgical care at a global charity in the Republic of Congo were females.¹² Studies from Ethiopia and Ghana on paediatric surgical admissions also demonstrated fewer admissions for female patients compared to males.¹³ In Bangladesh and Pakistan, women are less likely to seek surgical treatment for cataract than men.^{14,15} Among patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) requiring transplantation, women had 11% less access to transplantation than men despite comparable survival benefits, and this difference was more pronounced in older age groups¹⁶ (Table). In addition to access to surgery, gender disparities also exist in quality of perioperative care. A study on patients undergoing wrist arthroscopy found that women were less likely than men to utilise preoperative imaging modalities.¹⁷

Implications of gender disparities

The consequences of disparities in access to surgical care can be devastating. Nearly 80% deaths from surgical diseases occur in LMICs, and they are more common **Table:** Evidence of gender disparity in access to surgical care in resource-limited settings.

Study	Setting	Inclusion criteria	Gender distribution	Additional findings
Reid et al, 2019 ¹⁰	Malawi	All patients undergoing general surgery	Males 318 (68.8%), females 133 (31.2%)	 Only 54% of women underwent surgery within 24 hours of presentation compared to 70% of men (P = 0.01). Women had significantly delayed time to presentation (adjusted mean difference of 136 hours later than men) (P = 0.05).
Chhabra et al, 2016 ¹¹	India	Children diagnosed with congenital or rheumatic heart disease requiring cardiac surgery	Males 324 (62.4%), females 195 (37.6%)	• A slightly higher ratio of male to female patients was seen in urban areas when compared with the rural areas (1.71:1 in the urban setting and 1.64:1 in the rural setting, with a P value of 0.823).
Lin et al, 2017 ¹²	Republic	All patients presenting	Males 725 (60.1%),	• Female sex was associated with higher odds
Bohn et al, 2016 ¹³	of Congo Addis Ababa, Ethiopia	with a surgical condition All paediatric patients aged 29 days to 14 years admitted via emergency or hospital ward	females 482 (39.9%) Males 4078 (59.4%), females 2788 (40.6%)	 The proportion of male admissions was significantly higher than female admissions in all age groups (p<0.0001).
Ahmad et al, 2015 ¹⁴	Pakistan	Patients aged >50 years from fishing communities in Kemari undergoing cataract surgery	Males 58 (40.0%), females 87 (60.0%)	 Women experienced substantially worse visual outcomes than men. Compared with men, women were 4.38 times more likely to have borderline or poor visual outcome.
Tanchangya et al, 2015 ¹⁵	Bangladesh	All cataract surgery patients	Males 6513 (58.3%), females 4661(41.7%)	• The prevalence of cataract was higher in women than in men, indicating a greater need of treatment for women. Yet, more males than females received surgical treatment.
Segev et al, 2009 ¹⁶	United States of America	Patients on Medicare with end-stage renal disease requiring transplantation	-	• Women had 11% less access to transplantation than men.

OR: odds ratio.

among women.¹² For any given indication, female gender was associated with higher odds of postoperative complications than males (odds ratio [OR] 3.45).12 This could be attributed to women presenting late with more advanced disease, impacting their prognoses. Compared to men, female patients had more delayed presentation (adjusted mean difference [AMD] 5.67 days, p=0.05), delayed surgical intervention (AMD 1.91 days, p=0.02), and prolonged length of hospital stay (AMD 1.67 days, p=0.05).¹⁰ Women undergoing cataract surgery were also more likely to present late compared to men, translating into worse ophthalmologic complications.14 In line with these implications and higher proportions of women in LMICs, recognising and rectifying these gender disparities is warranted.

Challenges and the way forward

Challenges experienced by women in access to quality surgical care can be



Figure: Mind-map of challenges faced by women seeking surgical care in resource-limited settings.

classified under the following domains: inadequate autonomy, financial constraints, transport and referral issues, lack of experienced women surgeons, privacy concerns, surgeon distrust, and higher thresholds for seeking care (Figure).

Inadequate autonomy: Gender-based differences in surgical care seeking stem from pre-existing sociocultural barriers.¹⁸ In LMICs, women are often not equipped with adequate autonomy to take decisions regarding their own health. Instead, such decisions are mostly taken by the patient's husband, father, or mother-in-law.¹⁹ In such cases, health concerns of women are often downgraded, and they present to hospital with advanced diseases, complicating their prognoses. This is further strengthened by evidence from India suggesting that women autonomous in their health decisions are more likely to seek care.²⁰ While direct evidence is limited, this scenario might be more pronounced in access to surgical care.

Autonomy in healthcare decisions has been associated with higher education, employment, exposure to media and awareness, and better household economic status.²¹ Education continues to be a significant predictor of surgical care-seeking, owing to better awareness among women and increased financial stability to support their decisions.²⁰ Therefore, sustainable efforts targeted at educating and empowering women in LMICs can alleviate the gender disparities in surgical care. This can be achieved with a combination of both short-term solutions, such as implementing national distance learning programmes via radio, television and social media to educate women, and long-term solutions aimed at the establishment of schools particularly in rural and underprivileged areas.

Financial constraints: In most LMICs, financial implications of surgical care are borne through out-ofpocket expenditures.²² This can disproportionately impact women, majority of whom are responsible for managing household only with limited control over family financing.23 In addition, investing in women healthcare has traditionally been considered a liability due to longstanding gendered norms.²⁴ This situation necessitates the development of sustainable and efficient health financing initiatives by governmental regulatory bodies.²⁵ Monetary and logistical support from international community and health organisations can further improve the status quo for women requiring surgical care in LMICs. In addition, targeted efforts are required to increase job opportunities for women, making them more financially independent to take their own healthcare-related decisions.

Transport and referral issues: Another challenge faced by women seeking surgical care is navigating through the healthcare system. Because of their dependence on families or spouses, women usually require others to accompany them through the process. However, in cases of limited support from families, surgical care becomes more inaccessible for women, depriving them of timely surgical management.²⁴ Similar delays can also result from inefficient referral systems, which are widespread in LMICs. Compared to men, more women seeking surgical care reported long waiting times (22% vs 33%). In addition, distance to facilities capable of providing essential surgical care also impact women disproportionately (87% of women vs 81% of men).24

Such structural problems need to be addressed by expediting procedures at basic healthcare units and improving the infrastructure to provide better referral options.²⁶ Basic health units (BHUs) are often understaffed and require expansion of the existing healthcare force to be more efficient in providing timely referrals. To accompany women to surgical facilities, the authorities could employ non-healthcare personnel or establish volunteer services, which have proved successful in high-income countries (HICs).²⁴ In addition, women-only bus services can be introduced nationally to provide convenient, affordable, and secure transport options to women.

Lack of experienced women surgeons: As a result of religious and cultural beliefs, women often prefer female surgeons while seeking surgical care.²⁷ However, there is a paucity of skilled women surgeons in LMICs owing to an array of disparities faced by women surgeons.^{28,29} First, the work environment is unfavourable for women with inadequate support for pregnancy and parenting, limited mentorship and sponsorship opportunities, widespread harassment, negative perceptions among the surgical community and patients, poor surgical identity, and limited opportunities for career advancement and leadership. Second, the surgical sphere is dominated by males, resulting in the exclusion of women from potential career development opportunities unless they conform to male standards. Lastly, women surgeons are hindered by societal pressures secondary to long-standing stereotypes and inordinate work-life expectations and conflicts.²⁹ Rectifying these disparities is imperative to incentivising more women to opt for surgical fields, which can in turn improve the health-seeking behaviour among women.

Privacy concerns: In various large-scale hospitals, a high turnover of patients may compromise privacy. This can contribute towards hesitancy among women in

discussing their medical condition or providing appropriate exposure for physical examination among multiple patients in the ward.²⁴ Providing privacy during consultations could reduce patient discomfort, while also allowing the surgeons to take more accurate histories. Obtaining informed consent before proceeding with physical examinations and appropriately covering the patients can further improve patient comfort and strengthen the patient-physician relationship. Women also reported of being afraid of social stigma related to their surgical condition.²⁴ This mandates that surgeons uphold the notion of doctor-patient confidentiality and ensure safeguarding of all hospital records to gain the confidence of their patients.²⁴ In addition, regular audits are required to investigate potential breaches of doctorpatient confidentiality, and a zero-tolerance policy towards such breaches should be institutionalised.

Surgeon distrust: Another challenge contributing to the unmet need for surgery among women is surgeon distrust. Fear or mistrust of surgical care was reported by 42% of women seeking surgical care in Ghana.²⁴ Re-establishing surgeon-patient trust is imperative, and can be achieved with surgeons providing reassurance to patients, allowing them to ask questions, explaining their laboratory results, avoiding being judgmental of patients, and involving patients in decision-making related to their care.³⁰

Higher thresholds for seeking care: In line with gross neglect and the various challenges highlighted, women have also developed very high thresholds of patience for seeking care.³¹ Because of this, women often have delayed presentation with more advanced diseases compared to men, and are subsequently more likely to have poorer prognoses.¹⁰

Conclusion

Women seeking surgical care are burdened with significant gender disparities, particularly in LMICs. While research has revealed the underlying causes of these disparities, much work remains for governmental healthcare bodies, the international community, surgical leadership, policymakers, and the family members of patients to act on the highlighted issues. Appropriate policies and programmes are necessary to ensure equitable delivery of surgical care for both genders, particularly in cases where differential surgical needs exist among men and women. Unrestricted access to quality surgical care for all is of vital importance, and such efforts can translate into a significant decrease in preventable disabilities and deaths among women in resourceconstrained settings. Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Meara JG, Leather AJ, Hagander L, Alkire BC, Alonso N, Ameh EA, et al. Global Surgery 2030: evidence and solutions for achieving health, welfare, and economic development. Lancet 2015;386:569-624. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60160-X.
- 2. Alkire BC, Raykar NP, Shrime MG, Weiser TG, Bickler SW, Rose JA, et al. Global access to surgical care: a modelling study. Lancet Glob Health 2015;3:e316-23. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(15)70115-4.
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Healthcare Quality and Disparities in Women: Selected Findings From the 2010 National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Reports. [Online] 2014 [Cited 2021 September 12]. Available from URL: https://archive.ahrq.gov/research/findings/nhqrdr/nhqrdr10/wo men.html.
- The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS). Prevention gap report. [Online] 2016 [Cited 2021 September 12]. Available from URL: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ documents/2016/prevention-gap.
- Whitehead M. The concepts and principles of equity and health. Int J Health Serv 1992;22:429-45. doi: 10.2190/986L-LHQ6-2VTE-YRRN.
- Shrime MG, Dare AJ, Alkire BC, O'Neill K, Meara JG. Catastrophic expenditure to pay for surgery worldwide: a modelling study. Lancet Glob Health 2015;3(Suppl 2):s38-44. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(15)70085-9.
- Meara JG, Leather AJ, Hagander L, Alkire BC, Alonso N, Ameh EA, et al. Global Surgery 2030: evidence and solutions for achieving health, welfare, and economic development. Int J Obstet Anesth 2016;25:75-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijoa.2015.09.006.
- Shrime MG, Bickler SW, Alkire BC, Mock C. Global burden of surgical disease: an estimation from the provider perspective. Lancet Glob Health 2015;3(Suppl 2):s8-9. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70384-5.
- Khattab H, Younis N, Zurayk H. Women, Reproduction, and Health in Rural Egypt: The Giza Study. Cairo, Egypt: The American University in Cairo Press; 1999.
- Reid TD, Wren SM, Grudziak J, Maine R, Kajombo C, Charles AG. Sex Disparities in Access to Surgical Care at a Single Institution in Malawi. World J Surg 2019;43:60-6. doi: 10.1007/s00268-018-4775-7.
- 11. Chhabra ST, Masson S, Kaur T, Gupta R, Sharma S, Goyal A, et al. Gender bias in cardiovascular healthcare of a tertiary care centre of North India. Heart Asia 2016;8:42-5. doi: 10.1136/heartasia-2015-010710.
- Lin BM, White M, Glover A, Wamah GP, Trotti DL, Randall K, et al. Barriers to Surgical Care and Health Outcomes: A Prospective Study on the Relation Between Wealth, Sex, and Postoperative Complications in the Republic of Congo. World J Surg 2017;41:14-23. doi: 10.1007/s00268-016-3676-x.
- Bohn JA, Kassaye BM, Record D, Chou BC, Kraft IL, Purdy JC, et al. Demographic and mortality analysis of hospitalized children at a referral hospital in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. BMC Pediatr 2016;16:168. doi: 10.1186/s12887-016-0709-4.
- 14. Ahmad K, Zwi AB, Tarantola DJ, Soomro AQ, Baig R, Azam SI. Gendered Disparities in Quality of Cataract Surgery in a Marginalised Population in Pakistan: The Karachi Marine Fishing Communities Eye and General Health Survey. PLoS One 2015;10:e0131774. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131774.
- 15. Tanchangya J, Khan RA, Bayasakh S, Wichaidit W. Gender disparity

in delayed treatment-seeking behavior for cataract: 6 years of experience from Impact Jibon Tari Floating Hospital, Bangladesh. Asia Pac J Public Health 2015;27:NP240-7. doi: 10.1177/1010539512437402.

- Segev DL, Kucirka LM, Oberai PC, Parekh RS, Boulware LE, Powe NR, et al. Age and comorbidities are effect modifiers of gender disparities in renal transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 2009;20:621-8. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2008060591.
- Billig JI, Sterbenz JM, Zhong L, Chung KC. Gender Disparities in Preoperative Resource Use for Wrist Arthroscopy. Plast Reconstr Surg 2018;142:1267-74. doi: 10.1097/PRS.000000000004840.
- Grimes CE, Bowman KG, Dodgion CM, Lavy CB. Systematic review of barriers to surgical care in low-income and middle-income countries. World J Surg 2011;35:941-50. doi: 10.1007/s00268-011-1010-1.
- Parkhurst JO, Rahman SA, Ssengooba F. Overcoming access barriers for facility-based delivery in low-income settings: insights from Bangladesh and Uganda. J Health Popul Nutr 2006;24:438-45.
- Nayak N, Varambally KVM. Impact of autonomy on health-seeking behaviour: Evidence from rural India. J Health Manag 2017;19:109-20. Doi: 10.1177/0972063416682889
- Wado YD. Women's autonomy and reproductive health-careseeking behavior in Ethiopia. Women Health 2018;58:729-43. doi: 10.1080/03630242.2017.1353573.
- Oudmane M, Mourji F, Ezzrari A. The impact of out-of-pocket health expenditure on household impoverishment: Evidence from Morocco. Int J Health Plann Manage 2019;34:e1569-85. doi: 10.1002/hpm.2848.
- Lewallen S, Courtright P. Gender and use of cataract surgical services in developing countries. Bull World Health Organ

2002;80:300-3.

- Gyedu A, Abantanga F, Boakye G, Gupta S, Otupiri E, Agbeko AE, et al. Barriers to essential surgical care experienced by women in the two northernmost regions of Ghana: a cross-sectional survey. BMC Womens Health 2016;16:27. doi: 10.1186/s12905-016-0308-4.
- Alawode GO, Adewole DA. Assessment of the design and implementation challenges of the National Health Insurance Scheme in Nigeria: a qualitative study among sub-national level actors, healthcare and insurance providers. BMC Public Health 2021;21:124. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-10133-5.
- 26. Luxon L. Infrastructure the key to healthcare improvement. Future Hosp J 2015;2:4-7. doi: 10.7861/futurehosp.2-1-4.
- Ghumro AA, Khaskheli NM, Memon AA, Ansari AG, Awan MS. Clinical profile of patients with breast cancer. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak 2002;12:28-31.
- Liang R, Dornan T, Nestel D. Why do women leave surgical training? A qualitative and feminist study. Lancet 2019;393:541-9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32612-6.
- 29. Stephens EH, Heisler CA, Temkin SM, Miller P. The Current Status of Women in Surgery: How to Affect the Future. JAMA Surg 2020;155:876-85. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2020.0312.
- Dang BN, Westbrook RA, Njue SM, Giordano TP. Building trust and rapport early in the new doctor-patient relationship: a longitudinal qualitative study. BMC Med Educ 2017;17:32. doi: 10.1186/s12909-017-0868-5.
- Kapoor M, Agrawal D, Ravi S, Roy A, Subramanian SV, Guleria R. Missing female patients: an observational analysis of sex ratio among outpatients in a referral tertiary care public hospital in India. BMJ Open 2019;9:e026850. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026850.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Artificial intelligence in dentistry, orthodontics and Orthognathic surgery: A literature review

Tania Arshad Siddiqui,¹ Rashna Hoshang Sukhia,² Dinaz Ghandhi³

Abstract

Artificial intelligence is the ability of machines to work like humans. The concept initially began with the advent of mathematical models which gave calculated outputs based on inputs fed into the system. This was later modified with the introduction of various algorithms which can either give output based on overall data analysis or by selection of information within previous data. It is steadily becoming a favoured mode of treatment due to its efficiency and ability to manage complex conditions in all specialities. In dentistry, artificial intelligence has also popularised over the past few decades. They have been found useful for diagnosis in restorative dentistry, oral pathology and oral surgery. In orthodontics, they have been utilised for diagnosis, assessment of treatment needs, cephalometrics, treatment planning and orthognathic surgeries etc. The current literature review was planned to highlight the uses of artificial intelligence in dentistry, specifically in orthodontics and orthognathic surgery.

Keywords: Artificial intelligence, Dentistry, Orthodontics, Orthognathic surgery, Diagnosis.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-18

Introduction

Artificial intelligence (AI) has been defined as the ability of a computer to perform tasks intelligently, equivalent to a human being, incorporating understanding and processing language with reasoning skills and problemsolving ability. AI can be sub-classified into fields like machine learning (ML), cognitive computing, deep learning, natural language processing, fuzzy logic, robotics, and expert systems.¹ ML is a part of AI whereby algorithms are used to predict outcomes by machines without the need of human input. Another part of AI is the neural networks that are designed like the

¹Department of Orthodontics, Foundation University College of Dentistry and Hospital, Foundation University, Islamabad, ²Department of Orthodontics, Aga Khan University and Hospital, Karachi, ³Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Altamash Institute of Dental Medicine, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Rashna Hoshang Sukhia. Email: rashna.aga@aku.edu

interconnecting neurons of the brain and these algorithms mimic the brain function. In deep learning, different computational neural network (CNN) layers are utilised which can analyse the data input. These are also referred to as convolutional neural networks.²

Artificial intelligence in dentistry: AI has been used in dentistry for a very long time now, but the knowledge and awareness of dentists regarding AI is questionable. Abouzeid et al.³ conducted a cross-sectional study to assess the knowledge, attitude and perception of dentists towards robotics and AI. The study sample consisted of dental students, graduates/interns, and postgraduate residents. Overall, there was limited knowledge (58.3%) regarding AI, but the attitude was positive (67.4%) as the study group showed high willingness to treat (83.3%) and recommend treatment (84.5%) with these modalities. While a general lack of awareness is seen, it is notable that the level of motivation towards the learning of AI and robotics is high. Hence, reforms in dental education should be considered where early learning of AI is incorporated into the system. In a systematic review by Ahmed et al.,¹ it was found that AI is a multi-disciplinary, multifunctional and multi-purpose tool that can be effectively used for precise, accurate and improved patient care by the treating dentists. It enables the prediction of expected outcomes and allows the exploration of possible treatment outcomes. This is in accordance with a study by Chen et al.⁴ which found AI to be a comprehensive system that can not only provide highquality patient care, but can also be used for innovations in research and development. Its most important feature is that it allows effective communication between healthcare providers in the form of "instant information exchange". Revilla-Leon et al.⁵ conducted a systematic review to identify the effectiveness of AI in different presenting complaints of patients in restorative dentistry. The accuracy in the diagnosis of caries was found to be 76-88.3%, while the prediction of caries was 83.6-97.1%. The AI had 88.3-95.7% accuracy in diagnosing vertical fracture of the tooth, while the finishing line accuracy ranged 90.6-97.4%. The study concluded that AI is a "powerful tool for diagnosing caries, vertical root fracture, detecting tooth preparation

margins, and predicting restoration failure". Limitations in the number of original research work has been recognised in these systematic reviews and further studies are still needed for better in-depth understanding of the technology.

Baliga⁶ in his commentary highlighted the importance of Al in paediatric dentistry. With the introduction of fourdimensional (4D) goggles, movies, animations and virtual reality-based games, digital technology can now be effectively used for behaviour modification in children through more playful interactions. These advantages are also extended into a pedagogical environment for interactive teaching and learning through virtual simulations.

Grischke et al.⁷ in their systematic review, which included 41 articles on ML, 53 articles on Al, and 49 original research on robotics, discussed the benefits of robotic tooth brushing and reported that "dentronics" will enhance reliability, reproducibility, accuracy and efficiency with a better understanding of disease pathogenesis. They found it to be an important tool for risk assessment strategies, diagnosis, disease prediction and better treatment outcomes.

Revilla-Leon et al.,⁵ in their systematic review, assessed the applications of AI in implant dentistry by evaluating their recognition of implant success, type, design, optimisation and success prediction. They reported accuracy for the type using periapical radiograph and orthopantomogram to be around 93.8-98%, and the recognition of success rate to be around 62.4-80.5%. They, therefore, concluded that there was a great potential in AI for type recognition, recognition of success, prediction, design and optimisation in implant dentistry.

Hung et al.⁸ reviewed ML algorithms to predict survival with oral cancer and the factors affecting it, and reported that extreme gradient-boosting ML algorithms showed the best performance with mean absolute error of 13.55, mean square error of 486.55 and root mean square error of 22.06. They concluded that cancer survival prediction and medical decision-making were possible with AI.

ML models have been applied to orthopantomograms for automatic tooth detection. They have also been utilised for Computer-aided design and Computer-aided manufacturing (CAD/CAM) and 3D printing for surgical guides and orthodontic brackets to predict extractions in orthodontic treatment planning etc, but they did not specify combinations of extractions using CNN. ML models can combine all the data for clinical decisionmaking. Other applications are landmark tracing, cervical vertebrae staging and skeletal classification.⁹ CNN and artificial neural network (ANN) have been used for diagnosis in restorative dentistry, salivary gland disease, maxillary sinusitis, maxillofacial cysts, cervical lymph nodes, metastasis, osteoporosis, cancers and bone loss.²

Artificial intelligence in orthodontics: In the field of research in orthodontics, various advancements have been made utilising AI.

AI and orthodontic treatment need: Thanthornwong¹⁰ utilised orthodontic impressions and facial photographs to evaluate orthodontic treatment need. The variables they used to construct the prediction model were missing teeth, overjet, overbite, anterior and posterior openbite, a diastema, anterior and posterior crossbite, anterior and posterior displacement, supernumerary teeth, ectopic eruption, anteroposterior molar relationship, and upper and lower lip to E-line. They had a sample size of 1,000 participants, and utilised 80% of the data as training data and created a prediction model which was then tested on 20% of the data which was called the test data. A sample of 20 patients was utilised to validate the data-sets. They constructed five models, of which the one with the highest level of specificity (100%), sensitivity (95%) and accuracy (96%) was chosen. Two orthodontists with more than five years of experience predicted the treatment need. Data of 200 patients was entered into the model which was calculated for treatment need using the model. The higher scores indicated treatment need, while lower scores indicated no treatment need. A high level of agreement was found when this network was validated (kappa value -1.00 with orthodontist A, kappa value -0.894 with orthodontist B). They concluded that the prediction model was an effective modality for the evaluation of treatment needs.

Wang et al.¹¹ evaluated the effects of treatment need through aesthetics using eye-tracking devices. Eyetracking devices use anthropometric landmarks to determine the responses for areas of interest, which were the eyes, mouth and nose. The study sample consisted of 88 subjects who were shown pictures of normal individuals along with pre- and post-treatment ones in smiling and repose views. The results of the eye tracking device were compared with mixed-effect linear regression and support vector machine (SVM). SVM was further compared using Index of Orthodontic Treatment Need-Aesthetic Component (IOTN-AC) for the evaluation of accuracy of treatment need and outcome. The mouth was highlighted as the area of interest in smiling photographs for normal, pre- and post-orthodontic treatment. SVM was found to be highly accurate in identifying treatment needs between normal and pretreatment photographs (97.2%) and for treatment outcomes between pre- and post-treatment (93.4%).

Al in orthodontic diagnosis: Al has been extensively explored for effective and efficient diagnosis as well as patient care. Bichu et al.,¹² in their scoping review of 62 shortlisted articles, found that 33 articles emphasised the use of Al for diagnosis and treatment planning. CNN and ANN have been utilised for extraction prediction, orthodontic treatment need, cephalometric analysis, and age and gender discrimination. Neural networks have a role to play in diagnostic interpretations utilising computed tomography (CT), cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT), lateral cephalograms, bitewing, facial photographs and orthopantomograms.²

Kok et al.¹³ used different algorithms to determine their accuracy in the assessment of cervical vertebrae maturation through the Lamparski method. The data was obtained from 300 cephalograms. They found an accuracy rate in the range of 78.7-93% for cervical vertebral maturational stage 1(CVS 1) with the highest being for ANN (93%), {k-nearest neighbours [k-NN] (78.7%), Naïve Bayes [NB] (92.1%), SVM (84.8%), random forest [RF] (91.8%)}. Decision tree (DT) gave the highest accuracy for the determination of vertebral body shape at 97.1%. Amasya et al.¹⁴ measured data on 498 cephalograms for cervical vertebral maturation (CVM) staging using ANN (kappa score - 0.926), SVM (kappa score - 0.874), RF (kappa score - 0.908) and DT (kappa score - 0.921).

Cephalometric analysis: Numerous studies have been conducted in the past few years which have focussed on assessments of lateral cephalograms. The main focus has been on the accuracy of "automated landmark location" before conducting the actual analysis. Kim et al.,^{15,16} using CNN on lateral cephalograms and CBCT for posterior-anterior cephalometric landmark tracing, found a high level of accuracy (88.43%, 80.4%). An error of 2mm, however, was reported for landmark identification for Postero-anterior (PA) cephalograms, but overall results were satisfactory.

A higher level of landmark identification was obtained when CNN was modified using an algorithm for "biomedical image segmentation" called U-Net.¹⁷ The level of accuracy achieved was 92%. Dobratulin et al.¹⁷ concluded that the results obtained were similar to landmark identification by a group of orthodontists. Lee et al.,18 using the Bayesian Convolutional Neural Networks (BCNN)BN, found a 90.11% level of accuracy. We believe that accurate landmark location and identification are imperative in conducting an accurate cephalometric analysis. This was determined by Shin et al.¹⁹ who conducted a study on 840 lateral and frontal cephalograms to predict the need for orthognathic surgery on skeletal malocclusion using a recurrent neural network (RNN) algorithm. The algorithm uses sequential data input which is stored in its internal memory. Sequential data input requires that all information be introduced in a sequence of steps. These steps are then followed for the assessment of new data incorporated into the system. A high level of accuracy (95.4%) was obtained with this system for the assessment of patients requiring orthognathic surgeries.

Recently, AI has been used specifically for cephalometric analyses. Silva et al.²⁰ used CEFBOT (RadioMemory Ltd., Belo Horizonte, Brazil), an AI-based cephalometry software, to measure 30 lateral cephalograms using Arnett's analysis. CEFBOT successfully performed measurements in 9/10 variables. The measured variables were re-evaluated after 15 days and correlated with human findings. Repeated measures of CEFBOT gave a high-reliability level (Intra-class correlation [ICC] >0.94) and they were not statistically different from the human findings.

Al in orthodontic treatment planning: The interest in Al for orthodontic treatment plans and outcomes has gained gradual interest with time. Earlier works consisted of the construction of mathematical models which could correctly identify patients in need of extractions. Takada et al.²¹ and Yagi et al.²² conducted a two-part research where they configured a mathematical model which could tell the need for and the desired pattern of extractions for a case. It was developed with the purpose of projecting an unexpected treatment outcome with extractions and to correctly identify the traits which led to the model's decision-making for choosing extractions. The input data consisted of patients' standardised photographs, radiographs and orthodontic casts. The model would identify features of presenting malocclusion and place it next to the nearest template already in the system. Multiple decisions were taken depending on the traits of the case. An overall computation of the outcomes was done before the final result was given. The accuracy of the model was tested against the decisions of the clinicians and an accuracy rate of 90.4% was obtained. The traits leading to extraction decisions were overjet and upper and lower arch length discrepancy. The model created was modified and tested to determine extraction patterns versus clinicians. An accuracy of 86% was obtained with correction of incisor inclination and overjet and overbite as the causes for extractions. The model was further evolved by Xie et al.²³ using ANN. The model was tested for its ability to differentiate between extraction and non-extraction cases along with possible causes for extractions. The model had 80% accuracy in identifying extraction patients aged 11-15 years. The factors responsible for extraction were incompetent lips and proclined lower incisors.

Different programmes have been tested to determine their accuracy for extraction/non-extraction decisionmaking. Jung and Kim.²⁴ used the language R programme for the machine model to create a programme which could correctly identify extractions patients. The model was further tested for its ability to detect identical and differential extraction patterns based on 5 treatment plan groups which had been built into the system. The model was compared with the clinical plans of an experienced orthodontist. The model achieved an accuracy of 93% in identifying patients needing extractions with overall 84% accuracy in the extraction plan.

The advancement in AI has led to the emergence of different programmes. Li et al.²⁵ compared ANN with k-NN. Their neural network showed 94% accuracy of prediction of extraction versus non-extraction treatment. They also reported the accuracy of anchorage patterns to be around 92.8%. They found curve of Spee, angle ANB (angle formed between point A [point of deepest convexity on the labial cortical plate of the maxilla above the maxillary central incisor], nasion and point B [point of of deepest convexity on the labial cortical plate of the mandible below the mandibular central incisor]) and crowding in the upper arch to be the most important features for prediction of their neural networks.

Over the years, orthodontic record-keeping has become more technologically advanced as dynamic records of patients are more preferred than the traditional static forms. Tanikawa and Yamashiro²⁶ explored the possibility of an AI system that could be used by stereophotogrammetry to differentiate between extraction and orthognathic surgery cases. The model was constructed using landmark-based geometric morphometric methods (GMMs), and ML and two AI systems were developed. Data of a presenting case would be collected using anthropometric landmarks of the face and compared with the data of the previous patients already in the system. The systems showed a success rate of 54% for surgical and 98% for extraction cases at a system error of <1mm. However, when the system error was at <2mm, a success rate of 100% was achieved.

Artificial intelligence in orthognathic surgery: With the continuing advancements in technology, AI has been extensively explored in the field of surgery, ranging from ophthalmology²⁷ and spinal surgery²⁸ to knee arthroplasty.²⁹ Benefits include complex movements over shorter periods with high levels of precision.³⁰

The preparation of patients requiring orthognathic surgeries can become a long and tedious procedure combining clinical and laboratory work. The traditional methods require the fabrication of acrylic splints which are used by surgeons as intraoperative guides. This is prone to errors as materials used undergo dimensional changes due to inherent properties or may fracture due to pressure. To overcome these limitations, Woo et al.³¹ devised a surgical set of robotic arms which transferred information from the virtual screen to the operating room. The robotic arm was primarily designed to facilitate the surgeons during the procedure. The robotic arm could undergo movements at 6 degrees. On-screen movements centred on specific points were called tool centre points. These were located on a virtual simulation of the maxillomandibular complex around which axis movements were done. Overall, highly accurate and predictable movements of the jawbones were produced. Despite the advantages, Grischke et al.⁷ found these procedures high in cost.

Mandibular surgeries are often associated with shifting of the condylar heads during repositioning of the segments. They can lead to the development of condylar sags post-surgically. To overcome these limitations, Lee et al.³² devised an electromagnetic tracker device that could record movements of the condylar heads real-time. Other benefits included 3D coronal and sagittal views to ascertain the position of the condylar heads in the fossa.

Al has also been explored for the creation of surgical splints. Elnagar et al.³³ in their research developed a 3D diagnostic model for diagnosis and a virtual orthodontic-orthognathic treatment plan. The model was fabricated using scanning and CBCT images which were combined to form a single model. The outcome led to the fabrication of a 3D splint using 3D printing as an intraoperative guide for the surgeons.

S-95

Ethical concerns with AI: With the emerging trend of using AI, a matter of ethical concern has also been raised. Mörch et al.³⁴ found 45 ethical issues with the use of AI in dentistry. These revolved around six principles of ethics, namely, prudence (concerned with deliberating well about what is good and advantageous to oneself, others, and life as a whole), equity (social justice or fairness), privacy (shielding one's personal life from unwanted scrutiny), responsibility (the ability to recognise, interpret and act upon multiple principles and values according to the standards within a given field and/or context), democratic participation, and, solidarity (voluntary union or fellowship amongst people). With the quick acceptance of AI in dentistry, it has become imperative that recommendations be developed and brought into effect to overcome the ethical concerns recognised.

Conclusion

Al is a rapidly advancing modality in orthodontics which is enhancing patient care and management. It allows clinicians precision and accuracy in patient care. There is a substantive opportunity for Al to be utilised in the field of dentistry However, the ethical aspects must be taken into account as machines and computing systems cannot replace empathic human nature. Further research is still recommended to warrant its use in everyday dentistry.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- Ahmed N, Abbasi MS, Zuberi F, Qamar W, Halim MSB, Maqsood A, et al. Artificial Intelligence Techniques: Analysis, Application, and Outcome in Dentistry-A Systematic Review. Biomed Res Int 2021;2021:e9751564. doi: 10.1155/2021/9751564.
- Khanagar SB, Al-Ehaideb A, Maganur PC, Vishwanathaiah S, Patil S, Baeshen HA, et al. Developments, application, and performance of artificial intelligence in dentistry - A systematic review. J Dent Sci 2021;16:508-22. doi: 10.1016/j.jds.2020.06.019.
- Abouzeid HL, Chaturvedi S, Abdelaziz KM, Alzahrani FA, AlQarni AAS, Alqahtani NM. Role of Robotics and Artificial Intelligence in Oral Health and Preventive Dentistry - Knowledge, Perception and Attitude of Dentists. Oral Health Prev Dent 2021;19:353-63. doi: 10.3290/j.ohpd.b1693873.
- Chen YW, Stanley K, Att W. Artificial intelligence in dentistry: current applications and future perspectives. Quintessence Int 2020;51:248-57. doi: 10.3290/j.qi.a43952.
- Revilla-León M, Gómez-Polo M, Vyas S, Barmak BA, Galluci GO, Att W, et al. Artificial intelligence applications in implant dentistry: A systematic review. J Prosthet Dent 2021:S0022-3913(21)00272-9. doi: 10.1016/j.prosdent.2021.05.008. [ahead of print.]
- Baliga MS. Artificial intelligence The next frontier in pediatric dentistry. J Indian Soc Pedod Prev Dent 2019;37:315. doi:

10.4103/JISPPD.JISPPD_319_19.

- Grischke J, Johannsmeier L, Eich L, Griga L, Haddadin S. Dentronics: Towards robotics and artificial intelligence in dentistry. Dent Mater 2020; 36: 765-78. doi: 10.1016/j.dental.2020.03.021.
- Hung M, Park J, Hon ES, Bounsanga J, Moazzami S, Ruiz-Negrón B, et al. Artificial intelligence in dentistry: Harnessing big data to predict oral cancer survival. World J Clin Oncol 2020;11:918-34. doi: 10.5306/wjco.v11.i11.918.
- 9. Pethani F. Promises and perils of artificial intelligence in dentistry. Aust Dent J 2021;66:124-35. doi: 10.1111/adj.12812.
- 10. Thanathornwong B. Bayesian-Based Decision Support System for Assessing the Needs for Orthodontic Treatment. Healthc Inform Res 2018;24:22-8. doi: 10.4258/hir.2018.24.1.22.
- 11. Wang X, Cai B, Cao Y, Zhou C, Yang L, Liu R, et al. Objective method for evaluating orthodontic treatment from the lay perspective: An eye-tracking study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2016;150:601-10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2016.03.028.
- Bichu YM, Hansa I, Bichu AY, Premjani P, Flores-Mir C, Vaid NR. Applications of artificial intelligence and machine learning in orthodontics: a scoping review. Prog Orthod 2021;22:18. doi: 10.1186/s40510-021-00361-9.
- 13. Kök H, Acilar AM, ?zgi MS. Usage and comparison of artificial intelligence algorithms for determination of growth and development by cervical vertebrae stages in orthodontics. Prog Orthod 2019;20:41. doi: 10.1186/s40510-019-0295-8.
- 14. Amasya H, Yildirim D, Aydogan T, Kemaloglu N, Orhan K. Cervical vertebral maturation assessment on lateral cephalometric radiographs using artificial intelligence: comparison of machine learning classifier models. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2020;49:e20190441. doi: 10.1259/dmfr.20190441.
- Kim H, Shim E, Park J, Kim YJ, Lee U, Kim Y. Web-based fully automated cephalometric analysis by deep learning. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2020;194:e105513. doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2020.105513.
- Kim MJ, Liu Y, Oh SH, Ahn HW, Kim SH, Nelson G. Evaluation of a multi-stage convolutional neural network-based fully automated landmark identification system using cone-beam computed tomographysynthesized posteroanterior cephalometric images. Korean J Orthod 2021;51:77-85. doi: 10.4041/kjod.2021.51.2.77.
- Dobratulin K, Gaidel A, Kapishnikov A, Ivleva A, Aupova I, Zelter P. The efficiency of deep learning algorithms for detecting anatomical reference points on radiological images of the head profile. In: 2020 International Conference on Information Technology and Nanotechnology (ITNT). Samara, Russia: IEEE, 2020; pp 1-6. doi: 10.1109/ITNT49337.2020.9253067.
- Lee JH, Yu HJ, Kim MJ, Kim JW, Choi J. Automated cephalometric landmark detection with confidence regions using Bayesian convolutional neural networks. BMC Oral Health 2020;20:270. doi: 10.1186/s12903-020-01256-7.
- Shin W, Yeom HG, Lee GH, Yun JP, Jeong SH, Lee JH, et al. Deep learning based prediction of necessity for orthognathic surgery of skeletal malocclusion using cephalogram in Korean individuals. BMC Oral Health 2021;21:130. doi: 10.1186/s12903-021-01513-3.
- 20. Silva TP, Hughes MM, Menezes LDS, de Melo MFB, Takeshita WM, Freitas PHL. Artificial intelligence-based cephalometric landmark annotation and measurements according to Arnett's analysis: can we trust a bot to do that? Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2021:20200548. doi: 10.1259/dmfr.20200548. [ahead of print]
- Takada K, Yagi M, Horiguchi E. Computational formulation of orthodontic tooth-extraction decisions. Part I: to extract or not to extract. Angle Orthod 2009;79:885-91. doi: 10.2319/081908-436.1.
- Yagi M, Ohno H, Takada K. Computational formulation of orthodontic tooth-extraction decisions. Part II: which tooth should be extracted? Angle Orthod 2009;79:892-8. doi:

10.2319/081908-439.1.

- Xie X, Wang L, Wang A. Artificial neural network modeling for deciding if extractions are necessary prior to orthodontic treatment. Angle Orthod 2010;80:262-6. doi: 10.2319/111608-588.1.
- 24. Jung SK, Kim TW. New approach for the diagnosis of extractions with neural network machine learning. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2016;149:127-33. doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo.2015.07.030.
- Li P, Kong D, Tang T, Su D, Yang P, Wang H, Zhao Z, Liu Y. Orthodontic Treatment Planning based on Artificial Neural Networks. Sci Rep 2019;9:2037. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38439-w.
- Tanikawa C, Yamashiro T. Development of novel artificial intelligence systems to predict facial morphology after orthognathic surgery and orthodontic treatment in Japanese patients. Sci Rep 2021;11:15853. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-95002-w.
- Pandey SK, Sharma V. Robotics and ophthalmology: Are we there yet? Indian J Ophthalmol 2019;67:988-94. doi: 10.4103/ijo.JJO_1131_18.
- Overley SC, Cho SK, Mehta AI, Arnold PM. Navigation and Robotics in Spinal Surgery: Where Are We Now? Neurosurgery 2017;80:S86-99. doi: 10.1093/neuros/nyw077.

- 29. Bautista M, Manrique J, Hozack WJ. Robotics in Total Knee Arthroplasty. J Knee Surg 2019;32:600-6. doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1681053.
- Andras I, Mazzone E, van Leeuwen FWB, De Naeyer G, van Oosterom MN, Beato S, et al. Artificial intelligence and robotics: a combination that is changing the operating room. World J Urol 2020;38:2359-66. doi: 10.1007/s00345-019-03037-6.
- Woo SY, Lee SJ, Yoo JY, Han JJ, Hwang SJ, Huh KH, et al. Autonomous bone reposition around anatomical landmark for robot-assisted orthognathic surgery. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2017;45:1980-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcms.2017.09.001.
- Lee SJ, Yang HJ, Choi MH, Woo SY, Huh KH, Lee SS, et al. Real-time augmented model guidance for mandibular proximal segment repositioning in orthognathic surgery, using electromagnetic tracking. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2019;47:127-37. doi: 10.1016/j.jcms.2018.10.016.
- Elnagar MH, Aronovich S, Kusnoto B. Digital Workflow for Combined Orthodontics and Orthognathic Surgery. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am 2020;32:1-14. doi: 10.1016/j.coms.2019.08.004.
- Mörch CM, Atsu S, Cai W, Li X, Madathil SA, Liu X, et al. Artificial Intelligence and Ethics in Dentistry: A Scoping Review. J Dent Res 2021;100:1452-60. doi: 10.1177/00220345211013808.

OPINION

Barriers in surgical research: A perspective from the developing world

Nadeem Ahmed Siddiqui,¹ Muhammad Aanish Raees,² Rehan Nasir Khan,³ Farhan Zafar⁴

Abstract

Research in surgery has led to significant advances over the last century in terms of how medicine is practised in and outside the operating rooms today. Surgical research in the developed countries is responsible for most of this advancement, but it is often inapplicable in resourcelimited settings in the developing world. Lower- and middle-income countries are in a unique position to take this work further, but they are limited by certain barriers. These barriers could broadly be classified under social and cultural, infrastructure, financial, ethical, and personal categories. These barriers are often not fully realised, but can potentially be addressed with concerted efforts to continue the advancement of medicine for everyone.

Keywords: Surgical research, Cultural barriers, Infrastructure, Limitations, LMICs.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-19

Introduction

Evidence-based practice is a cornerstone of efforts to improve the quality of healthcare the practitioners provide. The practice relies on integrating evidence acquired through research into patient preferences, resources and clinician skills. It is often easier said than done, with authors suggesting a global disparity between available literature and its translation into eventual clinical practice still not being up to par.1-3 Surgical research faces some uniquely inherent obstacles, which differ from studies into pharmaceutical and medical treatments.^{4,5} Matters like a surgeon's expertise and personal preferences in procedure or technique, lack of interest of patients towards participation, and the variation in skill level of the operating surgeon may all contribute to underpowering of studies, like randomised controlled trials (RCTs), with potentially misleading results.5-7

This issue aside, it must be emphasised that though global standards tend to encourage implementation of more standardised recommendations, these may not always be viable alternatives in the developing world due

^{1,3}Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, ^{2,4}Cincinnati Children's Hospital and Medical Center, Ohio, USA.

Correspondence: Rehan Nasir Khan. Email: doc.rnk@gmail.com

to geopolitical or cultural limitations, amongst other reasons. In such a case, it is critical for practitioners and researchers to generate evidence which is better suited to their demands and applicable within the limitations they face.

It goes without saying that improvement in the overall standards in study design and control of potential obstacles may aid in improving the quality of research,⁷ especially from those originating in the developing world. The current narrative review was planned to explore the potential barriers faced in surgical research, particularly in the context of low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

Social and cultural barriers: In LMICs, probably one of the most important barriers to conduct surgical research is the social and cultural behaviour. Unfortunately, and contrary to common belief, this is not limited to patients only, as studies have cited various reasons for the healthcare providers (HCPs) not participating in researchrelated activities,⁸ imparting a negative influence on the overall research process. Globally, and particularly in LMICs, there is a general reluctance on the part of patients to participate in research. Partly this has to do with the historical mishaps, like the Tuskegee study, the infamous syphilis study where even after knowing that penicillin would be effective for syphilis, it was not prescribed to the subjects for the sake of experimentation and continuity of research.9 Another example from the horrors of the past includes a study at the University of Cincinnati where latestage cancer patients, for the sake of understanding its effects, were exposed to high-dose radiation, and the subjects were told that it was the final attempt to arrest disease progression.¹⁰ Later, the investigators admitted their inability to take adequate informed consent, and compensations were handed out to the families of the patients.¹¹ Besides the effects of such events, lack of education also negatively impacts the participation in research projects and therefore the ultimate impact of research on future generations. Patients and their families consider becoming a part of any research similar to subjecting themselves to a larger learning experiment. Many diseases are seen as a taboo in these societies and there is great reluctance to even seek treatment for these, let alone getting involved in research. Mental health, genitourinary, perianal and breast conditions for women are few of these to name.^{12,13} This combination of lack of education and certain religious beliefs, ranging from considering ailments as punishment from the Divine to stopping the treatment and relying solely on prayers, results in patients avoiding treatment or seeking alternative ways of treatment for their diseases. Furthermore, in LMICs, due to lack of governing bodies and accountability or their dysfunctional presence, a variety of treatment modalities are often seen offered by individuals who are not experts in these fields, and the practice continues to flourish due to lack of awareness.¹⁴ The growth of alternative medicine has further increased the options that patients prefer to utilise before contemplating any surgical procedure.15,16 Many surgical pathologies are managed with a wide array of treatment modalities prior to surgery, adding multiple unmeasurable confounders for a research project aimed at studying surgical management as an intervention. There is significant heterogeneity in such cultural and alternative pre-treatments sought by the patients, making it impossible to adjust statistically in a retrospective study or in the power of a prospective trial.

The disconnect between patients and healthcare staff is even more significant in rural areas of countries like Pakistan. The intentions of practising physicians and surgeons are sometimes questionable. Thoughts of doctors prioritising private practice and performing unindicated procedures for financial gains are deeply rooted in these societies.17 The study comprising two rural districts of Pakistan found many physicians doing unindicated Caesarean Section (CS) because of financial incentives. This further minimises patients' trust in their HCP and translates into their hesitancy to join any research.¹⁷ Even in situations where patients do initially get enrolled in studies, there is a significant proportion of population that is lost to follow-up as patients fail to realise the importance of these studies and their responsibility in making them a success. This again is multifactorial as there are situations where they just do not feel obligated to comply since it does not involve monetary, medical or personal incentives. Furthermore, it is often financially burdensome, making it difficult for them to travel from rural to urban areas to attend followup visits¹⁸ or for research-related activities. Many population-based studies do anticipate this issue and address it either by making the research team go to patient's doorstep or providing adequate monetary support for travels.

Lastly, there is a general lack of interest in research both on the part of patients as well as HCPs. The inability to train the residents in research-related activities leads to general lack of interest among the trainees.¹⁹ Limited internet facilities, non-existent concept of surgeonscientist, inability to identify relevant research questions, paucity of allocated research time, no financial support and lack of mentorship are a few of the factors that eventually lead to this concept of research being a 'waste of time' for undergraduates¹⁹ and postgraduate students.^{20,21} Unfortunately, when these young doctors become attending surgeons, their interest in surgical research is driven mostly by the requirements of career progression and promotions or sometimes due to motivation from the pharmaceutical industry.²² In LMICs, most career progressions and promotions are linked to the number of publications rather than the quality of research work.²³ This quest for going after numbers rather than the essence of research inquiry, results in selecting already addressed and learned topics with very little emphasis on exploring new knowledge frontiers. There is no doubt that acquiring the art of surgical skill is a tedious process involving lifelong struggle for the surgeons, so there is always a tendency to view their own anecdotal experiences as standard of treatment, rather than utilising evidence-based medicine (EBM). A guestionnaire-based study²⁴ reported that surgeons depend most on their own judgment and confidence and least on clinical practice guideline. Hindrance to do surgical research may have many other causative factors, but cultural and social barriers probably are not just important ones, but are also difficult to modify, as they involve both the patients and the surgeons. For any meaningful research to be done, it is probably of utmost importance to deal with these barriers. Inclusion of quality research training during undergraduate and postgraduate surgical training can be a potential solution to some of the above-mentioned issues. But, more importantly, fostering the careers of young trainees as young research-scientists by means of allocating protected facilities, commitment and becoming part of different surgical research groups, though sounding like a long road, can eventually be fruitful. Crossing these hurdles will take time and collective efforts are needed to get over them one at a time.

Infrastructure barriers: For the uninitiated, research can be a daunting task best left alone. Even under the best of circumstances and even with unlimited funding, research is challenging. Research often requires a deep understanding of methodology, statistics and institution-specific logistics. So why take part in it? Because the payoff offers a chance to change practice and improve outcomes. There is almost no research training in the undergraduate years of education, unlike countries where research productivity is high and research training starts as early as high-school, and undergraduate students get

to spend considerable time in laboratories developing basic research skills and grantsmanship. Possibly the biggest challenge to surgical research in Pakistan and other resource-poor countries is lack of effective training during the formative years of a medical professional.

Since the Pakistan Medical Council (PMC) has not made research training mandatory for medical students, the onus shifts to medical colleges and universities to decide the status of research in their respective curricula. Even under the most well-designed and holistic medical curriculum in the country, research is often allotted 1-2 months during the 5 years of medical education; a period often structured to teach basic statistical skills and to churn out a qualitative study. These strategies, while effective for a minority of the students, often lack the intentionality to drive home the simple inspiring concept behind research: to question the norm.

With the faculty seeking to publish to meet requirements set out by the PMC and the Higher Education Commission (HEC), a preponderance of un-indexed journals, and a culture in which research is a 'means to an end', research transforms into a robotic task akin to administrative paperwork. Perhaps a curriculum that promotes critical thinking, teachers who promote a questioning mind, and a system that enjoys being proven wrong for the sake of progress can together lead to a shift in the mindset and, therefore, culture. Student-led journal clubs can, for instance, encourage an appreciation of the impact of research. Not only can this inspire students, but also help them critically appraise literature; skills that they can then employ during their faculty years.²⁵

All this having been said, it is also important to address one of the biggest challenges to research is the lack of opportunities to disseminate and share knowledge.²⁶ If one were to draw comparisons with resource-rich nations and review the legacy of research institutions, a clear conclusion would take shape: the reason why research impact is high in these nations is because research exists in a self-perpetuating ecosystem and entire separate ecosystems have been created to support it. Put simply, research is not simply an activity, but a calling, a lifestyle and a profession. It is also important to note that this system simply cannot exist without a common belief in the power of research.^{26,27} If one were to open Google Scholar, one would see the following text on the main page: 'Stand on the Shoulder of giants', This sentiment is only possible if one can find these 'giants', locate their 'shoulders', and know how to 'stand on them'. It is, therefore, in the interest of countries like Pakistan to celebrate their researchers, highlight their work, invest in the scientific process, and champion change as suggested

by the scientific process. It also goes without saying that investment in physical infrastructure like internet, workspace, libraries etc., as well as human infrastructure, like capacity development, training programmes, research implementation workshops etc., will act as a catalyst of change in the research world.

Financial barriers: When it comes to funding research, the financial barriers in Pakistan are huge. It goes without saying that a lot of research in resource-rich nations would not have been impossible without federal funding and private endowments. Some efforts have been made in Pakistan to establish a funding stream for researchers. The development of the Pakistan Medical Research Council (PMRC) was one such step.^{28,29} Under the PMRC funding for research as well as research allowances were allocated in the budget. Unfortunately, political forces, budgetary issues, poor utilisation of funds, and a lack of planning have limited the scope of such programmes.²⁸ Compared to research institutions, like those in the United States, with their many funding options, a methodical approach to spending research dollars, a preponderance of oversight boards, and a well-trained research staff, research in poor countries lack expertise in these key areas. At some level, the narrative turns into one in which money spent on research is money that could have been conserved for other endeavours, such as increasing health delivery in extremely resource-poor areas of the country. However, the country stands to benefit from advances in research, especially when such research is specific to the local community.³⁰

Ethical barriers: A major hallmark of conducting ethical research is ensuring that there is oversight in the form of a review board, legislative oversight from national bodies, equal representation, and a clear emphasis on the principles of patient care. A well-informed and wellstaffed institutional review board is of paramount importance when it comes to ensuring ethical standards. Additionally, ethical frameworks also need to be informed by national medical bodies. At baseline, all research studies, regardless of their design, should be proposed to the ethics board for protocol review. This should also hold true for retrospective studies, arguably the most common form of published surgical research, to ensure that patient privacy is always a priority, and that the results are useful. Additionally, when it comes to interventional studies, it is very important to always guestion the short- and longterm benefits of evaluating the intervention. This framework of thought also helps prevent unnecessary research, as McDonald et al, so aptly asked: 'When is further research no longer required; that is, what constitutes sufficient evidence of the efficacy of a surgical intervention?.³¹ Routine expert panels, even in the absence of expensive RCTs, can often help reach consensus statements, thereby obviating the need for further study.

The role of industry funding is important to discuss, especially in the context of developing nations. Given the limited resources provided by national bodies, a natural dependence on private endowments and industry funding emerges. As the role of industry increases in surgical research, so too should awareness increase around declaring conflicts of interest. Many studies have found associations between reporting positive findings and receiving royalties.³² Mechanisms to reduce the influence of these conflicts on the integrity of research should be built into the very fabric of the institutional review process so as provide insight to any biases that may exist.

Personal barriers: It goes without saying that scientific research is a fundamental cog in the development of societal constructs. Yet, ironically the two share an interesting, dichotomous relationship in the sense that without proper funding and infrastructure, loco-regional healthcare systems may lack the necessary ingredients for the propagation of meaningful literature. Differences in geopolitical structures and regional dynamics may influence healthcare priorities, which may dictate alternative routes of medical management, customtailored to those situations. That being said, even though institutional bodies may push for more standardised treatment and training options, due to regional limitations this may not always be ideal. In fact, often literary works conducted in developing countries are of undesirable guality compared to that from the developed world.³¹ While commenting on the countries of South Asia,³⁴ make the point that despite the linguistic, cultural and geographical differences between the countries in and adjacent to the region, various healthcare systems face similar obstacles and limitations.

On review of literature produced on this topic from developing countries, one of the most common themes noticed was that of the variability of training in terms of research methodology. This has been found to have stemmed from clinical priorities being more focussed on providing healthcare than generating quality research, and may manifest in a myriad of ways. A common complaint had been the lack of dedicated research training, or inadequate knowledge on terminologies or means of how to gather data.³²⁻³⁷ The authors of these studies found that a limited familiarity with research in general may be a key demotivating factor for physicians to embark on such endeavours. This has been found to run hand in hand with the lack of dedicated research

facilities and resources, be it as basic as a library or access to recent medical literature.^{32-35, 37}

Similarly, another key factor can be boiled down to 'time and money'. Given busy clinical schedules, and work demands, researchers may find little available time to pursue research activities or seek out help from mentors and supervisors.³⁴ Furthermore, lack of monetary incentive in most research projects has been found to be a key deterrent. Keeping in mind the financial situation of most of the countries in the developing world, it would be understandable for the practitioners to prefer clinical practice over scholarly work, especially given that they would have to sacrifice their own personal time to get the job done.³³

Provided the limited dedicated training, and unavailability of time, a more relevant and common theme would be that of lack of appropriate mentorship. This issue may present itself either as clinical supervisors and senior faculty being unable to dedicate attention to their fellows due to heavy/busy schedules, and thereby may not exuberate interest in such projects.^{35,38} There is thus a need for more positive role models and professionals at more dedicated research positions to alleviate this shortcoming and offer not only guidance but also counselling and statistical services. This matter is made worse by prolonged waiting times and complicated steps involved in institutional approval; a matter which often stems from institutional bureaucracy and policies.^{34,35,37}

An issue often overlooked is that of linguistic limitations. Considering most data and literature is in the English language, and that practitioners and researchers in the region may not be dominant English users, they face the unique challenge of requiring translations and linguistic support from librarians and associated platforms. Interestingly, this has been a common theme spanning regions from Africa to South Asia.^{33-35,38-40}

The most devastating of personal barriers to research, however, is the little explored entity of research anxiety, which can negatively influence productivity, and potentially lead to mental and physical exhaustion, burnout, and organisational and personal deterioration.^{41,42} Stress and anxiety can take root at any stage of a given project, from personal skill levels or lack thereof, to institutional approval, perpetual deadlines, and to the uncertainty of the authenticity of their works.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ Thus, institutional laws, policies, local facilities and basic knowhow play a vital role in this issue.⁴¹ Lack of attention to such barriers may lead to irreparable losses in terms of overall quality, while, for the investigator it may

S-101

result in decreased job satisfaction and long-term psychological harm.

Conclusion

LMICs face certain barriers in terms of surgical research. These barriers can broadly be classified under social and cultural, infrastructure, financial, ethical, and personal categories. These barriers are often not fully realised, but can potentially be addressed with concerted efforts to continue the advancement of medicine for everyone. There may still be numerous barriers at the individual level, that are beyond the scope of this review. A multipronged systematic approach is needed to overcome these challenges. Organisational, financial and infrastructure barriers need both institutional and national commitment to research. This should not only include short-term steps, like funding, facilities, etc., but, more importantly, long-term policies, incentives and collaborative initiatives to make a meaningful impact. Research education and internship opportunities from at least the undergraduate level is key to fostering a culture, a mindset and eventually a habit in surgeons. Social, cultural and some ethical barriers, although difficult to modify, could be addressed with investments in population-wide education programmes and focussed awareness campaigns. These may be lofty ideas for an LMIC, but there is no better time to start investing in such initiatives than now. Having said that, some barriers are going to be insurmountable and something that we will learn to work with and others will require time to overcome.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- 1. Hutchinson AM, Johnston L. Beyond the BARRIERS Scale: commonly reported barriers to research use. J Nurs Adm 2006;36:189-99. doi: 10.1097/00005110-200604000-00008.
- Crane J. The future of research utilization. Nurs Clin North Am 1995;30:565-77.
- Bostrom J, Wise L. Closing the gap between research and practice. J Nurs Adm 1994;24:22-7. doi: 10.1097/00005110-199405000-00006.
- Yu J, Hu YF, Liu H, Li GX. Difficulties and countermeasures of surgical clinical research according to CLASS experience. Zhonghua Wei Chang Wai Ke Za Zhi 2020;23:129-33. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1671-0274.2020.02.006.
- 5. Tulandi T. Logistical difficulties in surgical research. BJOG 2017;124:e269. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.14208.
- 6. Ferreira LM. Surgical randomized controlled trials: reflection of the difficulties. Acta Cirurgica Brasileira. 2004 Dec;19:2-3.
- McCulloch P, Taylor I, Sasako M, Lovett B, Griffin D. Randomised trials in surgery: problems and possible solutions. BMJ

2002;324:1448-51. doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7351.1448.

- Jahan F, Maqbali AA, Siddiqui MA, Zadjali NM. Attitude and barrier towards research amongst health care professionals working in primary care service of Oman. J Health Edu Res Dev. 2015;3(144):2.
- 9. Park J. Historical Origins of the Tuskegee Experiment: The Dilemma of Public Health in the United States. Uisahak 2017;26:545-78. doi: 10.13081/kjmh.2017.26.545.
- Office of Scientific and Technical Information. Advisory Committee on Human Radiation Experiments - Final Report. [Online] 1996 [Cited 2021 November 22]. Available from URL: https://www.osti.gov/opennet/servlets/purl/129478/129478.pdf
- 11. Branson RD, Davis K Jr, Butler KL. African Americans' participation in clinical research: importance, barriers, and solutions. Am J Surg 2007;193:32-40. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2005.11.007.
- Dhar J, Griffiths CA, Cassell JA, Sutcliffe L, Brook GM, Mercer CH. How and why do South Asians attend GUM clinics? Evidence from contrasting GUM clinics across England. Sex Transm Infect 2010;86:366-70. doi: 10.1136/sti.2009.036004.
- Khan NH, Duan SF, Wu DD, Ji XY. Better Reporting and Awareness Campaigns Needed for Breast Cancer in Pakistani Women. Cancer Manag Res 2021;13:2125-9. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S270671.
- Waraich RS. Healthcare System and Medical Malpractice Law in Pakistan. Policy Perspectives 2018;15:85-98. Doi: 10.13169/polipers.15.3.0085
- Bodeker G, Kronenberg F. A public health agenda for traditional, complementary, and alternative medicine. Am J Public Health 2002;92:1582-91. doi: 10.2105/ajph.92.10.1582.
- Jan HA, Jan S, Bussmann RW, Wali S, Sisto F, Ahmad L. Complementary and alternative medicine research, prospects and limitations in Pakistan: A literature review. Acta Ecologica Sinica 2020;40:451-63. Doi: 10.1016/j.chnaes.2019.12.005
- Mumtaz Z, Bhatti A, Salway S. Challenges to achieving appropriate and equitable access to Caesarean section: ethnographic insights from rural Pakistan. J Biosoc Sci 2020;52:491-503. doi: 10.1017/S0021932019000567.
- Irfan FB, Irfan BB, Spiegel DA. Barriers to accessing surgical care in Pakistan: healthcare barrier model and quantitative systematic review. J Surg Res 2012;176:84-94. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2011.07.046.
- Saeed I, Khan NF, Bari A, Khan RA. Factors contributing to the lack of interest in research activities among postgraduate medical students. Pak J Med Sci 2018;34:913-17. doi: 10.12669/pjms.344.15411.
- Elkbuli A, Narvel RI, Zajd S, Hai S, McKenney M, Boneva D. Factors Affecting Research Productivity of Burn Surgeons: Results from a Survey of American Burn Association Members. J Burn Care Res 2020;41:293-8. doi: 10.1093/jbcr/irz156.
- Elkbuli A, Zajd S, Narvel RI, Dowd B, Hai S, McKenney M, et al. Factors Affecting Research Productivity of Trauma Surgeons. Am Surg 2020;86:273-9.
- 22. Evans I, Thornton H, Chalmers I, Glasziou P. Testing Treatments: Better Research for Better Healthcare, 2nd ed. London, UK: Pinter & Martin Ltd; 2011.
- ESHRE Capri Workshop Group. Protect us from poor-quality medical research. Hum Reprod 2018;33:770-6. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey056.
- Kitto S, Villanueva EV, Chesters J, Petrovic A, Waxman BP, Smith JA. Surgeons' attitudes towards and usage of evidence-based medicine in surgical practice: a pilot study. ANZ J Surg 2007;77:231-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-2197.2007.04022.x.
- Ukrani RD, Munir MM, Bhatti A, Noordin S. Student-led surgical research network: Enhancing medical student research opportunities. J Pak Med Assoc 2021;71(Suppl 1):s117-9.
- Grimes CE, Bowman KG, Dodgion CM, Lavy CB. Systematic review of barriers to surgical care in low-income and middleincome countries. World J Surg 2011;35:941-50. doi:

10.1007/s00268-011-1010-1.

- Garas G, Ibrahim A, Ashrafian H, Ahmed K, Patel V, Okabayashi K, et al. Evidence-based surgery: barriers, solutions, and the role of evidence synthesis. World J Surg 2012;36:1723-31. doi: 10.1007/s00268-012-1597-x.
- Akhtar T, Khan JA. Health research capacity in Pakistan. [Online] 2000 [Cited 2021 November 22]. Available from URL: http://www.cohred.org/downloads/681.pdf
- Ghaffar A, Zaidi S, Qureshi H, Hafeez A. Medical education and research in Pakistan. Lancet 2013;381:2234-6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60146-4.
- Saqib MAN, Rafique I. Health research funding and its output in Pakistan. East Mediterr Health J 2021;27:906-10. doi: 10.26719/emhj.21.038.
- 31. McDonald PJ, Kulkarni AV, Farrokhyar F, Bhandari M. Ethical issues in surgical research. Can J Surg 2010;53:133-6.
- Okike K, Kocher MS, Mehlman CT, Bhandari M. Conflict of interest in orthopaedic research. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007;89:608-13. doi: 10.2106/JBJS.F.00994.
- Ataee M, Hesamzadeh A, Kheradmand M. Research barriers from experts' viewpoints who attended the research workshops of Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences. J Med Life 2015;8:12-17.
- Alamdari A, Venkatesh S, Roozbehi A, Kannan A. Health research barriers in the faculties of two medical institutions in India. J Multidiscip Healthc 2012;5:187-94. doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S27841.
- Okoduwa SI, Abe JO, Samuel BI, Chris AO, Oladimeji RA, Idowu OO, et al. Attitudes, perceptions, and barriers to research and publishing among research and teaching staff in a Nigerian Research Institute. Front Res Metr Anal 2018;3:e26. Doi: 10.3389/frma.2018.00026.
- Ashrafi-Rizi H, Fateme Z, Khorasgani ZG, Kazempour Z, Imani ST. Barriers to Research Activities from the Perspective of the Students of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences. Acta Inform

Med 2015;23:155-9. doi: 10.5455/aim.2015.23.155-159.

- Dadipoor S, Ramezankhani A, Aghamolaei T, Safari-Moradabadi A. Barriers to research activities as perceived by medical university students: A cross-sectional study. Avicenna J Med 2019;9:8-14. doi: 10.4103/ajm.AJM_121_18.
- Farzaneh E, Amani F, Molavi-Taleghani Y, Fathi A, Kahnamoueiaghdam F, Fattahzadeh-Ardalani Gh. Research barriers from the viewpoint of faculty members and students of Ardabil University of Medical Sciences, Iran, 2014. Int J Res Med Sci 2016;4:1926-32. DOI: 10.18203/2320-6012.ijrms20161735
- Nikrooz L, Rouzitalab M, Rayegan Shirazi AR, Naghizadeh MM, Taghavi F. Student Research Projects Inhibiting Factors from the Students Perspective. Journal of Fasa University of Medical Sciences 2012;2:113-9.
- Memarpour M, Fard AP, Ghasemi R. Evaluation of attitude to, knowledge of and barriers toward research among medical science students. Asia Pac Fam Med 2015;14:e1. doi: 10.1186/s12930-015-0019-2.
- Ashrafi-Rizi H, Zarmehr F, Bahrami S, Ghazavi-Khorasgani Z, Kazempour Z, Shahrzadi L. Study on research anxiety among faculty members of isfahan university of medical sciences. Mater Sociomed 2014;26:356-9. doi: 10.5455/msm.2014.26.356-359.
- Davis-Roberts G. Sources of stress, levels of stress, and coping strategies of faculty and staff at Northern Caribbean University. [Online] 2006 [Cited 2021 November 22]. Available from URL: https://digitalcommons.andrews.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article =1319&context=dissertations
- Higgins C, Kotrlik J. Factors associated with research anxiety of university human resource education faculty. Career Tech Educ Res 2006;31:175-99. DOI: 10.5328/CTER31.3.175
- 44. Erfanmanesh MA, Didegah F. Researchers' and faculty members' research anxiety and its causes: literature review. Journal of National Studies on Librarianship and Information Organization 2012;23:58-72.

SHORT REPORT

Conceptual framework for a cardiac surgery simulation laboratory and competency-based curriculum in Pakistan — a short innovation report

Ali Aahil Noorali,¹ Asma Altaf Hussain Merchant,² Sardar Shahmir Babar Chauhan,³ Mustafa Ali Khan,⁴ Anam Noor Ehsan,⁵ Mohammad Bin Pervez,⁶ Muhammad Tarig,⁷ Saulat H. Fatimi⁸

Abstract

Simulation is a commonly utilized technique in healthcare education as it provides trainees a realistic, but safe, environment to learn a variety of skills. Trainees belonging to fields known for high stakes with low margins for error, such as cardiac surgery, can greatly benefit from simulation-based education. We propose the establishment of the first multi-tier high fidelity cardiac surgery simulation lab with a structured curriculum that will eventually provide multidisciplinary training to promising cardiac surgeons across Pakistan. The simulation lab may also be used for research, grant acquisition and patent development. Our setup will include the following levels of simulation: a simple bench model, a virtual reality simulator and a unique human performance simulator. Our multitiered approach allows for appropriate sequential trainee skill progression. Finally, we hope that our model inspires the development of similar curricula and modules for trainees belonging to other surgical fields.

Keywords: Cardiac surgical procedures, Simulation training, High fidelity simulation training, Medical education.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-21

Introduction

With the advent of the 21st century, cross-cutting, innovative, and demonstration-based simulation has been established as a powerful tool for training health care providers.¹ The ubiquitous use of simulation for training healthcare providers in Advanced Cardiac and Basic Life Support (ACLS/BLS) is a testament to this paradigm's success.² The application of simulation in skillbased fields like surgery is even more significant, because not only does it allow greater standards of real-time training, but it also reduces the risk to patients who would otherwise be the first point of practice for new trainees.³

¹Department of Medicine, ²Final Year Medical Student, Medical College, ³Education, Center for Innovation in Medical Education, ⁴Dean's Office, ⁵Alumni (Class of 2020), ⁶Department of Surgery, ⁷Department of Medicine, ⁸Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Mohammad Bin Pervez. Email: mbpervez@gmail.com

This need is further pronounced in high-stakes, highprecision fields featuring a low-margin of error, like cardiac surgery.⁴ High fidelity simulation (HFS) is still relatively nascent in cardiac surgery, owing to the challenges of setting up a tissue-based simulator of exceedingly complicated procedures. However, contemporary advances have not only made this possible, but also highly refined and developed.⁵ The added aspects of intense research, interest by grant awarding bodies, and patent development aptly complement these advances.⁶

Precision-oriented simulation employed in cardiac surgery can pave the way for improved simulated training in healthcare sciences across the board. In this innovation report, we propose a concept note for a well-developed cardiac surgical simulation lab which would be complemented by the backbone of a carefully curated simulation curriculum. This initiative has the potential of becoming a groundbreaking advancement in medical training at both national and regional levels. In addition, the experience gained by developing such a complex simulation system will help push the frontiers of surgical simulation in Pakistan, and the lessons learnt will pave a pathway for other surgical fields to develop similar simulation systems.

Methods and Results

Primary Objective: The strategic establishment of a multi-tier, high fidelity cardiac surgery simulation lab, with a formal structured curriculum, would provide a platform for advanced multidisciplinary training at institutional, national, and regional levels.

Secondary Objective: Further concurrent and subsequent arms include curriculum development, research in simulation education, grant acquisition and patent development.

Modus Operandi: Three core principles lie at the center of a fully functional cardiac surgery simulation lab: it should be based on Evidence-Based Medicine, designed for comprehensive sequential training, and tiered with an appropriate progression of skills. This allows for a more cost-effective, trainee-specific approach instead of investing in a single high-fidelity simulation module alone. At the same time, our objective is to develop a resourceagnostic comprehensive system that can integrate the already available resources in Pakistan, such as ACLS and Harvey manikins, with a newly developed simulator.

This concept note discusses the development of a novel cardiac surgery simulation lab in a low-middle income country like Pakistan, which would include the following three models:

1) Simple Bench Model (SBM): This is a low-cost instructive set up to be used in conjunction with locally sourced animal-based hearts or synthetic tissue e.g. The Chamberlain Group HeartCase.⁷ This system is especially effective for instructing larger groups in surgical approaches and techniques. Similar systems, such as the animal hearts without simulation case, have already been piloted and have been run as wet labs by many institutions in Pakistan. The set up provides realistic challenges of texture, exposure, access, and suture angulation in the depth of the pericardial well that cannot be emulated with an animal heart alone. The versatile

nature of the model will serve as a basic platform for cardiac surgery workshops held in future.

2) Virtual Reality Simulator: This system focuses on advanced, high-technology systems designed to simulate haemodynamic parameters in the safe environment of the simulator, as opposed to the operating room (OR) on a live patient. The systems are programmed with advanced algorithms that can be triggered to allow the simulation of regular scenarios as well as disaster scenarios. The objective is to create exposure to well-known, common complications associated with cardiac surgery and to inculcate the requisite reflexes in the safe environment of a simulation. This will improve the essential response and reaction times in real life situations by enhancing the overall training of the residents, and thus, improve patient outcomes and overall costs due to shorter OR time, similar to Califia 2 system by Biomed Simulation (U.S.A) and Orpheus (Australia).8

3) Human Performance Simulator: This apical tier for surgical trainers is represented by high fidelity simulators that allow near-complete simulation of the entire cardiac surgical procedure on a

beating animal heart. These devices are animated by programmable pumps that can mimic most intraoperative scenarios which would require critical thinking from the trainee. These systems can allow practice of highly complex procedures such as: 1. Great vessel cannulation, 2. Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting, 3. Valve replacement and repair procedures, 4. Atrial/Ventricular Septal Defect repairs. The system can be used in conjunction with the Virtual Reality Simulator to emulate complete procedures, including hands-on surgical skills and appropriate responses to intraoperative complications. The best-known representative simulator is the Ramphal Simulator designed at the University of the West Indies and now utilized by major institutions across North America.⁴

Framework and Outcomes: Economic sustainability is a cornerstone to optimizing the development and upkeep of this simulation lab. Our tripartite strategy for long-term economic sustainability has been described in Figure-1. The United States-based Thoracic Surgery Directors



Figure: Overview of the trimodal strategy to provide economic sustainability for the cardiac simulation laboratory.

Table: Overarching framework of 12 curricular teaching modules and an annual cardiac surgical retreat.

	Curricular Teaching Module	Description
1.	Cardiopulmonary Bypass Module	Primary procedure module (Component 1 of 6)
2.	Ischaemic Heart Revascularization on pump plus off pump	Primary procedure module (Component 2 of 6)
3.	Aortic Valve Replacement	Primary procedure module (Component 3 of 6)
4.	Mitral Valve Repair plus Replacement	Primary procedure module (Component 4 of 6)
5.	Atrial Septal Defect/ Ventricular Septal Defect	Primary procedure module (Component 5 of 6)
6.	Aortic Aneurysm Module	Primary procedure module (Component 6 of 6)
7.	Massive Air Embolism Module	Advanced scenario module (Component 1 of 6)
8.	Acute Intraoperative Aortic Dissection Module	Advanced scenario module (Component 2 of 6)
9.	Sudden Deterioration in Cardiac Function Module	Advanced scenario module (Component 3 of 6)
10.	Minimally Invasive Valvular Surgery + Maze Procedure	Advanced scenario module (Component 4 of 6)
11.	Complex Multicomponent Surgery - Valve + CABG	Advanced scenario module (Component 5 of 6)
12.	Redo Cardiac Surgery	Advanced scenario module (Component 6 of 6)
13.	Annual Cardiac Surgical Retreat	7 Day condensed culmination of in-house
		curriculum for Cardiac Surgical Residents from
		all over Pakistan
Association (TSDA) 'boot camp' has already applied this three-tier system for the past few years to train Cardiac Surgery residents from the top institutions around the country.⁹ However, given that the variability of centers across different settings also translates downstream to integral differences in resources and protocols, it is important to develop a home-grown and contextual curriculum for Pakistan. It is also imperative to keep surgeons at the forefront of designing such curricula. Details of our training curriculum framework have been provided in Table-1.

Given the dearth of such ventures on a global scale, and especially in low- and middle-income countries, there is a likelihood of attracting an international group of trainees and academicians as well. In this manner, there is also a potential to recover and even exceed the original investment utilized in the setting up of the lab. The lab would also serve as a valuable research source for the study of curriculum teaching in the highly complex field of Cardiac Surgical Education.

Conclusion

Cardiac Surgery is a high-precision, high-stakes, multidisciplinary field involving complex surgeries with very little room for error. Adequately training residents and other members of a cardiac surgery team in the safe environment of a high-fidelity simulation lab will improve their skill levels, leading to safer operations and shorter operative times in real life situations. Extensive training in cardiopulmonary bypass-related disaster situations, ubiquitously recognized as life threatening, will improve patient outcomes significantly.

Concurrently, it is paramount to establish Pakistan's first full-fledged simulated surgical curriculum simultaneously with the provision of adequate equipment and extensive training scenarios, including evaluation checklists and educational research. Future directions could be to pilot this at the intra-university level, as an annual high fidelity simulation course with a complete workshop curriculum for trainees at the national and international levels. Finally, the concept note for this innovative model can be used to extrapolate similar training modules in other fields of surgery.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Funding Disclosure: None.

References

- Dunn W, Dong Y, Zendejas B, Ruparel R, Farley D. Simulation, Mastery Learning and Healthcare. Am J Med Sci. 2017; 353:158-65.
- Langdorf MI, Strom SL, Yang L, Canales C, Anderson CL, Amin A, et al. High-fidelity simulation enhances ACLS training. Teach Learn Med. 2014; 26:266-73.
- Meling TR, Meling TR. The impact of surgical simulation on patient outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosurg Rev. 2021; 44:843-54.
- Feins RH, Burkhart HM, Conte J V, Coore DN, Fann JI, Hicks GLJ, et al. Simulation-Based Training in Cardiac Surgery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2017; 103:312-21.
- Wilson HH, Feins RH, Heathcote SAS, Caranasos TG. A High-Fidelity, Tissue-Based Simulation for Cardiac Transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg. 2020; 109:e147-8.
- McLean A, McDonald W, Goodridge D. Simulation Modeling as a Novel and Promising Strategy for Improving Success Rates With Research Funding Applications: A Constructive Thought Experiment. JMIR Nurs. 2020; 3:e18983.
- Fann JI, Feins RH, Hicks GLJ, Nesbitt JC, Hammon JW, Crawford FAJ. Evaluation of simulation training in cardiothoracic surgery: the Senior Tour perspective. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2012; 143:264-72.
- Burkhart HM, Riley JB, Hendrickson SE, Glenn GF, Lynch JJ, Arnold JJ, et al. The successful application of simulation-based training in thoracic surgery residency. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2010; 139:707-12.
- Fann JI, Calhoon JH, Carpenter AJ, Merrill WH, Brown JW, Poston RS, et al. Simulation in coronary artery anastomosis early in cardiothoracic surgical residency training: the Boot Camp experience. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2010; 139:1275-81.

STUDENTS' CORNER PILOT STUDY

Radial artery coronary bypass grafting: Surgical outcomes of an unexplored innovation in a developing country

Russell Seth Martins,¹ Laiba Masood,² Mabrooka Kazi,³ Mishal Gillani,⁴ Ayesha Sadiq,⁵ Hina Inam,⁶ Saulat Hasnain Fatimi⁷

Abstract

Objective: To explore postoperative outcomes, particularly prolonged length of hospital stay, in radial artery coronary artery bypass graft patients in a tertiary-care setting.

Methods: The pilot prospective cohort study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, from September 2019 to September 2020, and comprised adult patients of either gender due to undergo coronary artery bypass grafting for coronary artery disease involving two or more vessels. The subjects were approached for the use of their radial artery as a conduit. Prolonged length of hospital stay was defined as postoperative stay >9 days. Multivariable logistic regression was used to identify independent predictors of the length of hospital stay. Data was analysed using SPSS 21.

Results: Of the 97 patients, 84(86.6%) were males. The overall mean age of the sample was 58.33 ± 8.34 years. Mean length of hospital stay was 8.10 ± 2.37 days, and 23(23.7%) patients had prolonged stay. Higher age was a significant predictor of prolonged hospital stay (p<0.05). Besides, 23(23.7%) patients developed acute kidney injury. There was no incidence of wound, infection or deep venous thrombosis, while 1(1.03%) patient had to be reopened due to excessive postoperative bleeding, and it represented the lone mortality.

Conclusion: Patient age was found to be a significant predictor of prolonged hospital stay in patients undergoing radial artery coronary artery bypass graft, while almost a quarter of the sample was affected by acute kidney injury. **Keywords:** Coronary artery bypass graft, Radial artery, Prolonged length of stay, Acute kidney injury, Ejection fraction. (JPMA 72: S-106 [Suppl. 1]; 2022)

DOI:https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-22

Introduction

The bypass vessel conduits most frequently used in coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) are the left internal mammary artery (LIMA) and the greater saphenous vein (SVG), with the graft of LIMA to the left anterior descending (LAD) artery acknowledged as the gold standard.¹ However, grafts from the right internal mammary artery (RIMA) and the radial artery (RA) have also been used. Moreover, both arterial grafts have been found to have better long-term clinical benefit compared to the SVG, leading to recommendations in favour of RA as the preferred second conduit after LIMA in multi-vessel CABG.^{2,3}

Despite the first use of a RA graft in 1973,⁴ its use as the second-choice conduit has been limited in Pakistan in favour of the more conventional SVG. As such, scarce information is available on the surgical outcomes and risk factors associated with RA grafts in the Pakistani

^{1,2,4,5}Year 5 Medical Student, ³Year 3 Medical Student, Medical College, Aga Khan University, Karachi, ^{6,7}Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Saulat Hasnain Fatimi. Email: saulat.fatimi@aku.edu

population. The use of RA as the second conduit is associated with shorter post-operative length of hospital stay (LOS) possibly due to the lower risk of harvest-site infection compared to the SVG.⁵

Prolonged length of post-operative hospital stay (PLOS) has been recognised as an important outcome, as it incurs increased hospital resource utilisation and higher patient costs. Although PLOS has been studied extensively in CABG procedures⁶⁻⁸ overall, where the SVG is the most commonly chosen second conduit after LIMA, there is little research regarding PLOS in CABG procedures where the RA serves as the second-choice conduit. This is particularly the case in developing countries, such as Pakistan, where the additional cost and expenditure resulting from PLOS adds further burden to an already resource-constrained healthcare system.

The current study was planned to explore post-operative outcomes, in particular PLOS, and associated factors amongst patients undergoing CABG with RA grafting in a tertiary-care setting.

Patients and Methods

The pilot prospective cohort study was conducted at the

S-107

Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH), Karachi, from September 2019 to September 2020. After approval from the institutional ethics review board, all adult patients, both male and female, undergoing CABG for coronary artery disease involving two or more vessels were approached. Informed consent was taken from all patients whereby they agreed to the use of the RA as the second conduit along with LIMA in their CABG surgery. Patients who refused consent to RA harvest and those with an abnormal modified Allen's Test, with capillary refill taking >12 seconds, were excluded.9 The RA graft was anastomosed to the right side of the coronary vasculature when the lesion in the right was >90% occlusive, and on the left side when the lesion in the left was >70% occlusive.

Data was collected from patients' charts and medical records through the online patient data system using a structured proforma which included patients' pre-operative, intra-operative and post-operative characteristics.

Ejection fraction (EF) was defined as the proportion of blood pumped out of the ventricles with each contraction, and the cut-off value was taken as 55%.¹⁰

Acute kidney injury (AKI) was diagnosed if any one of the three criteria were fulfilled: rise >0.3mg/dl in serum creatinine levels within 48 hours, or 1.5-fold rise in serum creatinine levels from baseline within seven days, and a reduction in urine output <0.5ml/kg/day for at least 6 hours.¹¹

Body mass index (BMI) was categorised according to the World Health Organisation (WHO) ranges for adult Asians.¹²

There is no universally-prescribed cut-off value for PLOS has been described in literature. Thus, PLOS was defined as any post-operative hospital stay longer than the 75th percentile of the overall sample which was the equivalent of >9 days in our sample. The selection of this cut-off was agreed upon by the cardiothoracic surgeons and is consistent with other studies which use the 75th percentile to define PLOS after cardiac surgery.^{8,13}

In terms of sample size calculation, it was hypothesised that 30% patients would experience PLOS. The hypothesis was made in the absence of previous studies exploring the incidence of PLOS after CABG using RA. The minimum sample size was calculated using OpenEpi calculator¹⁴ with a finite population size of 300 cases, which is the annual volume of CABG procedures at AKUH, and 95% confidence level. As the current study was a pilot

research, at least 50% of the required sample size of 156 was considered sufficient.

Data was analyzed using SPSS 21. For the comparison of data, independent sample t-tests and chi-squared tests were used, as appropriate. Subsets of the sample according to pre-existing hypertension (HTN) were also analysed. Univariable and multivariable regression analyses were performed. Factors with p<0.25 on univariate analysis were included in multivariable analysis. Odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) were worked out. All possible associations of PLOS with pre-operative, intra-operative and post-operative independent variables were assessed. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant in all cases.

Results

Of the 97 patients, 84(86.6%) were males. The overall mean age of the sample was 58.33±8.34 years. There were 66(68%) patients categorised as obese. The most common co-morbid was HTN 72(74.2%). There were 81(83.5%) cases of triple-vessel CABG. In addition to RA and LIMA, the most commonly used vessel was SVG 93(95.9%). The most common sites of distal anastomosis of the RA graft were the posterior descending artery (PDA) 47(48.5%) and the obtuse marginal artery (OMA) 26 (26.8%).

Pacing wires (PWs) were used in 26(26.8%) cases. The mean length of stay in the cardiac intensive care unit (CICU) was 1.2 ± 0.54 days, or 28.8 ± 12.96 hours. There was no incidence of wound infection, chest infection, urinary tract infection (UTI) or deep venous thrombosis (DVT) in the sample. There was 1(1.03%) case that needed to be reopened due to excessive post-operative bleeding and it was the lone mortality in the cohort. Pre-operative, intraoperative, and postoperative characteristics are summarized in Table-1.

Mean LOS was 8.10 ± 2.37 days, and 23(23.7%) patients had PLOS. The PLOS group had a significantly greater age at surgery 61.65 ± 8.13 years compared to 57.30 ± 8.18 years in 74(76.3%) patients who did not have PLOS (p=0.028). In addition, a significant association was also found between PLOS and the use of PWs, with 10(43.5%)of the PLOS patients having a PW compared to 16(21.6%)of non-PLOS patients (p=0.039).

Among the 72(74.2%) patients with HTN, the duration of mechanical ventilation was shorter in the PLOS group 6.13 ± 4.88 hours compared to the non-PLOS group 9.48 ± 7.69 hours (p=0.042).

There were 48(49.5%) patients with EF <55%. T2DM was

Table-1: Patient pre-operative, intra-operative and post-operative characteristics.

Variables	Total	Prolonged L	Prolonged Length of Stav		
N (%)		Yes	No		
	07 (100)	ר כר) בר	74 (76 2)		
Ago (Voars)	59 22 + 9 34	23 (23.7) 61 65 ± 8 13	74 (70.5) 57 30 ± 8 18	0.028	
Gender	J0.JJ ± 0.J4	01.05 ± 0.15	J7.50 ± 0.10	0.028	
Malo	84 (86 6)	10 (82.6)	65 (87 8)	0.5	
Fomalo	12 (12 /)	15 (02.0) A (17 A)	0 (12 2)	0.5	
BMI (kg/m2)	13(13.4) 27.81 ± 4.03	(17.4)	3(12.2) 27 77 + 5 07	0.000	
BMI (kg/III2)	27:01 ± 4.95	27.91 ± 4.50	27.77 ± 5.07	0.909	
Underweight	1 (1 0)	1 (/ 3)	0 (0)		
Normal	12 (12 4)	1 (4.3)	11 (14 0)		
Avenueight	12 (12.4)	2 (12 0)	15 (20.3)	0 192	
Obosity I	26 (27 1)	3 (13.0) 11 (<i>I</i> /7 8)	15 (20.5) 25 (33.8)	0.102	
Obesity II	30 (30 9)	7 (30 /)	23 (35.8)		
$EE \sim 55\%$	A8 (40 5)	12 (56 5)	25 (31.1)	0.44	
Brosont Comorbids	40 (49.5)	15 (50.5)	55 (47.5)	0.44	
	72 (74 2)	16 (60 6)	56 (75 7)	0.558	
торм	/2 (/4.2) 40 (50 5)	10 (09.0)	27 (50 0)	0.005	
	49 (50.5) 61 (62 9)	12 (52.2)	57 (50.0) 48 (64 0)	0.005	
Smaker	01 (02.9)	6 (26 1)	40 (04.9)	0.409	
	23(23.7)	2 (8 7)	1 (1 4)	0.739	
Others	5 (5.1) 16 (16 5)	2 (0.7) 6 (26 1)	1 (1. 4) 10 (12 5)	0.139	
	10 (10.5)	0 (20.1)	10 (15.5)	0.190	
Voc	2 (2 1)	2 (8 7)	0 (0)	0.054	
No	2 (2.1)	2 (0.7)	74 (100)	0.054	
NU Surgery Duration (minc)	(۲.۶۶) دو 207 60 ± 61 07	21 (71.3) 251 97 ± 01 22	74 (100) 220 12 ± 47 06	0 112	
	227.09 ± 01.97	231.07 ± 91.23	220.10 ± 47.90	0.112	
Double Veccel	4 (4 1)	1 (4 2)	2 (4 1)		
Triple Vessel	4 (4.1) 91 (92 5)	1 (4.3)	3 (4.1) 63 (92 9)	0.001	
Augurupho Voscol	12 (12 4)	3 (13 0)	02 (03.8)	0.991	
VCT (minc)	12(12.4) 58 68 + 16 20	5(13.0) 62 30 \pm 17 27	5(12.2) 57 22 + 15 05	0 115	
CDPT (minc)	30.00 ± 10.39 106 55 ± 29.60	03.39 ± 17.27 110.97 ± 29.05	J7.22 ± 1J.9J 105 D0 ± 29.69	0.113	
CrDI (IIIIIS)	100.33 ± 20.09	110.07 ± 20.95	103.20 ± 28.08	0.411	
Voc	26 (26.8)	10 (43 5)	16 (21.6)	0 030	
No	20 (20.8)	10 (43.3)	10 (21.0) 59 (79 A)	0.039	
NU Duration of Ventilation (Hours)	7 I (73.2) 8 00 + 6 62	13 (30.3) 6 97 + E 40	JO (70.4)	0.212	
	0.09 ± 0.02 1 20 ± 0.54	0.07 ± 0.49	0.4/ 工 0.95 1 14 土 0 24	0.515	
CICU Sidy (UdyS) Acute Kidney Inium (AKI)	1.20 ± 0.34	1.41 ± 0.91 9 (24 9)	1.14 ± 0.34 15 (20 2)	0.101	
Acute Nuffey Injury (ANI) Chast Tubo Day 1 (ml)	23 (23.7) 542 00 ± 297 50	٥ (34.٥) 565 67 ـــ 164 16	ID (20.3) 526 09 ± 211 71	0.153	
Chest Tube Day 1 (III)	242.00 ± 287.09	303.07 ± 104.10	220.00 ± 311./1	0.724	
	337.03 ± 242.20	487.35 ± 300.90	310.90 ± 100.43	0.071	

BMI: Body mass index, EF: Ejection fraction, HTN: Hypertension, T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus, IHD: ischaemic heart disease, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, XCT: Cross-clamp time. CPBT: Cardiopulmonary bypass time, CICU: Cardiac intensive care unit.

significantly more common (30/48 or 62.5% vs. 19/49 or 38.8%; p=0.019) and chest drain output in the first 48 post-operative hours was significantly higher (1038.53 \pm 450.13ml vs. 818.37 \pm 197.00 ml; p=0.007) in such patients.

Patients with ischaemic heart disease (IHD) had a significantly longer duration of ventilation 9.03 ± 7.5 hours than those without IHD 6.50 ± 4.4 hours (p=0.039). Patients with HTN had a significantly longer duration of ventilation 8.74 ± 7.3 hours than those not having HTN 6.24 ± 3.8 hours (p=0.032). Among the HTN group, patients with EF <55%

had a significantly higher post-operative creatinine 1.20 ± 0.40 mg/dL than those with EF >55% 1.04 ± 0.19 mg/dL (p=0.043).

Of the entire sample, 23(23.7%) patients developed AKI. The AKI group had a significantly higher pre-operative haemoglobin (Hb) 13.83 ± 1.62 mg/dL than the rest 13.06 ± 1.39 mg/dL (p=0.027), higher pre-operative creatinine 1.09 ± 0.27 mg/dL than the rest 0.93 ± 0.22 mg/dL (p=0.005) and post-operative day 1 (POD-1) creatinine 1.54 ± 0.31 mg/dL than the rest 0.98 ± 0.19 (p<0.001). Patients in the AKI group also had a greater decrease in

Table-2: Univariable and multivariable regression analysis.

Variables	cOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	
Age	1.076 (1.007-1.151) **	1.129 (1.010-1.263) **	
Gender			
Male	0.658 (0.182-2.375)		
Female	Reference		
BMI (kg/m ²)	1.006 (0.915-1.106)		
Present Comorbids			
HTN	0.735 (0.261-2.068)		
T2DM	1.091 (0.428-2.783)		
IHD	0.704 (0.272-1.825)		
Ejection Fraction			
Normal	Reference		
Borderline	0.480 (0.98-2.342)		
Reduced	1.559 (0.417-5.828)		
Surgery Duration (mins)	1.008 (0.999-1.016) *	1.129 (0.989-1.015)	
XCT (mins)	1.022 (0.994-1.051)		
CPBT (mins)	1.007 (0.991-1.024)		
Pacing Wire			
Yes	2.788 (1.033-7.527) **	2.901 (0.632-13.309)	
No	Reference	Reference	
Duration of Ventilation (Hours)	0.957 (0.878-1.043)		
CICU Stay (Days)	2.358 (0.906-6.144) *	2.134 (0.732-6.223)	
Chest Tube Day 1 (ml)	1.000 (0.998-1.002)		
Chest Tube Day 2 (ml)	1.003 (1.0002-1.006) **	1.003 (0.999-1.006)	

^{*} p < 0.25. ** p < 0.05.

cOR: Crude odds ratio, aOR: Adjusted odds ratio, Cl: Confidence interval, BMI: Body mass index, HTN: Hypertension, T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus, IHD: ischaemic heart disease, COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, XCT: Cross-clamp time, CPBT: Cardiopulmonary bypass time, CICU: Cardiac intensive care unit.

Hb post-operatively 3.82 ± 1.59 g/dL than the rest 3.15 ± 1.46 g/dL (p=0.063).

On univariate regression analysis with PLOS as the

outcome, age, PW, and chest drain output on POD-2 were found to be significant predictors of development of PLOS along with surgery duration and duration of CICU stay (p<0.25). Only age remained a significant predictor of PLOS on multivariable analysis (p<0.05) (Figure). Older patients were significantly more likely to have PLOS (Table-2).

Discussion

The current study revealed overall favourable outcomes with the use of RA as a conduit in CABG. The incidence of PLOS and AKI (both 23.7%) represented the main sources of post-operative morbidity. Age was found to independently predict PLOS, while PW and chest drain output on POD-2 were significant predictors on univariable analysis.

Higher age has been found to be a predictor of PLOS post-CABG earlier as well.^{7,15} The mean post-operative LOS in the current study was similar to an earlier study.¹⁶ The mean age in the current study was lower than that what has been reported in most earlier studies,^{17,18} while it matched the finding of a study conducted at AKUH in 2016. As age increases in adults, there is an increase in frailty and a decrease in physiological reserves, which comparatively retards their ability to recover postoperatively. The use of a PW has also been shown to lead to longer post-operative LOS.¹⁹ Patients requiring a PW have been found to have a higher age, and a greater incidence of preoperative arrhythmias²⁰ and T2DM.¹⁹ The percentage of patients in the current cohort requiring a PW was 26.8%, which is considerably higher than earlier reports.8,18



Figure: Pre-operative risk factors and post-operative outcomes.

The current results showed that patients who developed post-operative AKI had higher pre-operative serum creatinine and POD-1 creatinine along with higher preoperative Hb. A raised pre-operative creatinine level may indicate a worse pre-operative renal function, or possibly background pre-existing chronic kidney disease (CKD).²¹ Thus, developing AKI after CABG may be an exacerbation of it in the form of 'acute-on-chronic' kidney disease.²² The POD-1 creatinine levels were also significantly higher in the group of patients who developed AKI. Even a minimal increase in creatinine early in the post-operative period can increase the risk of post-operative mortality.²³ Patients who developed AKI lost on average 3.82±1.59 g/dL of Hb compared to 3.15±1.46g/dL lost by patients who did not develop AKI. There are numerous studies having shown that increased peri-operative bleeding increases the risk of post-operative complications, including AKI.24-26 Moreover, early post-operative decreases in Hb concentration are also strongly associated with AKI development.²⁷ Early identification and management of patients can help reduce the burden of AKI after RA-CABG. This includes pre-operative imaging of the genitourinary tract and the glomerular filtration rate (GFR) measurement, given the association of coronary artery disease (CAD) and CKD,²⁸ as well as optimising surgical techniques to decrease surgery duration and intra-operative blood-loss, and judicious use of nephrotoxic drugs, such as vancomycin, postoperatively.

Lower pre-operative EF (<55%) was associated with greater chest drain output over the first two PODs. This association has been demonstrated in a few prior studies where lower EF was associated with increased chest drain output,²⁹ excessive bleeding³⁰ and a higher risk of reoperation for excessive bleeding from the chest.^{31,32} There was a significantly higher percentage of patients with T2DM in the EF <55% group compared to the EF >55% group. Patients with pre-existing T2DM and reduced EF represent a challenging population for CABG surgery due to the greater risk of post-operative complications,³³ including long-term mortality.³⁴ A study³⁵ showed that use of RA as the second-choice conduit instead of SVG conferred a late-survival advantage in diabetics undergoing CABG, supporting the use of the arterial conduit in this patient population.

A major limitation of the current study was its small sample size, resulting from a high rate of patient refusal for RA harvesting. Furthermore, this was a single-centre study, thereby its findings may not be generalisable. However, there is an absolute lack of research in developing countries regarding indicators, such as reduced pre-operative EF along with post-operative adverse outcomes, including PLOS and development of AKI associated with patients undergoing RA-CABG. Thus, the study can serve as the basis for future studies on the subject.

Conclusion

Although outcomes of RA-CABG were generally favourable, there were a few important associations, including patient age which was found to be a significant predictor of PLOS. Moreover, reduced EF was associated with greater post-operative chest tube drainage. Higher pre-operative creatinine and greater post-operative change in Hb were associated with AKI development.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- Jannati M, Navaei MR, Ronizi LG. A comparative review of the outcomes of using arterial versus venous conduits in coronary artery bypass graft (CABG). J Family Med Prim Care 2019;8:2768-73. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_367_19.
- Shapira OM. Radial Artery as the Preferred Second Conduit for Coronary Bypass. N Engl J Med 2018;378:2134-5. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1804750.
- Hillis LD, Smith PK, Anderson JL, Bittl JA, Bridges CR, Byrne JG, et al. 2011 ACCF/AHA Guideline for Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2011;124:2610-42. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31823b5fee.
- Carpentier A, Guermonprez JL, Deloche A, Frechette C, DuBost C. The aorta-to-coronary radial artery bypass graft. A technique avoiding pathological changes in grafts. Ann Thorac Surg 1973;16:111-21. doi: 10.1016/s0003-4975(10)65825-0.
- Modine T, Al-Ruzzeh S, Mazrani W, Azeem F, Bustami M, Ilsley C, et al. Use of radial artery graft reduces the morbidity of coronary artery bypass graft surgery in patients aged 65 years and older. Ann Thorac Surg 2002;74:1144-7. doi: 10.1016/s0003-4975(02)03835-3.
- Oliveira EK, Turquetto AL, Tauil PL, Junqueira LF Jr, Porto LG. Risk factors for prolonged hospital stay after isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. Rev Bras Cir Cardiovasc 2013;28:353-63. doi: 10.5935/1678-9741.20130055.
- Weintraub WS, Jones EL, Craver J, Guyton R, Cohen C. Determinants of prolonged length of hospital stay after coronary bypass surgery. Circulation 1989;80:276-84. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.80.2.276.
- Almashrafi A, Alsabti H, Mukaddirov M, Balan B, Aylin P. Factors associated with prolonged length of stay following cardiac surgery in a major referral hospital in Oman: a retrospective observational study. BMJ Open 2016;6:e010764. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010764.
- 9. Ronald A, Patel A, Dunning J. Is the Allen's test adequate to safely confirm that a radial artery may be harvested for coronary arterial bypass grafting? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2005;4:332-40. doi: 10.1510/icvts.2005.110247.

S-111

- Ueda T, Kawakami R, Nishida T, Onoue K, Soeda T, Okayama S, et al. Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction (EF) of 55% as Cutoff for Late Transition From Heart Failure (HF) With Preserved EF to HF With Mildly Reduced EF. Circ J 2015;79:2209-15. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-15-0425.
- Kellum JA, Lameire N, Aspelin P, Barsoum RS, Burdmann EA, Goldstein SL, et al. Kidney disease: Improving global outcomes (KDIGO) acute kidney injury work group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. Kidney Int Suppl 2012;2:1-138. Doi:.10.1038/kisup.2012.1
- 12. World Health Organization. The Asia-Pacific perspective: redefining obesity and its treatment. Sydney, Australia: Health Communications Australia; 2000.
- Martins RS, Dawood ZS, Memon MKY, Akhtar S. Prolonged length of stay after surgery for adult congenital heart disease: a singlecentre study in a developing country. Cardiol Young 2020;30:1253-60. doi: 10.1017/S1047951120001936.
- 14. Dean AG, Sullivan KM, Soe MM. OpenEpi: Open Source Epidemiologic Statistics for Public Health, Version 3.01. [Online] 2013 [Cited 2021 December 25]. Available from URL: https://www.openepi.com/SampleSize/SSPropor.htm
- Khairudin Z, Mohd N, Hamid H. Predictive models of prolonged stay after Coronary Artery Bypass surgery. In: 2012 International Conference on Statistics in Science, Business and Engineering (ICSSBE). Langkawi, Malaysia: IEEE, 2012; pp 257.
- Eisenberg MJ, Filion KB, Azoulay A, Brox AC, Haider S, Pilote L. Outcomes and cost of coronary artery bypass graft surgery in the United States and Canada. Arch Intern Med 2005;165:1506-13. doi: 10.1001/archinte.165.13.1506.
- Cowper PA, DeLong ER, Hannan EL, Muhlbaier LH, Lytle BL, Jones RH, et al. Trends in postoperative length of stay after bypass surgery. Am Heart J 2006;152:1194-200. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2006.07.017.
- Terada T, Johnson JA, Norris C, Padwal R, Qiu W, Sharma AM, et al. Severe Obesity Is Associated With Increased Risk of Early Complications and Extended Length of Stay Following Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting Surgery. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;5:e003282. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.003282.
- Bethea BT, Salazar JD, Grega MA, Doty JR, Fitton TP, Alejo DE, et al. Determining the utility of temporary pacing wires after coronary artery bypass surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2005;79:104-7. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2004.06.087.
- Asghar MI, Khan AA, Iqbal A, Arshad A, Afridi I. Placing epicardial pacing wires in isolated coronary artery bypass graft surgery--a procedure routinely done but rarely beneficial. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad 2009;21:86-90.
- 21. Levey AS, Coresh J. Chronic kidney disease. Lancet 2012;379:165-80. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60178-5.
- 22. Hsu CY, Ordoñez JD, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Go AS. The risk of acute renal failure in patients with chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 2008;74:101-7. doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.107.
- Lassnigg A, Schmidlin D, Mouhieddine M, Bachmann LM, Druml W, Bauer P, et al. Minimal changes of serum creatinine predict

prognosis in patients after cardiothoracic surgery: a prospective cohort study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004;15:1597-605. doi: 10.1097/01.asn.0000130340.93930.dd.

- 24. Kinnunen EM, Zanobini M, Onorati F, Brascia D, Mariscalco G, Franzese I, et al. The impact of minor blood transfusion on the outcome after coronary artery bypass grafting. J Crit Care 2017;40:207-12. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2017.04.025.
- Biancari F, Tauriainen T, Perrotti A, Dalén M, Faggian G, Franzese I, et al. Bleeding, transfusion and the risk of stroke after coronary surgery: A prospective cohort study of 2357 patients. Int J Surg 2016;32:50-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2016.06.032.
- Stone GW, Clayton TC, Mehran R, Dangas G, Parise H, Fahy M, et al. Impact of major bleeding and blood transfusions after cardiac surgery: analysis from the Acute Catheterization and Urgent Intervention Triage strategY (ACUITY) trial. Am Heart J 2012;163:522-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2011.11.016.
- 27. Walsh M, Garg AX, Devereaux PJ, Argalious M, Honar H, Sessler DI. The association between perioperative hemoglobin and acute kidney injury in patients having noncardiac surgery. Anesth Analg 2013;117:924-31. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e3182a1ec84.
- Na KY, Kim CW, Song YR, Chin HJ, Chae DW. The association between kidney function, coronary artery disease, and clinical outcome in patients undergoing coronary angiography. J Korean Med Sci 2009;24(Suppl 1):s87-94. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2009.24.S1.S87.
- 29. Dixon B, Reid D, Collins M, Newcomb AE, Rosalion A, Yap CH, et al. The operating surgeon is an independent predictor of chest tube drainage following cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2014;28:242-6. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2013.09.010.
- Lopes CT, Dos Santos TR, Brunori EH, Moorhead SA, Lopes Jde L, Barros AL. Excessive bleeding predictors after cardiac surgery in adults: integrative review. J Clin Nurs 2015;24:3046-62. doi: 10.1111/jocn.12936.
- 31. Topkara VK, Cheema FH, Kesavaramanujam S, Mercando ML, Cheema AF, Namerow PB, et al. Coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with low ejection fraction. Circulation 2005;112(Suppl 9):I344-50. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.526277.
- 32. Mehta RH, Sheng S, O'Brien SM, Grover FL, Gammie JS, Ferguson TB, et al. Reoperation for bleeding in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: incidence, risk factors, time trends, and outcomes. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2009;2:583-90. doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.109.858811.
- Nagendran J, Bozso SJ, Norris CM, McAlister FA, Appoo JJ, Moon MC, et al. Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery Improves Outcomes in Patients With Diabetes and Left Ventricular Dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018;71:819-27. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.12.024.
- 34. Kogan A, Ram E, Levin S, Fisman EZ, Tenenbaum A, Raanani E, et al. Impact of type 2 diabetes mellitus on short- and long-term mortality after coronary artery bypass surgery. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2018;17:151. doi: 10.1186/s12933-018-0796-7.
- Schwann TA, Al-Shaar L, Engoren M, Habib RH. Late effects of radial artery vs saphenous vein grafting for multivessel coronary bypass surgery in diabetics: a propensity-matched analysis. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2013;44:701-10. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezt061.

STUDENTS' CORNER NARRATIVE REVIEW

The environment under the knife: A review of current Eco-surgical strategies and recommendations for Pakistan

Russell Seth Martins,¹ Edward Anthony Joseph,² Javeria Tariq,³ Namrah Aziz,⁴ Saulat H. Fatimi⁵

Abstract

The healthcare sector at its core is based on the fundamentals belief to do no harm and bring about betterment in the lives of the people. Paradoxically, hospitals are one of the leading contributors to pollution, greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and toxic waste material worldwide. Surgical care delivery is quite resource intensive, consuming significant amount of energy and equipment as well as producing large quantities of waste. With climate change being a global priority, it is crucial that hospitals re-evaluate the environmental impact of such practices. The current review was planned to identify areas of improvement in surgical care in terms of sustainability, as well as describe efficient and innovative strategies for hospitals in Pakistan to lessen their impact on the environment. The implementation of the 5 R's strategy for surgical care (Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Rethink and Research) as well as general measures to improve energy efficiency, waste management and inter-sectoral collaboration will provide significant benefits to the environment and advance efforts to creating a more sustainable future for surgical healthcare in Pakistan.

Keywords: General Surgery, Environmental Monitoring, Environmental health, Surgery Department, Hospital, Healthcare Delivery.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-23

Introduction

Healthcare institutions are amongst the leading contributors of waste products, even in a country as developed as the United States of America (USA) where they produce more than 4 billion pounds of waste each year.¹ Unsurprisingly, operating theatres and delivery rooms account for more than two-thirds of waste produced by hospitals, most of which is disposed through incineration or in landfills.¹ As safe-keepers of the health

¹Year 5 MBBS Student, ²Year 4 MBBS Student, ^{3,4}Year 3 MBBS Student, Aga Khan University, Karachi, ⁵Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Russell Seth Martins. Email: russell.martins@scholar.aku.edu

of humanity and responsible citizens of the world, it is the unquestionable responsibility of healthcare practitioners to commit towards reducing the disastrous environmental impact of the healthcare industry.

The term eco-surgery refers to the embodiment of an ecological approach to surgical healthcare,² which includes reducing energy consumption, using resources and raw materials judiciously, and decreasing environmental pollution.1 The growing importance of eco-surgery is evident worldwide in the emergency of several global initiative to fulfill this purpose, such as the Green Guide for Healthcare³ and Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design for Healthcare.³ However, although institutions in developed countries such as USA have begun to take steps towards developing greener surgical practices,1 developing countries like Pakistan have much ground to cover. Achieving environmentally sustainable surgical care on a global level requires urgent and focused commitment from countries across the world, including lower-middle-income countries (LMICs) like Pakistan. The added incentive to LMICs for achieving greener surgical practices is that this invariably comes with significant cost-savings.¹ Thus, aim of this review was to summarise current eco-surgical practices worldwide, with special focus on the role of hospitals in eco-surgery, and suggest initial recommendations to achieve an environmentally friendly surgical healthcare system in Pakistan.

Strategies to Negate Environmental Hazards: Several structural, behavioural, and procedural measures can reduce the deleterious effects of surgical procedures on the environment, and are discussed below with regards to the 5 R's strategy: Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Rethink and Research^{4,5} as summarized in Table-1.

Reduce: Every surgical procedure generates substantial amounts of waste, including surgical gowns, paper, masks, rubber gloves, and sutures, and judicious usage can lead to significantly significant reductions in waste. A "lean and green" surgical project in America resulted in 5.06 pounds lesser waste per operative case,⁶ while a Hospital in the UK saved an incredible 19,000 kg of plastic

Table-1: General Strategies to Combat Environmental Impact.

		sanitizers
Reduce	 "Lean and green" surgical projects like in America⁵ 	scrubbing
	 Reducing consumption of plastic gloves 	water cor
	 Reformulation of surgical kits¹ 	
	 Preventing over-supply of items¹ 	recomment
	 Purchasing supplies from vendors who provide eco-friendly items⁴ 	used for c
	 Following international guidelines for PPE specific to each surgery 	hands are c
	 Reducing energy consumption by switching off surgical devices when not in use¹ 	devices op
	 Implementing energy efficient heating, lighting, air-conditioning⁴ 	amounts of
	 Gradual shift to renewable energy sources³ 	scrubbing
	 Promoting use of alcohol-based sanitizers instead of scrubbing when unnecessary⁶ 	considered
	 Pedal devices operated by foot for scrubbing^{3,7} 	waste. ¹⁰ Ed
	 Scrubbing without using a brush reduces plastic waste⁹ 	regarding a
Reuse	 Re-usage of surgical equipment by autoclaving⁴ 	to preven
	 Reusable sharp containers⁴ 	decreased
	 Using reusable items instead of disposable items like drapes or gowns⁶ 	litors/voor a
Recycle	 Appropriate waste collection, transport, handling, segregation, and disposal^{3,12} 	illers/year a
Rethink	• Opting for one-stage surgical procedures which in the past have been done in two stages ⁶	Reuse: Re-
	 Alternative techniques for anaesthesia, instead of anaesthetic gases¹² 	re-processi
	 Use of broad-spectrum prophylactic antibiotics must be rethought⁶ 	area of ut
	 Tele-consultation services to save travel and associated pollution from vehicles^{1,3} 	atea or uti
	 Medical documentation can be computerized for paperless records³ 	stanuaruize
Research	 Evidence-based eco-surgical strategies and interventions¹ 	disinfecting
	 Formation of interdisciplinary groups for regular audits 	health risk f
	 Educational and awareness programmes 	has been re
		reduces wa

in less than year by simply reducing consumption of plastic gloves. Manufacturers can be urged to reformulate surgical kits, such as for surgical equipment or protective gear, by removing unnecessary items and minimizing plastic usage.⁴ Over-supply of items can be prevented by implementing regular audits evaluating demand and usage.⁴ Moreover, orders should be placed only when items are needed in bulk, to reduce packaging, travel costs, and carbon emissions from transportation.7 Importantly, hospitals should prefer purchasing supplies from vendors who provide eco-friendly items and operate eco-friendly businesses.¹ With regards to use of personal protective equipment (PPE), international guidelines should be followed specific to each procedure, rather than using all possible PPE for each surgery.

Reducing energy consumption is simple and beneficial. The simple measures of switching off ventilators and surgical equipment/devices when not in use, and ensuring appropriate regulation of temperature, resulted in a 2,000,000 kg annual decrease in carbon emissions across six hospitals in the UK.⁴ In addition, implementing energy efficient heating, lighting, air-conditioning, sterilization, waste disposal, and infrastructural design can drastically reduce energy costs.¹ Moreover, a gradual shift to renewable energy sources, such as solar energy, would go a long way in achieving eco-friendly surgical practice in the future.⁷

Likewise, promoting use of alcohol-based instead of hand washing or when unnecessary, can help reduce nsumption.^{2,4,5} NICE guidelines d that alcohol-based hand rubs be disinfection post-surgery if one's only slightly dirty.⁸ Moreover, pedal erated by foot save considerable water (only 6.7L per scrub),^{2,7,9} and without using a brush is also safe and reduces plastic and paper lucation to surgeons and OR staff appropriate eco-friendly measures t surgical site infections have water consumption by 2.7 million at a hospital in the US.¹¹

usage of surgical equipment and ng of single use devices is still an most caution, due to the lack of ed quality of autoclaving and other g methods. However, no increased rom the use of reprocessed devices eported so far,^{1,12} and reprocessing ste significantly but in addition to

cutting costs.1

There are several items that can be safely reused, such as sharp bins, suture-packaging, and packaging and wrapping, all of which can help reduce waste significantly.⁷ Reusable sharp containers reduce waste by approximately 34,000 pounds in a 1000-bed hospital.¹ Two hospitals in the US reduced waste by 23,000 kg/year by shifting to washable scrubs and reusable surgical gowns.^{1,5} There is no benefit of using disposable items like drapes or gowns where reusable ones are available, as this can help tons of plastic.²

Recycle: A quarter of waste from surgeries and ORs can be recycled.⁵ Often, hazardous/infectious and nonhazardous waste is not segregated, resulting in mass incineration and increased in emission of greenhouse gases.^{4,7} Raising awareness and training staff for appropriate waste collection, transport, handling, segregation, and disposal is important to allow efficient recycling.^{7,13} As per guidelines, health waste is segregated into 5 categories to allow for separate disposal and treatment: infectious (blood, vomitus, body fluids etc.), (injections, needles etc.), sharps radioactive, pharmaceutical and general non-hazardous waste (paper, gowns etc.).1 However, general non-hazardous waste frequently ends up in the bag for infectious waste only, mostly due to a lack of awareness, leading to increased treatment costs and decreased recycling.¹

Rethink: Re-framing surgical healthcare delivery can prove to be beneficial for the environment. Future surgeons should be trained and encouraged to opt for one-stage surgical procedures which in the past have been done in two stages. This is more eco-friendly, as it allows shorter hospital stay, reduced expenditures, lesser operating time, decreased drug usage, and lesser utilization of PPE.² Similarly, implementation of alternative techniques for anaesthesia, instead of anaesthetic gases, can decrease their ecological impact.¹³ Use of broad-spectrum prophylactic antibiotics must be rethought,² with their clinical benefit weighed against the harm they pose to the environment in terms of increasing antimicrobial resistance.

Lastly, at times, unprecedented events like the COVID-19 pandemic open the door to several hitherto underutilized options. Surgical tele-consultation services help save travel and associated pollution from vehicles.^{4,7} Moreover, it is high time that medical documentation be computerized for paperless records.⁷

Research: Research is the foundation for evidence-based eco-surgical strategies and interventions.⁴ Particularly important is the evaluation of the safety, environmental impact, and cost-effectiveness of measures pertaining to recycling, reusage, and waste reduction.^{2,13,14} Formation of interdisciplinary groups for regular audits and evaluation of eco-surgical interventions, along with a focus on educational and awareness programmes, are essential in achieving eco-friendly surgical healthcare.

Development of Environmentally Protective Surgical Techniques: In evaluating the environmental impact of surgery, studies have compared the cost effectiveness and carbon footprint of surgical procedures across many sub-specialties. Cataract surgery is the most frequently conducted surgical procedure globally and has a variety of techniques: phacoemulsification, manual smallincision cataract surgery (MSICS), and femtosecond laserassisted cataract surgery (FLACS).15 There is great variability in global waste production in cataract surgery, with phacoemulsification producing between 0.19-4.27 kg of solid waste and 41-130 kg carbon dioxide equivalents (COe) per case, while MSICS produces between 0.18-2.29 kg of solid waste and 40-119 kg COe per case.¹⁶ MSICS has also proven more cost-effective than phacoemulsification, 15, 17, 17 while FLACS is the least cost-effective,15 suggesting that the use of MSICS could prove effective in low-resource setups.

It is important that newly introduced surgical innovations confer ecological advantages, in addition to clinical and cost benefits. The SOFT COAG is a novel and unique mode of the electrosurgical unit, which may be used to control intraoperative bleeding.¹⁹ By generating "joule heat" and automatically regulating output voltage, SOFT COAG denatures proteins without producing carbonization of tissue. This allows intraoperative haemostasis while significantly reducing the use of suturing for intraoperative, lowering both costs and waste production. In addition to improving the efficiency of treating intraoperative bleeds, the SOFT COAG can be autoclaved and reused around 100 times providing a great ecological advantage over single-use sutures in everyday operations.¹⁹ Additionally, a study utilized a new BiClamp reusable sealing instrument along with the SOFT COAG as an alternative to automatic staples in pulmonary resection operations.^{20,21} Within the trial, it was assessed that the BiClamp is an effective alternative to the conventional mechanical stapler in separation of unseparated interlobular fissures in pulmonary lobectomy.²⁰ In addition to having comparative operative time, intraoperative bleeding, and postoperative complications, use of the BiClamp reduced the operative cost, environmental impact, and carbon emissions associated with mechanical staples.^{20,21}

Minimally invasive surgery has displayed lower overall CO2 emissions than open surgery,²² should be the approach of choice wherever possible. However, artificial intelligence-based robotic surgery, which is making great strides, has substantially inferior cost-efficiency and greater waste production.²³ In light of the ever-evolving field of surgery, there is need for adequate prioritization of the environmental benefit of newer surgical techniques, equipment, and procedures.²³

Role of Hospitals in Eco-Surgery: Despite being havens of healing, hospitals worldwide are responsible for considerable amounts of hazardous emissions and toxic waste products. In today's climate, it is crucial that hospitals re-evaluate their responsibilities in relation to environmental sustainability, in order to preserve nature for current and future generations.^{24,25} In recent years, the advent of various initiatives and organizations such as Healthcare without Harm and Coalition for Green Health Care have been vital in introducing and promoting the concept of the "Green hospital".²⁶ Several hospitals around the world have already begun implementing measures to reduce their environmental footprint.²⁷ Recommendations for hospitals in Pakistan are summarized in Table-2.

Policies and Measures: One of the first steps to a more ecofriendly health care system is the development of robust policies. Energy efficiency is one such area of improvement. The health sector consumes significant

Table-2: Specific Recommendations for Eco-Friendly Surgery in Pakistan.

Type of Intervention	Specific measures that can be taken			
Policies and Measures	 Energy Efficiency employ conservation policies to reduce energy consumption by a certain percentage in every year²⁸ access backing aministers and develop appropriate action place²⁴ 			
	 assess baseline entissions and develop appropriate action plans²⁺ Waste Management develop a detailed waste management system²⁹ 			
	 Employ the use of sustainable non-burn treatment technology²⁸ Purchase recycled, reusable products 			
Structural Modifications	 Adopt formal environmental management systems adhering to EMAS or ISO standards³⁰ Alternative Energy 			
	 Invest and install renewable energy sources, such as solar panels, wind turbines and CHP technology²⁷ Built Environment 			
	 Prioritize incorporating sustainable elements in the hospital design e.g Day lighting, green roof systems, natural ventilation^{27,28} Install energy-efficient lighting, thermal insulation and water conserving equipment Retrofit outdated equipment^{31,32} 			
Education	 Create awareness of the importance of environmental protection measures among employees Environmental protection measures and public environmental prior doubted and the second environmental protection measures are also as a second environmental protection environmental protection			
	 Engaging the workforce through newsletters and holding environmental action days^{24,31} Organize go group campaigns and encourage officient use of resources 			
	 For our and encourage encloses Encourage workers to walk or use bicycles and public transportation whenever possible^{27,31} 			
	 Adopt waste reduction and recycling practices²⁸ 			
Performance Measurement	 Define goals pertaining to environment protection and employ relevant strategies 			
	 Outline indicators to measure the success of the strategies employed³² 			
Collaboration	 Create awareness among policy makers and legislative bodies about the detrimental effects of climate change 			
	 Health ministries must enforce climate friendly policies and develop action plans at national and international levels 			
	 Agencies financing health care construction should ensure funds are utilized for development of ecofriendly health facilities 			
	 Incorporate environmental health policies into hospital accreditation standards^{27,28} 			

amounts of fossil fuels and contributes to considerable greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Hospitals must aim to establish an energy usage baseline, as well employ energy conservation policies to reduce energy consumption by a certain percentage in every year.²⁸ In addition, hospitals must periodically assess their contribution to pollution and greenhouse gas emissions and develop action plans for reducing it.²⁴ Moreover, it is important that hospitals develop a detailed waste management system, laying out the protocol to be followed on the special handling, segregation, storage and transportation for hazardous wastes.²⁹ Non-burn treatment technology can be used to ensure that the waste is disposed of in an economical, safe and environmentally sustainable manner.²⁸ In addition, implementation of standard purchasing practices such as buying reusable instead of disposable products, or recycled ones, and prohibiting the purchase of materials containing toxic elements such as mercury and PVC.27 Lastly, adopting formal environmental management systems adhering to EMAS (Eco-Management and Audit Scheme) or ISO standards is a good practice for hospitals to monitor quality assurance and carry out informed actions.30

Structural Modifications: Hospitals should consider

investing in sources of clean and renewable energy, such as solar panels and combined heat and power (CHP) technology, whereby waste heat produced from on-site electricity generation can be captured and utilized as thermal energy for heating purposes.²⁷ In addition, hospitals can plan energy efficiency into the hospitals infrastructure by installing meters to measure electricity consumption, using thermal insulation and conserving water by installing efficient faucets and toilets. Wherever possible, hospitals must prioritize sustainable and ecofriendly designs and plans for hospital infrastructure. Day lighting, green roof systems, natural ventilation and gardens and supporting the use of local, using recyclable materials for construction are a few examples.^{27,28} Furthermore, hospitals should employ the use of ecofriendly technology by setting up cogeneration units, installing inverter air conditioners, and retrofitting outdated equipment.^{31,32}

Performance Measurement: For hospitals, measuring environmental performance is an invaluable tool to assess and reflect on the effectiveness of current policies for environmental sustainability. Following the framework proposed by Blass et al,³³ the first step is to define goals pertaining to environment protection, after which robust strategies are deployed. The effectiveness of these

strategies are measured by selecting performance indicators that are measurable, valid and controllable.^{33,34} These could include electrical power consumption, water withdrawal from source, direct and indirect greenhouse emissions, and unit weight of waste material.³² Performance data should then be compiled and used to inform future decisions and formulate improved strategies.

Education: Healthcare systems can only achieve environmental sustainability with the cooperation and dedication of the workforce involved. Hospitals should aim to make hospital staff and the general public aware of the importance of environmental protection measures and the health sector's role in mitigating climate change. Engaging the workforce through announcements via newsletters, holding environmental action days, and organizing "go green" campaigns" could help embed the concept of environmental sustainability into the hospitals culture.^{24,31} Moreover, hospitals should also encourage workers to walk or use bicycles and public transportation whenever possible to limit emissions, or to take the stairs instead of elevators to reduce electricity usage.27,31 Hospitals could also introduce periodic training programme to teach healthcare workers proper waste management and disposal, and constructively correct bad practices and educate employees about their behaviour.³² Lastly, hospitals should develop institutionspecific waste reduction policies and regularly educate employees about the importance of their role in achieving institutional targets.

Collaboration: Around the world, environmental sustainability policies are either insufficient, poorly funded or entirely absent. It is crucial now more than ever that health systems, government agencies and policymakers take action to reduce the impact of the healthcare sector on the environment. Health ministries must create awareness among policy makers, and governing and legislative bodies, about the detrimental effects of climate change and healthcare sector's role in mitigation. They must also enforce climate friendly policies and develop action plans at national and international levels. Multilateral and bilateral aid agencies that finance health care construction should ensure that funds are utilized to promote the development of ecofriendly health facilities. Institutions that accredit hospitals are encouraged to incorporate environmental health policies into their accreditation standards, thus promoting green hospitals and fostering environmental sustainability. The healthcare sector should collaborate with stakeholders and strengthen cross-disciplinary partnerships to ensure that mitigation measures are not just limited to healthcare facilities, but extend to other sectors as well.^{27,28}

Conclusion

The daily surgical procedures in hospitals have a drastic impact on the environment that goes unnoticed and unaddressed. Small measures at surgical and hospital level can pave the roadway to eco-friendly surgery practices. Establishment of waste management systems, creating awareness, modifying the current structure, utilization of eco-friendly surgical techniques, and implementation of 5R's (reduce, reuse, recycle, rethink and research) can prove to be vital. Although it might be challenging for Pakistan, but gradual changes can help make a better future.

Conflict of Interests: None to declare.

Disclosure: None to declare.

Funding Source: None to declare.

References

- 1. Kwakye G, Brat GA, Makary MA. Green surgical practices for health care. Arch Surg 2011;146:131-6. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.2010.343.
- 2. Sitges-Serra A. Ecosurgery. Br J Surg 2002;89:387-8. doi: 10.1046/j.0007-1323.2001.02032.x.
- Health Care Without Harm. Green Guide for Health Care. [Online] 2007 [Cited 2021 September 15]. Available from URL: www.gghc.org
- Chaplin CL, Wernham AGH, Veitch D. Environmental sustainability in dermatological surgery. Br J Dermatol 2021;184:952-3. doi: 10.1111/bjd.19668.
- Wyssusek KH, Keys MT, van Zundert AAJ. Operating room greening initiatives - the old, the new, and the way forward: A narrative review. Waste Manag Res 2019;37:3-19. doi: 10.1177/0734242X18793937.
- Van Demark RE Jr, Smith VJS, Fiegen A. Lean and Green Hand Surgery. J Hand Surg Am 2018;43:179-81. doi: 10.1016/j.jhsa.2017.11.007.
- Khor HG, Cho I, Lee KRCK, Chieng LL. Waste production from phacoemulsification surgery. J Cataract Refract Surg 2020;46:215-21. doi: 10.1097/j.jcrs.000000000000009.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Surgical site infections: prevention and treatment: Guidance. [Online] 2020 [Cited 2021 September 15]. Available from URL: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng125
- Weiss A, Hollandsworth HM, Alseidi A, Scovel L, French C, Derrick EL, et al. Environmentalism in surgical practice. Curr Probl Surg 2016;53:165-205. doi: 10.1067/j.cpsurg.2016.02.001.
- Kikuchi-Numagami K, Saishu T, Fukaya M, Kanazawa E, Tagami H. Irritancy of scrubbing up for surgery with or without a brush. Acta Derm Venereol 1999; 79:230-2. doi: 10.1080/000155599750011057.
- Wormer BA, Augenstein VA, Carpenter CL, Burton PV, Yokeley WT, Prabhu AS, et al. The green operating room: simple changes to reduce cost and our carbon footprint. Am Surg 2013;79:666-71.
- U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO). Reprocessed Single-Use Medical Devices: FDA Oversight Has Increased, and Available Information Does Not Indicate That Use Presents an Elevated Health Risk. [Online] 2008 [Cited 2021 July 27]. Available

S-117

from URL: https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-08-147

- Selvy M, Bellin M, Slim K, Muret J. Eco-responsibility in the operating theater: An urgent need for organizational transformation. J Visc Surg 2020;157:301-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2020.07.001.
- 14. Widmer AF. Replace hand washing with use of a waterless alcohol hand rub? Clin Infect Dis 2000;31:136-43. doi: 10.1086/313888.
- Venkatesh R, van Landingham SW, Khodifad AM, Haripriya A, Thiel CL, Ramulu P, et al. Carbon footprint and cost-effectiveness of cataract surgery. Curr Opin Ophthalmol 2016;27:82-8. doi: 10.1097/ICU.00000000000228.
- Goel H, Wemyss TA, Harris T, Steinbach I, Stancliffe R, Cassels-Brown A, et al. Improving productivity, costs and environmental impact in International Eye Health Services: using the 'Eyefficiency' cataract surgical services auditing tool to assess the value of cataract surgical services. BMJ Open Ophthalmol 2021;6:e000642. doi: 10.1136/bmjophth-2020-000642.
- 17. Gogate P, Deshpande M, Nirmalan PK. Why do phacoemulsification? Manual small-incision cataract surgery is almost as effective, but less expensive. Ophthalmology 2007;114:965-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2006.08.057.
- Ruit S, Tabin G, Chang D, Bajracharya L, Kline DC, Richheimer W, et al. prospective randomized clinical trial of phacoemulsification vs manual sutureless small-incision extracapsular cataract surgery in Nepal. Am J Ophthalmol 2007;143:32-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2006.07.023.
- Sakuragi T, Ohma H, Ohteki H. Efficacy of SOFT COAG for intraoperative bleeding in thoracic surgery. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2009;9:767-8. doi: 10.1510/icvts.2009.212696.
- Sakuragi T, Takeda Y, Teishikata T, Sakoda K, Morita S. Is bipolar thermofusion an acceptable option for unseparated interlobar fissure division in pulmonary lobectomy? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2013;17:26-31. doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivt113.
- Sakuragi T, Ohteki H. The utility of BiClamp(*) for intraoperative air leakage control in video-assisted thoracic surgery for pulmonary lobectomy. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012;60:781-3. doi: 10.1007/s11748-012-0028-0.
- Power NE, Silberstein JL, Ghoneim TP, Guillonneau B, Touijer KA. Environmental impact of minimally invasive surgery in the United States: an estimate of the carbon dioxide footprint. J Endourol 2012;26:1639-44. doi: 10.1089/end.2012.0298.
- Thiel CL, Eckelman M, Guido R, Huddleston M, Landis AE, Sherman J, et al. Environmental impacts of surgical procedures: life cycle assessment of hysterectomy in the United States. Environ Sci

Technol 2015;49:1779-86. doi: 10.1021/es504719g.

- 24. World Health Organization (WHO). Environmentally sustainable health systems: a strategic document. [Online] 2017 [Cited 2021 July 31]. Available from URL: https://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/Health-systems/public-health-services/publications/2017/ environmentally-sustainable-health-systems-a-strategicdocument-2017
- Ulhøi JP, Ulhøi BP. Beyond climate focus and disciplinary myopia. The roles and responsibilities of hospitals and healthcare professionals. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2009;6:1204-14. doi: 10.3390/ijerph6031204.
- Weisz U, Haas W, Pelikan JM, Schmied H. Sustainable hospitals: A socio-ecological approach. GAIA 2011;20:191-8. DOI: 10.14512/gaia.20.3.10
- Atkinson J, Campbell-Lendrum D, Dora C, Fletcher E, Kuesel A, Osseiran N, et al. Healthy Hospitals, Healthy Planet, Healthy People: Addressing climate change in healthcare settings. [Online] 2009 [Cited 2021 July 31]. Available from URL: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/healthy-hospitalshealthy-planet-healthy-people
- Health Care Without Harm. The Global Green and Healthy Hospitals agenda. [Online] [Cited 2021 July 31]. Available from URL: https://noharm-global.org/issues/global/global-green-andhealthy-hospitals-agenda
- Thakur V, Sharma S. Assessment of healthcare solid waste management practices for environmental performance: a study of hospitals in Himachal Pradesh, India. Manag Environ Qual 2020;32:612-30. Doi: 10.1108/MEQ-08-2020-0168
- Seifert C. The barriers for voluntary environmental management systems-The case of EMAS in hospitals. Sustainability 2018;10:2-19. Doi: 10.3390/su10051420
- 31. Seifert C, Guenther E. Prevention is better than cure-Environmental management measures in hospitals. Corp Soc Responsib Environ Manag 2019;26:781-90. Doi: 10.1002/csr.1720
- Migdadi YKAA, Omari AA. Identifying the best practices in green operations strategy of hospitals. Benchmarking 2019;26:1106-31. Doi: 10.1108/BIJ-09-2017-0242
- Blass AP, da Costa SE, de Lima EP, Borges LA. Measuring environmental performance in hospitals: A practical approach. J Clean Prod 2017;142:279-89. Doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.213
- 34. Blass AP, da Costa SE, de Lima EP, Borges LA. The measurement of environmental performance in hospitals: A systematic review of literature. Sustainable Operations Management 2015:75-102.

STUDENTS' CORNER SPECIAL COMMUNICATION

Perioperative registries in resource-limited settings: The way forward for Pakistan

Usama Waqar,¹ Shaheer Ahmed,² Ayesha Nasir Hameed,³ Namrah Aziz,⁴ Hina Inam⁵

Abstract

Capable of improving surgical quality, perioperative registries can allow performance benchmarking, reliable reporting and the development of risk-prediction models. Well established in high-income countries, perioperative registries remain limited in lower- and middle-income countries due to several challenges. First, ensuring comprehensive data entry forums to power the registries is difficult because of limited electronic medical records requiring sustained efforts to develop and integrate these into practice. Second, lack of adequate expertise and resources to develop and maintain registry software necessitates the involvement of software developers and technology personnel. information Third, case ascertainment and item completion are challenging secondary to poor-quality medical records and high lossto-follow-up rates, requiring telemedicine initiatives as an adjunct to existing care for the assessment of postdischarge outcomes. Lastly, standardised coding of clinical terminology is warranted for ensuring interoperability of the registries for which adaptation of the existing disease and procedural codes can be a sustainable and costeffective alternative to the development of new codes.

Keywords: Perioperative care, Registries, Evidence-based practice, Quality improvement, Pakistan.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-24

Introduction

In the field of surgery, regularly assessing trends in incidence of major postoperative complications is essential globally. For this purpose, the development of perioperative registries (PORs) has proved to be a reliable and cost-effective approach.¹ PORs are high-quality datasets powered by sustained collaborations among multiple surgical facilities. These registries incorporate

Correspondence: Usama Waqar. Email: usama.waqar@scholar.aku.edu

the findability, accessibility, interoperability and reusability (FAIR) principles of data management, allowing benchmarking of hospital performance, reliable reporting of postoperative outcomes, and development of risk-prediction models, collectively leading to improved quality of surgical care.²⁻⁴

In lower- and middle-income countries (LMICs), surgical facilities are burdened with inadequate quality of surgical care, owing to the challenges in building and maintaining surgical capacity in resource-constrained settings.⁵ Compared to high-income countries (HICs), such resource-limited environments require more sophisticated and targeted surgical capacity-building initiatives, considering the greater potential for improvements in the quality of surgical care. While PORs have been well established in HICs, their implementation remains limited in LMICs, including Pakistan.⁶

The current review was planned to highlight the multifarious benefits of implementing perioperative registries in resource-constrained environments, such as Pakistan, to discuss the potential challenges that can hinder this process, and to suggest potential solutions which can be incorporated in LMICs.

Why the registries?

PORs are essential to facilitate improvement in the existing quality of surgical care, to allow continuous surveillance, and to promote surgical research (Figure).

The quality of surgical care plays a decisive role in the morbidity, mortality and quality of life (QOL) of patients undergoing surgery. However, there is very limited evidence available evaluating the quality of perioperative care (POC) in low-resource settings.⁷ Research has shown that approximately 60% of avoidable deaths worldwide are secondary to low quality of care.⁶ Therefore, particularly for LMICs such as Pakistan, efforts in improving access to healthcare cannot sufficiently translate into better health outcomes without improvement in the quality of care.⁶,⁷

Utilisation of PORs to improve patient safety and quality of care warrants a stepwise approach. First, the quality of

^{1,3,4}Year 3 MBBS Student, Medical College, Aga Khan University, Karachi, ²Year 2 MBBS Student, Medical College, Islamabad Medical & Dental College, Islamabad, ⁴Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan.



Figure: Potential benefits of implementing perioperative registries in Pakistan.

surgical care needs to be quantified using quality indicators. Ensuring that the selected quality indicators are both specific to assessing POC quality in an LMIC setting is imperative. Haller et al. identified several promising quality indicators that can be implemented as endpoints in the assessment of quality of surgical care even in resource-constrained settings. These included admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) within 14 days of surgery, length of hospital stay (LOS), surgical site infection (SSI), stroke, hospital readmission, and mortality within 30 days of index surgery.⁸

Second, the selected quality indicators need to be incorporated into hospital, regional, and national PORs in LMICs, including Pakistan. The data generated by these registries can subsequently allow the assessment of existing surgical practices and protocols, identify areas of improvement, and inform evidence-based decisions to ensure better quality of surgical care.^{3,6,9,10} The National Surgical Quality Improvement Programme by the American College of Surgeons (ACS-NSQIP) is one of the most widely used PORs globally. Compared to the incidence rates in earlier years, participation in ACS-NSQIP has shown annual risk reduction of 0.8% for mortality, 3.1% for one or more morbidity events, and 2.2% for SSIs.¹¹

Additionally, evidence from these registries can also facilitate the development of risk prediction models for adverse surgical outcomes. Such models consider the relevant risk factors and predict the probability of adverse events post-surgery for individual patients, informing surgical decisionmaking. An example of such a model is the risk calculator by the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS), powered by its national perioperative database.^{12,13}

Furthermore, PORs also allow healthcare workers, medical governing bodies, and policymakers an avenue for continuous surveillance. Data from these registries can allow evaluation of regional and centre-specific performance along with enabling comparison of different surgical practices in hospitals. Such registries can facilitate benchmarking of hospital performance, thus allowing for standardisation of high-quality and efficient surgical POC in hospitals across Pakistan.^{3,4}

Another advantage of PORs is research facilitation, particularly in a resourceconstrained setting, like Pakistan. A

majority of existing surgical research evidence in Pakistan is based on single-centre experiences with inadequate quality to inform surgical practice.¹⁴ Consequently, evidence-based guidelines exist currently, but are usually powered by data extrapolated from HICs and uppermiddle-income countries (UMICs).¹⁵ Regional and national PORs can generate high-quality evidence specifically for the Pakistani setting, facilitating evidencebased surgery in the country.

In addition, data from established registries can be used to explore the trends in patient demographics and risk factors for adverse surgical outcomes over time.¹⁶ This can facilitate research in disease epidemiology to gain better understanding and discern patterns of changing surgical indications in the population. PORs also provide an avenue to monitor the impact of different quality improvement interventions and guidelines using actual patient outcomes, demonstrating the translation of research into real-life practice.⁴ Data from registry-based observational studies can also inform evidence-based guidelines in instances where clinical trials are not available.¹⁶ With large datasets and subsequent integration, there is potential for national and international collaboration in research, combining the strengths of each individual database.³

Registries in Pakistan

In recent years, some surgeon-led collaborative approaches have successfully resulted in the

Table: Institutional, national and international perioperative registries functional in Pakistan.

Registries	Developed by	Patient Population	Data Sources	Quality Indicators
Institutional registries Karachi Trauma	Aga Khan University	All cases admitted to the emergency	Data is retrieved from patient medical records, such as	Delay in reaching hospital,
Registry (KITR)	Hospital, Karachi National registries	department of AKUH with a trauma history of less than 24 hours. Patients shifted to AKUH from other hospitals and having ICD injury codes of ICD-9-CM 800-959.9. Cases of isolated hip fractures, poisoning, and expiry on arrival are excluded.	doctors' and nurses' notes, laboratory and radiology reports, and discharge summaries. In addition, daily accounts of all ED visits are obtained from electronic data systems. These include information regarding patient demographics, primary reason for visit, and disposition. Data on patients with injuries is also captured from triage, admission, and ED discharge lists.	length of stay in the emergency department, total length of stay in the hospital, discharge from emergency, predicted and actual survival.
National registries				
Pakistan Registry of Intensive CarE (PRICE)	PSCCM, ICS, and NICST	All planned and unplanned admissions in the five member ICUs from Karachi, Lahore, and Islamabad, having a total of 104 ventilated beds.	Similar to the NICST registry, the admission characteristics and diagnosis are recorded daily for each patient. Collaborating facilities report data at their own accord via a protected, cloud-based mobile/desktop portal that has been established by researchers and clinicians in Srilanka. Nominated local coordinators conduct weekly telephonic calls to obtain admission numbers from non-digitalized data within each ICU.	Mortality, quality of life
Pakistan National Joint Registry (PNJR)	Pakistan Arthroplasty Society (PAS) International registries	All patients undergoing arthroplasty surgery in implant companies and hospitals.	Case report forms, inform up forms, follow up form.	Adverse intraoperative events, postoperative weight bearing, implant details, and postoperative rehabilitative protocols.
International registries ACS-NSQIP	ACS	Patients undergoing surgery in all 700 hospitals that are in collaboration with NSQIP.	Data from preoperative management till 30 days postoperatively of randomly selected patients are collected prospectively by trained reviewers assigned by each hospital. Data are then entered on a web-based platform accessible 24 hours a day. Variables can vary between hospitals based on patient population, hospital characteristics, and focus of quality improvement. Blinded, risk-adjusted information is shared with all hospitals, allowing them to benchmark their complication rates and surgical outcomes.	30-day mortality, unplanned intubation, prolonged ventilator dependence (>48 hours), surgical site infections (superficial, deep, or organ/space), urinary tract infections, sepsis, septic shock, wound disruption, pneumonia, clostridium difficile colitis, delayed discharge (>30 days from principal procedure), unplanned reoperation(s), unplanned readmission(s), and hospital discharge destination.

ED: Emergency department, AKUH: Aga Khan University Hospital, ICU: Intensive care unit, PSCCM: Pakistan Society of Critical Care Medicine, ICS: Intensive Care Society, NICST: Network for Improving Critical Care Systems and Training, ACS-NSQIP: American College of Surgeons-National Surgical Quality Improvement Programme, ACS: American College of Surgeons.

implementation of a few institutional, national, and international PORs in Pakistan (Table). Among the institutional registries, a classic example is that of the Karachi Trauma Registry (KITR) established by the Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH) in October 2009. KITR is a locally developed, electronic registry that utilises data from existing medical records at the hospital. KITR has been able to generate surveillance data, such as injury mechanisms and burden of severe injuries, quality indicators, such as length of stay in the emergency department (ED), injury-to-arrival delay, and injury severity, and survival probability.¹⁷

With regards to the national registries, the Pakistan Registry of Intensive Care (PRICE) and the Pakistan National Joint Registry (PNJR) are currently functional. PRICE is a contemporaneous registry developed by the Pakistan Society of Critical Care Medicine (PSCCM), Intensive Care Society (ICS) of the United Kingdom, and the Network for Improving Critical Care Systems and Training (NICST). Being a clinician-led real-time registry, PRICE involves extensive collaboration between surgeons and administrative personnel involved in intensive care delivery, allowing the recruitment of ICUs from both public and private hospitals. Admission characteristics along with the diagnosis are documented for each admitted patient requiring intensive care. Data without any patient identifiers is displayed in control panels, facilitating the researchers to assess the trends in unit activity, severity of illness, bed occupancy and outcomes.¹⁸

PNJR is a voluntary project which has been conceived, designed, implemented and funded by the Pakistan Arthroplasty Society (PAS). Implant companies and hospitals can retrieve data from PNJR for conducting surgical research aimed at improving quality of care and safety for patients undergoing arthroplasties.¹⁹

Apart from the regional and national registries, Pakistan, being a resource-limited country, has not contributed significantly to the conception, design or implementation of any international POR. However, the AKUH has recently partnered with the ACS-NSQIP, contributing its patient data to this registry. ACS-NSQIP is a multi-institutional programme with currently 700 partnering hospitals worldwide. Trained surgical reviewers at each hospital collect data on numerous variables, including demographics, comorbidities, preoperative laboratory parameters, operative characteristics, and outcomes. ACS-NSQIP provides semi-annual reports to each hospital on the basis of the submitted data. This report benchmarks the performance of each hospital in comparison with the performance of an estimated average partnering ACS-NSQIP hospital performing the same procedures on the same patients. This allows hospitals to evaluate their performance compared to other partnering hospitals, driving continuous quality improvement initiatives.^{20,21}

Despite these commendable efforts by the surgical community, the implementation of PORs remains limited in Pakistan. A majority of surgical facilities have not developed institutional registries and are not actively participating in national registries. Similarly, the ACS-NSQIP has not been implemented in most Pakistani hospitals. Considering the multifarious benefits of PORs, assessing the challenges involved in the implementation of these registries is imperative and can help identify the way forward for Pakistani surgical facilities.

Challenges and limitations in low-resource settings

Despite the commendable efforts by the surgical

community, the number of PORs remains limited in Pakistan as is the case in other LMICs.²² As highlighted earlier, there is a dire need for surgical registry data from low-resource settings to improve patient safety and to regulate surgical practices. However, a low-resource environment poses several challenges to the establishment of such PORs.

First, the process of development and plot implementation for a POR begins with the establishment of a uniform and comprehensive data entry forum. However, electronic medical records (EMRs) are currently lacking in resource-limited settings.23 Implementation of EMRs warrants a higher cost of setup and maintenance in such settings, owing to poor existing infrastructure, frequent power outages, and network failures. Even in facilities that have implemented EMRs, utilisation mostly remains suboptimal secondary to the requirement of parallel data entry to paper and computer records, increasing the workload of already limited staff.²³⁻²⁶ As a result, administrative data from EMRs is currently inadequate to power PORs in several settings, making the surgeons primarily responsible for capturing data related to patient care.⁶ This situation warrants allocation of appropriate resources aimed at development and integration of sustainable administrative EMRs into the existing care to replace paper-based records. Such EMRs should also incorporate user-friendly software capable of continuous data synchronisation to safeguard data during potential power outages and network failures.

Second, PORs require efficient and secure software to power them. However, LMICs have limited expertise and resources for developing and maintaining appropriate registry software.¹⁷ This can potentially be resolved with appropriate training, recruitment and integration of software developers and information technology (IT) personnel in the existing healthcare systems. This integration will also contribute to the generation of new jobs which can potentially improve employment rates across the LMICs.

Third, case ascertainment and item completion for PORs pose multifarious obstacles. Appropriate and carefully selected clinicodemographic characteristics, comorbidities, preoperative laboratory parameters, operative characteristics, and quality indicators need to be incorporated into the PORs.¹⁷ However, data reporting and recording systems in most resource-constrained settings produce poor-quality data.²⁸ In a recent study in Tanzania, history of patients, daily progress notes, and daily surgeon orders were not included in 24%, 59% and 71% of the medical records, respectively.²⁹ In addition, the assessment of several surgical quality indicators

requires following patients post-discharge till the 30th day of index surgery.⁸ The surgical population in LMICs experiences high loss-to-follow-up rates, ranging from 32% to 75%.^{30,31} This situation necessitates the development of standardised EMRs to improve case completeness and implementation of telemedicine initiatives as an adjunct to existing surgical care for adequate assessment of quality indicators in the LMICs.^{31,32} In addition, adequate and continuous training of administrative staff in data collection and development of comprehensive surgical checklists should be prioritised to improve data quality.

Lastly, when implementing PORs, it is essential to ensure the incorporation of the principle of interoperability.² This standardised system of health information exchange among collaborating surgical facilities warrants technical system design considerations described earlier in addition to uniform coding of clinical terminology.³³ For resource-limited settings, adaptation of existing disease and procedural codes, such as the International Classifications of Diseases (ICD) and Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes employed by the ACS-NSQIP, can be a more sustainable and cost-effective approach compared to the development of new codes.²⁰

Conclusion

Establishing and implementing PORs is challenging in resource-limited environments, such as Pakistan. However, existing surgeon-led efforts have demonstrated that institutional and national bodies can collaborate and maintain PORs even in Pakistan. While these registries have been limited to a few partnering hospitals, they represent the first step towards a nationally representative Pakistani POR. Sustained contributions from the surgical community in Pakistan are needed to overcome the highlighted barriers and develop a data network capable of interpreting risk-adjusted surgical outcomes across the country. Such a network could not only promote evidence-based improvements in the quality of surgical care in Pakistan, but may also allow continuous surveillance, performance benchmarking and research facilitation.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

 Reilly JR, Shulman MA, Gilbert AM, Jomon B, Thompson RJ, Nicholson JJ, et al. Towards a national perioperative clinical quality registry: The diagnostic accuracy of administrative data in identifying major postoperative complications. Anaesth Intensive Care 2020;48:203-12. doi: 10.1177/0310057X20905606.

- Wilkinson MD, Dumontier M, Aalbersberg IJ, Appleton G, Axton M, Baak A, et al. The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. Sci Data 2016;3:160018. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2016.18.
- Mandavia R, Knight A, Phillips J, Mossialos E, Littlejohns P, Schilder A. What are the essential features of a successful surgical registry? a systematic review. BMJ Open 2017;7:e017373. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017373.
- Reilly JR, Gabbe BJ, Brown WA, Hodgson CL, Myles PS. A national perioperative outcomes registry will facilitate quality assurance and research in Australia. Anaesth Intensive Care 2020;48:328-9. doi: 10.1177/0310057X20937317.
- Ologunde R, Maruthappu M, Shanmugarajah K, Shalhoub J. Surgical care in low and middle-income countries: burden and barriers. Int J Surg 2014;12:858-63. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.07.009.
- Kluyts HL, Biccard BM. The role of peri-operative registries in improving the quality of care in low-resource environments. Anaesthesia 2021;76:888-91. doi: 10.1111/anae.15445.
- Network for Peri-operative Critical care (N4PCc). Addressing priorities for surgical research in Africa: implementation of a multicentre cloud-based peri-operative registry in Ethiopia. Anaesthesia 2021;76:933-9. doi: 10.1111/anae.15394.
- Haller G, Bampoe S, Cook T, Fleisher LA, Grocott MPW, Neuman M, et al. Systematic review and consensus definitions for the Standardised Endpoints in Perioperative Medicine initiative: clinical indicators. Br J Anaesth 2019;123:228-37. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2019.04.041.
- Wacker J. Measuring and monitoring perioperative patient safety: a basic approach for clinicians. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2020;33:815-22. doi: 10.1097/ACO.00000000000930.
- Stey AM, Russell MM, Ko CY, Sacks GD, Dawes AJ, Gibbons MM. Clinical registries and quality measurement in surgery: a systematic review. Surgery 2015;157:381-95. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.08.097.
- 11. Cohen ME, Liu Y, Ko CY, Hall BL. Improved Surgical Outcomes for ACS NSQIP Hospitals Over Time: Evaluation of Hospital Cohorts With up to 8 Years of Participation. Ann Surg 2016;263:267-73. doi: 10.1097/SLA.00000000001192.
- 12. Freundlich RE, Ehrenfeld JM. Perioperative Information Systems: Opportunities to Improve Delivery of Care and Clinical Outcomes in Cardiac and Vascular Surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2018;32:1458-63. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2017.11.002.
- Vassileva CM, Aranki S, Brennan JM, Kaneko T, He M, Gammie JS, et al. Evaluation of The Society of Thoracic Surgeons Online Risk Calculator for Assessment of Risk in Patients Presenting for Aortic Valve Replacement After Prior Coronary Artery Bypass Graft: An Analysis Using the STS Adult Cardiac Surgery Database. Ann Thorac Surg 2015;100:2109-15; discussion 2115-6. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2015.04.149.
- 14. Jawad F. The race for publishing original biomedical research articles in Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc 2017;67:1-2.
- Knight SR, Ots R, Maimbo M, Drake TM, Fairfield CJ, Harrison EM. Systematic review of the use of big data to improve surgery in low- and middle-income countries. Br J Surg 2019;106:e62-72. doi: 10.1002/bjs.11052.
- Hickey GL, Grant SW, Cosgriff R, Dimarakis I, Pagano D, Kappetein AP, et al. Clinical registries: governance, management, analysis and applications. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2013;44:605-14. doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezt018.
- Mehmood A, Razzak JA, Kabir S, Mackenzie EJ, Hyder AA. Development and pilot implementation of a locally developed Trauma Registry: lessons learnt in a low-income country. BMC Emerg Med 2013;13:4. doi: 10.1186/1471-227X-13-4.

S-123

- Hashmi M, Beane A, Taqi A, Memon MI, Athapattu P, Khan Z, et al. Pakistan Registry of Intensive CarE (PRICE): Expanding a lower middle-income, clinician-designed critical care registry in South Asia. J Intensive Care Soc 2019;20:190-5. doi: 10.1177/1751143718814126.
- Pakistan Arthroplasty Society. Pakistan National Joint Registry. [Online] 2016 [Cited 2021 August 25]. Available from URL: https://www.arthroplasty.org.pk/about-pnjr/.
- Cohen ME, Ko CY, Bilimoria KY, Zhou L, Huffman K, Wang X, et al. Optimizing ACS NSQIP modeling for evaluation of surgical quality and risk: patient risk adjustment, procedure mix adjustment, shrinkage adjustment, and surgical focus. J Am Coll Surg 2013;217:336-46.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2013.02.027.
- Sellers MM, Merkow RP, Halverson A, Hinami K, Kelz RR, Bentrem DJ, et al. Validation of new readmission data in the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program. J Am Coll Surg 2013;216:420-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.11.013.
- Choi SJ, Oh MY, Kim NR, Jung YJ, Ro YS, Shin SD. Comparison of trauma care systems in Asian countries: A systematic literature review. Emerg Med Australas 2017;29:697-711. doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12840.
- Akanbi MO, Ocheke AN, Agaba PA, Daniyam CA, Agaba El, Okeke EN, et al. Use of Electronic Health Records in sub-Saharan Africa: Progress and challenges. J Med Trop 2012;14:1-6.
- 24. Waters E, Rafter J, Douglas GP, Bwanali M, Jazayeri D, Fraser HS. Experience implementing a point-of-care electronic medical record system for primary care in Malawi. Stud Health Technol Inform 2010;160:96-100.
- 25. Kamadjeu RM, Tapang EM, Moluh RN. Designing and

implementing an electronic health record system in primary care practice in sub-Saharan Africa: a case study from Cameroon. Inform Prim Care 2005;13:179-86. doi: 10.14236/jhi.v13i3.595.

- Odekunle FF, Odekunle RO, Shankar S. Why sub-Saharan Africa lags in electronic health record adoption and possible strategies to increase its adoption in this region. Int J Health Sci (Qassim) 2017;11:59-64.
- 27. Mehmood A, Razzak JA. Trauma registry-needs and challenges in developing countries. J Pak Med Assoc 2009;59:807-8.
- Qazi MS, Ali M. Pakistan's health management information system: health managers' perspectives. J Pak Med Assoc 2009;59:10-4.
- 29. Lodge W, Menon G, Kuchukhidze S, Jumbam DT, Maongezi S, Alidina S, et al. Assessing completeness of patient medical records of surgical and obstetric patients in Northern Tanzania. Glob Health Action 2020;13:1765526. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2020.1765526.
- Nguhuni B, De Nardo P, Gentilotti E, Chaula Z, Damian C, Mencarini P, et al. Reliability and validity of using telephone calls for post-discharge surveillance of surgical site infection following caesarean section at a tertiary hospital in Tanzania. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 2017;6:43. doi: 10.1186/s13756-017-0205-0.
- 31. Sandberg CEJ, Knight SR, Qureshi AU, Pathak S. Using Telemedicine to Diagnose Surgical Site Infections in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Systematic Review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7:e13309. doi: 10.2196/13309.
- 32. Reisman M. EHRs: The Challenge of Making Electronic Data Usable and Interoperable. P T 2017;42:572-5.
- Pine KH. The qualculative dimension of healthcare data interoperability. Health Informatics J 2019;25:536-48. doi: 10.1177/1460458219833095.

STUDENTS' CORNER SHORT REPORT

Path to publication: A peer mentorship model for student-lead surgical research

Usama Waqar,¹ Hareem Rauf,² Muskaan Abdul Qadir,³ Hina Inam⁴

Abstract

Early and sustained involvement in research is imperative for medical students to ensure better career prospects in addition to provision of high-quality, evidence-based care to patients. However, involvement of students in surgical research still remains limited, owing to inadequate research training. The current paper was planned to describe the structure of the "Path to Publication" series, incorporating peer mentorship with capacity-building research workshops for medical students. A total of 25 students were grouped into 8 surgical subspecialty groups to conduct research, supervised by experienced student research and faculty mentors. In addition, a series of research workshops were organized in synchronization with the different phases of research for all groups, equipping medical students with the necessary skills needed for each phase. This initiative has successfully equipped medical students with research skills in addition to involving them in surgical research, helping to advance their research careers and promote evidence-based surgery in Pakistan.

Keywords: Evidence-based care, Research, Surgery, Medical students, Capacity building.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-25

Introduction

Research comprises a significant portion of medical education in addition to forming the crux of evidencebased medicine.^{1,2} Early, active, and sustained involvement in research is imperative for medical students to ensure better career prospects in addition to provision of high-quality, evidence-based care to patients.^{1,3} This warrants medical schools to provide adequate research training and exposure to medical students.

The curriculum at the Aga Khan University (AKU) has a mandatory research module to provide research exposure to medical students. However, involvement of

¹⁻³Year 3 MBBS Student, Medical College, ⁴Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Usama Waqar. Email: usama.waqar@scholar.aku.edu

students in surgical research still remains limited, owing to inadequate research training in idea conceptualization, study design, protocol writing, obtaining ethical approvals, data collection, statistical analyses, and manuscript writing.⁴

The concept of peer mentorship in medical schools encompasses a formal relationship in which a student with adequate expertise provides guidance and support to other students.⁵ Evidence has shown that peer mentorship programmes significantly enhance research interest and productivity among medical students.^{6,7} In addition, research capacity-building workshops can potentially improve the quality of surgical research conducted by medical students.⁸

This manuscript was planned to describe the structure of the "Path to Publication" series which incorporated peer mentorship with capacity-building research workshops and facilitated surgical research by medical students at AKU.

Methods and Results

Path to Publication series resulted from a collaboration between the research division of the Surgery Interest Group (SIG) and the Society for Promoting Innovation in Education (SPIE) at AKU. A sign-up application was disseminated to medical students at AKU, collecting data on prior research experience, research skills, and fields of interest. Based on these characteristics, students from basic sciences and clinical years were matched together and grouped into specific subspecialty research groups.

Each group was mentored by one student research mentor from either SIG or SPIE with extensive research experience and was tasked with conducting surgical research as per their specific subspecialty. The role of mentors included teaching necessary skills for research to their group, including idea conceptualization, referencing, protocol writing, data collection, data analyses, and manuscript writing.

In addition, a series of student-led workshops were organized to facilitate this process and provide adequate training to all groups. These included the Introduction to Path to Publication, Protocol Writing & Ethics Review Table: Workshops planned as part of the Path to Publication series.

Workshop/session	Setting	Objectives
Introduction to Path to Publication	Lead by a student research mentor over Zoom	- Details about Path to Publication
		- Types of research & hierarchy of evidence
		- How to come up with potential research ideas relevant to specific subspecialties
Protocol Writing & ERC Applications	Lead by a student research mentor over Zoom	- How to write a study protocol
		- An overview of ERC application process and requirements
Protocol Feedback Session	Lead by a panel of student research mentors over Zoom	- Each group presented their protocol and received feedback from all mentors
EDG EVIL: D I G IV		

ERC: Ethics Review Committee.



Figure: Sequence of events in the Path to Publication series.

Committee (ERC) Application, and the Protocol Feedback workshops (Table). The timing of these workshops was planned such that they coincided with relevant phases of research for all groups (Figure).

Out of 100 medical students who filled the application, 25(25%) students were selected and grouped into 8 subspecialty groups. These included breast surgery, cardiothoracic surgery, neurosurgery, obstetrics and gynaecology, ophthalmology, orthopaedic surgery, paediatric surgery, and plastic surgery. All subspecialty groups managed to develop their study protocols and are currently conducting their respective studies under the guidance of faculty mentors from the Department of Surgery at AKU. These studies will soon be published in peer-reviewed journals with some of them being presented at national or international surgical conferences as well.

Discussion and Conclusion

The Path to Publication model has proved itself to be a

successful model that can be employed to train medical students in research skills and involve them into surgical research. This is essential for promoting the concept of evidence-based surgery in Pakistan. However, despite increasing interest among students, there is very little exposure to surgical research in medical education. Lack of awareness regarding existing research opportunities, weak rapport with competent professors, and inadequate research skills are common challenges faced by medical students from engaging in surgical research.9 In addition, students who manage to get involved in surgical research are usually tasked with data collection and not the other phases of

research, restricting active learning.10

SIG and SPIE at AKU has provided a novel model incorporating peer mentorship with carefully timed capacity-building research workshops to facilitate surgical research among medical students. An equal representation of medical students from basic sciences and clinical years was ensured in each subspecialty group. This diversity allowed various perspectives while designing a research question. A pre-organized and carefully planned timeline allowed all groups to conduct their projects in synchronization with the capacity-building workshops. Considering most medical students have inadequate research skills, this synchronization equipped them with the necessary skills needed for each research phase.⁶ In addition, the involvement of capable research mentors helped further to meet the need for adequate training and guidance. Faculty mentors were also involved to ensure clinical relevance of the selected research questions by each subspecialty group.

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

In a period of three months, a significant number of medical students were equipped with adequate research skills. These skills were subsequently implemented as each subspecialty group conceptualized appropriate surgical research questions, designed study protocols, approached faculty mentors, and applied for ERC approvals. Without Path to Publication, it is unlikely that so many students would have had this opportunity of learning the necessary research skills while being involved in surgical research. Based on this, it can be inferred that the Path to Publication model has significantly bridged the gap between medical students and high-quality surgical research.

The Path to Publication model can be successfully implemented in other medical colleges in Pakistan to enhance robust surgical research output from medical students. SIG and SPIE aim to facilitate this process via their respective national ambassador networks with representation from most medical colleges in Pakistan. Through this, we hope to simultaneously advance the research careers of medical students while promoting evidence-based surgery to improve patient outcomes.

Acknowledgement: We would like to thank the Surgery Interest Group, the Society for Promoting Innovation in Education, and the Department of Surgery at the Aga Khan University for their contributions to the Path to Publication series.

Disclaimer: The abstract of this manuscript has not been presented or published in a conference or abstract book. This article is not part of a PhD thesis.

This study describes a peer mentorship model employed at the Aga Khan University to provide surgical research training and experience to undergraduate medical students. Accordingly, no statistical tests were used in this paper, and hence, formal sample size estimations were not conducted.

Conflict of Interest: None to declare.

Funding Disclosure: None to declare.

References

- Mostafa SR, Khashab SK, Fouaad AS, Abdel Baky MA, Waly AM. Engaging undergraduate medical students in health research: students' perceptions and attitudes, and evaluation of a training workshop on research methodology. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 2006; 81:99-118.
- 2. Schexnayder S, Starring H, Fury M, Mora A, Leonardi C, Dasa V. The formation of a medical student research committee and its impact on involvement in departmental research. Med Educ Online. 2018; 23:1424449.
- Dagher MM, Atieh JA, Soubra MK, Khoury SJ, Tamim H, Kaafarani BR. Medical Research Volunteer Program (MRVP): innovative program promoting undergraduate research in the medical field. BMC Med Educ. 2016; 16:160.
- Kumar J, Memon A, Kumar A, Kumar R, Kumar B, Fareed S. Barriers Experienced by Medical Students in Conducting Research at Undergraduate Level. Cureus. 2019; 11:e4452.
- Akinla O, Hagan P, Atiomo W. A systematic review of the literature describing the outcomes of near-peer mentoring programs for first year medical students. BMC Med Educ. 2018; 18:98.
- 6. Bhatnagar V, Diaz S, Bucur PA. The Need for More Mentorship in Medical School. Cureus. 2020; 12:e7984.
- Ukrani RD, Munir MM, Bhatti A, Noordin S. Student-led surgical research network: Enhancing medical student research opportunities. J Pak Med Assoc. 2021; 71(Suppl 1):S117-S119.
- Dako-Gyeke P, Asampong E, Afari E, Launois P, Ackumey M, Opoku-Mensah K, et al. Capacity building for implementation research: a methodology for advancing health research and practice. Health Res Policy Syst. 2020; 18:53.
- de Oliveira NA, Luz MR, Saraiva RM, Alves LA. Student views of research training programmes in medical schools. Med Educ. 2011; 45:748-55.
- Ejaz K, Shamim MS, Shamim MS, Hussain SA. Involvement of medical students and fresh medical graduates of Karachi, Pakistan in research. J Pak Med Assoc. 2011; 61:115-20.

STUDENTS' CORNER SHORT REPORT

Surgical training in ophthalmology: Role of EyeSi in the era of simulation-based learning

Sehrish Nizar Ali Momin, Abdul Sami Memon, Muhammad Bilal Malik, Pir Salim Mahar

Abstract

Recent advancements in surgical training methods have escalated the need for simulators. The EyeSi simulation has played a major role in Ophthalmology training by providing opportunity to the novice residents to grasp the surgical steps of the procedure and master the skill by repeated attempts. Participants were assessed on single level of cataract module and their consecutive scores were assessed with each attempt. It was found that repetitive practice on simulator can help develop proficiency in the desired steps that can ultimately prepare the surgical trainees for real life surgery.

Keywords: Virtual reality, Simulator, Surgery, training, Ophthalmology, Oph-thalmologic surgical procedure, Surgical Specialties.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-26

Introduction

The expanding era of virtual reality has led to the evolution of simulators that have been a desirable machine in achieving perfection at a given task in various fields. Ophthalmology has an edge of short and quick procedures that require manipulation in limited space mandating the need for prior practice before performing on to a patient in real life. The EyeSi Surgical Simulator (VRmagic, Mann-heim, Germany) is the predominant simulator used for training in both cataract and vitreoretinal surgery in ophthalmology.¹

The module comprises of levels with increasing difficulty that cover all steps of a basic cataract surgery and vitreoretinal surgery. Several studies have extensively studied the predictive and construct validity of the Cataract surgery module.¹⁻⁴ Various other factors have been studied that include complication rate in cataract surgery following simulation learning.⁵

With the EyeSi simulation facility available at our setting,

Department of Ophthalmology, Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Abdul Sami Memon. Email: abdul.sami@aku.edu

the aim of this study is to identify consistent or improving scores following a repetition of the same level in a cataract surgery module on EyeSi simulator. This was performed by various participants, with different levels of experience on EyeSi and real-life surgery, which could help assess the learning curve.

Methods and Results

The study included 8 participants that involved consultants, residents, and re-search fellows with varying level of real-life surgical hands-on experience. The identity was kept anonymous while the scores were gathered. Evaluation was based on a single step of capsulorhexis performed on EyeSi system available at the Aga Khan University Hospital Karachi, Pakistan. The data was obtained between 2nd-31st August 2021.

A single level of Cataract module labelled as "Capsulorhexis-High tension without guiding elements" was selected and a complete central curvilinear capsulorhexis was performed using any instruments of the participant's choice. Each participant was given 6 attempts, 3 consecutive attempts on day 1 and then 3 consecutive attempts after one week. Probability of achieving high scores or consistently improving scores were assessed. Machine has default criteria that scores the roundness, centering, deviation of rhexis radius from 2.5mm, maximum radial extension of capsulorhexis and local irregularities (spikes). It also scores on efficiency, instrument handling and tissue treatment.

The passing criteria set by the EyeSi programme is at 70% and requires 3 consecutive attempts. However, each attempt was independently recorded to document progression or decline in our participants with repetition of same level. Our hypothesis relied on a probable increasing score with each attempt thereby excluding any high scores that may have occurred by chance secondary to partially met criteria which doesn't fulfill the ultimate target.

The mean score of all participants in first attempt was 51.25 ± 34.6 as compared to the final attempt which was 78.75 ± 9.98 (Table). There was an increase of 27.5 points

	1st Attempt score	2nd Attempt score	3rd Attempt score		4th Attempt score	5th Attempt score	6th Attempt score
High Ter	nsion without guiding e	lements					
Α	67	94	86	One week interval	74	66	66
В	0	90	94		0	23	89
C	0	14	0		84	38	62
D	75	90	0		73	67	79
E	75	39	62		96	94	81
F	36	48	94		86	86	79
G	83	82	88		86	88	85
Н	74	0	0		75	93	89
Mean	51.25±34.6	57.125±37.2	53±45.0		71.75±30	69.37±26.6	78.75±9.98





including attempts with same score but different individual parameters of the capsulorhexis. In one scenario, attempt score was 90-100, however the maximum radial extension was 2.3 mm which translates into a rhexis of 4.6 mm diameter, which in real life surgery is far from ideal and would not have achieved passing criteria if it was manually scored.

Discussion

The use of simulation nowadays is an integral part of residency training in majority of the hospitals in the developed world. EyeSi simulator has demonstrated construct validity in multiple studies

Figure: Graph showing rise in the mean scores with successive attempts.

obtained after repeated attempts which showed an overall improvement (Figure-1). Mean time for rhexis completion noted for all participant attempts combined was 2.34 ± 1.41 minutes varying from maximum 8 minutes to minimum 1 minute. Instrument handling was scored excellent in majority attempts, and injured corneal area was 0 - 2 mm in most cases with only case injuring 5.3 mm of cornea.

The cumulative mean score in first 3 attempts was 53.8, and 73.3 in last 3 attempts. The improvement observed in the 3 attempts done on the subsequent week was drastic in comparison to initial 3 attempts with a difference of 19.5. It was observed that multiple attempts, with a gap in between, lead to better improvement in skill that may help in real life surgery.

Scoring for target achievement is based on roundness, centering, deviation, maximum extension, and irregularities of the capsulorhexis. There were differing scores of target achievement amongst the attempts,

and has shown to decrease complications rates amongst residents in comparison to controls.⁶ We report a drastic difference in mean scores of the residents after one week interval with similar learning curve of skill improvement amongst all participants. Studies conducted previously had compared the outcomes of simulation-based learning with the real-life cataract surgeries. Thomsen et al assessed proficiency-based test on the EyeSi simulator with significant correlation to real-life performance, measured by motion-tracking software, of cataract surgical videos amongst 11 cataract surgeons.⁷ Another study showed association of prior simulation training with statistically significantly lower difficulty scores on certain tasks performed during cataract surgery.8 As the cost of acquiring EyeSi simulator falls between 150,000 -200,000 US Dollars, it might be a difficult proposition to acquire it in a low-income country. Considering its availability, the use of simulator before hands on human eyes not only improves clinical skills but also corroborates patient's safety.

S-129

Conclusions

EyeSi simulator was found to have the ability to assess the scoring rate of participants engaging in different steps of cataract surgery. The most important benefit of using such simulation is that one can practice multiple times on this machine without putting any patient at risk.

Acknowledgements: We would like to acknowledge Centre for Innovative Medical Education (CIME) and Aga Khan University Hospital (AKUH) for providing us this opportunity to learn from simulator experiences.

Disclaimer: None.

Conflict of Interest: None.

Source of Funding: None.

References

- Selvander M, Asman P. Cataract surgeons outperform medical students in Eyesi virtual reality cataract surgery: evidence for construct validity. Acta Ophthalmol 2013;91:469-74. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-3768.2012.02440.x.
- 2. Mahr MA, Hodge DO. Construct validity of anterior segment anti-

tremor and forceps surgical simulator training modules: attending versus resident surgeon performance. J Cataract Refract Surg 2008;34:980-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrs.2008.02.015.

- Colné J, Conart JB, Luc A, Perrenot C, Berrod JP, Angioi-Duprez K. EyeSi surgical simulator: Construct validity of capsulorhexis, phacoemulsification and irrigation and aspiration modules. J Fr Ophtalmol 2019;42:49-56. doi: 10.1016/j.jfo.2018.02.029.
- Privett B, Greenlee E, Rogers G, Oetting TA. Construct validity of a surgical simulator as a valid model for capsulorhexis training. J Cataract Refract Surg 2010;36:1835-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrs.2010.05.020.
- Ferris JD, Donachie PH, Johnston RL, Barnes B, Olaitan M, Sparrow JM. Royal College of Ophthalmologists' National Ophthalmology Database study of cataract surgery: report 6. The impact of EyeSi virtual reality training on complications rates of cataract surgery performed by first and second year trainees. Br J Ophthalmol 2020;104:324-9. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-313817.
- Ahmed TM, Hussain B, Siddiqui MAR. Can simulators be applied to improve cataract surgery training: a systematic review. BMJ Open Ophthalmol 2020;5:e000488. doi: 10.1136/bmjophth-2020-000488.
- Thomsen AS, Smith P, Subhi Y, Cour M, Tang L, Saleh GM, et al. High cor-relation between performance on a virtual-reality simulator and real-life cata-ract surgery. Acta Ophthalmol 2017;95:307-11. doi: 10.1111/aos.13275.
- Ng DS, Sun Z, Young AL, Ko ST, Lok JK, Lai TY, et al. Impact of virtual re-ality simulation on learning barriers of phacoemulsification perceived by resi-dents. Clin Ophthalmol 2018;12:885-93. doi: 10.2147/OPTH.S140411.

STUDENTS' CORNER SHORT REPORT

PakSurg: The first trainee-lead model for multicenter surgical research collaboration in Pakistan

Usama Waqar,¹ Shaheer Ahmed,² Ronika Devi Ukrani,³ Maheen Mansoor,⁴ Sadaf Khan,⁵ Syed Ather Enam⁶

Abstract

We describe creation and piloting of the PakSurg Collaborative, devised via integration of existing traineeled collaborative models in the United Kingdom with the resource-limited surgical care in Pakistan. This is the first trainee-lead surgical research collaborative in Pakistan, established by the student-lead Surgery Interest Group from the Aga Khan University. The project involved creation of a model that included a steering committee comprising of five teams which worked in conjunction with collaborators from multiple hospitals. To facilitate this collaboration, a comprehensive and cost-efficient study management pathway was developed. The PakSurg Collaborative has the potential to deliver methodologically robust, high-guality, multicenter surgical evidence from Pakistan. This nationally representative data could inform evidence-based surgical guidelines, potentially translating into improved outcomes for patients undergoing surgery.

Keywords: Research, Surgery, Multicenter studies, Collaborative research.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47391/JPMA.AKU-27

Introduction

In Pakistan, a majority of existing surgical research evidence is based on single-center experiences. The resulting evidence is generally limited by small sample sizes, lack of generalizability, and potential for bias.¹ Pakistan is a lower-middle-income country (LMIC) with limited resources available for research training and career development. There are limited funding opportunities available for surgical researchers. Consequently, the depth and quality of research output is inadequate to inform surgical practice.² Evidence-based surgical guidelines exist but are usually powered by data extrapolated from high- and upper-middle-income

¹Year 3 MBBS Student, ³Year 4 MBBS Student, ⁴Year 5 MBBS Student, Medical College, ^{5,6}Department of Surgery, Aga Khan University, Karachi, ²Year 2 MBBS Student, Medical College, Islamabad Medical and Dental College, Islamabad, Pakistan.

Correspondence: Usama Waqar. Email: usama.waqar@scholar.aku.edu

countries.³ It is well-documented that LMICs face unique and diverse challenges in building and maintaining surgical capacity. Therefore, the validity of existing guidelines based on resource-rich environments is guestionable.⁴

The trainee-lead collaborative research model has been developed within the surgical community in the United Kingdom.⁵ This comprises of groups of trainees recruiting patients, collecting data, and submitting it over short patient recruitment windows. As a result, individual burden on trainees is significantly reduced while ensuring methodologically robust surgical research output, capable of informing surgical practice and improving the quality of care.^{1,5-7} This collaborative model also allows delivery of high-quality evidence in a timely fashion, evidenced from the role that the COVIDSurg Collaborative has played in informing surgical practice during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic.⁸⁻¹¹

Despite allowing delivery of high-quality evidence from multicenter studies efficiently at minimal cost, the traineelead collaborative model has not been implemented in Pakistan till now. National research output from such a model could inform evidence-based surgery in Pakistan, improving perioperative outcomes and quality of surgical care for patients. We describe the formation of the first trainee-lead surgical research collaborative in Pakistan.

Methods and Results

The student-lead Surgery Interest Group (SIG) at the Aga Khan University (AKU), Karachi, Pakistan researched and reviewed models of existing national and international trainee-lead surgical research collaboratives. These included the GlobalSurg,¹² Global NeuroSurg Research Collaborative,¹³ PancreasGroup,¹⁴ STARSurg Collaborative,¹⁵ BURST Research Collaborative,¹⁶ and the Vascular and Endovascular Research Network.¹⁷

The logistical requirements and feasibility of integrating these models within a resource-constrained environment were discussed in multiple SIG internal meetings, and with the Department of Surgery and Centre for Global Surgical Care (CGSC) at AKU. An initial trainee-lead model



was developed after integrating the various international and regional models with the existing surgical practices in the Pakistani healthcare system.

To understand the limitations of implementing this model nationally from the point of view of institutional collaborators, SIG partnered with the GlobalSurg, the Global NeuroSurg Collaborative, and the PancreasGroup. During this phase, SIG selected students and trainees from AKU to recruit patients, collect, and submit data for surgical research studies by these collaborative groups. Virtual Zoom-based meetings were conducted with these students and trainees, and feedback was incorporated into the planned model.

To explore potential bottlenecks in implementing surgical studies in Pakistan, SIG collaborated with the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland and led their RETAINER study in Pakistan.¹⁸ For this purpose, SIG invited centers in Pakistan to collaborate via its National Ambassador Network. This network includes over 150 medical students and surgical trainees from 70 medical colleges and hospitals. A virtual meeting was held over Zoom, and studyspecific details in addition to center registration pathways were presented and explained to the ambassadors. SIG was subsequently involved in processing registrations, assisting with local institutional approvals, and troubleshooting during patient recruitment. data collection, and data submission phases. Regular internal progress meetings and discussions with the Department of Surgery and CGSC were conducted to assess progress, consider limitations, and re-evaluate the planned model.

This exercise led to the creation of the first trainee-led surgical research collaborative in Pakistan, the PakSurg Collaborative. Under this model, the steering committee comprises of five teams working in conjunction to implement multicenter surgical research in Pakistan. This includes writing and

analysis, outreach, operations, marketing, and finance teams (Figure-1).

Potential project proposals are adapted after an extensive peer-review process, with input from experts in the field. Only feasible research studies with relevance to the local context are selected. This is followed by piloting the selected study, adjusting methods and processes based on feedback, and implementing nationally after approval from the National Bioethics Committee (Figure-2). Local institutional approvals, patient recruitment, and data collection are managed by mini teams at each center, facilitated by the PakSurg Steering Committee. Deidentified patient data according to a standardized proforma are submitted to the PakSurg Steering Committee via a secure network based on REDCap.¹⁹ The PakSurg Steering Committee is subsequently responsible for data cleaning, validation, statistical analyses,

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference



Figure-2: Study-management pathway incorporated into the PakSurg collaborative.

manuscript writing, and dissemination. All collaborators contributing data to the studies are awarded with PubMed indexed collaborator authorship on resulting publications, similar to global collaborative models.²⁰

Conclusion

The organization of a successful multicentre research collaboration is challenging. A functional and cohesive team is required for the study planning and execution, with quality assurance. Although organization of such projects may be difficult, multicenter research provides evidence-based data related to safety and efficacy of surgical care.²¹ Improvements in surgical outcomes in

Pakistan warrants nationally representative data to inform evidence-based surgical care. Trainee-led surgical research collaboratives can fill this gap while ensuring that the research output is methodologically robust.

PakSurg Collaborative has been designed to involve a large number of trainees in data collection. This reduces burden on individual trainees while collectively leading to large, well-powered studies aiming to answer questions that would otherwise be difficult to answer.6 In addition, PakSurg aims to increase surgical research output in Pakistan and provide evidence to improve patient care and health outcomes. Despite the potential of this strategy, this collaborative model is currently limited to observational studies due to governance issues associated with complex interventional studies. The PakSurg team plans to start with simpler studies and gradually progress to national, multicenter randomized controlled trials.

Acknowledgement: We would like to thank the PakSurg Steering Committee, Surgery Interest Group, and the Department of Surgery at the Aga Khan University for their contributions to the formation of PakSurg.

Disclaimer: The abstract of this manuscript has not been presented or published in a conference or abstract book. This article is not part of a PhD thesis.

Conflict of Interest: None to declare.

Funding Disclosure: None to declare.

References

 Bosanquet DC, Stather P, Sidloff DA, Dattani N, Shalhoub J, Pancholi J, et al. How to Engage in Trainee-led Multicentre Collaborative Vascular Research: The Vascular and Endovascular Research Network (VERN). Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2016; 52:392.

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference

S-133

- 2. Jawad F. The race for publishing original biomedical research articles in Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc. 2017; 67:1-2.
- Knight SR, Ots R, Maimbo M, Drake TM, Fairfield CJ, Harrison EM. Systematic review of the use of big data to improve surgery in low- and middle-income countries. Br J Surg. 2019; 106:e62-e72.
- 4. Ologunde R, Maruthappu M, Shanmugarajah K, Shalhoub J. Surgical care in low and middle-income countries: burden and barriers. Int J Surg. 2014; 12:858-63.
- 5. Bhangu A, Kolias AG, Pinkney T, Hall NJ, Fitzgerald JE. Surgical research collaboratives in the UK. Lancet. 2013; 382:1091-2.
- Kasivisvanathan V, Ahmed H, Cashman S, Challacombe B, Emberton M, Gao C, et al. The British Urology Researchers in Surgical Training (BURST) Research Collaborative: an alternative research model for carrying out large scale multi-centre urological studies. BJU Int. 2018; 121:6-9.
- EuroSurg Collaborative. EuroSurg: a new European studentdriven research network in surgery. Colorectal Dis. 2016; 18:214-5.
- COVIDSurg Collaborative. Delaying surgery for patients with a previous SARS-CoV-2 infection. Br J Surg. 2020; 107:e601-e2.
- 9. COVIDSurg Collaborative. Mortality and pulmonary complications in patients undergoing surgery with perioperative SARS-CoV-2 infection: an international cohort study. Lancet. 2020; 396:27-38.
- 10. Palamuthusingam D, Nadarajah A, Pascoe EM, Craig J, Johnson DW, Hawley CM, et al. Postoperative mortality in patients on chronic dialysis following elective surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2020; 15(6):e0234402.
- 11. COVIDSurg Collaborative. Global guidance for surgical care during the COVID-19 pandemic. Br J Surg. 2020; 107:1097-103.

- 12. GlobalSurg & The NIHR Global Health Research Unit on Global Surgery. Improving surgical outcomes through collaborative research. [Internet]. [cited 2021 DEC 23]. Available from URL: https://globalsurg.org/.
- GNS Collaborative. Global Neurosurg Research Collaborative. [Internet]. [cited 2021 DEC 23]. Available from URL: https://www.globalneurosurg.org/.
- 14. PancreasGroup.org. International Pancreatic Surgery Outcomes Study. [Internet]. [cited 2021 DEC 23]. Available from URL: https://pancreasgroup.org/.
- 15. STARSurg. Student Audit and Research in Surgery Collaborative. [Internet]. [cited 2021 DEC 23]. Available from URL: https://starsurg.org/.
- BURST. British Urology Researchers in Surgical Training. [Internet]. [cited 2021 DEC 23]. Available from URL: https://www.bursturology.com/.
- 17. VERN. Vascular and Endovascular Research Network. [Internet]. [cited 2021 DEC 23]. Available from: https://vascular-research.net/.
- Croghan SM, Fleming CA, Mohan HM, Harji D, Bolger JC, Elliott JA, et al. RETention of urine After INguinal hernia Elective Repair (RETAINER study I and II). Int J Surg Protoc. 2021; 25:42-54.
- 19. REDCap. Research Electronic Data Capture. [Available from: https://projectredcap.org/.[cited 2021 DEC 23].
- COVIDSurg Collaborative, GlobalSurg Collaborative. Timing of surgery following SARS-CoV-2 infection: an international prospective cohort study. Anaesthesia. 2021; 76:748-58.
- 21. Rosenberg J, Angenete E, Pinkney T, Bhangu A, Haglind E. Collaboration in colorectal surgical research. Colorectal Dis. 2021. doi: 10.1111/codi.15814.

Subject Index

7th AKU Annual Surgical Conference, (Publication Committee), Page-S-1

A

A Bibliometric Analysis Of The Studies

A bibliometric analysis of the studies on dental implant failure, (Khan F R et al), Page-S-76

Advancing Surgical Research

In a digitally connected world through Likes, Hashtags and Followers — Advancing surgical research through a social media: A narrative review, (Saqib S U et al), Page-S-71

Artificial Intelligence In Dentistry

Artificial intelligence in dentistry, orthodontics and Orthognathic surgery: A literature review, (Siddiqui T A et al), Page-S-91

B

Barriers In Surgical Research

Barriers in surgical research: A perspective from the developing world, (Siddiqui N A et al), Page-S-97

Bonded Amalgam As A Fissure Sealant

Bonded amalgam as a fissure sealant in low-income setting: A randomised controlled trial, (Khan F R et al), Page-S-3

С

Conceptual Framework For A Cardiac Surgery

Conceptual framework for a cardiac surgery simulation laboratory and competency-based curriculum in Pakistan — a short

innovation report, (Noorali A A et al), Page-S-103

D

Diagnostic Accuracy Of Axillary Nodal Ultrasound

Diagnostic accuracy of axillary nodal ultrasound after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in node-positive breast cancer patients: A validation study, Page, (Abidi S S et al), S-25

Disparities In Access To Quality Surgical Care

Disparities in access to quality surgical care for women in resource-constrained settings: Bottlenecks and the way forward, (Waqar U et al), Page-S-86

Е

Exploring Our History

Surgical research: Exploring our history — navigating the future, (Siddiqui N A et al), Page-S-2

F

Factors Affecting Specialty Choice Of Postgraduate Dental Residents

Factors affecting specialty choice of postgraduate dental residents in Karachi, Pakistan, (Adnan S et al), Page, S-20

I

Innovations In Surgery

Innovations in surgery between the past and future: A narrative review of targeted literature, (Hasan O et al), Page-S-55

Μ

Manual Loop In Laparoscopic Appendectomy

Manual loop in laparoscopic appendectomy: A retrospective cohort study

and literature review, (Ramesh P et al), Page-S-10

Ν

(Ib)

Navigating Through Our History In Research

Navigating through our history in research: An altmetric analysis for publications by the full-time operative dentistry faculty at the Aga Khan University Hospital in the past decade, (Naved N et al), Page, S-30

0

Oncoplastic Breast Surgery In Pakistan

Current perspectives of oncoplastic breast surgery in Pakistan, (Vohra L M et al), Page-S-81

Otorhinolaryngology Consultations

Otorhinolaryngology consultations in a multidisciplinary hospital — their effects on residents training on floor, (Unar A A et al), Page-S-44

P

Path To Publication

Path to publication: A peer mentorship model for student-lead surgical research, (Waqar U et al), Page-S124

Perioperative Registries In Resource-Limited Settings

Perioperative registries in resource-limited settings: The way forward for Pakistan, (Waqar U et al), Page-S-118

R

Radial Artery Coronary Bypass Grafting

Radial artery coronary bypass grafting: Surgical outcomes of an unexplored innovation in a developing country, (Martins R S et al), Page-S-106

Radiographic Evaluation Of The Margins

Radiographic evaluation of the margins of clinically acceptable metal-ceramic crowns, (Badar S B et al), Page - S-35

Rates Of Publication Of FCPS Dissertations

Rates of publication of FCPS dissertations in international and national peer-review journals among residents at AKUH; A cross sectional review of 15 years, (Mughal A et al), Page – S-40

Role Of Simulation In Open Varicose Veins Surgery

Role of simulation in open varicose veins surgery: A systematic review, (Pirzada M A et al), Page-S-49

S

Surgeons And Ethical Challenges

Surgeons and ethical challenges in operating room, ((Nazim S M et al), Page-S-64

Surgical Training In Ophthalmology

Surgical training in ophthalmology: Role of EyeSi in the era of simulation-based learning, (Momin S N A et al), Page-S-127

Т

Temporary Epicardial Pacing Wires In Isolated Coronary artery bypass graft

Temporary epicardial pacing wires in isolated Coronary artery bypass graft: Necessity or force of habit?, (Kamal M M et al), Page-S16

The Environment Under The Knife

Narrative Review: The environment under the knife: A review of current Eco-surgical strategies and recommendations for Pakistan, (Martins R S et al), Page-S-112

The First Trainee-Lead Model For Multicenter Surgical Research

PakSurg: The first trainee-lead model for multicenter surgical research collaboration

in Pakistan, (Waqar U et al), Page-S-130

U

Understanding Deep Learning

Understanding deep learning — challenges and prospects, (Adnan N et al), Page-S-59

Author Index

A

(IIa)

Abbas S A see Mughal A

Abbasi A see Mughal A

Abidi S S et al

Diagnostic accuracy of axillary nodal ultrasound after neoadjuvant chemotherapy in node-positive breast cancer patients: A validation study, Page, S-25

Abidi S S see Vohra L M

Adnan N et al

Understanding deep learning — challenges and prospects, Page-S-59

Adnan S et al

Factors affecting specialty choice of postgraduate dental residents in Karachi, Pakistan, Page, S-20

Ahmed S see Waqar U

- Ahmed S see Waqar U
- Ahmed S see Waqar U
- Akhtar S see Mughal A
- Ali D see Vohra L M
- Awan M S see Unar A A
- Ayaz A see Hasan O
- Azam S I see Raza F
- Aziz N see Martins R S
- Aziz N see Waqar U

B

Badar S B et al

Radiographic evaluation of the margins of clinically acceptable metal-ceramic crowns, Page - S-35

Badini S see Pirzada M A

Baig A M see Hasan O

Baloch N see Hasan O

С

Chauhan S S B see Noorali A A

Batool S see Ramesh P

D

Deewani M H see Unar A A

E

Ehsan A N see Noorali A A Enam S A see Siddiqui N A Enam S A see Waqar U

F

Fatimi S H see Martins R SFatimi S H see Martins R SFatimi S H see Noorali A A

G

Ghafoor R see Badar S B **Ghandhi D** see Siddiqui A **Gillani M** see Martins R S

Η

Hameed A N see Waqar U Hameed A N see Waqar U Hasan A see Raza F

Hasan O et al

Innovations in surgery between the past and future: A narrative review of targeted literature, Page-S-55

Hashmi S A see Unar A A

Hashmi S see Kamal M M

I

Inam H see Martins R S Inam H see Waqar U Inam H see Waqar U Inam H see Waqar U

J

Jabeen D see Vohra L M Joseph E A see Martins R S

K

Kamal M M et al

Temporary epicardial pacing wires in isolated Coronary artery bypass graft: Necessity or force of habit?, Page-S16

Kazi M see Martins R S

Kazmi S M R see Khan F R

Kerawala A A see Abidi S S

Khan F R et al

Bonded amalgam as a fissure sealant in low-income setting: A randomised controlled trial, Page-S-3

Khan F R et al

A bibliometric analysis of the studies on dental implant failure, Page-S-76

Khan F R see Badar S B

Khan H see Ramesh P

Khan M A see Noorali A A

Khan R N see Siddiqui N A

Khan S see Waqar U

L

Liaquat S see Raza F Lone M M see Adnan S

Μ

Mahar P S see Momin S N A Mehdi M see Kamal M M Malik M B see Momin S N A Mansoor M see Waqar U Martins R S

Martins R S et al

Narrative Review: The environment under the knife: A review of current Eco-surgical strategies and recommendations for Pakistan, Page-S-112

Martins R S et al

Pilot Study: Radial artery coronary bypass grafting: Surgical outcomes of an unexplored innovation in a developing country, Page-S-106

Martins R S see Saqib S U

Masood L see Hasan O

Masood L see Martins R S

Masroor I see Abidi S S

Memon A S see Momin S N A

Merchant A A H see Kamal M M

Merchant A A H see Noorali A A

Momin S N A et al

Short Report: Surgical training in ophthalmology: Role of EyeSi in the era of simulation-based learning, Page-S-127

Mughal A et al

Rates of publication of FCPS dissertations in international and national peer-review journals among residents at AKUH; A cross sectional review of 15 years, Page – S-40

Mughal A see Unar A A

Munir M M see Kamal M M

Murtaza G see Ramesh P

Ν

Naved N et al

(IIc)

Navigating through our history in research: An altmetric analysis for publications by the full-time operative dentistry faculty at the Aga Khan University Hospital in the past decade, Page, S-30

Nazim S M et al

Surgeons and ethical challenges in operating room, Page-S-64

Noorali A A et al

Conceptual framework for a cardiac surgery simulation laboratory and competency-based curriculum in Pakistan — a short innovation report, Page-S-103

Nusrat M see Ramesh P

0

Osman M see Kamal M M

P

Pervez M B see Noorali A A

Pirzada M A et al

Role of simulation in open varicose veins surgery: A systematic review, Page-S-49 Publication Committee

Q

Qadir M A see Waqar U

R

Raees M A see Siddiqui N A

Rafique G see Raza F

Ramesh P et al

Manual loop in laparoscopic appendectomy: A retrospective cohort study and literature review, Page-S-10

Rauf H see Waqar U

Rauf H see Waqar U

Riaz A see Saqib S U Riaz Q see Saqib S U

S

Sadiq A see Martins R S

Saeed A see Ramesh P

Saqib S U et al

In a digitally connected world through Likes, Hashtags and Followers — Advancing surgical research through a social media: A narrative review, Page-S-71

Sattar A K see Vohra L M

Shahabuddin S see Nazim S M

Shaikh FA see Pirzada MA

Shamim M S see Siddiqui N A

Sharif H see Kamal M M

Short Report: PakSurg: The first traineelead model for multicenter surgical research collaboration in Pakistan, Page-S-130

Siddiqui TA et al

Artificial intelligence in dentistry, orthodontics and Orthognathic surgery: A literature review, Page-S-91

Siddiqui N A et al

Barriers in surgical research: A perspective from the developing world, Page-S-97

Siddiqui N A et al

Surgical research: Exploring our history — navigating the future, Page-S-2

Siddiqui N A see Pirzada M A

- Siddiqui Y F see Khan F R
- Sohail A A see Kamal M M
- Sukhia R H see Siddiqui A

Tahseen M U see Abidi S S Tariq J see Martins R S Tariq M see Noorali A A

U

Ukrani R D see Waqar U

Umer F see Adnan N

Umer F see Naved N

Unar A A et al

Otorhinolaryngology consultations in a multidisciplinary hospital — their effects on residents training on floor, Page-S-44

V

Vardag A B S see Unar A A

Vargad A B S see Mughal A

Vohra L M et al

Current perspectives of oncoplastic breast surgery in Pakistan, Page-S-81

Vohra L M see Abidi S S

W

Waqar U et al

Waqar U et al

Disparities in access to quality surgical care for women in resource-constrained settings: Bottlenecks and the way forward, Page-S-86

Waqar U et al

Short Report: Path to publication: A peer mentorship model for student-lead surgical research, Page-S124

Waqar U et al

Special Communication: Perioperative registries in resource-limited settings: The way forward for Pakistan, Page-S-118

Wasif M see Mughal A

Ζ

Zafar F see Siddiqui N A Zafar H see Saqib S U Zafar K see Badar S B